Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Obesity and Insulin

Resistance

by

Samantha Cassar

BSpSc, BAppSc(Hons)

This thesis is submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

College of Sport and Exercise Science

Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living

Victoria University

Melbourne Australia

December 2014

Abstract

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common and complex reproductive and metabolic condition with major health consequences across the lifespan. Insulin resistance is thought to be a key underlying feature of PCOS, but its role in metabolic and reproductive complications associated with the syndrome remains elusive. Therefore, the aim of the thesis was to comprehensively assess the role of IR in PCOS. I report that IR is definitively intrinsic to PCOS and exacerbated by BMI. But the effect of BMI on IR is more pronounced in PCOS than controls. Diagnostic criteria and age seem to have little effect on IR in PCOS. Furthermore, IR in PCOS seems to be negatively correlated with testosterone and positively correlated with sex hormone binding globulin. Gonadotropins seem to have little effect on IR. Various biomarkers associated with metabolic diseases appear more strongly associated with obesity rather than with PCOS status and Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 may also be a novel independent biomarker with the ability to predict IR in women with and without PCOS. This intrinsic IR in PCOS was not attributed to mitochondrial dysfunction and was not related to the pathophysiology of reproductive dysfunction in PCOS as measured by Anti-Mullarian hormone (AMH). However, AMH was able to detect PCOS status and may also be useful in the diagnosis of PCOS. Collectively these chapters of related studies enhanced understanding of IR in PCOS, including the relationship between intrinsic and extrinsic factors and IR and provided information regarding potential markers to aid in diagnosing PCOS and IR.

Doctor of Philosophy by Publication Student Declaration

I, Samantha Cassar, declare that the PhD thesis by publication entitled 'Polycystic ovary syndrome, obesity and insulin resistance' is no more than 100,000 words in length including quotes and exclusive of tables, figures, appendices, bibliography, references and footnotes. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma. Except where otherwise indicated, this thesis is my own work.

Signature

Date 27/11/2014

Thesis by Publication

All doctoral students at Victoria University are permitted to submit a thesis by publication. The thesis by publication is a thesis format that includes manuscripts that have been prepared or accepted for publication. These manuscripts may have more than one author in which signatures from co-authors are required. The papers do not have to be rewritten for the thesis; they can be inserted in their published format. The thesis must reflect a sustained and cohesive theme and framing or substantial linking text normally required in introducing the research and linking the chapter and manuscripts.

The work conducted in this thesis was part of a large National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) funded project investigating IR in PCOS. I joined the research team at Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, Monash University in 2009. My PhD supervisors, Associate Professor Nigel Stepto and Professor Helena Teede, initially instigated this project, which focused on obese women with and without PCOS. I joined the team at the infancy stages of the second arm of study, at the beginning of my PhD, where my primary role was to investigate IR in lean women with and without PCOS. I established a new clinical room on the premises and I was responsible for ethics amendments, recruitment and screening of all participants and was the primary contact for the study. I also organised and accompanied each participant to their medical review and body composition appointments. I Organised and conducted fitness testing and assisted with euglycaemic-hyperinsunaemic clamp appointments, including setting up all consumables, cannulation of some participants, blood sampling, analysing blood glucose levels, centrifuging blood samples, assisting with muscle biopsies and preparing muscle samples for analysis and ensuring the health and welfare of all participants. I was also responsible for ensuring participant information was kept confidential and I created a database and ensured all data was kept currant and entered correctly. I independently performed laboratory analysis and analysed and interpreted data collected.

My specific contributions are detailed at the beginning of each chapter. All of my work contributed to this thesis, which contains 7 chapters and 4 manuscripts in total. Of the 4 manuscripts, 3 have been published and the one remaining has been submitted for publication. One chapter remains unpublished but has been written in a manuscript format.

Details of Included Papers: Thesis by Publication

Item/ Chapter No.	Paper Title	Publication Status	Publication Title and Details
2	Insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of euglycaemic	Currently under review	Human Reproduction Update Impact factor: 8.6 Quartile ranking: Q1
3	Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic– hyperinsulaemic clamp.	Published	Human Reproduction, Vol.28, No.3 pp. 777– 784, 2013 Accepted 18 December 2012 Impact factor: 4.6 Quartile ranking: Q1 Scopus citation number: 45
4a	Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity.	Published	Clinical Endocrinology, DOI:10.1111/cen.12619 Accepted 22 September 2014 Impact Factor: 3.35 Quartile ranking: Q1

4b	Response to 'insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS'	Published	Clinical Endocrinology, DOI:10.1111/cen.12678 Letter to the Editor Accepted: 17 November 2014 Impact Factor: 3.35
			Quartile ranking: Q1
5	Mitochondrial dysfunction as a potential mechanism underlying intrinsic insulin resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome	Not Submitted	
6	Polycystic ovary syndrome and anti-Müllerian hormone: role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotrophins	Published	Clinical Endocrinology, Vol.81, Issue 6, pp. 899-906 Accepted 10 July 2014 Impact Factor: 3.35 Quartile ranking: Q1

Declaration by:

Signature:

Date:

Samantha Cassar



27/11/2014

Publications

Publications arising directly from this thesis:

*NK Stepto, *S Cassar, AE Joham, SK Hutchison, CL Harrison, RF Goldstein, HJ Teede, Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic– hyperinsulaemic clamp, Human Reproduction, Vol.28, No.3 pp. 777–784, 2013 (*Joint first authors)

S Cassar, HJ Teede, LJ Moran, AE Joham, CL Harrison, BJ Strauss, NK Stepto, Polycystic ovary syndrome and anti-Mullerian hormone: role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotrophins, Clinical Endocrinology, 2014 doi: 10.1111/cen.12557

S Cassar, HJ Teede, CL Harrison, AE Joham, LJ Moran, NK Stepto, Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity, Clinical Endocrinology, 2014 DOI 10.1111/CEN12619

S Cassar, HJ Teede, CL Harrison, AE Joham, LJ Moran, NK Stepto. Response to 'insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS, Clinical Endocrinology, 2014 DOI 10.1111/CEN.12678

Conference Presentations

Poster Presentations

S Cassar, NK Stepto, SK Hutchison, CL Harrison, HJ Teede, Exercise training enhances but does not restore insulin sensitivity and signalling in obese women with PCOS, 17th European College of Sport Science Congress 4-7 July 2012 Bruges, Belgium

S Cassar, NK Stepto, SK Hutchison, CL Harrison, HJ Teede, Mitochondrial function and insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, 15th International Biochemistry of Exercise Conference (IBEC) Congress 17-21 June 2012

Oral Presentations

S Cassar, NK Stepto, LJ Moran, SK Hutchison, CL Harrison, HJ Teede, Markers of Metabolic Disease Risk in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, The Annual Scientific Meeting of the Endocrine Society of Australia and the Society for Reproductive Biology 2013

S Cassar, HJ Teede, M Misso, WG Hopking, NK Stepto, Insulin sensitivity in women with a polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis, The Annual Scientific Meeting of the Endocrine Society of Australia and the Society for Reproductive Biology 2014

Additional Conference Presentations Arising from this Thesis

Anju Elizabeth Johan, Samantha Cassar, Nigel Stepto, Cheryce L Harrison, Samantha Kate Hutchison, Sunjeeva Ranasinha and Helena J Teede, Vitamin D in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Relationship to BMI and insulin sensitivity, Endocrine Society's 95th Annual Meeting and Expo, June 15–18, 2013 - San Francisco

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis would not have been possible without the support and encouragement of many colleagues, family and friends.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisory team; Associate Professor Nigel Stepto, for his continual encouragement, guidance, feedback and financial support throughout my candidature. Professor Helena Teede for her enthusiasm, prompt and insightful feedback with manuscript submissions and the thesis, positive attitude, invaluable advice, expertise in the area of women's health and financial support; and Dr Christopher Shaw for his support, feedback and advice.

Dr Rebecca Goldstein and Dr Anju Joham for conducting the medical reviews, muscle biopsies and eulycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamps. Your expertise and professionalism are second to none.

Melanie Gibson-Helm and Nicole Ng for their tireless efforts, amazing problem-solving skills, 'mental health' support, making me laugh when I wanted to cry, and friendship. I couldn't have done it without both of you.

Dr Lisa Moran for your time, vital advice, profound knowledge, patience and rapid reply to emails. There are no words to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation.

Dr Marie Misso and Professor Will Hopkins for their imperative assistance with the systematic reviews and meta-analyses, which I would have never been able to complete without your help.

Samantha Hutchison and Cheryce Harrison for their tireless work with the obese arm of this study.

Professor Boyd Strauss for generously providing the DEXA and CT scans and interpretation of results.

Southern Health Pathology and Dr Michael Daskalakis from the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University for performing biochemical analysis including HbA1c, cholesterol, and triglycerides, testosterone, luteinising hormone, follicle stimulating hormone and sex hormone globulin binding.

Past and present postgraduate students, who helped me acquire new laboratory skills and were always available for assistance, advice or a friendly chat.

The participants for their time, patience, and dedication to research. Without you, none of this would be possible.

Lastly, I must thank my family and friends for their continual support and encouragement, especially my mum who made sure I never went hungry and always had clean clothes and Adrian for his continual support, unwavering faith in me, encouragement and patience.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Doctor of Philosophy by Publication Student Declaration iii
Thesis by Publicationiv
Details of Included Papers: Thesis by Publicationvi
Publications viii
Conference Presentationsix
Poster Presentationsix
Oral Presentationsix
Additional Conference Presentations Arising from this Thesisx
Acknowledgementsxi
List of Tablesxix
List of Figuresxx
Abbreviationsxxi
Chapter 1 Review of Literature
1.0 Introduction and definition of polycystic ovary syndrome1
1.1 Diagnostic Criteria of PCOS2
1.2 Epidemiology5

1.3 Significance and Economic Burden of PCOS
1.4 PCOS Aetiology7
1.4.1 Genetics7
1.4.2 Prenatal Androgen Excess
1.4.3 Hypothalamic-Pituitary Axis9
1.4.4 Obesity
1.5 Health Complications of PCOS12
1.5.1 Reproductive Consequences
1.5.2 Pregnancy Risks13
1.5.3 Metabolic Complications
1.5.4 Cardiovascular Complications14
1.5.5 Carcinogenic Complications15
1.5.6 Psychosocial Complications16
1.6 Management Strategies in PCOS16
1.7 Insulin Resistance in PCOS17
1.7.1 Definition of Insulin Resistance17
1.7.2 Importance of Insulin Resistance in PCOS18
1.7.3 Prevalence of Insulin Resistance in PCOS19

1.7.4 Effect of Diagnostic Criteria on Prevalence of Insulin Resistance20
1.7.5 Insulin Resistance - Aetiology in PCOS21
1.7.6 Possible Defects in Skeletal Muscle of Women with PCOS
1.7.7 Insulin Resistance and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Skeletal Muscle24
1.8 Summary and Research Gaps26
1.9 Aims of the Thesis27
1.10 Organisation of the Thesis27
Chapter 2 Insulin Resistance in Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Systematic
Review and Meta-Analysis of Euglycaemic-Hyperinsulinaemic Clamp Studies28
Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-contribution: Papers incorporated in thesis by
publication
2.0 Introduction
2.1 The Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamp
2.2 Fasting Insulin
2.3 Surrogate Indices for Insulin Resistance
2.4 Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)
2.5 Assessment of Insulin Resistance
2.6 Mediators of Insulin Resistance

2.6.1 Testosterone
2.6.2 Sex-Hormone Binding Globulin and Insulin Resistance
2.6.3 Gonadotropins
2.7 Assessment of Literature41
2.7 Summary
2.8 My Role42
Chapter 3 Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome have Intrinsic Insulin Resistance on Euglycaemic-Hyperinsulaemic Clamp
Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in Thesis by
Publication168
3.0 Introduction171
3.1 Insulin Resistance in PCOS171
3.2 My Role
Chapter 4a Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity.
Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in Thesis by
Publication
4.0 Introduction
4.1 Potential Markers of Insulin Resistance

4.2 Bio-Plex Immunoassay	37
4.3 Summary18	38
4.4 My Role	38
Chapter 4b Response to 'Insulin Sensitivity and Leptin in Women with PCOS.'	€7
Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in Thesis b	эу
Publication19	€€
4.5 Introduction)0
4.6 My Role20)0
Chapter 5 Mitochondrial Dysfunction as a Potential Mechanism Underlying Intrins	ic
Insulin Resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome)4
5.0 Introduction)5
5.1 Role of mitochondria in insulin resistance20)5
5.3 Techniques to measure Mitochondrial Function20)7
5.4 Summary)8
5.5 My Role)8
Chapter 6 Polycystic ovary syndrome and Anti-Müllerian hormone: Role of insul	in
resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotropins22	27
Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in Thesis b	эу
Publication	28

6.0 Introduction	
6.1 AMH in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome	231
6.2 AMH and Hyperandrogenism	
6.3 AMH and Insulin Resistance	
6.4 AMH and Obesity	
6.5 AMH and Gonadotropins	
6.6 Summary	234
6.7 My Role	234
Chapter 7 Discussion and Conclusion	
7.0 Discussion and Conclusions	
7.1 Limitations	
7.2 Key Future research goals	
7.3 Overall Conclusion	
References	
Appendix 1 Copyright agreement for Chapter 3	
Appendix 2 Copyright agreement for Chapter 4a	
Appendix 3 Copyright agreement for Chapter 4b	
Appendix 4 Copyright agreement for Chapter 6	

List of Tables

Chapter 2

Table 1	Studies included in meta-analysis Page 60
Table 2	Studies included in meta-analysis investigating moderating Page 65
	effects of key hormones
Table 3	Meta-analysed overall mean effect of PCOS and insulin sensitivity Page 68
Table 4	Associations of differences in hormone concentrations with Page 73
	differences in insulin sensitivity between women with and without PCOS
Table S1	MOOSE Checklist Page 94
Table S2	Search strategy for systematic review Page 97
Table S3	Quality appraisal of included studies Page 98

Chapter 5

Table 1	Participant Characteristics	Page 282
---------	-----------------------------	----------

List of Figures

Chapter 2

Figure 1	Flow diagram of the systematic review study selection process Page 59
Figure 2	The effect of BMI on the difference in insulin sensitivity Page 70
	between PCOS and control groups
Figure S1	Scatter plot of t-statistic associated with each study Page 166

Chapter 5

Figure 1	Oxidative phosphorylation antibody linearity gel Page 217
Figure 2	Mitochondrial respiration as measured by high resolution Page 220
	respirometry in lean women with and without PCOS.
Figure 3	Mitochondrial respiration changes as a result of the addition of Page 220
	ADP.
Figure 4A	Mitochondrial protein expression in women with and without Page 221
	PCOS.
Figure 4B	Representative blot of mitochondrial protein expression for Page 221
	complexes I-V.
Figure 5	Citrate synthase activity as an indicator of mitochondrial Page 222
	abundance in women with and without PCOS.

Abbreviations

AES	Androgen Excess Society
АМН	anti-mullerian Hormone
ASRM	American Society of Reproductive Medicine
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
AU	arbitrary units
BMI	body mass index
CI	confidence interval
CVD	cardiovascular disease
CYP-17	cytochrome P450c17
DHEA	dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEAS	dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECT	electron transport chain
ESHRE	European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology
FAI	free androgen index
FCCP	carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy) phenylhydrazone
FFA	free fatty acids
FSH	follicle stimulating hormone
GDM	gestational diabetes mellitus
GIP	glucose-dependant insulinotropic polypeptide
GIR	glucose infusion rate
G/I ratio	fasting glucose to insulin ratio
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT4	glucose transporter 4

GnRH	gonadotropin releasing hormone
HbA1c	glycated haemoglobin
HOMA	homeostatic model of assessment
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary axis
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HRR	high resolution respirometry
IGT	impaired glucose tolerance
ΙΚΚ-β	inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase subunit beta
INSR	insulin receptor
INSR-1	insulin receptor substrate-1
INSR-1	insulin receptor substrate-2
IR	insulin resistance
IVGTT	intravenous glucose tolerance test
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
LH	luteinising hormone
MOOSE	Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
mtDNA	mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydride
NAFLD	non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NIH	National Institute of Health
NHMRC	National Health and Research Medical Council
OR	odds ratio
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
PAI-1	plasminogen activator inhibitor-1

РСО	polycystic ovary
РСОМ	polycystic ovary morphology
PCOS	polycystic ovary syndrome
PGC-1a	proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator α
РКВ	protein kinase B
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-analyses
QUICKI	quantitative insulin sensitivity check index
QUOROM	Quality of Reporting of Meta-analyses
ROS	reactive oxygen species
ROX	residual oxygen consumption
SD	standard deviation
SHBG	sex hormone binding globulin
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus
TGFβ	transforming growth factor β
VO ₂ max	Maximal oxygen consumption
WHO	World Health Organisation

Chapter 1 Review of Literature

1.0 Introduction and definition of polycystic ovary syndrome

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common metabolic and endocrine disorder affecting 6 to 21% of reproductive aged women depending on population, mean body mass index (BMI) and diagnostic criteria used (March et al., 2010, Boyle et al., 2012). High prevalence are rates seen in women whom are overweight or have an Indigenous or Asian background (Boyle et al., 2012, March et al., 2010). The features of PCOS, including menstrual dysfunction, infertility and hirsutism have been described in medical records for more than 2,000 years (Azziz et al., 2011). The syndrome was officially recognised in the 1930's by Stein and Leventhal who associated polycystic ovaries (PCO) to the clinical features of menstrual dysfunction, infertility, hirsutism and obesity (Stein and Leventhal, 1935). Since the 1980's, researchers expanded on these observations to report an association between hyperinsulinaemia and hyperandrogenism bringing to light possible aetiologies and a complicated metabolic and reproductive condition with psychosocial and economic consequences across the lifespan (Burghen et al., 1980, Dunaif, 1989, Shoupe et al., 1983, Teede et al., 2010). These ground-breaking studies also caused great debate as to whether insulin resistance (IR) is a unique feature of PCOS contributing to clinical features and health consequences.

During the past two decades skeletal muscle dysfunction has been associated with the pathogenesis of IR, including dysfunctional insulin signalling and mitochondria, and the release of cytokines. However, there is still little consensus regarding the underlying mechanisms of IR in PCOS. Therefore further investigation into the aetiology of PCOS and IR is vital for the adequate treatment of the syndrome.

The present chapter provides an overview of the background of this thesis by describing the literature regarding PCOS and proposed aetiology, which is followed by an explanation of IR and the current understanding of its role in the development of PCOS and associate reproductive consequences. It also concludes by highlighting gaps in our current knowledge.

1.1 Diagnostic Criteria of PCOS

The diagnostic criteria for the syndrome continue to evolve with advances in both the understanding of the condition and the precision of medical equipment and technology. Hyperandrogenism, menstrual irregularity, and PCO have been proposed as the diagnostic features of PCOS (Rotterdam, 2004). Hyperandrogenism is assessed by clinical and biochemical measurements. Clinical features of hyperandrogenism include hirsutism, acne, female-pattern alopecia (hair loss) and acanothosis nigricans, which occur in 73.9%, 53.3%, 34.8% and 5.3% of women with PCOS respectively (Ozdemir et al., 2010). These differ across ethnicities, are often subjective and altered by cosmetic treatment such as laser (McGill et al., 2007). This makes clinical features difficult to interpret when diagnosing PCOS. Biochemical hyperandrogenism is determined by free testosterone and/or free androgen index (FAI) and are composite measures that include assessments of circulating levels of serum testosterone and sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) (Norman et al., 2007). However, it is unclear which androgens are best measured, what constitutes normal reference ranges in women and which analytical technique should be used, with recent publications questioning the specificity and accuracy of commonly used immunoassays (Barth et al., 2007, Handelsman and Wartofsky, 2013, O'Reilly et al., 2014)

The diagnosis of menstrual irregularity is based on identifying either oligoovulation; which is defined as less than eight periods per year or cycles which are longer than 35 days, and

anovulation; the absence of menstruation for more than three months without pregnancy (Norman et al., 2007). Approximately 90% of women with oligoovulation or anovulation are diagnosed with PCOS and up to 95% of women with PCOS present with these symptoms (Rotterdam, 2004). During adolescence, perimenopause and postmenopause, interpreting the cause of irregular menstrual cycles is challenging and makes diagnosis more difficult.

Polycystic ovarian morphology (PCOM) is most commonly measured using transvaginal ultrasound and is defined as the presence of 12 or more follicles in one or both ovaries, measuring 2-9 mm in diameter, and/or having an ovarian volume greater than 10 mL (Rotterdam, 2004). Over 90% of women with PCOS have PCOM and women with PCO can have up to six times more early developing antral follicles compared to the ovaries of healthy women. PCO remains non-specific for PCOS and prevalence rates of PCO are increasing because of more advanced imaging equipment (Leonhardt et al., 2014). Specificity of PCOM in PCOS diagnosis remains controversial. Anti-mullerian hormone (AMH) concentrations are reflective of the number of pre-antral and small antral follicles in the ovary and raised concentrations are evident in women with PCO and PCOS. This makes AMH concentrations a potential tool to aid in the diagnosis of PCOS (Dewailly et al., 2014, Homburg et al., 2013). Currently, IR is not included as a diagnostic criterion for PCOS, even though it is acknowledged to be a central feature of the condition (Teede et al., 2011). This is largely that IR cannot be simply and accurately measured in clinical practise, hence routine testing is not recommended in PCOS.

To date, there are three definitions or diagnostic criteria for PCOS, which can make the diagnosis experience confusing and lengthy for both the clinician and woman involved (Gibson-Helm et al., 2014). The original diagnostic criteria were formed in 1990 by the

National Institutes of Health (NIH) consensus group and were based on opinion rather than clinical evidence (Azziz et al., 2006). PCOS was defined as having clinical and/or biochemical signs of hyperandrogenism and oligoanovulation. In 2003, the second iteration of diagnostic criteria for PCOS was established by the European Society for Human Reproduction and Embryology and the American Society of Reproductive Medicine (ESHRE/ASRM) consensus group to include any two of the three criteria; clinical and/or biochemical signs of hyperandrogenism, oligo-anovulation and PCO on ultrasound. This set of criteria is referred to as the Rotterdam criteria and introduces different PCOS phenotypes; classic (hyperandrogenism and oligoanovulation), ovulatory (hyperandrogenism and PCO) and normoandrogenic (oligoanovulation and PCO) (Rotterdam, 2004). In 2006, the Androgen Excess Society (AES) published a position statement, based on an evidence based review that suggested hyperandrogenism should be the key component to diagnose PCOS together with oligoanovulation or PCO or both (Azziz et al., 2006, Azziz et al., 2009). All three definitions require the exclusion of other conditions that cause clinical features of PCOS. These conditions include congenital adrenal hyperplasia, Cushing's disease, thyroid dysfunction and hyperprolactinemia (Azziz et al., 2006, Azziz et al., 2009, Rotterdam, 2004).

The NIH and AES criteria tend to diagnose women with the more severe spectrum of the disease. However, the Rotterdam criteria are now internationally accepted by the NIH, Australian guidelines and European societies. Given that an estimated 70% of PCOS cases are undiagnosed in Australia (March et al., 2010), reducing confusion and promoting awareness of the endorsed diagnostic criteria is important (Rotterdam, 2004, Teede et al., 2011). The Rotterdam criteria are used to diagnose PCOS in this thesis as it has been endorsed by national and international bodies and are inclusive of the original NIH criteria.

1.2 Epidemiology

The lack of prior consensus on the definition and diagnosis of PCOS has undermined investigations attempting to accurately determine population-based prevalence rates for the condition (Hart et al., 2004, March et al., 2010). Despite PCOS being the most common endocrine disorders in reproductive aged women, prevalence estimates are highly variable ranging from 2-21% depending on the diagnostic criteria used, recruitment strategy, population studied (selected and unselected populations) and ethnicity (Asuncion et al., 2000, Boyle et al., 2012, Chen et al., 2008b, Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 1999, Farah et al., 1999, Knochenhauer et al., 1998, Kumarapeli et al., 2008, March et al., 2010). The introduction of the Rotterdam criteria broadened the previous NIH definition by including PCO morphology and therefore two additional phenotypes and as a consequence prevalence rates rose from an estimated 6-8% to 12-20% (Boyle et al., 2012, March et al., 2010, Yildiz et al., 2012).

The only community based study in Australia to assess prevalence rates of PCOS using current international diagnostic criteria (Rotterdam) reported a prevalence of 11.9% in 728 women between 27-34 years of age (March et al., 2010). The prevalence increased to 17.8% using the Rotterdam criteria when imputed data was included for participants not consenting to ultrasounds (March et al., 2010). Furthermore, the prevalence of PCOS is higher in Australian Indigenous communities where it affects up to 21% of women (Davis et al., 2002, Boyle et al., 2012). A community based Iranian study investigated prevalence rates in 1126 women aged 18-45 years and found similar rates to that of the Australian study, 7.1%, using the NIH definition and 14.6% using the Rotterdam criteria (Tehrani et al., 2011). Prevalence rates in Southern China were 2.2% using the Rotterdam criteria (n = 915) in women recruited through their annual physical examination (Chen et al., 2008b); it was 4.0% in women living in South-eastern United States (NIH, n = 369) (Knochenhauer et al., 1998), 6.3% in a Sri

Lankan population (Rotterdam, n = 2,915) (Kumarapeli et al., 2008), 6.5% in women (NIH, n = 154) living in Spain volunteering to donate blood (Asuncion et al., 2000), 6.8% (n = 192) in a Greek population (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 1999) and 26% in the United Kingdom (n = 230) (Michelmore et al., 1999).

Additionally, the prevalence of PCOS increases by 9.2% for every single unit increment in body mass index (BMI) (Teede, 2013) and PCOS is five times higher in obese populations compared to women within a healthy weight range (Alvarez-Blasco et al., 2006). In contrast, reported prevalence rates of PCOS in underweight, normal-weight, overweight, obese and moderate-obese women to be 8.2%, 9.8%, 9.9%, 9.0% and 12.4% respectively, leaving authors to concluded that PCOS is likely due to intrinsic or inherited factors (Yildiz et al., 2008). Therefore, obesity may have a small effect on prevalence rates of PCOS, but it has profound effects on the presentation of clinical features and degree of IR in PCOS potentially due to the endocrine function of adipose tissue (Yildiz et al., 2008).

1.3 Significance and Economic Burden of PCOS

The short and long term health consequences associated with PCOS cause a large economic burden. Calculations of the health related economic burden are based on the estimates of prevalence rates, co-morbidities and the expense of diagnosing and treating the condition (Azziz et al., 2005). In 2005, the estimated economic burden of diagnosing and providing care for women with PCOS was \$US4 billion annually in the United States (Azziz et al., 2005), equating to an estimated AU\$800 million in Australia (Teede et al., 2011). PCOS therefore represents a major health and economic burden (Azziz et al., 2005). It is estimated that 40.3% of this economic burden is a result of diabetes associated with PCOS, 31.0% due to menstrual dysfunction and abnormal uterine bleeding, 14.2% treating hirsutism and 12.2%

infertility care (Azziz et al., 2005). Furthermore, PCOS is the most common cause of anovulatory infertility in women, with high costs in infertile obese Australian women (Clark et al., 1998). In the estimates detailed above, the NIH criteria were used to derive prevalence rates and the economic burden of PCOS. This may have underestimated the financial burden, as prevalence rates are two to three fold higher when Rotterdam criteria is used. Surprisingly, only 2.3% of the economic burden was attributed to diagnosis and evaluation of the condition (Azziz et al., 2005). It is now recognised that there is a need to increase awareness of PCOS and investment to aid in the early diagnosis and treatment preventing the onset of serious sequelae including infertility, IR, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Azziz et al., 2005).

1.4 PCOS Actiology

The aetiology of PCOS is complex and remains elusive. A combination of both genetic and environmental factors including ovarian dysfunction, hormonal disturbances, underlying hyperandroginism, IR, obesity and abnormalities in gonadotropin secretion have been implicated in the aetiology of PCOS.

1.4.1 Genetics

A family history of PCOS and genetics has been implicated in the aetiology of PCOS and variations in phenotypical expression. PCOS has high heritability with monozygotic twin sisters (tetrachoric correlation 0.71) being twice as likely to have PCOS compared to dizygotic twin sisters and other female siblings (tetrachoric correlation 0.38) (Vink et al., 2006). However, the mode of inheritance remains unclear with both autosomal dominant and multigenetic modes of inheritance being implicated (Vink et al., 2006). Typical reproductive and metabolic abnormalities in PCOS, including hyperandrogenemia and IR, are also

reported to cluster in families with PCOS. Mothers, sisters and brothers of women with PCOS are reported to have a defect in steriodogenesis leading to androgen excess compared to controls (Legro et al., 2002b, Yildiz et al., 2012). First-degree relatives of women with PCOS also have IGT or IR (Yildiz et al., 2012). Genome-wide association studies in Han Chinese women have reported 11 genetic loci linked to PCOS and these loci are found on regions that house genes responsible for gonadotropins, insulin signalling, reproductive hormones and T2DM (Chen et al., 2011, Shi et al., 2012). A replication study confirmed that some of these variations in loci were also evident in European women and may be important in the aetiology of PCOS independent of ethnicity (Goodarzi et al., 2012).

1.4.2 Prenatal Androgen Excess

Although beyond the scope of this thesis, the prenatal environment and in particular androgen excess intrauterine, is thought to play a pathophysiologic role in PCOS by contributing to reproductive and metabolic dysfunction in offspring (Abbott et al., 2005). Metabolic and reproductive dysfunctions including hyperandrogenism, PCO, elevated luteinising hormone (LH) concentrations, IR, hyperlipidemia, glucose intolerance, and increased risk of T2DM have been reported in a variety of pre-androgenised animal models (Abbott et al., 1998, Birch et al., 2003, Dumesic et al., 1997, Eisner et al., 2002, Manikkam et al., 2004, Recabarren et al., 2005). In rodent models the degree of reproductive or metabolic dysfunction was dose dependent upon testosterone exposure (Foecking et al., 2005, Wu et al., 2010). Women with PCOS are reported to have elevated androgen levels during gestation and have higher concentrations of enzymes that convert unconjugated steroids into androstenedione and subsequently testosterone levels are reported to be elevated to male levels in the umbilical vein of female foetuses born from mothers with PCOS (Barry et al., 2011). However, this

finding has not been replicated and is still a topic of debate (Anderson et al., 2010). Overall, the prenatal environment and excess androgen exposure intrauterine may play a role in the development of PCOS.

1.4.3 Hypothalamic-Pituitary Axis

The Hypothalamic-pituitary axis (HPA) is a complex feedback loop comprising of the hypothalamus (containing gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons), pituitary gland (responsible for the secretion of LH and follicle stimulating hormone [FSH]) and the ovary, which responds to changes in gonadotropin concentrations by follicular maturation and ovulation (Roland and Moenter, 2014). It is proposed that abnormalities in the HPA exist in women with PCOS. These abnormalities result in an increased GnRH pulse frequency and disruption in the release of LH and FSH leading to an increase in immature follicles on the ovary and menstrual dysfunction. Various studies have reported an increase in LH concentrations, LH/FSH ratio, and GnRH and LH pulse frequency and amplitude in women with PCOS (Taylor et al., 1997, Waldstreicher et al., 1988). Whether defects in gonadotropin release are inherent to PCOS or secondary to developing the condition is under debate. Insulin and hyperandrogenism are factors proposed to play a role in gonadotropin regulation. Hyperinsulinaemia causes an increase in LH receptor expression and premature release of the follicle, which combine to cause follicular arrest and subfertility or infertility (Diamanti-Kandarakis, 2008). Evidence for a regulatory role of androgens in altered gonadotropin secretion is supported by the finding that prenatally androgenised rhesus monkeys and sheep produce female offspring with LH hypersecretion, hypothesised to occur due to altered programming of the hypothalamus and an increased sensitivity of the pituitary gland to gonadotropin releasing hormones (Sarma et al., 2005). Elevated androgen levels can also increase AMH through augmenting follicular growth and these high AMH concentrations may also negatively feedback on FSH production.

1.4.4 Obesity

Obesity is defined as excessive fat accumulation, which is commonly assessed using BMI. A BMI of 18.5 to <25 km/m² is considered to be healthy, whereas a BMI of 25 to 29 km/m² is classified as overweight and >30 km/m² as obese. Obesity may have a bidirectional relationship with PCOS; women with PCOS are predisposed to weight gain and excess weight gain appears to increase the prevalence of PCOS (Shorakae et al., 2014, Teede, 2013). Adipose tissue acts as an endocrine organ secreting proteins known as adipokines (including resistin, visfatin, and Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 [PAI-1]), which play a role in energy metabolism through their interactions with the liver, skeletal muscle, brain, pancreas and reproductive system (Scherer, 2006). Obesity is strongly related to PCOS, with up to 61% of women with the condition being overweight or obese, although this varies with ethnicity and the cause and association are still being investigated (Lim et al., 2012). Obesity has been reported to precede oligoovulation and hyperandrogenism and has deleterious effects on metabolic features of PCOS, in particular insulin sensitivity (Gambineri et al., 2002).

Reproductive disturbances of oligoovulation and anovulatory infertility are more common in obese women compared to lean women irrespective of PCOS diagnosis (Teede, 2013). The risk of these reproductive disturbances worsens with increasing BMI (Teede, 2013). Obesity may also increase the risk of miscarriages and impair the outcome of assisted reproductive technologies (Pasquali et al., 2014). Furthermore, obese women with PCOS tend to have higher testosterone levels compared to lean PCOS women. Excess adipose tissue may contribute to the hyperandrogenism seen in PCOS by decreasing the levels of SHBG and

consequently increasing the bioavailability of sex steroids including testosterone (Holte, 1996).

Metabolically, IR is compromised by obesity in both the general population and in women with PCOS. The risk and degree of IR rises with increasing BMI; 27 kg/m² is the critical point where a marked decrease in insulin sensitivity is observed (Garcia-Estevez et al., 2004). Furthermore, obese women with PCOS display higher fasting and glucose-stimulated insulin concentrations and lower whole body insulin sensitivity compared to their non-PCOS counterparts (Dunaif et al., 1989). Although the degree of obesity is important in the development of IR, the distribution of this adipose tissue also seems to have an effect. Individuals with a high intra-abdominal fat distribution tend to be less insulin sensitive compared to individuals with a more subcutaneous fat distribution (Carey et al., 1996, Cnop et al., 2002, Fujimoto et al., 2000, Kahn, 2003).

It appears that obesity worsens the features of PCOS. Specifically, women diagnosed by the NIH criteria (menstrual dysfunction and hyperandrogenemia) were more obese compared to their sisters with the less severe phenotype of regular menstrual cycles and hyperandrogenemia. Healthy sisters unaffected by PCOS were reported to have a lower body mass compared to both PCOS groups (Kahn et al., 2006, Legro et al., 2002a). While obesity modifies the phenotype and/or severity of the features of PCOS, it is unclear whether it is a key player in the aetiology of the syndrome. To better understand the interaction between obesity and PCOS, this thesis will explore the impact of obesity on reproductive and metabolic disturbances in PCOS.

1.5 Health Complications of PCOS

PCOS is a lifelong condition associated with numerous clinical sequelae including reproductive, metabolic, cardiovascular, carcinogenic and psychosocial comorbidities (Teede et al., 2010). These comorbidities vary in severity across the lifespan with features of hyperandrogenism most prominent among adolescents, whereas fertility and reproductive issues are prominent among women in their 20's and 30's. Metabolic features, weight gain, and psychosocial challenges affect all ages, with metabolic features occurring earlier in individuals who are overweight (Teede et al., 2011).

1.5.1 Reproductive Consequences

Women with PCOS may be subfertile with ovulatory dysfunction exacerbated by hyperandrogenism and obesity associated with the syndrome (Group, 2012, Rotterdam, 2004). Subfertility refers to reduced fertility in couples unsuccessfully trying to conceive (Gnoth et al., 2005) and is most commonly a result of anovulation, which affects 55-91% of women with PCOS (Loumaye et al., 2003). In a large epidemiological study comprising 4,535 women from North Finland, women with self-reported PCOS symptoms suffered more frequently from subfertility (26% versus 17% in healthy controls) and took longer to conceive for the first time (Koivunen et al., 2008). Interestingly, the number of women without PCOS symptoms (Koivunen et al., 2008). It is feasible that women with PCOS took longer to conceive because of fewer ovulatory cycles (Liang et al., 2011). With time the overall fertility of women with symptoms of PCOS may not be greatly impaired. Furthermore, fertility is not necessarily impaired in all PCOS cases. Some women are able to conceive without medical intervention, depending on the severity of the condition (Shorakae et al., 2014).

IR and hyperandrogenism are two mechanisms proposed to contribute to PCOS consequences. Hyperinsulinaemia increases the availability of testosterone and other steroids by suppressing the production of SHBG. IR also augments LH and ovarian androgen production, leading to hyperandrogenism. This accelerates pre-antral and antral follicular growth in the ovary and elevated LH results in premature luteinisation causing follicular arrest and decreased oocyte quality (Piouka et al., 2009, Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). Obesity has an additional inhibitory effect on gonadotropin release due to an increase in aromatization of androgens in adipose tissue resulting in the suppression of LH and the consequent inhibition of the dominant follicle (Grossman et al., 2008). Treatment with insulin lowering medication induces regular menstrual cycles and improves pregnancy rates (Brettenthaler et al., 2004). The role of IR, androgens and gonadotropins in ovarian dysfunction will be further discussed in Chapter 7.

1.5.2 Pregnancy Risks

Along with subfertility, women with PCOS may also experience complications during pregnancy (Roos et al., 2011); increased risk of miscarriage during the first trimester (30-50% versus 10-15% in control women) (Jakubowicz et al., 2002) and higher risk of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM; OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.7-5.1), pregnancy-induced hypertension (OR 3.7, 95% CI 1.9-6.8), pre-eclampsia (OR 3.47, 95% CI 1.9-6.2) and preterm birth (OR 1.75, 95% CI 1.2-2.6) (Boomsma et al., 2006). In utero, the embryo may be exposed to excess androgens and/or insulin that may have both short and long-term health effects on the child. Long-term epigenetic programming may be disrupted particularly in genes responsible for reproduction and metabolism (Hickey et al., 2006, Li and Huang, 2008). While short-term impacts may include the offspring of women with PCOS being at
increased risk of admission to a neonatal intensive care unit (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.3-4.3) and have a higher perinatal mortality (OR 3.07, 95% CI 1.0-9.2) (Boomsma et al., 2006). This may be compounded by the impact of obesity, which is independently associated with spontaneous miscarriage, pre-eclampsia and GDM (Wax, 2009). The effect of PCOS and obesity alone or in combination can be detrimental to pregnancy outcomes.

1.5.3 Metabolic Complications

Women with PCOS are at an increased risk of developing impaired glucose tolerance (IGT; OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.6-3.8) and T2DM (OR 4.43, 95% CI 4.1-4.8) (Moran et al., 2010). Furthermore, women with PCOS are proposed to have a more rapid progression from IGT to T2DM prompting the International Diabetes Federation to identify PCOS as a significant non-modifiable risk factor for T2DM (Alberti et al., 2007, Norman et al., 2001). The increased risk of IGT and T2DM in PCOS may be attributed to a variety of factors including, adipose tissue distribution, IR, abnormal beta cell function, androgen excess, GDM and a family history of T2DM (Ciampelli et al., 1997, Dunaif et al., 1996, Dunaif et al., 1989, Legro et al., 1999, Holte et al., 1995, Vrbikova et al., 2004).In light of the increased risk of T2DM, evidence based guidelines for PCOS and the AES recommend annual to biannual 75g oral glucose tolerance tests for women with PCOS to enable early detection and treatment for IGT and T2DM (Azziz et al., 2009).

See section 1.7 for a more detailed discussion on IR.

1.5.4 Cardiovascular Complications

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the leading causes of death in Australian women (AIHW, 2010). Women with PCOS not only have increased early clinical markers of

atherosclerosis (endothelial dysfunction, impaired pulse wave velocity, increased carotid intima media wall thickness, carotid plaque and coronary artery calcification) but also increased prevalence of many cardiometabolic risk factors including hyperinsulinaemia, dyslipidaemia, hypertension, IR and diabetes, which are all made worse by the presence of obesity (Legro et al., 1999, Meyer et al., 2005a, Meyer et al., 2005b, Wild et al., 2011). Hyperandrogenism and low levels of SHBG have also been linked to increased CVD risk in both premenopausal and postmenopausal women (Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2005). Although a large body of evidence reports an increased prevalence of the clustering of cardiovascular risk factors in PCOS, evidence that PCOS is associated with increased CVD is scarce and hampered by the lack of use of accepted diagnostic criteria, retrospective diagnosis of PCOS, and small sample size (Dokras, 2013).

1.5.5 Carcinogenic Complications

An association between PCOS and cancer was first reported almost 80 years ago. There are numerous potential risk factors that may mediate the development of cancer including chronic anovulation and hyperandrogenism with unopposed oestrogen action (Genazzani et al., 2001, Key and Pike, 1988), nulliparity, obesity and T2DM (Carmina and Lobo, 1999, ESHRE/ASRM, 2003, Chittenden et al., 2009). Women with PCOS are 3 times (OR 2.7, 95% CI 1.0-7.3) more likely to develop endometrial cancer and 2.5 times (OR 2.52, 95% CI 1.1-5.9) more likely to develop ovarian cancer compared to women without PCOS (Chittenden et al., 2009, Haoula et al., 2012, Schildkraut et al., 1996). Women with PCOS do not appear to be more likely to develop breast cancer (OR 0.9, 95% CI 0.4-1.8) and there are a lack of studies investigating a link between POCS and other cancers including cervical cancer. While an awareness of association between PCOS and various cancers is recommended, routine screening is not recommended in women with PCOS, unless risk factors or symptoms are

present.

1.5.6 Psychosocial Complications

Women with PCOS are also at increased risk of mental health disturbances including depression, anxiety, reduced quality of life, eating disorders, psychosexual dysfunction (Barnard et al., 2007, Barry et al., 2011, Deeks et al., 2011, Moran et al., 2012, Banting et al., 2014, Legro et al., 2013) and bipolar disorders (Klipstein and Goldberg, 2006, Rassi et al., 2010). It is difficult to identify the main cause of concern as PCOS involves several potentially distressing symptoms that vary in severity. Symptoms and co-morbidities associated with PCOS include coping with the condition itself, subfertility/infertility, loss of femininity and sexuality, body image dissatisfaction (weight, hirsutism and acne) and lower self-worth (Deeks et al., 2011, Kitzinger and Willmott, 2002). It has been suggested that younger women with the syndrome (Farrell and Antoni, 2010). These negative feelings can interfere with emotional development and lead to social fears that limit interactions with friends, family and the community (Benson et al., 2009). Psychosocial consequences are highly relevant in clinical care as they can adversely affect lifestyle management, often considered to be first line treatment in PCOS.

1.6 Management Strategies in PCOS

Given that PCOS is a chronic and complex condition, a patient focused, self-management approach is encouraged, with emphasis on the short and long-term reproductive, metabolic and psychological features (Teede et al., 2011). Ongoing management is important and interdisciplinary care is often required for optimising lifestyle, including caloric restriction and exercise to prevent weight gain and encourage weight loss, which is considered the first line of defense for PCOS.

A growing body of research has demonstrated that weight loss, achieved through lifestyle management, decreases abdominal fat, hyperandrogenism and IR, and improves lipid profiles, menstrual cyclicity, fertility, risk factors for T2DM and CVD and psychological health in women with PCOS who are overweight (Huber-Buchholz et al., 1999, van Hooff et al., 2000). There is currently insufficient data investigating the effects of lifestyle modification and weight loss in PCOS.

1.7 Insulin Resistance in PCOS

IR is a common metabolic disorder that underpins the pathophysiology of diabetes, metabolic syndrome, obesity and PCOS and their various health complications (Peppa et al., 2010). The mechanisms of IR are not fully elucidated and most commonly involve complex interactions between multiple intrinsic and extrinsic factors.

1.7.1 Definition of Insulin Resistance

Insulin acts to stimulate glucose uptake in peripheral tissues (primarily skeletal muscle) as well as to supress hepatic glucose production in order to maintain blood glucose homeostasis (Bergman, 2007, DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009). A reduced ability of insulin to exert its physiological effects is termed IR. This can occur through impaired insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis at in skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and liver. Lower suppression of hepatic glucose output, increased adipose tissue lipolysis; and impaired mitogenic processes (alterations in growth, differentiation, DNA synthesis, regulation of gene transcription (Anonymous, 1998). As a consequence of IR, pancreatic β -cell insulin secretion is increased to provide sufficient concentrations of insulin to elicit action and achieve glucose homeostasis, resulting in compensatory hyperinsulinaemia commonly observed in people

with IR (Bergman et al., 1985, Kahn, 1985). The World Health Organisation (WHO) specifically defines IR as a glucose uptake (i.e. insulin sensitivity) below the lowest quartile for background population under hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic conditions (Grundy 2004).

1.7.2 Importance of Insulin Resistance in PCOS

IR is a common feature in women with PCOS and a compensatory increase in circulating insulin concentrations are required to maintain glucose homeostasis (Munir et al., 2004). It is hypothesized that this increase in insulin may contribute to hyperandrogenism, dysfunctional ovulatory cycles and altered follicular development in PCOS (Romualdi et al., 2011). Evidence in support of this hypothesis arises from studies investigating the role of insulin sensitizing medication. When women with PCOS are treated with metformin or troglitazone, an improvement in peripheral insulin sensitivity is reported as well as reductions in androgen concentrations and restoration of ovulatory cycles (Dunaif et al., 1996, Hasegawa et al., 1999, la Marca et al., 2000).

The mechanisms by which insulin mediates the production of androgens in the ovary are not completely understood. Alterations in LH receptor, insulin receptor (INSR), and cytochrome P450c17 (CYP-17) as a result of hyperinsulinaemia contribute to excess production of progesterone, 17α -hydroxyprogesterone and testosterone as compared to normal theca cells (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2008, Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou, 2006). The role of insulin in ovarian function becomes evident from the observations of severe ovarian hyperandrogenemia in women with syndromes of extreme IR (Poretsky et al., 1999). Furthermore, INSR are found in ovarian theca, granulosa and stomal cells identifying the ovary as a target for insulin activity (Dunaif et al., 2001). In theca cells, the binding of insulin to the INSR activates the phosphoinositide 3-Kinase (PI3K) signalling pathway and the

activity of 17α -hydroxylase, which is a key mediator of androgen production (Munir et al., 2004). Furthermore, decreased phosphorylation of MEK1/2 and MAPK-ERK1/2 in cultured theca cells was associated with increased P450c17 expression, which plays a key role in androgen synthesis (Nelson-Degrave et al., 2005). Therefore, insulin plays a role in the clinical features of PCOS and this concept will be explored in Chapter 6.

1.7.3 Prevalence of Insulin Resistance in PCOS

The prevalence of IR in PCOS is reported to be up to 70% (Moghetti et al., 2013). However, limited studies are available and prevalence rates are dependent on the population studied and methods used for assessment. Furthermore, many studies have not used weight, age or ethnicity-matched controls, factors that have been shown to affect IR and even fewer have assessed the prevalence of IR in PCOS using the gold standard euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp. The different diagnostic criteria and phenotypic expressions also complicate research in this area.

IR prevalence was first identified in a small seminal study using weight-matched controls and the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp, where insulin stimulated glucose utilisation was below the lower range of weight-matched controls in 26% of obese and 60% of lean PCOS women (Dunaif et al., 1989). In another study of 40 obese PCOS women, 53% were insulin resistant when the frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) was used and IR was defined using the 10th percentile of the normal distribution in the age, weight and ethnicity matched controls as a cut-off value (Legro et al., 1998). In a larger study using controls that were not weight–matched, a higher prevalence of IR was reported in women with PCOS (Carmina and Lobo, 2004). IR was identified in 65% of PCOS women using glucose to insulin (G/I) ratios and 80% of women with homeostasis model assessment of IR

(HOMA) and qualitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI) (Carmina and Lobo, 2004). Other studies using HOMA and QUICKI have reported lower prevalence rates of 18% (Fulghesu et al., 2006) and up to 51% (de Paula Martins et al., 2007) of IR in PCOS. In a study with unmatched controls but adjusting for age, ethnicity and BMI, IR was present in 64% of women with PCOS using HOMA with the upper 95th percentile of adjusted values for controls to establish the upper normal limit for HOMA-IR (DeUgarte et al., 2005). These published studies demonstrate high variability, making it difficult to gage the prevalence of IR in PCOS, due to different definitions, cut-off values, and measurement techniques of IR. Furthermore, confounding factors such as age and BMI are often overlooked. Given the important aetiological role of IR in PCOS, there exists a need for quality assessment of prevalence rates of IR using gold standard techniques and for evidence synthesis of studies using these methods in PCOS. This is addressed in a systematic review in Chapters 2 and in original research in Chapter 3.

1.7.4 Effect of Diagnostic Criteria on Prevalence of Insulin Resistance

Prevalence rates of IR in PCOS are also confounded by the transition of diagnostic criteria from the original NIH to Rotterdam. Women diagnosed with the classic phenotype of PCOS (hyperandrogenism and anovulation) tend to have higher prevalence rates of IR compared to those diagnosed with the ovulatory (Carmina et al., 2005a, Moghetti et al., 2013) and normoandrogenetic phenotypes (Broekmans et al., 2006, Goverde et al., 2009, Mehrabian et al., 2011). However, this is not always reported (Chae et al., 2008, Panidis et al., 2012, Shroff et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2010). In comparison to healthy women without PCOS acting as controls, the NIH phenotype was generally insulin resistant (Carmina et al., 2005a, Chae et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2010, Dewailly et al., 2006) but results were not clear in the ovulatory (Carmina et al., 2006, and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2006) chae et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2010, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2006) comparison compander of the ovulatory (Carmina et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2006) company of the ovulatory (Carmina et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006) and normoandrogenic phenotypes (Chae et al., 2005a) and phenotypes (Chae

2008, Dewailly et al., 2006, Panidis et al., 2012). There are a number of limitations with the current studies making the interpretation of prevalence rates difficult. All, except one study (Moghetti et al., 2013), have used surrogate measures of IR, which may not be sensitive enough do detect IR in PCOS, with a need for more studies using the gold standard euglycaemic hyperinsulanaemic clamp (Buchanan et al., 2010). Furthermore, many studies did not take confounding factors, such as body composition, into account when assessing IR in different phenotypes. Therefore, to improve our knowledge in the area, Chapter 3 will investigate the prevalence of IR using gold standard clamps across in the NIH and Rotterdam diagnostic criteria for PCOS.

1.7.5 Insulin Resistance - Aetiology in PCOS

A decrease in insulin sensitivity has been reported in women with PCOS (Dunaif et al., 1989, Ciampelli et al., 1997, Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 1998, Glintborg et al., 2006, Morin-Papunen et al., 2000). However, several studies have not supported this finding, especially in lean women with PCOS, when confounding factors are taken into account including BMI, ethnicity, fat distribution, family history and diagnostic criteria, making relationships less clear (Holte et al., 1994, Ovesen et al., 1993, Vrbikova et al., 2004). The prevalence of IR in PCOS is estimated to be up to 65% and occurs independently of obesity, but the effect of obesity on IR is additive to that of PCOS (Carmina and Lobo, 2004, Teede et al., 2011). The presence of IR is a precursor to the development of other metabolic complications including T2DM. Large population studies using weight, age and ethnicity-matched controls are required.

International PCOS research agendas highlight aetiology and therapies as key priority areas (Legro et al., 2006, Teede et al., 2011). IR underlies the reproductive and metabolic features

of PCOS (Azziz et al., 2006) but its aetiology remains unclear in PCOS as well as in other insulin resistant states. Current theories suggest intrinsic IR (genetic, inherent and unique to PCOS) and extrinsic factors (obesity/physical inactivity and adipokines/cytokines) work synergistically to promote an insulin resistant state (Corbould et al., 2005, Dunaif, 1997). Women with PCOS have hyperinsulinemia and decreased glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Impaired muscle glucose uptake and whole body IR has been attributed to impaired insulin responsiveness of skeletal muscle and adipose tissue and specific abnormalities in insulin metabolism including basal hyperinsulinemia, reductions in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (Dunaif, 1997, Dunaif et al., 1996), reduced hepatic glucose uptake, impaired suppression of hepatic gluconeogenesis (Dunaif et al., 1989) and abnormalities in insulin signalling in skeletal muscle (Dunaif, 1997, Corbould, 2008b, Corbould et al., 2005).

1.7.6 Possible Defects in Skeletal Muscle of Women with PCOS

Skeletal muscle accounts for up to 85% of whole body insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009). Insulin stimulates glucose uptake in skeletal muscle by increasing the translocation of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) from intracellular vesicles to the cell surface, mainly mediated through the activation of the PI3-K and AKT or protein kinase B (AKT/protein kinase B [PKB]) signalling pathways (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou, 2006). Women with PCOS have IR that is independent of obesity and this may be attributed to INSR and/or post-binding defect in the insulin signalling pathways (Dunaif, 1997, Dunaif et al., 1992, Dunaif et al., 2001). Muscle biopsies taken from women with PCOS during basal conditions have normal insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) and PI3K activity, however IRS-1-associated PI3-K activity was significantly reduced compared to age, weight and ethnicity matched control women during a euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp (Dunaif et al., 2001). Furthermore, there was no difference in the abundance of the INSR,

IRS-1, or the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3-K in women with PCOS, but there was an increased abundance of insulin receptor substrate 2 (IRS-2), suggesting a compensatory adjustment to help to maintain insulin mediated glucose uptake (Dunaif et al., 2001). Signalling abnormalities are also reported in the phosphorylation of AKT at Serine473 and Threonine308 sites and AKT's downstream target for GLUT4 translocation AS160, independently of obesity (Glintborg et al., 2008). Treatment with insulin sensitising medication (pioglitazone) improved insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, but not to normal control levels (Hojlund et al., 2008). IRS-1 phosphorylation on Serine312, a key site for inhibiting insulin-mediated IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation and activation, was also reported to be increased in PCOS (Corbould et al., 2005).

In contrast, others have failed to find changes in IRS-1-associated PI3-K activity and AKT/PKB activation in skeletal muscle biopsies in women with PCOS following insulin infusion, despite impaired rates on insulin mediated glucose disposal (Ciaraldi et al., 2009, Hojlund et al., 2008). The discrepancies between studies could be attributed to differences in the time course of muscle biopsies taken following insulin infusion (15 and 30 minutes post insulin infusion versus 3 hours) and the concentration of insulin achieved (physiological levels) (Dunaif et al., 2001, Hojlund et al., 2008).

Insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle may also be reduced due to dysfunction in mitogenic insulin signalling pathways. An attenuation in the insulin stimulated ERK mitogenic pathway and an increase in basal phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 were reported in a small group of women with PCOS (n=9) (Rajkhowa et al., 2009). The IRS/PKB pathway was similar in PCOS and controls. Together, this evidence highlights that impairments in the insulin signalling pathway occur in PCOS and may be responsible for the IR associated with PCOS.

However, further work is required to define the defects responsible for impairments in insulin-mediated glucose disposal present in PCOS.

Other possible mechanisms for the development of IR in skeletal muscle are adipokines and inflammatory markers. These markers have the ability to disrupt insulin signalling pathways either directly by inhibiting serine phosphorylation of the IRS or indirectly through inflammatory pathways including the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and I-kappa B kinase β (IKK β)/NF κ B pathways (Tilg and Moschen, 2008). Some adipokines that may play a role in modulating IR include leptin, resistin, visfatin, and (PAI-1 (Makki et al., 2013). Little attention has been given to the interaction of these markers in the development of IR in PCOS; rather the majority of the research has focused on measuring these markers in isolation. Therefore, potential markers of IR in PCOS are further explored in Chapter 4.

1.7.7 Insulin Resistance and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Skeletal Muscle

Another theory on the aetiology of IR became popular in the 1990's and implicates abnormalities in mitochondrial function in the development of IR (Morino et al., 2006). Mitochondria are surrounded by an outer and an inner bilipid membrane. The inner membrane consists of many folds that form cristae where the five oxidative phosphorylation enzymes are located. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydride (NADH) dehydrogenase (complex I) is the first enzyme in the electron transport chain (ETC) and catalyses the transfer of electrons from NADH molecules to coenzyme Q. Complex II (succinate dehydrogenase) transmits electrons from succinate to coenzyme Q and directly connects the citric acid cycle to the respiratory chain. From coenzyme Q, electrons can be transferred to complex III (cytochrome c reductase). Cytochrome c mediates electron transfer from cytochrome c reductase to cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV). Finally, electrons are transferred to an oxygen molecule, which is reduced to water. ATP synthase, which is the prominent enzyme in complex V, is responsible for this proton gradient that drives ATP synthesis from ADP and phosphate (Dudkina et al., 2010).

The function of mitochondria is to produce energy, mainly ATP, by oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) (Brand and Nicholls, 2011). Other functions include fatty acid oxidation, cell signalling, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, mediating oxidative stress, regulation of apoptosis and cellular aging (Goodpaster, 2013, Holloszy, 1967, van Gurp et al., 2003). Metabolic homeostasis is tightly controlled by the mitochondria through the oxidisation of both carbohydrates and lipids and by transitioning between these substrates in response to insulin, substrate concentrations and the contractile status of the muscle (rest versus contraction) (Kelley et al., 1993). Abnormality in any of these processes can be termed mitochondrial dysfunction (Brand and Nicholls, 2011).

A role for mitochondria in IR emerged when researchers began to report defects in skeletal muscle mitochondria function in a range of different insulin-resistant populations; obese, T2DM and PCOS and in non-diabetic individuals with a family history of T2DM (Bullon et al., 2014, Kelley et al., 2002). Defects in mitochondria include a reduction in mitochondrial size, content (Kelley et al., 2002, Morino et al., 2005, Ritov et al., 2005) and oxidative enzyme activity (Heilbronn et al., 2007a, Ritov et al., 2005), decreased fat oxidation in skeletal muscle (Kelley et al., 1999, Kelley et al., 2002, Kim et al., 2000, Simoneau et al., 1999), down-regulation of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis and OXPHOS (Mootha et al., 2003, Patti et al., 2003), decreased messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) and/or protein expression of mitochondrial genes/proteins (Heilbronn et al., 2007a, Heilbronn et al., 2007b, Morino et al., 2005, Skov et al., 2007), reductions in mitochondrial DNA

(mtDNA) levels (Ritov et al., 2005) and decreases in mitochondrial oxidative capacity (Befroy et al., 2007, Mogensen et al., 2007, Petersen et al., 2004). Collectively, these studies support the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the aetiology of IR. However, much debate exists in this area, as a large body of research also report no association between IR and mitochondrial function (De Feyter et al., 2008, Fisher-Wellman et al., 2014, Lefort et al., 2010, Rabol et al., 2011, Trenell et al., 2008) The mechanisms and associations of mitochondrial dysfunction and in IR in PCOS will be further explored in Chapter 5 of this thesis.

1.8 Summary and Research Gaps

PCOS is a very common condition with a significant reproductive, metabolic, psychological and economic burden. Given the role of IR in the pathophysiology and clinical consequences of PCOS, the syndrome appears to be an insulin resistant state and exploration of the aetiology of IR in PCOS is needed to better understand the condition and improve treatment options. Key research gaps remain in this area and include:

- Evidence for the presence of intrinsic and extrinsic (obesity related) IR in PCOS using gold standard assessments of insulin sensitivity;
- The need for accurate prevalence rates of IR in PCOS given the confounding factors such as age, BMI, diagnostic criteria, ethnicity and various methods used in measuring insulin sensitivity;
- 3. An understanding of factors that modulate IR in PCOS including sex steroids, inflammatory markers and adipokines;
- 4. Novel and optimal methods to measure IR in PCOS;
- 5. A better understanding of underlying mechanisms of IR in PCOS;
- 6. The role IR plays in clinical consequences of PCOS.

1.9 Aims of the Thesis

Given the gaps in our knowledge, the body of work presented in this thesis aims to:

- Systematically review and meta-analyse the literature to determine the impact of PCOS status on IR, age, BMI and PCOS diagnostic criteria and to investigate factors that potentially mediate IR in PCOS using a systematic approach (Chapter 2);
- ii) Investigate prevalence of IR in PCOS in a cross-sectional study using gold standard euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies (Chapter 3);
- iii) Explore other potential markers of IR in PCOS (Chapter 4);
- iv) Explore the role of mitochondrial function in the underlying aetiology of intrinsic IR in PCOS (Chapter 5);
- v) Explore role of IR in reproductive consequences, specifically ovarian dysfunction (Chapter 6).

1.10 Organisation of the Thesis

The following chapters explore IR in PCOS. An overall introduction in Chapter 1 is followed by Chapter 2, which is original research presented in the form of a systematic review and meta-analysis aimed at determining whether IR is intrinsic to PCOS and hormonal changes that may be associated with IR. Chapter 3 extends on the previous chapter by further exploring the intrinsic nature of IR in PCOS through a comprehensive cross-sectional study. In this chapter I also described the prevalence of IR in PCOS based on different diagnostic criteria. Chapter 4 details techniques to measure IR and proposes biomarkers, which may be useful in detecting IR in PCOS. Chapter 5 explores the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in IR and PCOS and finally Chapter 6 explores the relationship between of IR, ovarian function and reproductive consequences.

Chapter 2 Insulin Resistance in Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Euglycaemic-Hyperinsulinaemic Clamp Studies

Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-contribution: Papers incorporated in

thesis by publication

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.

Declaration by:	Signature:	Date
Samantha Cassar		27/11/2014

Paper Title:

Insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and metaanalysis of euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies.

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

Name	Contribution %	Nature of Contribution	
Samantha Cassar	70	Designed the research, performed the literature search, independently reviewed the articles and assessed risk of bias, contributed to data analysis and interpretation, wrote the manuscript, constructed tables and figures, provided critical review of the manuscript and approved the final version for publication.	
Marie L. Misso	5	Designed the research, performed the literature search, assisted with reviewing articles, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.	
William G. Hopkins	5	Designed the meta-analysis models, performed statistical analysis and interpretation, wrote the manuscript, provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.	

Christopher S. Shaw	2	Independently reviewed the articles, assisted in data analysis and interpretation, provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Nigel K. Stepto	9	Designed the research, assisted with data analysis and interpretation, provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Helena J. Teede	9	Designed the research, interpreted data, wrote the manuscript, provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

DECLARATION BY CO-AUTHORS

The undersigned certify that:

- 1. They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
- 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;
- 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
- 4. Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies,
 b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
- 5. The original data is stored at the following location(s):

Location(s): Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University

and will be held for at least five years from the date indicated below.

	Date
Samantha Cassar	27/11/2014
Marie L. Misso	27/11/2014
William G. Hopkins	27/11/2014
Christopher S. Shaw	27/11/2014
Nigel K. Stepto	27/11/2014
Helena J. Teede	27/11/2014

2.0 Introduction

IR is central to the pathophysiology of PCOS (Teede et al., 2007), predisposes individuals to T2DM and is associated with metabolic and cardiovascular abnormalities including obesity, hypertension and coronary heart disease (Muniyappa et al., 2008). It is therefore important to accurately measure IR to identify individuals at increased risk of these conditions, determine aetiologies and appropriate therapeutic interventions. Currently, the assessment of IR can be performed by numerous direct and indirect methods, each having their own advantages and limitations, which will be discussed below. In general, invasive and detailed measures of insulin sensitivity using the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp are applied in smaller settings to determine IR (i.e. Low insulin sensitivity) where detailed mechanistic measures are required. Clinical or larger research settings rely on indirect methods as they are less time-consuming and more cost effective and feasible.

2.1 The Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamp

The euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp was developed in the 1970's and is considered to be the gold standard method in directly assessing insulin sensitivity in humans (DeFronzo et al., 1979). Following an overnight fast, insulin is infused intravenously at a constant rate of 40 mU/m⁻² per minute for typically 120 minutes to create a steady state of hyperinsulinaemia. Simultaneously, glucose is intravenously infused at a variable rate to 'clamp' blood glucose concentration at euglycaemic levels, with blood glucose levels monitored every 5-10 minutes. It is assumed that during hyperinsulinaemic conditions hepatic glucose production is suppressed. Therefore the rate of glucose infusion during steady state conditions is equal to the rate of whole body glucose disposal, giving a direct estimate of insulin sensitivity/IR

(DeFronzo et al., 1979, Muniyappa et al., 2008). The glucose infusion rate or glucose disposal rate is often normalised to body weight or fat free mass to better estimate insulin sensitivity (Patarrao et al., 2014). As the primary glucose uptake tissue is muscle, the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp is effectively a measure of peripheral insulin sensitivity with lower glucose infusion rates denoting a reduction in glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity (Muniyappa et al., 2009, Patarrao et al., 2014). Therefore, lower insulin sensitivity is an indication of IR. In addition to directly assessing insulin sensitivity, the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp is regarded as a reference standard due to its ability to accurately (coefficient of variation 0.10) and reliably predict individual results (discriminant ratio of 6) (Mather et al., 2001). Although the insulin clamp is widely accepted as the reference method for insulin sensitivity, it is costly, labour intensive, invasive, time consuming, encumbrance for participants and requires an experienced operator. Another limitation with the insulin clamp is the assumption that the hyperinsulinemic conditions achieved during the clamp is sufficient to entirely supress hepatic glucose production. However, this is not always the case and stable isotopes of glucose can be used during the clamp to estimate hepatic glucose production so appropriate corrections can be made to glucose disposal rate. The insulin clamp also only measures insulin-stimulated glucose disposal rate at levels in the supraphysiological range for insulin, not at basal conditions (unless tracers are used), which is of clinical importance (Patarrao et al., 2014). This technique is therefore mainly used in metabolic and intervention research studies where IR is a primary outcome. It tends not to be feasible in large-scale epidemiological and clinical studies and in clinical practice (Mather et al., 2001).

2.2 Fasting Insulin

A practical approach to detect IR is considered to be measuring fasting circulating insulin levels, as it is inexpensive and simple (Muniyappa et al., 2009, Patarrao et al., 2014). However defining IR based on insulin concentrations alone is limited as a lack of standardisation, ill-defined cut-off values for diagnosis of IR and a marked interlaboratory variance in the measurement (Wallace et al., 2004). Fasting insulin concentrations also vary widely among populations resulting in a considerable overlap between healthy individuals and those with insulin resistant states such as T2DM (Wallace et al., 2004, Muniyappa et al., 2008).

Fasting insulin can be combined with fasting glucose, termed fasting glucose to insulin ratio (G/I ratio), as an index of IR (Muniyappa et al., 2008). In healthy individuals there is tight regulation between glucose production and insulin secretion to maintain fasting glucose in homeostasis. An increase in fasting insulin levels while glucose remains within normal limits will result in a decrease in the ratio signifying IR. However, the ratio is unable to detect the physiological changes that underpin IR, which becomes problematic in individuals with impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes. In these insulin resistant states, insulin levels will typically be the same or slightly elevated and glucose levels are elevated indicating a high ratio value and therefore insulin sensitive. However, the opposite is true and the individual is actually insulin resistant. Given the disadvantages associated with fasting insulin and with the G/I ratio other indices of IR should be used.

2.3 Surrogate Indices for Insulin Resistance

The HOMA and QUICKI are commonly used surrogate markers of IR (Muniyappa et al., 2009, Patarrao et al., 2014). Both of these indices require the use of a mathematical equation that incorporates fasting insulin and glucose, enabling them to account for hyperglycaemia. The original HOMA equation is fasting glucose (mmol/L) x fasting insulin (mU/L)/ 22.5 (Matthews et al., 1985). The denominator of 22.5 acts as a normalising factor and is the product of normal fasting plasma insulin (5 U/ml) and normal fasting plasma glucose (4.5 mmol/l) of a healthy individual. Therefore, for an individual with 'normal' insulin sensitivity, HOMA = 1 (Muniyappa et al., 2009, Patarrao et al., 2014). HOMA-IR tends to correlate better with euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp measures in insulin sensitivity once the large variation and skewed distribution is accounted for by logarithmic transformations. The equation for QUICKI takes this into account and is calculated as follows; $QUICKI = 1/[\log (fasting insulin, U/ml) + \log (fasting glucose, mg/dl)]$. In general populations, HOMA, log HOMA and in particular QUICKI correlate well with the gold standard insulin clamp (Katz et al., 2000). When measures of repeatability are performed, QUICKI and log HOMA report within-subject coefficients of variation of 5% and 55% respectively in a mixed lean and overweight population (Mather et al., 2001). Both surrogate indices depend on fasting insulin levels, which alone demonstrates poor test characteristics including repeatability with a coefficient of variation of 53% (Mather et al., 2001). Furthermore, insulin levels show biological variability due to short serum half-life and correlations between 1/(fasting insulin) and the insulin clamp are poor (Matthews et al., 1983, Muniyappa et al., 2008). Another major disadvantage of both the HOMA and QUICKI methods are their ability to only

provide information at the fasting state, ignoring peripheral glucose uptake, which is important when assessing IR (Patarrao et al., 2014).

2.4 Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)

The oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) can also be used to measure IR and is commonly used in clinical practice to diagnose IGT and T2DM by measuring the body's efficiency to utilise glucose. The test is administered after an overnight fast of 8 to 10 hours and blood glucose levels are sampled at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following the consumption of a standard glucose load (75 g). The advantage of this test is its ability to mimic normal physiological glucose and insulin flux more closely than the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp. However, glucose tolerance and insulin resistance/sensitivity are conceptually different. During an oral glucose load, suppression of hepatic glucose production is less effective than during the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp. As a result, OGTT derived IR reflects both the suppression of hepatic glucose production and peripheral glucose disposal (DeFronzo, 1992). Overall the OGTT has the advantages of enabling the fasting samples to be used for simpler basal calculations of IR as well as providing additional information about stimulated first phase insulin secretion. As with the other methods that rely on endogenous insulin production, the OGTT is only useful in subjects without Type 1 diabetes mellitus and is less useful in established T2DM especially those who are receiving insulin. The OGTT is more laborious and expensive than the basal fasting measurements because it involves at least 3 blood samples and can take 2 hours to complete, but appears to be a reasonable compromise given logistic concerns with the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp (Bergman et al., 1987).

2.5 Assessment of Insulin Resistance

There is currently no consensus on how best to measure IR in women with PCOS in a research setting. The euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp, has been applied in limited PCOS studies to date to assess insulin sensitivity because of logistic challenges outlined above, however it remains the gold standard for the assessment of insulin sensitivity and in-turn IR. Therefore, the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp was selected to assess IR in this thesis as IR was a primary outcome of all studies and there was a strong focus on understanding mechanisms that underpin PCOS.

2.6 Mediators of Insulin Resistance

Given that PCOS is a complex endocrine disorder with strong associations between many of its clinical features and IR (Muniyappa et al., 2008), paucity of experimental data investigating potential mediators of IR as measured by the euglycaemichyperinsulinaemic clamp exists (Corbould, 2008a, Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). There has been increasing interest in the contribution of androgens (testosterone), SHBG and gonadotropins to IR in PCOS. Elevated levels of testosterone and low levels of SHBG have been associated with T2DM, IR and metabolic syndrome in women (Moran et al., 2010). IR is thought to play a role in the reproductive and endocrine features of PCOS by contributing to hyperandrogenism and causing a disruption in gonadotrophin secretion (Norman et al., 2007). Therefore alterations in sex steroid and gonadotropin physiology could interact with IR, which warrants further investigation.

2.6.1 Testosterone

In women, testosterone is primarily produced by the ovaries and to a lesser extent by adipose tissue through the conversion of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulphate (DHEAS) secreted by adrenal glands and androstenedione from the ovaries. In healthy women, only 1-2% of testosterone is biologically active, the remaining 66% of testosterone is bound to SHBG and 33% is bound to albumin (Rannevik et al., 1995). Therefore any alterations in SHBG concentrations will have a direct effect on the bioavailability of testosterone. Hyperinsulinaemia and upregulation of androgen production in the ovary and adrenal glands are responsible for increased androgen concentrations seen in PCOS (Moran and Azziz, 2001, Nelson et al., 1998).

A link exists between high circulating concentrations of testosterone and the development of IR and T2DM in women (Legro et al., 1999, Rajkhowa et al., 1994), with the relationship documented to begin in early adolescence (McCartney et al., 2007). But this relationship is not always reported in PCOS (Banu et al., 2013). The extent to which hyperinsulinaemia causes hyperandrogenism or hyperandrogenism promotes IR is still currently unknown. Numerous studies have reported that testosterone or androgen-like progestin administration are capable of inducing IR in women (Diamond et al., 1998, Godsland et al., 1992). Furthermore, administration of testosterone to female transsexuals caused a reduction in glucose uptake (Polderman et al., 1994) and anabolic steroid abuse has also been observed to result in reduced insulin sensitivity in male power lifters (Cohen and Hickman, 1987). There is some evidence to support that decreasing androgen concentrations improves insulin sensitivity in obese women with PCOS (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 1995, Dunaif et

al., 1990). However, small improvements in insulin sensitivity have been reported in less insulin-resistant lean women with PCOS during androgen suppression or antiandrogen therapy (Elkind-Hirsch et al., 1993, Moghetti et al., 1996). Accordingly, it has been proposed that hyperinsulinemia causes hyperandrogenism rather than the reverse. Insulin may directly affect steroidogenesis by stimulating ovarian estrogen, androgen, and progesterone secretion (Nestler and Strauss, 1991). Circulating androgen levels tend to decrease when insulin concentrations are lowered either through a decrease in insulin secretion (diazoxide and somatostatin) or an improvement in insulin sensitivity (metformin and troglitazone) (Dunaif et al., 1996, Nestler et al., 1989, Prelevic et al., 1990, Velazquez et al., 1994).

2.6.2 Sex-Hormone Binding Globulin and Insulin Resistance

SHBG is mainly synthesised in the liver and regulates the bioavailability of androgens, including testosterone, through binding and transport of these sex steroids to target tissues (Wallace et al., 2013). Hepatic SHBG production is affected by numerous hormonal and metabolic factors including insulin, carbohydrate consumption and fasting glucose levels. Both cross-sectional and prospective studies support a relationship between lower SHBG levels and an increased risk of IR, metabolic syndrome and T2DM in women (Wallace et al., 2013, Le et al., 2012). An inverse relationship between SHBG and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1C) is also evident in non-diabetic postmenopausal women, suggesting a link between SHBG and glucose homeostasis before the development of IR and diabetes (Brand et al., 2011, Page-Wilson et al., 2009).

Although many studies report a relationship between IR and SHBG, little attention has specifically focused on the relationship between SHBG and IR in premenopausal women with PCOS utilising the euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique, generally accepted as the gold standard method. To date, only two studies have used the clamp method to assess this relationship in PCOS, both reporting an inverse relationship between IR and SHBG (Cibula et al., 2002b, Ducluzeau et al., 2003). The direction of the relationship between SHBG and IR is still unknown. Investigators report that hyperinsulinemia directly reduces serum SHBG levels in obese women with PCOS independently of any effect on serum sex steroids (Nestler et al., 1991). It is hypothesised that the SHBG and T2DM relationship is independent of SHBG's role in sex hormone bioavailability in postmenopausal women (Kalyani et al., 2009). In support, in women with PCOS exhibiting normal insulin levels and metabolic insulin sensitivity, reducing insulin secretion through the administration of diazoxide for 1 month increased SHBG levels, indicating that insulin may act directly on the liver to influence SHBG production (Baillargeon and Carpentier, 2007).

2.6.3 Gonadotropins

Serum LH concentrations and LH to FSH ratio are often elevated in women with PCOS (Rebar et al., 1976). In contrast, FSH levels are usually normal or slightly supressed in PCOS and are unable to reach the desired threshold to stimulate follicular maturation during the early follicular phase of the menstrual cycle (Hillier, 1994). BMI complicates the assessment of gonadotropins in PCOS as LH levels tend to be lower is obese women (Arroyo et al., 1997). Studies investigating the effect of insulin on gonadrotropin secretion are conflicting with some studies reporting no changes in gonadotropin levels during insulin infusion (Dunaif and Graf, 1989, Tosi

et al., 2012) while others reporting decreased GnRH sensitivity in pituitary glands (Lawson et al., 2008), thereby impacting on gonadotropin release. Elevated levels of LH cause theca cells in PCO to secrete more androgens (Gilling-Smith et al., 1994). Granulosa cells obtained from small antral follicles demonstrate an increased production of sex steroids in response to FSH (Mason et al., 1994). Therefore augmented gonadotropin concentrations may have an indirect role in IR through androgen stimulation.

2.7 Assessment of Literature

Given the importance of IR in PCOS and debate on the relative intrinsic and extrinsic IR in PCOS, a high level review of the current literature was warranted to comprehensively answer the question of whether IR is intrinsic to PCOS. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses are key research tools used to synthesise data and inform clinicians and policymakers to make evidence-based decisions regarding patient care and policy (Abuabara et al., 2012). The strengths of a systematic review and meta-analysis are their ability to provide a precise estimate of the effects of an intervention using all relevant literature as opposed to making inferences using individual studies alone and they allow investigation of consistencies and differences across studies (Higgins and Green, 2011).

Guidelines have been established to aid researchers develop, carry out, evaluate and report studies in systematic reviews and meta-analyses. The first set of guidelines referred to as the Quality of Reporting of Meta-analysis (QUOROM) originated in 1999, which further evolved into the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines in 2009. The PRISMA guidelines consist of a 27-item checklist to aid researchers in planning and reporting studies and may also be used to evaluate a systematic review or meta-analysis (Liberati et al., 2009). In 2000, a Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) checklist was established for specifically reporting meta-analyses containing observational studies (Stroup et al., 2000).

2.7 Summary

In summary, this chapter aims to investigate the effect of PCOS on IR, measured by the gold standard technique of the euglycaemic-hyperinsualinaemic clamp, using a high quality systematic review and meta-analysis techniques. Here I conducted a comprehensive evaluation of the literature focusing on intrinsic and extrinsic IR in PCOS, the impact of PCOS status, BMI and diagnostic PCOS criteria. A secondary aim of this chapter was to investigate the clinical relationships between IR and androgens, SHBG and gonadotropins in PCOS to improve our understanding of the mediating or moderating effects of these outcomes on IR.

2.8 My Role

Chapter 2 contains a manuscript of a systematic review and meta-analysis currently under review in Human Reproduction Update (Impact Factors: 8.6, Q1 Journal). As the first author of this manuscript, I contributed to the conception and design of the review, which aimed to investigate the effects of PCOS on IR in PCOS independent of age, BMI and diagnostic criteria as well as mediating or moderating effects of androgens, SHBG and gonadotropins on IR in PCOS. I independently liaised with members of the Australasian Cochrane Centre to develop a sound research question, optimise a search strategy and perform the literature search. I then independently reviewed the articles resulting from the search to determine eligibility and assessed methodological quality and risk of bias. Following consultation I independently performed data extraction and contributed to data analysis and interpretation. I primarily constructed the figures and tables and was responsible for submission for publication. This manuscript addressed key gaps relating to the intrinsic nature of IR in PCOS and the effects of hormones on IR. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-

analysis of euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies

Running Title: Insulin resistance and relationships of hormones in PCOS

Authors: Samantha Cassar^{1,2}, Marie L. Misso², Will G. Hopkins¹, Christopher S. Shaw^{1,3}, *[#]Helena J. Teede^{2,4}, *Nigel K. Stepto^{1,2}.

* Joint senior authors

Address:

¹ Institute of Sport Exercise and Active Living, Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia, 3011

² Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, 3168

³ School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia, 3220

⁴ Diabetes and Vascular Medicine Unit, Monash Health, Melbourne, Australia, 3168

[#]Corresponding Author:

Helena J. Teede

Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Locked Bag 29, Clayton, Victoria, Australia, 3168;

Email: Helena.teede@monash.edu

Phone : (613) 9594 7545 Fax : (613) 9594 7550

Abstract

Background: Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is prevalent, complex, and underpinned by insulin resistance (IR). However, controversies still exist as most studies do not apply gold standard methods to measure IR. Specifically, the degree of intrinsic IR in PCOS and the effect of BMI, and diagnostic criteria. IR is postulated to play a role in reproductive, metabolic and endocrine features of PCOS. Therefore key moderating relationships between IR, sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) and reproductive hormones (testosterone, luteinizing hormone [LH] and follicle stimulating hormone [FSH]) in women with and without PCOS, independent of BMI are important to explore.

Methods: Medline and All EBM databases were searched for studies published up to September 2013. Studies were included if premenopausal women diagnosed with PCOS were compared to a control group for IR measured by a euglycaemichyperinsulinaemic clamp. Due to heterogeneity of clamp data, the difference in insulin sensitivity between the control and PCOS group was determined. A negative difference in insulin sensitivity between groups indicated lower insulin sensitivity in the PCOS group. The systematic review adheres to the principles of The Cochrane Collaboration and the guidelines for Meta-analysis and Systematic Reviews of Observational Studies (MOOSE). Meta-analyses were performed using mixed modelling and magnitude-based inferences.

Results: Overall insulin sensitivity (IS) was lower in women with PCOS compared to controls (mean effect -28%, 90% confidence limits $\pm 3\%$; large, most likely lower). BMI exacerbated the reduction in IS by -15% ($\pm 6\%$; moderate, most likely lower) in

PCOS and increases in BMI had a greater impact in PCOS (-28, $\pm 11\%$; large, most likely lower) compared to controls (-13, $\pm 13\%$; moderate, most likely lower). The effect of age was negligible, after adjustment for BMI and diagnostic criteria. Women diagnosed by the original National Institute of Health Criteria (NIH) were 6% ($\pm 7.8\%$; small, possibly lower) less insulin sensitive compared to those diagnosed by the Rotterdam criteria. Low levels of SHBG we associated with reduced levels of IS (-12 $\pm 7\%$, moderate, very likely negative), which was not confounded by BMI. Total testosterone had a positive association with IS (19 $\pm 12\%$, moderate, very likely positive) when the confounding effects of BMI were taken into account. The relationship of LH with insulin sensitivity remained small and unclear even when BMI was included in the model (-9.5 $\pm 14\%$). FSH had a trivial relationship with IR.

Conclusions: IR is intrinsic to PCOS and independently exacerbated by BMI. Importantly, we demonstrate that there are negligible differences in IR between the NIH and the more inclusive, Rotterdam diagnostic criteria. Furthermore, SHBG has a strong negative relationship with IR on euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies and appears to be a useful marker of IR in PCOS. The relationship between testosterone and IR is complicated and future research is needed to explore this further.

Table of Contents

Introduction

Methods

Data Sources and searches

Study selection

Data extraction and quality assessment

Data synthesis and analysis

Publication bias and outliers

Inferential statistics

Results

Overall relationship between insulin sensitivity and PCOS

Moderating effects of BMI on insulin sensitivity

Moderating effects of age on insulin sensitivity

Moderating effects of diagnostic criteria as a surrogate of phenotype

Insulin sensitivity, SHBG and hormone concentrations

Discussion

Conclusion

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine and metabolic disorder affecting up to 21% of premenopausal reproductive aged women, depending on the population studied and diagnostic criteria used (March et al., 2010, Boyle et al., 2012). The condition has substantial short and long term reproductive (infertility, miscarriage, pre-eclampsia, gestational diabetes), psychological (depression, anxiety, low self-esteem and reduced quality of life), and metabolic implications (obesity, insulin resistance [IR], metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular risk factors) across the lifespan (Moran et al., 2011b, Teede et al., 2011, Boomsma et al., 2006, Moran et al., 2012). Due to the associated co-morbidities, PCOS represents a significant health and economic burden. The estimated annual cost for the condition in the US in 2004 was \$(US) 4 billion, with 40% of the cost attributed to treating PCOS associated diabetes (Azziz et al., 2005). In this context, an early and accurate diagnosis of PCOS and recognition of IR and its metabolic complications are important in women with PCOS to optimise screening, prevention and management.

The pathophysiology of the syndrome is complex and remains elusive; however IR (i.e. reduced insulin sensitivity [IS]) and hyperandrogenism are thought to play key roles in the aetiology of PCOS (Teede et al., 2007). In a recent narrative review by Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif (2012), the authors note it is generally accepted that obese women with PCOS are insulin resistant (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). Obesity is known to increase androgen and insulin levels, may increase PCOS prevalence and exacerbate the clinical features of PCOS (Ciampelli and Lanzone, 1998, Teede et al., 2013). Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif (2012) also note that

to demonstrate intrinsic IR in this group (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). It has been hypothesised that IR in PCOS is unique or intrinsic to the condition, and is then further exacerbated by obesity related IR (Dunaif and Graf, 1989, Stepto et al., 2013). However, research is needed to finally establish if IR in PCOS independent of obesity.

Conflicting results are further confounded by the diagnostic criteria for PCOS, with the majority of studies using the original National Institute of Health (NIH) criteria, rather than the more recent and inclusive Rotterdam criteria, now endorsed by the NIH (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). IR is reported to be more pronounced in the severe PCOS phenotype (original NIH criteria) of anovulation and hyperandrogenism, compared to women diagnosed with PCOS who have normal androgen levels or regular menstrual cycles included under Rotterdam. Further research is needed in this area (Barber et al., 2007, Panidis et al., 2012).

IR plays a role in the reproductive, metabolic and endocrine features of PCOS by contributing to hyperandrogenism and causing a disruption in gonadotrophin secretion (Norman et al., 2007). IR and associated hyperinsulinemia may have a direct role in stimulating the production of androgens by binding to insulin receptors located within the ovary and altering steroidogenesis, independently of any changes in gonadotropin concentration (Barbieri et al., 1986, Dunaif, 1997, Poretsky et al., 1984). Hyperinsulinaemia also plays an indirect role in hyperandrogenism by inhibiting SHBG production reducing testosterone binding and increasing free testosterone (Kiddy et al., 1989, Nestler et al., 1991). Furthermore, the majority of studies investigating sex steroids use immunoassays, which have been found to be
methodologically inadequate for high-quality clinical research (Handelsman and Wartofsky, 2013). Mass spectrometry is considered to be the gold standard in sex steroid measures (Handelsman and Wartofsky, 2013).

Studies investigating the effect of insulin on gonadrotropin secretion are more conflicting. Some studies report no immediate changes in gonadotropin levels during insulin infusion (Dunaif and Graf, 1989, Tosi et al., 2012), while others report that insulin decreases the pituitary glands sensitivity to gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) (Lawson et al., 2008), thereby impacting on gonadotropin release. There is also conflicting information on the effect of insulin sensitisers with some reporting a reduction in luteinising hormone (LH) levels (Nestler and Jakubowicz, 1996), whilst others report an increase (Eagleson et al., 2003) or no change (Azziz et al., 2001) in gonadotropins. Hyperinsulinemia is known to decreases hepatic SHBG production and treatment with insulin-sensitising medication, including metformin and troglitazone, increase circulating SHBG (Ehrmann et al., 1997, Moghetti et al., 2000, Moran et al., 2013b). Low levels of SHBG are associated with metabolic dysfunction (Moran et al., 2013b), cardiovascular risk factors and type 2 diabetes in the general population and those with hyperinsulinemic states like PCOS (Chen et al., 2006, Haffner et al., 1989, Jayagopal et al., 2004, Lindstedt et al., 1991). However the strength of the relationship between IR and SHBG is unclear and its potential role as a marker of IR is yet to be determined.

IR can be measured using numerous direct and indirect techniques, including fasting insulin and glucose, homeostatic model assessment (HOMA), The quantitative *insulin* sensitivity check index (QUICKI) and oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) related

measures comprising area under the curve for glucose and insulin (Muniyappa et al., 2008). These measures are all based on fasting or post glucose-load blood glucose and insulin levels, which are easily obtained and calculated but lack accuracy and are inadequate for mechanistic research where IR is a primary study outcome (Muniyappa et al., 2008). The euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp is considered the reference standard to directly measure insulin sensitivity in research settings and can be used to define a specific cut-off level for IR (Muniyappa et al., 2008, Grundy et al., 2004). Only a limited number of studies on IR in PCOS have used euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamps.

PCOS is a common and complex condition underpinned by IR, yet the aetiology of PCOS and the underlying IR are not well understood. The key gaps in this area include the controversy surrounding whether IR is intrinsic to PCOS independent of BMI and the presence of IR across PCOS phenotype and diagnostic criteria. Furthermore, the relationship between IR and reproductive hormones remains unclear in PCOS. Methods used to test IR are also often inadequate. Therefore, we aimed to undertake a systematic review and meta-analysis to address the overarching question; is IR intrinsic to PCOS? Our secondary aim was to investigate key relationships between IR, SHBG and other reproductive hormones (testosterone, LH and follicle stimulating hormone [FSH]) in women with and without PCOS. We did this by analysing and synthesising data from studies in PCOS including insulin sensitivity measured with the gold standard euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp and by comparing lean and overweight women with and without PCOS.

Methods

We conducted a systematic review according to the principles of The Cochrane Collaboration and a meta-analysis using mixed modelling and magnitude based inferences. The methodology used adheres to the Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) guidelines (Supplementary Table 1).

Data Sources and Searches

A systematic search of published literature was conducted in Medline and All EBM databases (including Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, ACP Journal Club Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Cochrane Methodology Register, Health Technology Assessment, NHS Economic Evaluation Database) using subject headings and key terms (Supplementary Table 2). The search strategy was limited to English language articles. Bibliographies of relevant studies identified by the search strategy and relevant reviews/meta-analyses were also searched for identification of additional studies. The search was conducted until September 2013.

Study Selection

To determine the literature to be assessed further, two reviewers who were not blinded to the names of investigators or sources of publication, scanned the titles, abstracts and keywords of every record retrieved to exclude any clearly irrelevant studies. Full texts of the remaining studies were then retrieved for further assessment if the information given suggested that the study met all the following selection criteria determined *a priori*: a) PCOS was diagnosed by the National Institute of Health (NIH) or the Rotterdam Criteria or equivalent (Group, 2004, Fauser et al., 2012); b) comparisons were made between at least one PCOS and control group; c) participants were pre-menopausal; d); participants were 18-40 years of age; e) insulin sensitivity measured at baseline without any interventions, by a euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp, which reflects IR. Studies were excluded if participants a) were taking medications or undergoing interventions that effect insulin sensitivity before baseline measures were assessed; b) were diagnosed with a confounding medical condition e.g. diabetes; c) smoked. Full text articles were independently assessed for inclusion by two reviewers (S.C, C.S) in consultation with a colleague (N.S). Disagreements were discussed and resolved by discussion and consensus with a third reviewer (N.S).

Data Extraction and Quality Assessment

Data were extracted from included studies using a specially developed data extraction form (Harris, 2010). Information was collected (if available) on general details (title, authors, reference/source, country, year of publication, setting, sample size), participants (age, inclusion/exclusion criteria, subgroups), results (measures of variability, number of participants) and validity of results. Authors were contacted by electronic mail (email) if essential data was not reported in a usable format (e.g., only plots were published) and if the study was published <10 years ago. This is because authors of more recent studies are more likely to be able to locate and provide data compared to authors of older studies (Selph et al., 2014). Each email request to authors was sent using an institutional email account and provided a brief description of the systematic review scope, complete with article citation, specific information needed and our contact information. If authors failed to respond within 2 weeks of the initial date of request then they were contacted again via email. If authors did not

respond to the second email, the study was not included in the meta-analysis. Data for IS and other subject characteristics were extracted and summarised as mean and standard deviation (SD); any standard errors of the mean (SE) were converted to SD using the formula SD = SE \sqrt{n} . To overcome the problem of different units of measurement for IS in different studies, the statistical effect of PCOS on IS was expressed as a factor by dividing the IS in the PCOS group by that in the respective control group (e.g., IS as a factor for lean PCOS with lean control and overweight PCOS and overweight control). We then log-transformed all measures for the metaanalysis and used back-transformation to estimate meta-analysed mean effects as percentages with 90% confidence limits (Snowling and Hopkins, 2006). Methodological quality and risk of bias of the included studies was assessed by a reviewer using criteria developed a priori (Harris, 2010). Individual quality items were investigated using a descriptive component approach that included items such as conflict of interest of authors, clearly focused research question, specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, groups selected from similar populations, outcomes measured in a standard, reliable and valid way and statistical issues such as sample size, power and methods of data analysis (Supplementary Table 3). Any disagreement or uncertainty was resolved by discussion to reach a consensus. Using this approach, each study was allocated a risk of bias rating.

Data Synthesis and Analysis

The log-transformed factor effects on IS were meta-analysed using the general linear mixed-model procedure (Proc Mixed) (Yang, 2003) in the Statistical Analysis System (Version 9.4, SAS Institute, Cary, NC). A series of meta-analyses was performed.

In the first meta-analysis, the overall relationship between PCOS and IS was analysed. A random effect representing the identity of each study-estimate was included to allow for true differences in the effect of PCOS between studies not accounted for by the other effects in the model. The weighting factor for each study-estimate was the inverse of the square of the standard error, derived as follows: the standard errors of the mean in the PCOS and control groups were expressed as coefficients of variation (CV), converted to factors (1+CV/100), log-transformed, squared, and added. The method of setting the residual variance to unity was used to apply the weighting (Yang, 2003).

In the second meta-analysis, the possible moderating effects of BMI, age and diagnostic criteria on the relationship between PCOS and IS were investigated separately. Fixed effects in the model were either linear numeric variables for BMI and age in the PCOS and control groups or a nominal variable for the diagnostic criteria used in the given study (NIH or Rotterdam). The model with BMI as a predictor was used to compare predicted differences in IS in the PCOS and control groups at the mean BMI of 22 kg/m² and 32 kg/m² respectively for lean and obese women (defined by a threshold BMI of 25 kg/m²-see below). The model for age as a predictor was used to compare differences in IS in the PCOS and control groups for younger and older women defined by the weighted mean of the means (27 y) and the weighted mean of the SDs (5 y) of the age of the women from each study. Younger women were aged 22 y (mean - SD) and 32 y (mean + SD).

The third meta-analysis was similar to the second meta-analysis, except that the possible mutual confounding effects of BMI, age and diagnostic criteria on the

difference in IS between PCOS and control groups were investigated by including all three moderators in the model. The effect of each moderator was therefore assessed while the other moderators were held constant.

The association between differences in key factors (testosterone, SHBG, LH and FSH) and differences in IS between PCOS and control groups were investigated in a fourth separate meta-analyses. In each analysis the relationship between IR and PCOS was assessed using a random effect model as per the first meta-analysis. A fixed-effect variable representing the difference in the log of the key factor between PCOS and control groups was then added to the model to determine the moderating effects of these key factors on IS. The difference in IS associated with each hormone was derived by multiplying the effect of the factor (represented by its coefficient in the model) by the difference in the mean concentration of the factor between PCOS and control women. The possible confounding effect of BMI on the association between differences in key factors and differences in IS of PCOS and control groups was investigated by including BMI in the model.

Publication bias and outliers

We examined a scatter plot of the t-statistic associated with each study-estimate value contributing to the study-estimate random effect versus the log of the standard error of the effect. This plot is superior to the usual funnel plot (Hopkins et al., 2009), because the t-value is effectively adjusted for uncertainty in the study estimates and for the contribution of study covariates. This approach identified one clear outlier (Micic et al., 2007). Upon investigation of the data, it was noted that for some measures mean and SD were reported instead of mean and SE as stated in the methods section. After

correction, this study was no longer an outlier, and the scatter plot revealed no evidence of the asymmetrical scatter associated with publication bias (Supplementary Figure 1). Therefore, no studies were excluded from the meta-analysis.

Inferential Statistics

Magnitudes of effects were evaluated via standardization. For this purpose, a between-subject standard deviation representing the typical variation in IS was derived from the square root of the weighted mean of the variances of the log transformed factor SD for the healthy lean women in a subset of studies. The subset was determined by plotting the log of the factor SD against the mean BMI from healthy women in all studies. The plot showed a reasonably clear increase in the SD in studies with mean BMI >25 kg/m². We therefore used all the studies with a mean BMI of <25 kg/m² as the subset. Sample-size bias in the standardized effects was negligible, owing to the large number of degrees of freedom in the estimate of the SD and was therefore not corrected.

The effects in log-transformed units were divided by this SD, and their magnitudes were interpreted with the following scale: <0.2, trivial; 0.2-0.6, small; 0.6-1.2, moderate; >1.2, large (Hopkins et al., 2009). In keeping with trends in inferential statistics (Sterne and Davey Smith, 2001, Snowling and Hopkins, 2006), we made magnitude-based inferences about true population values of effects by expressing the uncertainty in the effects as 90% confidence limits. Effects were deemed unclear if the confidence interval overlapped thresholds for substantial positive and negative values (i.e. \pm 0.2 standardized units); effects were otherwise deemed clear and reported as the magnitude of its observed effect (Hopkins et al., 2009). For an

improvement in IS, magnitude thresholds were 3.8, 12, 25 and 45%, representing small, moderate, large and very large respectively; for reduced IS corresponding magnitude thresholds were -3.7, -11, -20, and -31%. Magnitude-based inferences about effects were made more accurate and informative by qualifying the effects with probabilities that reflected the uncertainty in the magnitude of the true value (Hopkins et al., 2009); 25-75%, possibly; 75-95%, likely; 95-99.5%, very likely; >99.5%, most likely.

Results

The search returned 4,371 articles (Figure 1). Of these, 48 studies met the inclusion criteria but 16 studies did not report essential data in a usable format. Eight of the 16 studies studies were published >10 years ago, therefore authors were not contacted to obtain the missing outcome measure and data not included in the meta-analysis (Carmina et al., 1995, Ciampelli et al., 2002, Cibula et al., 2002a, Ducluzeau et al., 2003, Dunaif et al., 1992, Fox et al., 1993, Paradisi et al., 2003, Holte et al., 1995). Four authors of the 16 were contacted by email twice but did not provide the relevant data (de Boer et al., 2004, Ketel et al., 2011, Ketel et al., 2008, Rabol et al., 2011). Therefore, these studies were not included in the meta-analysis. Furthermore, 11 publications reported data that was previously published and already represented in the meta-analysis (Aroda et al., 2009, Dunaif et al., 1991, Harrison et al., 2012, Hutchison et al., 2012, Joham et al., 2012, Lawson et al., 2008, Moran et al., 2011a, Svendsen et al., 2010, Svendsen et al., 2009, Hutchison et al., 2011). The remaining 25 articles were included in the final meta-analysis (Aroda et al., 2008, Baillargeon and Carpentier, 2007, Ciaraldi et al., 2009, Eriksen et al., 2010, Eriksen et al., 2011, Kowalska et al., 2012, Kowalska et al., 2007, Lasco et al., 1995, Li and Li, 2012,

Moret et al., 2009, Nikolajuk et al., 2010, Oh et al., 2009, Ovesen et al., 1993, Park et al., 2007, Park et al., 2001, Patel et al., 2003, Svendsen et al., 2008, Tosi et al., 2009, Vrbikova et al., 2004, Yang et al., 2011, Dunaif et al., 1989, Micic et al., 2007, Manneras-Holm et al., 2011, Morin-Papunen et al., 2000b, Stepto et al., 2013). These articles provided a total of 34 study estimates as some studies reported effects for more than one PCOS and control group. The effects from each study estimates are summarised in Table 1 as percentages with 90% confidence limits calculated from means, SD and sample size in PCOS and control groups.



Figure 1 Flow diagram of the systematic review study selection process.

			Age (y)		BM	BMI (kg.m ²)		Sensitivity*	
			mean ± SD		Me	an ± SD	Mea	$n \pm SD$	Effect of PCOS on
	Sample Size								Insulin Sensitivity† (%)
	(Control,	Diagnostic							Mean (CI)
Study	PCOS)	Criteria	Control	PCOS	Control	PCOS	Control	PCOS	
Aroda, 2008 (Aroda et al., 2008)	6, 31	NIH	32 ± 5	29 ± 6	36.2 ± 6.9	35.3 ± 7.4	8.8 ± 2.0	5.6 ± 2.9	-36.2 (-48.7 to -20.7)
Baillargeon, 2007 (Baillargeon and Carpentier, 2007)	17, 9	NIH	31 ± 7	24 ± 7	22.0 ± 2.1	22.6 ± 1.2	52.9 ± 19.0	48.5 ± 18.9	-8.3 (-29.2 to 18.8)
Ciaraldi, 2009 (Ciaraldi et al., 2009)	15, 42	NIH	32 ± 4	29 ± 7	33.9 ± 7	35.4 ± 7.1	9.7 ± 2.8	6.5 ± 2.2	-32.8 (-42.2 to 21.9)
Dunaif, 1989 (Dunaif et al., 1989)	8, 10	NIH	29 ± 6	27 ± 6	21.3 ± 1.1	22.3 ± 1.6	7.4 ± 1.1	4.8 ± 1.6	-35.9 (-47.8 to -21.6)
Dunaif, 1989 (Dunaif et al., 1989)	11, 17	NIH	30 ± 3	26 ± 5	33.3 ± 5.6	34.3 ± 4.6	3.8 ± 1.5	2.4 ± 0.7	-36.0 (-49.0 to -19.7)

Table 1 Studies included in meta-analysis with age, BMI and insulin sensitivity in women with and without PCOS and the effect of PCOS on insulin sensitivity.

Eriksen, 2010 (Eriksen et al., 2010)	14, 28	NIH	33 ± 8	31 ± 6	33.7 ± 6.4	33.2 ± 4.2	297 ± 86.1	150 ± 42.3	-49.5 (-56.8 to -41.0)
Eriksen, 2011 (Eriksen et al., 2011)	8, 8	NIH	32 ± 10	33 ± 3	35.1 ± 5.9	34.5 ± 4.0	271 ± 78.3	147 ± 23.1	-45.9 (-55.7 to -34.0)
Kowalska, 2007 (Kowalska et al., 2007)	25, 23	Rotterdam	26 ± 6	24 ± 4	21.8 ± 2	21.4 ± 2.1	11.6 ± 3.0	9.1 ± 3.5	-21.4 (-32.8 to -8.1)
Kowalska, 2007 (Kowalska et al., 2007)	20, 47	Rotterdam	28 ± 7	26 ± 6	31.0 ± 4.4	31.0 ± 4.0	9.38 ± 3.1	7.3 ± 3.1	-22.6 (-34.0 to -9.3)
Kowalska, 2012 (Kowalska et al., 2012)	28, 65	Rotterdam	27 ± 6	25 ± 6	28.2 ± 6.8	27.3 ± 7.2	58.1 ± 22.3	45.7 ± 18.7	-21.2 (-31.8 to -9.1)
Lasco, 1995 (Lasco et al., 1995)	6, 10	Rotterdam	28 ± 2	24 ± 2	36.4 ± 2.2	21.0 ± 0.8	2.8 ± 1.1	5.8 ± 2.4	-51.7 (-66.1 to -31.3)
Li, 2012 (Li and Li, 2012)	92, 78	NIH	26 ± 3	25 ± 5	20.5 ± 1.6	20.7 ± 1.8	12.4 ± 1.7	10.1 ± 2.5	-18.6 (-22.8 to -14.3)
Li, 2012 (Li and Li, 2012)	92, 33	NIH	26 ± 3	25 ± 5	20.5 ± 1.6	26.8 ± 2.4	12.4 ± 1.7	7.46 ± 1.8	-39.8 (-44.2 to -35.2)
Manneras-Holm, 2011 (Manneras-Holm et al.,	31, 31	Rotterdam	28 ± 4	29 ± 3	24.7 ± 4.9	24.8 ± 4.8	13.0 ± 4.1	11.0 ± 3.0	-15.38 (-25.1 to -4.41)

2011)									
Micic, 2007 (Micic et al., 2007)	8, 8	Rotterdam	25 ± 20	22 ± 8	20.2 ± 3.3	20.5 ± 3.7	7.8 ± 3.7	4.4 ± 2.2	-43.1 (-61.5 to -16.0)
Micic, 2007 (Micic et al., 2007)	8, 8	Rotterdam	29 ± 14	25 ± 18	31.0 ± 10.4	34.4 ± 18.5	3.92 ± 2.9	1.82 ± 1.8	-53.6 (-76.3 to -9.2)
Moret, 2009 (Moret et al., 2009)	5, 5	Rotterdam	21 ± 2	24 ± 4	21.3 ± 1.0	23.0 ± 4.3	9.8 ± 2.0	8.2 ± 2.7	-16.3 (-38.6 to 14.0)
Morin-Papunun, 2000 (Morin-Papunen et al., 2000b)	17, 15	Rotterdam	37 ± 3	29 ± 5	22.9 ± 1.2	22.7 ± 1.9	48.2 ± 9.9	41.1 ± 14.3	-14.7 (-28.1 to 1.1)
Morin-Papunun, 2000 (Morin-Papunen et al., 2000b)	17, 28	Rotterdam	35 ± 5	30 ± 5	31.8 ± 4.7	34.5 ± 5.3	31.6 ± 11.1	20.5 ± 7.9	-35.1 (-46.0 to -22.1)
Nikolajuk, 2010 (Nikolajuk et al., 2010)	18, 35	Rotterdam	26 ± 6	24 ± 4	22.2 ± 1.9	21.7 ± 1.8	8.9 ± 2.3	7.2 ± 2.9	-18.5 (-29.7 to -5.7)
Nikolajuk, 2010 (Nikolajuk et al., 2010)	16, 43	Rotterdam	27 ± 5	26 ± 6	30.7 ± 4.4	31.5 ± 4.3	5.9 ± 2.2	4.5 ± 2.4	-24.4 (-38.0 to -7.8)
Oh, 2009 (Oh et al.,	24, 39	NIH	26 ± 1	25 ± 1	19.9 ± 0.3	20.8 ± 0.2	6.3 ± 0.3	5.3 ± 1.4	-15.9 (-21.7 to -9.6)

2009)									
Ovesen, 1993 (Ovesen et al., 1993)	7,7	NIH	26 ± 4	21 ± 5	21.3 ± 1.8	22.2 ± 2.1	3.8 ± 1.3	4.0 ± 1.1	5.3 (-20.4 to -39.2)
Park, 2001 (Park et al., 2001)	5, 9	NIH	31 ± 11	25 ± 12	25.6 ± 5.3	26.0 ± 9.3	9.4 ± 5.1	2.3 ± 0.9	-75.5 (-84.9 to -60.5)
Park, 2007 (Park et al., 2007)	34, 73	NIH	26 ± 3	25 ± 4	20.9 ± 3.2	20.4 ± 1.5	$6.7 \hspace{0.1 in} \pm 1.6$	5.3 ± 1.3	-20.9 (-27.0 to -14.3)
Patel, 2003 (Patel et al., 2003)	9, 11	NIH	26 ± 2	29 ± 2	27.4 ± 2.1	35.3 ± 2.7	8.3 ± 2.4	5.2 ± 3.3	-37.4 (-55.8 to -11.3)
Stepto, 2013 (Stepto et al., 2013)	19, 20	Rotterdam	28 ± 6	27 ± 4	22.0 ± 2.0	23.0 ± 2.0	339 ± 76	269 ± 66	-20.7 (-29.8 to -10.2)
Stepto, 2013 (Stepto et al., 2013)	14, 20	Rotterdam	35 ± 4	30 ± 6	35.0 ± 6	36.0 ± 7.0	2694 ± 66	175 ± 96	-33.7 (-47.1 to -17.0)
Svendsen, 2008 (Svendsen et al., 2008)	9, 17	Rotterdam	20 ± 4	28 ± 5	22.0 ± 1.4	23.0 ± 1.5	13.3 ± 4.1	10.4 ± 3	-21.8 (-32.4 to -9.6)
Svendsen, 2008 (Svendsen et al., 2008)	16, 18	Rotterdam	31 ± 5	29 ± 4	34.0 ± 3.2	33.0 ± 4.0	8.1 ± 2.8	6.9 ± 2.0	-14.8 (-28.9 to 2.0)
Tosi, 2009 (Tosi et al.,	35, 50	NIH	25 ± 5	22 ± 4	23.4 ± 5	24.0 ± 4	13.9 ± 2.0	10.3 ± 2.8	-25.9 (-31.2 to -20.2)

2009)									
Vrbikova, 2004 (Vrbikova et al., 2004)	15, 52	NIH	28 ± 6	24 ± 5	21.5 ± 2.0	21.5 ± 1.8	43.9 ± 11.1	41.7 ± 12.2	-4.9 (-16.3 to 8.1)
Vrbikova, 2004 (Vrbikova et al., 2004)	0, 30	NIH	28 ± 6	26 ± 5	21.5 ± 2.0	29.6 ± 3.7	43.9 ± 11.1	32.2 ± 10.0	-26.5 (-36.3 to -15.3)
Yang, 2011 (Yang et al., 2011)	116, 133	Rotterdam	26 ± 3	25 ± 4	21.0 ± 2.2	23.5 ± 3.5	12.1 ± 1.8	8.4 ± 2.8	-30.6 (-34.2 to -26.9)

*Units of measure for insulin sensitivity not included as units and calculations differed between studies.

[†]Difference in insulin sensitivity between PCOS and control women as a percent of control.

A total of 23 studies were included in the meta-analysis investigating the moderating effects of key hormones (Table 2); Eriksen et al. 2010 and

Eriksen et al. 2011 were excluded as hormonal data were not reported.

	SHBG (Mean	SHBG (nmol/L) Mean ± SD		sterone ol/L) n ± SD	LH (IU/L) Mean ± SD		FSH (Mean	FSH (IU/L) Mean ± SD	
Study	Control	PCOS	Control	PCOS	Control	PCOS	Control	PCOS	
Aroda et al. 2008	22 ± 11.8	20 ± 15.6	0.7 ± 0.3	1.3 ± 4.9					
Baillargeon et al. 2007							4.2 ± 1.2	4.7 ± 1.5	
Ciaraldi et al. 2009	17.6 ± 13.9	17.5 ± 12.3	0.9 ± 0.5	1.9 ± 1.1					
Dunaif et al. 1989	26.7 ± 10.8	28.5 ± 15.4	1.0 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.6					
Dunaif et al. 1989	20.1 ± 8.7	15.6 ± 4.53	0.7 ± 0.2	1.80 ± 1.1					
Kowalska et al. 2007	87.1 ± 47.5	69.3 ± 38.1	1.8 ± 0.5	2.7 ± 0.9	6.6 ± 4.5	11.7 ± 6.2	6.3 ± 1.5	5.9 ± 1.3	
Kowalska et al. 2007	47.6 ± 28.7	41.8 ± 33.6	1.8 ± 0.3	2.8 ± 1.2	4.7 ± 2.2	8.2 ± 3.6	5.3 ± 1.9	5.6 ± 1.4	
Kowalska et al. 2012	59.8 ± 48.8	41.5 ± 22.0	1.4 ± 0.3	2.1 ± 0.9	4.7 ± 2.1	7.9 ± 4.9	5.5 ± 1.6	6.0 ± 1.4	
Lasco et al. 1995			2.9 ± 1.1	1.6 ± 0.7	7.9 ± 2.3	3.9 ± 1.1	4.8 ± 0.9	5.4 ± 1.1	
Li et al. 2012			1.6 ± 0.6	1.9 ± 0.7					
Li et al. 2012			1.6 ± 0.6	2.1 ± 0.9					
Manneras-Holm et al. 2011	69.4 ± 30.4	49.0 ± 25.1	0.7 ± 0.3	1.5 ± 0.7					
Micic et al. 2007	54.7 ± 48.9	26.2 ± 24.5	1.9 ± 2.0	3.6 ± 6.7					

Table 2 Studies included in the meta-analysis investigating moderating effects of key hormones.

Micic et al. 2007	43.2 ± 40.6	15.8 ± 20.0	2.1 ± 1.5	4.9 ± 8.6				
Moret et al. 2009			1.2 ± 0.1	1.8 ± 0.8	3.8 ± 1.8	13.6 ± 3.4	5.2 ± 0.8	6.1 ± 1.5
Morin-Papunun et al. 2000	60.5 ± 23.5	43.0 ± 16.7	1.3 ± 0.8	2.0 ± 0.8	4.7 ± 1.6	7.5 ± 2.7	6.2 ± 1.6	5.1 ± 1.9
Morin-Papunun et al. 2000	51.0 ± 27.6	30.8 ± 12.7	1.3 ± 0.4	2.3 ± 1.1	5.3 ± 3.3	7.0 ± 2.6	7.9 ± 5.8	6.4 ± 2.6
Nikolajuk, et al. 2010	89.5 ± 56.2	59.91 ± 46.7	1.8 ± 0.4	2.9 ± 1.1	6.9 ± 5.6	10.2 ± 5.3	6.0 ± 1.3	5.8 ± 1.5
Nikolajuk et al. 2010	41.5 ± 18.4	36.2 ± 18.0	1.8 ± 0.5	2.8 ± 1.1	4.3 ± 2.2	9.0 ± 4.0	5.6 ± 1.7	5.5 ± 1.4
Oh et al. 2009	56.0 ± 7.0	43 ± 4						
Ovesen et al. 1993	79.3 ± 12.2	59.9 ± 13.8	1.0 ± 0.3	2.9 ± 0.9				
Park et al. 2001	89.1 ± 51.7	20.1 ± 37.5	1.1 ± 1.0	0.9 ± 0.5	12 ± 7.2	22.3 ± 16.6	9 ± 5.4	10 ± 9.6
Park et al. 2007	54.7 ± 25.7	50.5 ± 23.9			4.4 ± 4.3	10.2 ± 5.6	4.1 ± 2.2	5.5 ± 1.7
Patel et al. 2003			1.2 ± 0.3	2.6 ± 0.3	3.4 ± 1.5	7.9 ± 5.0	4.8 ± 1.5	4 ± 1.3
Stepto et al. 2013	79 ± 19	69 ± 34	1.5 ± 0.5	2.1 ± 0.8				
Stepto et al. 2013	46 ± 29	32 ± 11	1.5 ± 0.8	2.6 ± 0.8				
Svendsen et al. 2008	104 ± 33	67 ± 27	1.5 ± 0.3	2.1 ± 0.8				
Svendsen et al. 2008	54 ± 21	57 ± 39	1.4 ± 0.4	2.4 ± 0.8				
Tosi et al. 2009	72 ± 7	63 ± 6	2.1 ± 1.0	3.1 ± 1.5				
Vrbikova et al. 2004	68.5 ± 21.3	48.6 ± 24.3	1.8 ± 0.6	3.4 ± 1.3	5.4 ± 2.1	7.6 ± 5.2	4.8 ± 1.8	
Vrbikova et al. 2004	68.5 ± 21.3	36 ± 22.7	1.8 ± 0.6	3.3 ± 1.5	5.4 ± 2.1	5.9 ± 2.9	4.8 ± 1.8	
Yang et al. 2011			1.45 ± 0.7	2.0 ± 1.0				

A moderate risk of bias was reported in the majority of studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis following quality appraisal (Supplementary Table 3).

Overall relationship between insulin sensitivity and PCOS

In the first simple meta-analysis model, IS was lower in women with PCOS compared to controls (a large difference; Table 3). Unexplained variance between studies was estimated as a CV of 14.8% (90% confidence limits $\pm 5.6\%$).

Table 3 Meta-analyzed overall mean effect of PCOS and insulin sensitivity, the predicted unadjusted and adjusted effects in study subgroups defined by BMI, age and diagnosis, and the effects of each of these moderators.

	Unadju	sted Effects	Adjust	ed Effects	
	Effect, ±CL	Qualitative	Effect, ±CL	Qualitative	
	(%)	Inference	(%)	Inference	
Overall Mean	$-27.5, \pm 3.9$	Large****			
Moderation by mean BMI					
BMI=22 kg/m ² (lean)	-19.9, ±4.2	Moderate****	$-20.6, \pm 6.1^{\dagger}$	Large****	
BMI=32 kg/m ² (overweight)	-32.1, ±4.3	Very large****	$-31.3, \pm 6.5^{\dagger}$	Very large****	
Overweight PCOS vs lean PCOS	-15.2, ±6.4	Moderate****	-13.5, ±9.6 [†]	Moderate**	
Moderation by mean age					
Age=22 y (younger)	-18.3, ±9.1	Moderate***	$-23.5, \pm 10.5^{\ddagger}$	Large****	
Age=32 y (older)	-37.2, ±7.6	Very large****	$-28.7, \pm 9.1^{\ddagger}$	Large****	
Older PCOS vs younger PCOS	-23.1, ±14.9	Large***	-6.8, $\pm 21.6^{\ddagger}$	Small (unclear)	
Moderation by diagnosis					
Rotterdam	-24.9, ±5.9	Large****	$-23.9, \pm 5.9^{\$}$	Large****	
NIH	-29.9, ±5.3	Large****	$-28.3, \pm 5.5^{\$}$	Large****	
NIH vs Rotterdam	-6.4, ±10.2	Small (unclear)	$-5.8, \pm 7.8^{\$}$	Small*	

Mean $\pm 90\%$ confidence limits

*indicates likelihood that the true effect is substantial. A substantial reduction is reported as follows; *possibly, **likely, ***very likely, ****most likely

[†]Adjusted to mean age (27 y) and mean diagnosis ((Rotterdam+NIH)/2)

[‡]Adjusted to mean BMI (27 kg.m⁻²) and mean diagnosis

[§]Adjusted to mean age and mean BMI

Moderating effects of BMI on insulin sensitivity

Compared to their respective controls, lean and overweight women with PCOS showed lower IS with large and very large magnitudes respectively (Table 3, Figure 2). Overweight women with PCOS had moderately lower IS compared to lean women with PCOS (Table 3). The residual between-study differences were 8.9% (\pm 7.2%). Adjusting for differences in age and diagnostic criteria resulted in little change in the effect of BMI (Table 3) and little change in the between the residual between-study effect differences (9.6 \pm 7.2%).

This BMI only model was also able to produce separate effects of BMI on IS in PCOS and control women; a 10-unit higher BMI in women with PCOS was associated with a -26.6% (\pm 11.1%; large, most likely) difference in IS. In control women, a 10-unit higher BMI resulted in a difference in IS of only -13.4% (\pm 13.1%; moderate, likely lower).



Figure 2 The effect of BMI on the difference in insulin sensitivity between PCOS and control groups. The dotted lines represent magnitude based thresholds. For an improvement in insulin sensitivity, magnitude thresholds were 3.8, 12, 25, and 120%, representing small, moderate, large, very large and extra large respectively; for reduced insulin sensitivity, corresponding thresholds were -3.7, -11, -20, -31 and -53%.

Moderating effects of age on insulin sensitivity

Compared to their respective controls, younger and older women with PCOS showed lower or much lower IS respectively (moderate and very large magnitudes). Older women diagnosed with PCOS had a lower IS compared to younger women with PCOS (a large magnitude), but this effect became trivial when BMI and diagnostic criteria were included in the model (Table 3). The residual between-study random effect differences were a CV of 12.9% (\pm 5.7%).

As with BMI, the second model was also able to estimate separate effects for age on insulin sensitivity in PCOS and control women. A 10-year increase in age in women with PCOS was associated with a -24.7% ($\pm 21.3\%$; large, likely lower) difference in IS; in control women the difference in insulin sensitivity for women 10 years older was only -2.1% ($\pm 20.9\%$; unclear, trivial effect).

Moderating effects of diagnostic criteria as a surrogate for phenotype

The effect of PCOS on IS was large for both types of diagnostic criteria, but there was a clear small difference between them, whereby women diagnosed with PCOS by the original NIH criteria had lower IS (Table 3). The residual between-study differences in this analysis were a CV of 14.9% (\pm 5.7%).

Insulin sensitivity, SHBG and hormone concentrations

Table 4 shows the uncorrected and BMI corrected associations of the differences in concentrations of SHBG, testosterone, LH and FSH with differences between IS comparing PCOS and control women. The mean lower concentration of SHBG in PCOS women compared to controls was associated with a moderately lower IS,

which was not confounded by BMI. Testosterone means were higher in PCOS and were associated with worse IS but the relationship indicates women with less testosterone are more insulin resistant at the same BMI. Mean higher concentration of testosterone in women with PCOS compared to controls was associated with moderately improved IS. Higher LH concentrations in women with PCOS tended (unclear effect) to be associated with lower IS, while FSH had a trivial relationship with only minor differences in FSH concentration between PCOS and control women. **Table 4** Associations of differences in hormone concentrations with the difference in insulin sensitivity between women with and without PCOS

		Unadjust	ted Effects	Adjusted Effects		
Hormones	Difference in [Hormone] ^a Mean ± SD	Effect ^b (%) Mean ±CL	Qualitative Inference	Effect ^c (%) (Mean ±CL)	Qualitative Inference	
SHBG (n=24)	-26% ± 20%	-12, ±7	Moderate ↓***	-12, ±7.1	Moderate ↓***	
LH (n=14)	$88\%\pm62\%$	-4, ±25	Small (unclear)	-10, ±14	Small (unclear)	
Testosterone (n=29)	$75\%\pm43\%$	9, ±16	Small (unclear)	19, ±12	Moderate ↑***	
FSH (n=13)	$1.0\% \pm 16\%$	0%,±0.1	Trivial****			

^a Indicates the between study means and SD of the difference in the mean concentration of hormones in PCOS and control women.

^b Indicates the difference in insulin sensitivity associated with the mean of the difference in the means (PCOS - control) of the hormone concentrations.

^c Indicates the difference in insulin sensitivity associated with the mean of the difference in the means (PCOS - control) of the hormone concentrations when BMI is taken into account.

*** very likely

↓ Indicates lower insulin sensitivity

 \uparrow Indicates higher insulin sensitivity

Discussion

In this novel and comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis, we investigated whether lower IS, measured by euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp, (the gold standard method to assess IR), is intrinsic to PCOS. We also explored potential moderators (BMI, age and diagnostic criteria) and mediators (SHBG, testosterone, LH and FSH) of IR in this condition. We report that overall women with PCOS were more insulin resistant than controls, independent of BMI, age or diagnostic criteria used. BMI not only independently exacerbated IR in PCOS, but we report, for the first time, that BMI had a greater impact on IR in PCOS than it did in controls. Increasing age adversely impacted on IR, yet the impact was trivial when adjusted for BMI and diagnostic criteria. Importantly, PCOS diagnostic criteria had only a small effect on IR, with women diagnosed with the original NIH criteria demonstrating higher IR, compared to women diagnosed with the more inclusive Rotterdam criteria. Furthermore, of the potential hormones and related binding proteins studied, SHBG had the strongest negative association with IR, with lower SHBG levels associated with higher IR, which was not confounded by BMI. Total testosterone had a negative association with IR, with higher testosterone levels associated with lesser degrees of IR, when the confounding effects of BMI were controlled. The relationship of LH with IR remained small and unclear when BMI was included in the model. FSH concentrations did not differ between PCOS and control women therefore we were unable to determine a relationship between FSH and IR in the meta-analysis model.

A key role of insulin is to regulate glucose homeostasis by stimulating glucose uptake in target tissues including skeletal muscle and adipocytes and by suppressing hepatic glucose production (Cho et al., 2011, DeFronzo, 1988). IR can be defined as an impairment of insulin to mediate metabolism in skeletal muscle, adipocytes and liver. This includes glucose uptake, glycogen synthesis and inhibition of lipolysis, resulting in hyperinsulinaemia to achieve blood glucose homeostasis (Kahn and Flier, 2000, Groop et al., 1992). The gold standard for assessing IR in vivo is generally accepted to be the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp (DeFronzo et al., 1979). Using this technique, a number of authors have suggested that IR is intrinsic to PCOS (Dunaif et al., 1989, Stepto et al., 2013). However, the data is inconsistent, especially in lean women with PCOS (Moret et al., 2009, Ovesen et al., 1993). Challenges in existing literature have included small sample sizes and not accounting for variations in ethnicity, and clinical phenotype or diagnostic categories. Here we address these gaps and advance the field by definitively confirming in a robust systematic review and meta-analysis that PCOS is underpinned by intrinsic IR, independent of BMI and age, as well as across different diagnostic criteria and ethnic groups. This work highlights the clear need to recognise PCOS as an insulin resistant condition. It also highlights the need to be aware of metabolic risks driven by IR (Legro et al., 2013, Teede et al., 2011). Lifestyle modification, which improves IR, remains first line treatment in PCOS to prevent weight gain and to induce weight loss (Teede et al., 2011). This work also suggests that metformin, an insulin sensitiser should have a role in treatment of PCOS, however results have been inconsistent and the role of metformin in PCOS still requires further exploration (Legro et al., 2013, Teede et al., 2011). Use of other insulin sensitisers is limited by safety concerns. As we have confirmed intrinsic IR in PCOS, there remains a need to identify effective and safe insulin sensitisers for the treatment of PCOS.

Women with PCOS appear to have higher BMI, rates of weight gain and incidence of obesity, compared to women without PCOS, especially in Caucasian populations (Lim et al., 2013, Teede et al., 2013, Yildiz et al., 2012). The relationship between PCOS and weight appears bidirectional with PCOS predisposing women to obesity and obesity increasing the prevalence and severity of PCOS (Teede et al., 2013). Given the confounding impact of obesity on IR, this has long muddied the waters when assessing independent or intrinsic IR in PCOS (Teede et al., 2013, Lim et al., 2012). Here in this large systematic review and meta-analysis of gold standard euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies, we clearly confirm that PCOS is underpinned by IR, independent of obesity and that BMI further exacerbates IR in PCOS. Hence IR is present in both lean and overweight women with PCOS. We also progress understanding in this area by demonstrating that increased BMI has a greater adverse impact on IR in PCOS, more so than in controls. This observation may be related to potentially greater upper body fat and visceral fat in PCOS (Kirchengast and Huber, 2001, Morin-Papunen et al., 2000b, Yucel et al., 2006). However, the relative distribution of visceral versus subcutaneous fat remains controversial in PCOS with visceral fat mass quantified by magnetic resonance imaging or by computerized tomography not differing between women with PCOS compared with BMI-matched controls (Manneras-Holm et al., 2011, Yalamanchi et al., 2012). Yet, data in women from Asian backgrounds suggests visceral fat distribution may differ in PCOS (Wulan et al., 2010, Lim et al., 2012). We have also shown that within women with PCOS, age had only a trivial effect on IR once BMI and diagnostic criteria were considered. Overall we have clearly demonstrated IR is intrinsic to PCOS, regardless of BMI status and that BMI further and disproportionately increases IR in PCOS. Further research is needed to determine the mechanisms by which BMI

disproportionately increases IR in PCOS and effective interventions are needed to target prevention and management of obesity in PCOS to ameliorate IR.

The recent NIH consensus workshop on PCOS endorsed the Rotterdam criteria as the definitive diagnostic criteria for PCOS (National Institutes of Health, 2012). The NIH also recommended that all PCOS studies include analyses by reproductive PCOS phenotype. Much of the prior PCOS literature has not reported by phenotype, therefore here we have completed an analysis by diagnostic criteria as a proxy. We report that woman with original NIH diagnosed PCOS (irregular cycles and hyperandrogenism) were 28% more insulin resistant compared to controls. Prior studies have suggested women with this phenotype were significantly more insulin resistant than other phenotypes included under the Rotterdam criteria. However most of these studies used less accurate measures of IR (Barber et al., 2007, Carmina et al., 2005a, Dewailly et al., 2006, Goverde et al., 2009, Panidis et al., 2012, Rizzo et al., 2009, Welt et al., 2006). In our current work we advance the field by showing that women diagnosed under the more inclusive or broader Rotterdam criteria (two of irregular cycles, PCO and hyperandrogenism) remained more insulin resistant compared to controls. We also show only marginally higher IR in studies using the original NIH criteria versus Rotterdam. In the majority of studies in this metaanalysis, 'Rotterdam' diagnosed women included those in the original NIH group, although this was not the case in all studies. Given that even young lean women diagnosed by Rotterdam criteria alone are insulin resistant (Stepto et al., 2013), this supports the recent NIH endorsement of the Rotterdam PCOS criteria. This systematic review also highlights the need for all future studies to phenotype the populations studied.

As PCOS is a complex endocrine disorder where strong associations between many of its clinical features (in addition to obesity) and IR have been documented (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012), our review and meta-analysis allowed us to explore some of the potential mediators or moderators of IR in PCOS by other factors such as SHBG, testosterone, LH and FSH.

We report in women with PCOS compared to controls, that SHBG had a strong inverse association with IR. We confirm previous reports in longitudinal and cross sectional studies of an association of SHBG and IR (Wallace et al., 2013). This would be expected on the basis of mechanistic studies demonstrating that hepatic SHBG production is suppressed as a result of IR and hyperinsulinemia (Le et al., 2012). Also treatment with insulin-sensitising medication, like metformin and troglitazone, increases circulating SHBG concentrations (Ehrmann et al., 1997, Moghetti et al., 2000). These reports have led to suggestions that SHBG could be used as a simple clinical marker of IR in women with PCOS. SHBG is not only lower, but also less variable in PCOS, compared to in healthy women (Jayagopal et al., 2003). Our current meta-analysis supports this recommendation, with more research with larger sample sizes now needed to derive specific cut-off ranges for SHBG to predict IR. Furthermore, low levels of SHBG are associated with adverse cardiovascular risk factors, diabetes and metabolic syndrome, independent of obesity, all important clinical implications of IR in PCOS, highlighting SHBG may also be a marker of metabolic risk in PCOS.

We confirm that LH levels are elevated in PCOS and FSH is relatively normal or slightly below normal levels (Katsikis et al., 2011). Overweight women, regardless of PCOS status, have been reported to have lower LH concentrations than lean women, but this is still controversial (Katsikis et al., 2011). Adipose tissue is thought to impact on LH levels as it contains aromatase, which converts androgens to estrogens. Consequently, elevated estrogen suppresses LH secretion and the elevated LH levels seen in lean PCOS women, are not necessarily observed in obese women with PCOS (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). GnRH pulsatile secretion is more frequent in PCOS causing the activation of LH β -subunit gene and consequently increasing LH secretion (Katsikis et al., 2011). It has been reported that hyperinsulinaemia alters gonadotrophin secretion. However, this review supports other publications in providing evidence that IR is not directly related to gonadotropin levels in PCOS (Moran et al., 2003).

The primary observed androgenic abnormality in PCOS is elevated "free testosterone" or calculated free androgen index. These parameters largely rely on inclusion of SHBG into the equation introducing a confounder, which interferes in the analysis of the relationship between androgen levels and IR. Given that IR has a profound effect on SHBG, it is important that relationships between androgens and IR are studied independent of SHBG. Hence we focussed here on studies that reported total testosterone levels. In this context, in contrast to much of the existing literature, this meta-analysis suggests an inverse relationship with higher androgens associated with reduced IR, once corrected for BMI. The majority of the existing studies do not correct for BMI when reporting androgens. Many mechanisms underpin both IR and higher androgens including intrinsic PCOS drivers and increased BMI and central

adiposity. Whilst IR and hyperinsulinemia drive hyperandrogenism and insulin sensitisers appear to improve hyperandrogenism, less is known about the impact of androgens on IR (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). Administering androgens to female-to-male transsexuals improves IR (Polderman et al., 1994), whilst blocking androgens through various treatments (combination of ethinyloestradiol, cyproterone acetate +/- antiandrogens) increases IR in women with PCOS, although the impact on IR may not be mediated by changes in androgens (Dahlgren et al., 1998, Meyer et al., 2007, Morin-Papunen et al., 2000a). These findings are inconsistently demonstrated and relationships remain unclear. The relationship between androgens and IR in this meta-analysis, which focused on total testosterone, only became significant when the confounding effects of BMI were taken into account. Testosterone administration in females appears to induce a male-like fat distribution and increase in muscle mass (Elbers et al., 1999, Elbers et al., 1997, Douchi et al., 2001, Notelovitz, 2002). Testosterone has an anabolic effect on muscle and elevated testosterone may act as a compensatory mechanism to counteract the intrinsic IR in PCOS as muscle is one of the main targets for the effects of insulin and accounts for the majority of glucose uptake (Corbould et al., 2006). Our novel data suggests that androgens may have a moderate effect on reducing IR in PCOS. However caution is needed when interpreting this data as immunoassays were predominately used for the measurement of androgens, which are less sensitive than mass spectrometry to detect androgen levels in women (Handelsman and Wartofsky, 2013). As we transition to more accurate methods, greater insights may be gained into the interrelationships between hyperandrogenism and IR in PCOS. In the interim, when evaluating relationships between IR and androgen status, measures of testosterone, measured via mass spectrometry, should be used.

The unexplained residual differences between studies, represented by the random effect, was large (~14%) but fell to moderate, when all predictors were included in the model (Hopkins et al., 2009). Therefore, the overall meta-analytic model did not account for all the between-study variation in the effect of PCOS on IR. Differences in study or subject characteristics including inherent problems in analyzing and reporting data from the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp, recruitment strategies, and ethnicity and lifestyle factors may account for some of the effects of PCOS on IR. Other key factors may also influence IR in PCOS, including low grade inflammation and sympathetic nervous system dysfunction (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012) and further research is needed to clarify key mechanisms underpinning IR in PCOS.

The strength of this meta-analysis is the extensive and comprehensive literature search and the focus on studies using gold standard methods to measure IR. However, as with many systematic reviews and meta-analyses, there are potential limitations of our findings that must be taken into consideration. Firstly, a meta-analysis cannot solve inherent confounding problems in the included studies, which may bias the results toward exaggeration or underestimation of risk estimates. There was a lack of available robust trials and challenges of reporting of data in the included studies as outlined. Not all identified studies were included with difficulties sourcing required data. The inability to acquire missing data from all eligible studies is not unexpected and deemed part of the meta-analysis process (Kelley et al., 2004). The inconsistent reporting of results made it necessary to express variables as factors by dividing the given variable in the PCOS group by that in the respective control group. Also

endpoints varied (including units and scales). The body of evidence was heterogeneous such that diagnostic criteria were not uniformly applied with many studies only including women with NIH-diagnosed PCOS, few reporting reproductive phenotypes and those that included Rotterdam-diagnosed PCOS often also included original NIH diagnosed cases. Small sample sizes and missing data limited evidence synthesis and meta-analysis. Study quality was also often poor with a moderate risk of bias found in most studies. Despite these limitations this body of work considerably advances the field by definitively demonstrating that IR is intrinsic to PCOS.

Conclusion

In this novel and comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis of IR on euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies in PCOS compared to controls we definitively report that IR is intrinsic to PCOS, independent of BMI and diagnostic phenotypes. We show that PCOS status has a large effect on IR. BMI independently exacerbates IR in PCOS and has a disproportionately greater impact than in controls. Age has limited effect on IR in PCOS, highlighting the need to be aware that it occurs even in lean and young women with PCOS. Importantly, we also demonstrate that expanding diagnostic criteria to more inclusive Rotterdam criteria appears to have negligible impact on prevalence of IR in PCOS. This work highlights the critical need for lifestyle management targeting both prevention of weight gain and management of excess weight in PCOS. This work also emphasises the need for effective pharmacological insulin sensitisers, structured exercise, and dietary and lifestyle interventions to assist in the management of excess BMI in PCOS. We confirm that SHBG has as strong relationship with IR in PCOS and may be a clinically useful marker of IR in PCOS. Finally, we suggest that androgens when studied as elevated total testosterone, may actually ameliorate IR in PCOS and strongly suggest this is an area for future research.

Author's Roles

S.C designed the research, performed the literature search, independently reviewed the articles, performed data extraction, participated in data analysis and interpretation, wrote the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version. M.L.M designed the research, performed the literature search, assisted in reviewing articles and writing the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version. W.G.H designed the meta-analysis models, performed the data analysis and interpretation, wrote the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version. C.S.S independently reviewed the articles, assisted in data analysis and interpretation, assisted with the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version. N.K.S designed the research, assisted with independently reviewing the articles, assisted in data analysis and interpretation, provided the final version. N.K.S designed the research, assisted with the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version. H.J.T designed the research, provided data analysis interpretation, wrote the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version. H.J.T designed the research, provided data analysis interpretation, wrote the manuscript, provided critical review of the draft and approved the final version.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the National Health & Medical Research Council (NHMRC), grant number 606553 (H.J,T., N.K.S), as well as Monash University. H.J.T is an NHMRC Research Fellow. N.K.S is supported through the Australian Government's Collaborative Research Networks (CRN) program. The funding bodies played no role in the design, methods, data management or analysis or in the decision to publish.

Conflicts of interest

All authors declare no conflict of interests.

References

- Aroda V, Ciaraldi TP, Chang SA, Dahan MH, Chang RJ, and Henry RR. Circulating and cellular adiponectin in polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to glucose tolerance and insulin action. *Fertility and sterility* 2008: **89**; 1200-1208.
- Aroda VR, Ciaraldi TP, Burke P, Mudaliar S, Clopton P, Phillips S, Chang RJ, and Henry RR. Metabolic and hormonal changes induced by pioglitazone in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2009: **94**; 469-476.
- Azziz R, Ehrmann D, Legro RS, Whitcomb RW, Hanley R, Fereshetian AG, O'Keefe M, Ghazzi MN, and Group PCTS. Troglitazone improves ovulation and hirsutism in the polycystic ovary syndrome: a multicenter, double blind, placebo-controlled trial. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2001: **86**; 1626-1632.
- Azziz R, Marin C, Hoq L, Badamgarav E, and Song P. Health care-related economic burden of the polycystic ovary syndrome during the reproductive life span. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2005: **90**; 4650-4658.
- Baillargeon JP and Carpentier A. Role of insulin in the hyperandrogenemia of lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal insulin sensitivity. *Fertility and sterility* 2007: **88**; 886-893.
- Barber TM, Wass JA, McCarthy MI, and Franks S. Metabolic characteristics of women with polycystic ovaries and oligo-amenorrhoea but normal androgen levels: implications for the management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clinical endocrinology* 2007: **66**; 513-517.
- Barbieri RL, Makris A, Randall RW, Daniels G, Kistner RW, and Ryan KJ. Insulin stimulates androgen accumulation in incubations of ovarian stroma obtained from women with hyperandrogenism. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1986: **62**; 904-910.
- Boomsma CM, Eijkemans MJ, Hughes EG, Visser GH, Fauser BC, and Macklon NS. A meta-analysis of pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction update* 2006: **12**; 673-683.
- Boyle JA, Cunningham J, O'Dea K, Dunbar T, and Norman RJ. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a sample of Indigenous women in Darwin, Australia. *The Medical journal of Australia* 2012: **196**; 62-66.
- Carmina E, Chu MC, Longo RA, Rini GB, and Lobo RA. Phenotypic variation in hyperandrogenic women influences the findings of abnormal metabolic and cardiovascular risk parameters. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2005: **90**; 2545-2549.
- Carmina E, Stanczyk FZ, Morris RS, Lee PD, Savjani G, and Lobo RA. Altered regulation of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 1995: **2**; 743-747.
- Chen MJ, Yang WS, Yang JH, Hsiao CK, Yang YS, and Ho HN. Low sex hormonebinding globulin is associated with low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and metabolic syndrome in women with PCOS. *Human reproduction* 2006: 21; 2266-2271.
- Cho KW, Zhou YJ, Sheng LA, and Rui LY. Lipocalin-13 Regulates Glucose Metabolism by both Insulin-Dependent and Insulin-Independent Mechanisms. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2011: **31**; 450-457.
- Ciampelli M and Lanzone A. Insulin and polycystic ovary syndrome: a new look at an old subject. *Gynecological endocrinology : the official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Endocrinology* 1998: **12**; 277-292.
- Ciampelli M, Leoni F, Lattanzi F, Guido M, Apa R, and Lanzone A. A pilot study of the long-term effects of acipimox in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2002: **17**; 647-653.
- Ciaraldi TP, Aroda V, Mudaliar S, Chang RJ, and Henry RR. Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with tissue-specific differences in insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2009: **94**; 157-163.
- Cibula D, Sindelka G, Hill M, Fanta M, Skrha J, and Zivny J. Insulin sensitivity in non-obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome during treatment with oral contraceptives containing low-androgenic progestin. *Human reproduction* 2002: **17**; 76-82.
- Corbould A, Zhao H, Mirzoeva S, Aird F, and Dunaif A. Enhanced mitogenic signaling in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 2006: **55**; 751-759.
- Dahlgren E, Landin K, Krotkiewski M, Holm G, and Janson PO. Effects of two antiandrogen treatments on hirsutism and insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction* 1998: **13**; 2706-2711.
- de Boer JA, Lambalk CB, Hendriks HH, van Aken C, van der Veen EA, and Schoemaker J. Growth hormone secretion is impaired but not related to insulin sensitivity in non-obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2004: **19**; 504-509.
- DeFronzo RA. Lilly lecture 1987. The triumvirate: beta-cell, muscle, liver. A collusion responsible for NIDDM. *Diabetes* 1988: **37**; 667-687.
- DeFronzo RA, Tobin JD, and Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. *The American journal of physiology* 1979: **237**; E214-223.
- Dewailly D, Catteau-Jonard S, Reyss AC, Leroy M, and Pigny P. Oligoanovulation with polycystic ovaries but not overt hyperandrogenism. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2006: **91**; 3922-3927.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E and Dunaif A. Insulin Resistance and the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Revisited: An Update on Mechanisms and Implications. *Endocr Rev* 2012: **33**; 981-1030.
- Douchi T, Oki T, Yamasaki H, Kuwahata R, Nakae M, and Nagata Y. Relationship of androgens to muscle size and bone mineral density in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001: **98**; 445-449.
- Ducluzeau PH, Cousin P, Malvoisin E, Bornet H, Vidal H, Laville M, and Pugeat M. Glucose-to-insulin ratio rather than sex hormone-binding globulin and adiponectin levels is the best predictor of insulin resistance in nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2003: **88**; 3626-3631.
- Dunaif A. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome: mechanism and implications for pathogenesis. *Endocr Rev* 1997: **18**; 774-800.
- Dunaif A and Graf M. Insulin administration alters gonadal steroid metabolism independent of changes in gonadotropin secretion in insulin-resistant women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1989: **83**; 23-29.
- Dunaif A, Green G, Phelps RG, Lebwohl M, Futterweit W, and Lewy L. Acanthosis Nigricans, insulin action, and hyperandrogenism: clinical, histological, and

biochemical findings. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1991: **73**; 590-595.

- Dunaif A, Segal KR, Futterweit W, and Dobrjansky A. Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 1989: **38**; 1165-1174.
- Dunaif A, Segal KR, Shelley DR, Green G, Dobrjansky A, and Licholai T. Evidence for distinctive and intrinsic defects in insulin action in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 1992: **41**; 1257-1266.
- Eagleson CA, Bellows AB, Hu K, Gingrich MB, and Marshall JC. Obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: evidence that metformin does not restore sensitivity of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulse generator to inhibition by ovarian steroids. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2003: **88**; 5158-5162.
- Ehrmann DA, Schneider DJ, Sobel BE, Cavaghan MK, Imperial J, Rosenfield RL, and Polonsky KS. Troglitazone improves defects in insulin action, insulin secretion, ovarian steroidogenesis, and fibrinolysis in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1997: 82; 2108-2116.
- Elbers JM, Asscheman H, Seidell JC, and Gooren LJ. Effects of sex steroid hormones on regional fat depots as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging in transsexuals. *The American journal of physiology* 1999: **276**; E317-325.
- Elbers JM, Asscheman H, Seidell JC, Megens JA, and Gooren LJ. Long-term testosterone administration increases visceral fat in female to male transsexuals. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1997: **82**; 2044-2047.
- Eriksen M, Porneki AD, Skov V, Burns JS, Beck-Nielsen H, Glintborg D, and Gaster M. Insulin resistance is not conserved in myotubes established from women with PCOS. *PloS one* 2010: **5**; e14469.
- Eriksen MB, Minet AD, Glintborg D, and Gaster M. Intact primary mitochondrial function in myotubes established from women with PCOS. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2011: **96**; E1298-1302.
- Fauser BC, Tarlatzis BC, Rebar RW, Legro RS, Balen AH, Lobo R, Carmina E, Chang J, Yildiz BO, Laven JS, *et al.* Consensus on women's health aspects of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): the Amsterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored 3rd PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. *Fertility and sterility* 2012: **97**; 28-38 e25.
- Fox JH, Licholai T, Green G, and Dunaif A. Differential effects of oral glucosemediated versus intravenous hyperinsulinemia on circulating androgen levels in women. *Fertility and sterility* 1993: **60**; 994-1000.
- Goverde AJ, van Koert AJ, Eijkemans MJ, Knauff EA, Westerveld HE, Fauser BC, and Broekmans FJ. Indicators for metabolic disturbances in anovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome diagnosed according to the Rotterdam consensus criteria. *Human reproduction* 2009: **24**; 710-717.
- Groop LC, Bonadonna RC, Simonson DC, Petrides AS, Shank M, and DeFronzo RA. Effect of insulin on oxidative and nonoxidative pathways of free fatty acid metabolism in human obesity. *The American journal of physiology* 1992: 263; E79-84.
- Group TREA-SPCW. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Human reproduction* 2004: **19**; 41-47.

- Grundy SM, Brewer HB, Jr., Cleeman JI, Smith SC, Jr., and Lenfant C. Definition of metabolic syndrome: Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. *Circulation* 2004: **109**; 433-438.
- Haffner SM, Katz MS, Stern MP, and Dunn JF. Association of decreased sex hormone binding globulin and cardiovascular risk factors. *Arteriosclerosis* 1989: **9**; 136-143.
- Handelsman DJ and Wartofsky L. Requirement for mass spectrometry sex steroid assays in the Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2013: **98**; 3971-3973.
- Harris CG, M. Finding the evidence: Guide to the best available evidence to support development of clinical procedures at Monash Health, Centre for Clinical Effectiveness, Monash Health, Melbourne, Australia 2010.
- Harrison CL, Stepto NK, Hutchison SK, and Teede HJ. The impact of intensified exercise training on insulin resistance and fitness in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clinical endocrinology* 2012: **76**; 351-357.
- Holte J, Bergh T, Berne C, Wide L, and Lithell H. Restored insulin sensitivity but persistently increased early insulin secretion after weight loss in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1995: **80**; 2586-2593.
- Hopkins WG, Marshall SW, Batterham AM, and Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 2009: **41**; 3-13.
- Hutchison SK, Stepto NK, Harrison CL, Moran LJ, Strauss BJ, and Teede HJ. Effects of exercise on insulin resistance and body composition in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2011: **96**; E48-56.
- Hutchison SK, Teede HJ, Rachon D, Harrison CL, Strauss BJ, and Stepto NK. Effect of exercise training on insulin sensitivity, mitochondria and computed tomography muscle attenuation in overweight women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetologia* 2012: **55**; 1424-1434.
- Jayagopal V, Kilpatrick ES, Jennings PE, Hepburn DA, and Atkin SL. The biological variation of testosterone and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) in polycystic ovarian syndrome: implications for SHBG as a surrogate marker of insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2003: **88**; 1528-1533.
- Jayagopal V, Kilpatrick ES, Jennings PE, Holding S, Hepburn DA, and Atkin SL. The biological variation of sex hormone-binding globulin in type 2 diabetes: implications for sex hormone-binding globulin as a surrogate marker of insulin resistance. *Diabetes care* 2004: **27**; 278-280.
- Joham AE, Teede HJ, Hutchison SK, Stepto NK, Harrison CL, Strauss BJ, Paul E, and Watt MJ. Pigment epithelium-derived factor, insulin sensitivity, and adiposity in polycystic ovary syndrome: impact of exercise training. *Obesity* 2012: **20**; 2390-2396.
- Kahn BB and Flier JS. Obesity and insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2000: **106**; 473-481.
- Katsikis I, Karkanaki A, Misichronis G, Delkos D, Kandaraki EA, and Panidis D. Phenotypic expression, body mass index and insulin resistance in relation to

LH levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology* 2011: **156**; 181-185.

- Kelley GA, Kelley KS, and Tran ZV. Retrieval of missing data for meta-analysis: a practical example. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care* 2004: **20**; 296-299.
- Ketel IJ, Serne EH, Ijzerman RG, Korsen TJ, Twisk JW, Hompes PG, Smulders YM, Homburg R, Vorstermans L, Stehouwer CD, *et al.* Insulin-induced capillary recruitment is impaired in both lean and obese women with PCOS. *Human reproduction* 2011: **26**; 3130-3137.
- Ketel IJ, Stehouwer CD, Serne EH, Korsen TJ, Hompes PG, Smulders YM, de Jongh RT, Homburg R, and Lambalk CB. Obese but not normal-weight women with polycystic ovary syndrome are characterized by metabolic and microvascular insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2008: **93**; 3365-3372.
- Kiddy DS, Hamilton-Fairley D, Seppala M, Koistinen R, James VH, Reed MJ, and Franks S. Diet-induced changes in sex hormone binding globulin and free testosterone in women with normal or polycystic ovaries: correlation with serum insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I. *Clinical endocrinology* 1989: 31; 757-763.
- Kirchengast S and Huber J. Body composition characteristics and body fat distribution in lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2001: **16**; 1255-1260.
- Kowalska I, Adamska A, Malecki MT, Karczewska-Kupczewska M, Nikolajuk A, Szopa M, Gorska M, and Straczkowski M. Impact of the FTO gene variation on fat oxidation and its potential influence on body weight in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clinical endocrinology* 2012: **77**; 120-125.
- Kowalska I, Straczkowski M, Nikolajuk A, Adamska A, Karczewska-Kupczewska M, Otziomek E, Wolczynski S, and Gorska M. Serum visfatin in relation to insulin resistance and markers of hyperandrogenism in lean and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2007: 22; 1824-1829.
- Lasco A, Cucinotta D, Gigante A, Denuzzo G, Pedulla M, Trifiletti A, and Frisina N. No changes of peripheral insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome after long-term reduction of endogenous androgens with leuprolide. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies* 1995: 133; 718-722.
- Lawson MA, Jain S, Sun S, Patel K, Malcolm PJ, and Chang RJ. Evidence for insulin suppression of baseline luteinizing hormone in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome and normal women. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2008: **93**; 2089-2096.
- Le TN, Nestler JE, Strauss JF, 3rd, and Wickham EP, 3rd. Sex hormone-binding globulin and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* 2012: **23**; 32-40.
- Legro RS, Arslanian SA, Ehrmann DA, Hoeger KM, Murad MH, Pasquali R, and Welt CK. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2013: **98**; 4565-4592.
- Li W and Li Q. Dysregulation of glucose metabolism even in Chinese PCOS women with normal glucose tolerance. *Endocr J* 2012: **59**; 765-770.
- Lim SS, Davies MJ, Norman RJ, and Moran LJ. Overweight, obesity and central obesity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human reproduction update* 2012: **18**; 618-637.

- Lim SS, Norman RJ, Davies MJ, and Moran LJ. The effect of obesity on polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity reviews : an* official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 2013: 14; 95-109.
- Lindstedt G, Lundberg PA, Lapidus L, Lundgren H, Bengtsson C, and Bjorntorp P. Low sex-hormone-binding globulin concentration as independent risk factor for development of NIDDM. 12-yr follow-up of population study of women in Gothenburg, Sweden. *Diabetes* 1991: **40**; 123-128.
- Manneras-Holm L, Leonhardt H, Kullberg J, Jennische E, Oden A, Holm G, Hellstrom M, Lonn L, Olivecrona G, Stener-Victorin E, *et al.* Adipose tissue has aberrant morphology and function in PCOS: enlarged adipocytes and low serum adiponectin, but not circulating sex steroids, are strongly associated with insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2011: **96**; E304-311.
- March WA, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Phillips DI, Norman RJ, and Davies MJ. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Human reproduction* 2010: **25**; 544-551.
- Meyer C, McGrath BP, and Teede HJ. Effects of medical therapy on insulin resistance and the cardiovascular system in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes care* 2007: **30**; 471-478.
- Micic D, Sumarac-Dumanovic M, Kendereski A, Cvijovic G, Zoric S, Pejkovic D, Micic J, Milic N, Dieguez C, and Casanueva FF. Total ghrelin levels during acute insulin infusion in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of endocrinological investigation* 2007: **30**; 820-827.
- Micic D, Sumarac-Dumanovic M, Kendereski A, Cvijovic G, Zoric S, Pejkovic D, Micic J, Milic N, Dieguez C, and Casanueva FF. Total ghrelin levels during acute insulin infusion in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of endocrinological investigation* 2007: **30**; 820-827.
- Moghetti P, Castello R, Negri C, Tosi F, Perrone F, Caputo M, Zanolin E, and Muggeo M. Metformin effects on clinical features, endocrine and metabolic profiles, and insulin sensitivity in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 6-month trial, followed by open, long-term clinical evaluation. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2000: **85**; 139-146.
- Moran C, Garcia-Hernandez E, Barahona E, Gonzalez S, and Bermudez JA. Relationship between insulin resistance and gonadotropin dissociation in obese and nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and sterility* 2003: **80**; 1466-1472.
- Moran LJ, Deeks AA, Gibson-Helm ME, and Teede HJ. Psychological parameters in the reproductive phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2012: **27**; 2082-2088.
- Moran LJ, Harrison CL, Hutchison SK, Stepto NK, Strauss BJ, and Teede HJ. Exercise decreases anti-mullerian hormone in anovulatory overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a pilot study. *Hormone and metabolic research = Hormon- und Stoffwechselforschung = Hormones et metabolisme* 2011: **43**; 977-979.
- Moran LJ, Strauss BJ, and Teede HJ. Diabetes risk score in the diagnostic categories of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and sterility* 2011: **95**; 1742-1748.
- Moran LJ, Teede HJ, Noakes M, Clifton PM, Norman RJ, and Wittert GA. Sex hormone binding globulin, but not testosterone, is associated with the

metabolic syndrome in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of endocrinological investigation* 2013: **36**; 1004-1010.

- Moret M, Stettler R, Rodieux F, Gaillard RC, Waeber G, Wirthner D, Giusti V, Tappy L, and Pralong FP. Insulin modulation of luteinizing hormone secretion in normal female volunteers and lean polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Neuroendocrinology* 2009: **89**; 131-139.
- Morin-Papunen LC, Vauhkonen I, Koivunen RM, Ruokonen A, Martikainen HK, and Tapanainen JS. Endocrine and metabolic effects of metformin versus ethinyl estradiol-cyproterone acetate in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized study. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2000: **85**; 3161-3168.
- Morin-Papunen LC, Vauhkonen I, Koivunen RM, Ruokonen A, and Tapanainen JS. Insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, and metabolic and hormonal parameters in healthy women and women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2000: **15**; 1266-1274.
- Muniyappa R, Lee S, Chen H, and Quon MJ. Current approaches for assessing insulin sensitivity and resistance in vivo: advantages, limitations, and appropriate usage. American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism 2008: 294; E15-26.
- National Institutes of Health N. Polycystic Ovray Syndrome. 2012.
- Nestler JE and Jakubowicz DJ. Decreases in ovarian cytochrome P450c17 alpha activity and serum free testosterone after reduction of insulin secretion in polycystic ovary syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 1996: **335**; 617-623.
- Nestler JE, Powers LP, Matt DW, Steingold KA, Plymate SR, Rittmaster RS, Clore JN, and Blackard WG. A direct effect of hyperinsulinemia on serum sex hormone-binding globulin levels in obese women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1991: **72**; 83-89.
- Nikolajuk A, Kowalska I, Karczewska-Kupczewska M, Adamska A, Otziomek E, Wolczynski S, Kinalska I, Gorska M, and Straczkowski M. Serum soluble glycoprotein 130 concentration is inversely related to insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 2010: **59**; 1026-1029.
- Norman RJ, Dewailly D, Legro RS, and Hickey TE. Polycystic ovary syndrome. *Lancet* 2007: **370**; 685-697.
- Notelovitz M. Androgen effects on bone and muscle. *Fertility and sterility* 2002: **77 Suppl 4**; S34-41.
- Oh JY, Lee JA, Lee H, Oh JY, Sung YA, and Chung H. Serum C-reactive protein levels in normal-weight polycystic ovary syndrome. *Korean J Intern Med* 2009: **24**; 350-355.
- Ovesen P, Moller J, Ingerslev HJ, Jorgensen JO, Mengel A, Schmitz O, Alberti KG, and Moller N. Normal basal and insulin-stimulated fuel metabolism in lean women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1993: **77**; 1636-1640.
- Panidis D, Tziomalos K, Misichronis G, Papadakis E, Betsas G, Katsikis I, and Macut D. Insulin resistance and endocrine characteristics of the different phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective study. *Human reproduction* 2012: 27; 541-549.
- Paradisi G, Steinberg HO, Shepard MK, Hook G, and Baron AD. Troglitazone therapy improves endothelial function to near normal levels in women with

polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2003: **88**; 576-580.

- Park HR, Choi Y, Lee HJ, Oh JY, Hong YS, and Sung YA. Phenotypic characteristics according to insulin sensitivity in non-obese Korean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes research and clinical practice* 2007: **77 Suppl 1**; S233-237.
- Park KH, Kim JY, Ahn CW, Song YD, Lim SK, and Lee HC. Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) and insulin resistance. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2001: **74**; 261-267.
- Patel K, Coffler MS, Dahan MH, Yoo RY, Lawson MA, Malcom PJ, and Chang RJ. Increased luteinizing hormone secretion in women with polycystic ovary syndrome is unaltered by prolonged insulin infusion. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2003: 88; 5456-5461.
- Polderman KH, Gooren LJ, Asscheman H, Bakker A, and Heine RJ. Induction of insulin resistance by androgens and estrogens. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1994: **79**; 265-271.
- Poretsky L, Smith D, Seibel M, Pazianos A, Moses AC, and Flier JS. Specific insulin binding sites in human ovary. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1984: **59**; 809-811.
- Rabol R, Svendsen PF, Skovbro M, Boushel R, Schjerling P, Nilas L, Madsbad S, and Dela F. Skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies* 2011: **165**; 631-637.
- Rizzo M, Berneis K, Hersberger M, Pepe I, Di Fede G, Rini GB, Spinas GA, and Carmina E. Milder forms of atherogenic dyslipidemia in ovulatory versus anovulatory polycystic ovary syndrome phenotype. *Human reproduction* 2009: **24**; 2286-2292.
- Snowling NJ and Hopkins WG. Effects of different modes of exercise training on glucose control and risk factors for complications in type 2 diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes care* 2006: **29**; 2518-2527.
- Stepto NK, Cassar S, Joham AE, Hutchison SK, Harrison CL, Goldstein RF, and Teede HJ. Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp. *Human reproduction* 2013: 28; 777-784.
- Sterne JA and Davey Smith G. Sifting the evidence-what's wrong with significance tests? *BMJ* 2001: **322**; 226-231.
- Svendsen PF, Madsbad S, and Nilas L. The insulin-resistant phenotype of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and sterility* 2010: **94**; 1052-1058.
- Svendsen PF, Madsbad S, Nilas L, Paulsen SK, and Pedersen SB. Expression of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 and 2 in subcutaneous adipose tissue of lean and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *International journal of obesity* 2009: **33**; 1249-1256.
- Svendsen PF, Nilas L, Norgaard K, Jensen JE, and Madsbad S. Obesity, body composition and metabolic disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction* 2008: **23**; 2113-2121.
- Teede HJ, Hutchison SK, and Zoungas S. The management of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* 2007: **18**; 273-279.
- Teede HJ, Joham AE, Paul E, Moran LJ, Loxton D, Jolley D, and Lombard C. Longitudinal weight gain in women identified with polycystic ovary

syndrome: results of an observational study in young women. *Obesity* 2013: **21**; 1526-1532.

- Teede HJ, Misso ML, Deeks AA, Moran LJ, Stuckey BG, Wong JL, Norman RJ, and Costello MF. Assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: summary of an evidence-based guideline. *The Medical journal of Australia* 2011: **195**; S65-112.
- Tosi F, Dorizzi R, Castello R, Maffeis C, Spiazzi G, Zoppini G, Muggeo M, and Moghetti P. Body fat and insulin resistance independently predict increased serum C-reactive protein in hyperandrogenic women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies* 2009: **161**; 737-745.
- Tosi F, Negri C, Perrone F, Dorizzi R, Castello R, Bonora E, and Moghetti P. Hyperinsulinemia amplifies GnRH agonist stimulated ovarian steroid secretion in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2012: **97**; 1712-1719.
- Vrbikova J, Cibula D, Dvorakova K, Stanicka S, Sindelka G, Hill M, Fanta M, Vondra K, and Skrha J. Insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2004: **89**; 2942-2945.
- Wallace IR, McKinley MC, Bell PM, and Hunter SJ. Sex hormone binding globulin and insulin resistance. *Clinical endocrinology* 2013: **78**; 321-329.
- Welt CK, Gudmundsson JA, Arason G, Adams J, Palsdottir H, Gudlaugsdottir G, Ingadottir G, and Crowley WF. Characterizing discrete subsets of polycystic ovary syndrome as defined by the Rotterdam criteria: the impact of weight on phenotype and metabolic features. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2006: **91**; 4842-4848.
- Wulan SN, Westerterp KR, and Plasqui G. Ethnic differences in body composition and the associated metabolic profile: a comparative study between Asians and Caucasians. *Maturitas* 2010: **65**; 315-319.
- Yalamanchi SK, Sam S, Cardenas MO, Holaday LW, Urbanek M, and Dunaif A. Association of fibrillin-3 and transcription factor-7-like 2 gene variants with metabolic phenotypes in PCOS. *Obesity* 2012: **20**; 1273-1278.
- Yang M. A Review of Random Effects Modelling in SAS (Release 8.2). London. London, Centre for Multilevel Modelling 2003.
- Yang S, Li Q, Song Y, Tian B, Cheng Q, Qing H, Zhong L, and Xia W. Serum complement C3 has a stronger association with insulin resistance than highsensitivity C-reactive protein in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and sterility* 2011: 95; 1749-1753.
- Yildiz BO, Bozdag G, Yapici Z, Esinler I, and Yarali H. Prevalence, phenotype and cardiometabolic risk of polycystic ovary syndrome under different diagnostic criteria. *Human reproduction* 2012: **27**; 3067-3073.
- Yucel A, Noyan V, and Sagsoz N. The association of serum androgens and insulin resistance with fat distribution in polycystic ovary syndrome. *European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology* 2006: **126**; 81-86.

Supplementary Table 1 MOOSE Checklist

Criteria		Brief description of how the criteria were handled in				
Do	Ine meta-analysis					
√ V	Problem definition	Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common condition underpinned by insulin resistance and exacerbated by obesity. We wanted to investigate whether insulin resistance is intrinsic to PCOS and determine the effect of BMI, age and diagnostic criteria on insulin resistance.				
✓	Hypothesis statement	We propose that insulin resistance is intrinsic to PCOS and exacerbated by obesity.				
✓	Description of study outcomes	Insulin sensitivity measured by euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp.				
✓	Type of exposure or intervention used	Cases of PCOS were studied and observed characteristics recorded.				
✓	Type of study designs used	We included case-control studies, prospective cohort studies, observational studies, cross-sectional studies, and comparisons of study populations.				
✓	Study population	Individual studies were required to have participants with PCOS and a healthy control comparison group.				
Rej	porting of search strategy should	l include:				
~	Qualifications of searchers	 Dr Marie Misso is the Head of the Evidence Synthesis Program at Women's Public Health Research, Monash University and is highly experienced in systematic review and developing evidence based guidelines. Professor Will Hopkins is head of Research Design and Statistics at Victoria University. Professor Teede has a highly competitive clinical and public health research and translation track record with national/ international recognition and has published >160 articles. 				
 ✓ 	Search strategy, including time period included in the synthesis and keywords	 Medline and all of Evidence Based Medicine were searched in September 2013. The search strategy was limited to English language articles. 				
✓	Databases and registries searched	Medline and Evidence Based Medicine				
✓	Search software used, name and version, including special features	Medline and Evidence Based Medicine are available on the OVID SP platform. EndNote (version 20) was used to merge retrieved citations and eliminate duplications				
✓	Use of hand searching	We hand-searched bibliographies of retrieved papers for additional references,				

✓	List of citations located and those excluded, including	Details of the literature search process are outlined in the flow chart and citation list is available as supplementary data
•	Method of addressing articles published in languages other than English	We placed restrictions on language and only searched for articles in English.
•	Method of handling abstracts and unpublished studies	Abstracts and proceeding papers were assessed for eligibility according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria.
~	Description of any contact with authors	Authors were contacted via electronic mail if essential data was not reported in a useable format. Details are provided in the Data Extraction section.
Rer	porting of methods should includ	le:
 ✓ 	Description of relevance or	• Detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria are described
	appropriateness of studies	in the methods section.
	assembled for assessing the	• All studies provided euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic
	hypothesis to be tested	insulin clamp data.
\checkmark	Rationale for the selection and	• Studies were included as per selection criteria.
	coding of data	• Data extracted from each of the studies were relevant
		to the population characteristics, study design,
		exposure, outcome, and possible effect modifiers of the
		• Calculation of individual study estimates between
		women with PCOS and controls were undertaken as described in the methods
\checkmark	Assessment of confounding	Excluded studies if participants were treated with any
		therapy that may effect primary outcome of insulin sensitivity (including but not limited to; medication,
	Assessment of study quality	Included studies were critically appraised using the
	including blinding of quality	Centre for Clinical Effectiveness assessment for case
	assessors: stratification or	control studies.
	regression on possible	
	predictors of study results	
✓	Assessment of heterogeneity	A mixed-model meta-analysis was used to assess the effect of PCOS on insulin sensitivity. True values of all effects were assumed to be beterogeneous and the
		analysis provides an estimate of the heterogeneity as a
		standard deviation representing unexplained typical true
		variation in the effect between studies. Inclusion of study
		and mean subject characteristics in the analysis as
		covariates may reduce heterogeneity and provide further
		useful information about the magnitude of the effect in
		different locations and with different subjects.
*	Description of statistical	Description of methods of meta-analyses, and assessment
	be replicated	or publication bias are detailed in the methods.
\checkmark	Provision of appropriate tables	• We included a table detailing:
	and graphics	 Terms used for database search

Rer	oorting of results should include	 A flow chart of search and included/excluded studies Table of included studies Funnel like plot for publication bias Table detailing association of insulin sensitivity with BMI, age and diagnostic criteria Figure if relationship between BMI and insulin sensitivity in PCOS
	Graph summarizing individual	• Table 1 Table 2 Table 3 and Table 4
	study estimates and overall estimate	
√	Table giving descriptive information for each study included	Table 1 and Table 2
v	Results of sensitivity testing	Heterogeneity testing is included in the mixed model meta-analysis and also supplementary figure 1 which indicates publication bias.
~	Indication of statistical uncertainty of findings	90% confidence limits were presented with all summary estimates. Inferential statistics were assessed using magnitudes of effects.
Rep	oorting of discussion should incl	ude:
~	Quantitative assessment of bias	Risk of bias was assessed by producing a forest like plot of the t-statistic associated with each study estimate value contributing to the study-estimate random effect versus the log of the standard error of the effect.
✓ 	Justification for exclusion	Studies were excluded if they did not meet the inclusion criteria as detailed in the methods sections. Studies were also excluded if authors did not provide adequate information and did not reply when contacted.
✓ 	Assessment of quality of included studies	Quality appraisal of each study was performed using the Centre of Clinical Effectiveness appraisal templates and appraisal of each study is included as supplementary data.
Rep	oorting of conclusions should inc	clude:
✓ 	Consideration of alternative explanations for observed results	Potential confounders that may have caused residual confounding effects have been discussed.
✓	Generalization of the conclusions	The meta-analysis of the effect PCOS has on insulin resistance is reported in pre-menopausal women and BMI has a substantial impact on insulin resistance, especially in women with PCOS.
	Guidelines for future research	Future research focusing on lifestyle modification, (including structured exercise programs) and effective pharmacological interventions in the management of PCOS has been noted.
✓	Disclosure of funding source	Funding sources have been disclosed in the conflict of interest section of the manuscript.

Supplementary Table 2 Search strategy for systematic review^a

- 1 exp^b Polycystic Ovary Syndrome/
- 2 polycystic ovar\$^c.mp^d.
- 3 poly-cystic ovar\$.mp.
- 4 PCO\$.mp.
- 5 (stein-leventhal or leventhal).mp.
- 6 Anovulation/
- 7 anovulat\$.mp.
- 8 oligo-ovulat\$.mp.
- 9 oligoovulat\$.mp.
- 10 (ovar\$ adj^e5 (sclerocystic or polycystic or poly-cystic or degenerat\$ or hyperandrogen\$ or hyper-ndrogen\$)).mp.
- 11 or/1-10
- 12 insulin resistan\$.mp.
- 13 exp Insulin Resistance/
- 14 insulin resistance.mp.
- 15 insulin insensitiv\$.mp.
- 16 insulin sensitiv\$.mp.
- 17 exp Insulin/
- 18 insulin.mp.
- 19 exp Blood Glucose/
- 20 Blood Glucose.mp.
- 21 hyperinsulin\$.mp.
- 22 glucose intolerance.mp.
- 23 euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp.mp.
- 24 euglycaemic hyperinsulaemic clamp.mp.
- 25 euglycemic-hyperinsulemic clamp.mp.
- 26 euglyc\$ insulin clamp.mp.
- 27 insulin clamp.mp.
- 28 etiolog\$.mp.
- 29 pathophysiol\$.mp.
- 30 or/12-29
- 31 11 and 30
- 32 limit 31 to (English language and female and humans)

^aSearch was conducted for Medline with appropriate search terms utilised for other databases.

^bexp = exploded.

 c \$ = any character.

^dmedical Subject Heading for Medline: mp, title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word.

^eadj = adjacency

Supplemental Table 3 Quality appraisal of included studies

Study: Aroda V, Ciaraldi TP, Chang SA, Dahan MH, Chang RJ, Henry RR. Circulating and cellular adiponectin in polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to glucose tolerance and insulin action, Fertility and Sterility. 2008;89(5):1200-1208.

Description of study: O of Evidence III-3.	Case contro	ol study. Nat	tional Health and Medical research Council Level
Patient/population	Women with PCOS Age 29 ± 6 y, BMI 35.3 ± 7.4 Normal cycling and non-hirsute controls Age 32 ± 5 y, BMI 36.2 ± 6.9 Ethnicity not reported.		
N	PCOS n = 31 Control n = 6		
Setting	Special Medical	Diagnostic Centre, San	and Treatment Unit of the Veterans Affairs Diego, California, Uniter States of America.
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic Hyperinsulinaemic Clamp for three hours. Glucose disposal rate was determined during the 140 th and 160 th minute and 160 th and 180 th minute.		
Comparison/control	Healthy v	women matc	hed for age and BMI
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Diagnostic criteria: NIH Metabolic: Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp		
Inclusion Criteria	PCOS diagnosis consistent with NIH criteria Control participants were screened by medical history, physical exam, laboratory evaluation and transvaginal ultrasound to confirm their healthy status.		
Exclusion Criteria	Medication of glucocorticoids, antiandrogens, or oral contraceptives within the previous 30 days and insulin sensitising medications the previous 60 days before study commencement. Pregnancy.		
Study Validity	•		
Is it clear that ther conflicts of interest writing or funding study?	e are no in the of this	Yes	The authors state their funding sources (p.1200)
Does the study have focused question?	a clearly	Yes	All elements regarding participants, interventions, comparison groups and outcomes are described.
Is a case control s appropriate method t this question?	tudy the o answer	Yes	A case control study is appropriate.
Does the study have inclusion/exclusion crit	specified teria?	Yes	Inclusion and exclusion criteria are described (p. 1201).

If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Yes	Authors have used relevant criteria for detecting PCOS and controls.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	Recruitment strategy or source population not reported.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Investigators used the NIH criteria to determine PCOS status. Participants in the control group also underwent relevant tests to rule out PCOS (p. 1201).
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Glucosteroids, antianrogens, or oral contraceptive medications – 30 day washout period Ovulation induction agents, antiobesity medications, or insulin sensitizing agents – 60 day washout period. Effects of these mediations on insulin sensitivity may still be present following a 30- 60 day washout period.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	A large difference in participation rate between the cases (PCOS) and control group exists.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Groups were matched for age and BMI (p. 1201) and had similar waste to hip ratio (p. 1203).
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	However, it seems that all participants that were recruited and completed all outcomes measured were included in the results and appropriately discussed (p.1201 and 1203).
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was sufficiently powered to detect differences between groups. A power calculation or statement is not provided.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Yes	All participants mentioned in the methods underwent analysis.

If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	The authors performed adequate statistical analysis for data collected (p.1202); however it is unclear whether analysis was planned a priori. Data was checked for normality and testosterone levels were log transformed to achieve normal distribution. The authors also presented point estimates measures of variability
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	Some of the criteria have been fulfilled and those criteria that have not been fulfilled may affect the conclusions of the study.

Anthropometric: There were no statistically differences in BMI between PCOS and controls groups $(35.3 \pm 7.4 \text{ vs.} 36.2 \pm 6.9 \text{kg/m}^2)$ owing to the recruitment strategy of matching BMI between groups.

Metabolic: There was a significant difference in whole body insulin action (glucose disposal rate between PCOS and control groups (5.61 \pm 2.90 vs. 8.79 \pm 0.81 mg/kg/min; P<0.02), where women with PCOS were less insulin sensitive than the women in the control group.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias for this study.

Control groups considerably less participants than PCOS group. Methods of recruitment not reported. Unknown is population recruited from individuals seeking treatment or community.

Study: Baillargeon JP, Carpentier A. Role of insulin in the hyperandrogenemia of lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal insulin sensitivity, Fertility and Sterility. 2007;88(4):886-893.

of Evidence III-3.		
Patient/population	Lean PCOS women; age 24.3 ± 2.3 . BMI $22.6 \pm 0.6 \le 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$	
	Ethnicity not specified but study was conducted in Canada.	
Ν	Lean control n=17	
	Lean PCOS n=9	
Setting Metabolic Unit in Clinical research centre, Quebec, Canac		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp	
Comparison/control	Lean control participants were compared to lean PCOS participants	
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI	
	Diagnostic criteria: NIH	
	Metabolic: Euglycaemic-Hyperinsulinaemic clamp	

Description of study: Case control study. National Health and Medical research Council Level

Inclusion Criteria PCO		PCOS: absence of hypertension or acanthosis nigricans, normal			
fasti		fasting insulin levels, normal peak serum insulin levels during oral			
glucose		ose tolerance	ose tolerance test, and normal fasting serum to insulin ratio.		
	Diag	noses consis	tent with NIH criteria.		
	Con	trol: Normal	cycling women with normal weight and normal		
	testosterone levels.				
Exclusion Criteria	Ove	rweight or ob	bese women (BMI >25 kg/m ²)		
	Late	-onset adrena	al hyperplasia		
	Med	ication that	may affect insulin sensitivity including oral		
	cont	raceptives an	d insulin-sensitising medication.		
Study Validity					
Is it clear that there ar	e no	Not	It is unclear whether a conflict of interest exists,		
conflicts of interest in	the	reported	as a clean statement is not included in the		
writing or funding of	this		publication. However, funding sources are		
study?			reported and aren't deemed to provide a conflict.		
Does the study hav	e a	Yes	Participants, interventions, comparison groups		
clearly focused question	?		and outcomes are clearly described.		
Is a case control study	the	Yes			
appropriate method	to				
answer this question?					
Does the study	have	Partial	Inclusion and exclusion criteria are defined but		
specified inclusion/exclu	ision		aren't entirely clear (p. 887)		
criteria?					
If there were spec	rified	Partial	Authors aimed to increase the probability of		
inclusion/exclusion crit	eria,		enrolling PCOS women without insulin resistance		
were these appropriate?			through the use of inclusion and exclusion		
			criteria.		
			It is seen along a shorthow the second in along is a factor of the second		
			It is unclear whether the same inclusion/exclusion		
			the probability of having insulin resistance		
	/				
Were the cases and con	trols	Not	It is unclear how participants were recruited to		
taken from compar	able	reported	participant in this study. Therefore the population		
populations?			studied may not be a true representative of the		
			and selection bias		
XX7		Var	Indy exist.		
was case and control st	tatus	res	inclusion and exclusion criteria ensured that cases		
established in a stand	iara,		and controls were anocated to appropriate groups.		
vand and renable way:					
Was case and control st	tatus	Not			
established by asses	SSORS	reported			
blind to the exposure?					
Were the outco	omes	Yes	Outcomes measured are appropriate and		
measured appropriate?			important to answer study aims.		

Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Partial	None of the participants ever used insulin- sensitising medication. It is also noted that none of the participants were using oral contraceptives or medications that may affect insulin sensitivity. However, the washout period for oral contraceptives or medications that may affect insulin sensitivity is not reported and it is unknown if the effect of these medications had sufficiently subsided.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who declined to participate and who did not complete the study was not reported. The PCOS group had less participants than the control group.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	No	The control group was older in age compared to the PCOS group and this was not accounted for in statistical analysis. Age may affect metabolic parameters and could be clinically important.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	Exclusion or dropout rates were not reported.
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was sufficiently powered to detect differences between groups. A power calculation or statement is not provided when baseline data was analysed for key outcomes. However the authors do note that the small sample size reduces the power of the study (p. 892)
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	The number of women who did not complete the study was not reported. No reference was made to missing data. However, all participants included in the methods section were included in statistical analysis.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Partial	A t-test (p. 888) was used at baseline to compare key outcomes between the control and PCOS group. As mentioned above, age was statistically different between groups. Age may affect metabolic processes and therefore would have been best to be used as a covariate in the analysis when comparing key outcomes. Non-parametric statistical tests were used that are independent of the number of subjects (p. 892).
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	Some of the criteria have been fulfilled and those criteria that have not been fulfilled may affect the conclusions of the study.

Mean M-value of lean PCOS women (48.5 ± 6.3 micromol/kg.min) was similar to lean control subjects (52.9 ± 4.6 micromol/kg.min). They also had comparable anthropometric measures, lipids, fibrinogen, and plasminogen activator inhibitor.

The study also reported on the effect of reducing insulin or the secretion of LH on insulin sensitivity, however these results were not used in the systematic review or meta-analysis.

Author's Conclusions.

In women with PCOS and normal insulin levels and metabolic insulin sensitivity, reducing insulin secretion significantly decreased androgen and increased SHBG levels. These results suggest that insulin contributes to hyperandrogenemia even in PCOS women with normal metabolic insulin sensitivity, which might be due to increased sensitivity of their androgenic insulin pathway

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias for this study.

Authors aimed to increase the probability of enrolling PCOS women without insulin resistance. It is unclear whether the same criteria were applied to the control group. It is also unclear how participants were recruited for the study and if women with PCOS and women allocated to the control were recruited from comparable populations.

Age was different between PCOS and controls groups and this was not considered a confounding factor in statistical analysis. Age has an impact on insulin resistance.

Study: Ciaraldi TP, Aroda V, Mudaliar S, Chang RJ, Henry RR. Polycystic ovary syndrome in associated with tissue-specific differences in insulin resistance. 2008;94(1):157-163

Description of study: Case control study. National Health and Medical research Council Level of Evidence III-3.

Patient/population	Overweight women with NIH PCOS. Mean \pm SE Age = 29 \pm 1yr, BMI 35.4 \pm 1.1		
Ν	Control n=15 PCOS n=42		
Setting	Not stated		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp		
Comparison/control	Comparison/control Overweight, normal cycling women. Age 32 ± 1 yr, BMI 33.9 ± 1 .		
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Non-fertility reproductive: Testosterone, SHBG Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity		
Inclusion Criteria	Control: normal cycling, nondiabetic, nonhirsute PCOS: Nondiabetic, NIH criteria to define PCOS		
Exclusion Criteria	Pregnancy, thyroid disease, prolactinoma, Cushing's syndrome and late-onset nonclassic congenital hyperplasia. Taking oral contraceptives, glucocorticoids, antiandrogens, ovulation-inducing agents, or antidiabetic or antiobesity medications within two months prior to screening.		
Study Validity			

Is it clear that there are no conflicts of interest in the writing or funding of this study?	Yes	Author's state funding sources and provide affiliation and disclosure statements (p. 162).
Does the study have a clearly focused question?	Partial	Intrinsic insulin action was investigated, however the PCOS group were predominantly overweight or obese. Adiposity is considered to confound insulin action, therefore inferences made about intrinsic insulin action is limited. Analysis should have included a lean vs. overweight comparison or adiposity measures accounted for in statistical analysis.
Is a case control study the appropriate method to answer this question?	Yes	
Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Partial	Diagnosis of PCOS was based on the NIH criteria.
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Yes	Inclusion and exclusion criteria are explained (p. 158), however it is not clear whether investigators specifically recruited overweight/obese women in the PCOS group or if this was by chance.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	It is unclear how participants were recruited; therefore the population studied may not be a true representative of the overall community population.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcomes measured are appropriate and important to answer study aims.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Partial	Participants underwent a 2-month washout before screening, from medications that affect insulin sensitivity. This short period may not be sufficient for complete washout of effects of medication.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who were ineligible or did not complete the study was not reported. The PCOS group had more participants than the control group.

Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partial	The control group was older in age compared to the PCOS group and this was not accounted for in statistical analysis. Age may affect metabolic parameters and could be clinically important. The authors do note that 'there were no associations between age and metabolic endpoints measured in the study' (p. 159). Control participants were BMI-matched to the PCOS participants.
Was there ≤20% dropout?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was sufficiently powered to detect differences between groups. A power calculation or statement is not provided.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	Exclusion or dropout rates were not reported.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Partial	An ANOVA (p. 158) was used at baseline to compare key outcomes between the control and PCOS group. As mentioned above, age was statistically different between groups. Age may affect metabolic processes; therefore an ANCOVA may have been a more appropriate test. However, authors reported no associations between age and endpoints measures.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

Non-fertility reproductive outcomes: There was a significant difference (p <0.05) in testosterone between women with (0.55 \pm 0.05 ng/ml) and without PCOS (0.25 \pm 0.04 ng/ml). There was no differences between groups in SHGB concentration (17.5 \pm 1.9 and 17.6 \pm 3.6 nmol/L)

Metabolic: Women with PCOS had impaired glucose tolerance and the lowest rate of maximal insulin-stimulated whole body glucose disposal compared to controls (P < 0.01).

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias for this study.

Recruitment strategy for groups are not reported and confounding effects of age on insulin sensitivity was not taken into account.

Quality appraisal of included studies

Study: Dunaif A, Segal KR, Futterweit W, Dobrjansky A. Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. Diabetes, 2007; 38(9): 1165-1174.

Description of study: Case control study.		
Patient/population	Obese PCOS women (mean \pm SE); age 26 \pm 1, BMI 35.6 \pm 1.3 kg/m ² (two participants were diagnosed with diabetes and were removed from the analysis. Data for the meta-analysis was recalculated based on the raw data provided by authors). Lean PCOS women; (mean \pm SE); age 27 \pm 2. BMI 22.3 \pm 0.5 kg/m ² Ethnicity not specified but study was conducted in New York, United States of America.	
N	Obese PCOS $n = 19$ Obese control $n = 11$ Lean PCOS $n = 10$ Lean control $n = 8$	
Setting	Not reported	
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp	
Comparison/control	Lean control participants; 29 ± 2 , BMI 21.3 ± 0.4 kg/m ² Obese control participants; 30 ± 1 , BMI 33.3 ± 1.7 kg/m ²	
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Diagnostic criteria: NIH equivalent Metabolic: Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp to measure insulin sensitivity.	
Inclusion Criteria	PCOS diagnostic criteria are clearly reported and are equivalent to NIH criteria. Obesity was defined by a BMI of >27 kg/m ² In good health	
Exclusion Criteria	Not specifically reported	
Study Validity.		
Is it clear that there an conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Yes h the this	Authors acknowledge funding sources on page 1173.
Does the study hav clearly focused question	ve a Yes on?	The population, exposure/intervention, comparison control groups and outcomes were all detailed and appropriate to answer the research question.
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	y the Yes to	
Does the study specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have Partial	Inclusion criteria are detailed on page 1166. However, specific exclusion criteria for the control group or whether criteria were determined <i>a priori</i> are not reported.

If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate? Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Partial Not reported	Criteria used to diagnose PCOS were equivalent to NIH criteria. The inclusion/exclusion criteria for the control group are not entirely clear. Recruitment strategy or source population not reported.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Partial	Investigators used equivalent criteria to the NIH criteria to determine PCOS status (p.1166). It is unclear how the control group were selected and PCOS ruled out. Furthermore, despite previous documentation of hyperandrogenism in all PCOS cases, androgen levels were deemed normal in two obese and three lean women with PCOS at the time of sampling. Furthermore, ovarian morphology was not used as a diagnostic criterion, as women with normal appearing ovaries can still be diagnosed with PCOS. Therefore, taking into account the variation in androgen levels, some women may have been incorrectly diagnosed with PCOS.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	BMI was assessed by the gold-standard method of hydrostatic weighing. All other outcomes were sufficiently measured.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?.	Partial	Medications know to affect gonadal function or carbohydrate metabolism were ceased for at least 1-month before the study began. It is contentious if a 1-month washout period is adequate to eliminate the effects of medication on gonadal function or carbohydrate metabolism. Oral contraceptive medication was ceased at least 3 months before study commencement. A 3-month washout period should be sufficient.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	

Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Eleven obese and 8 lean women in the control group were matched to the women in the PCOS group on the basis of age, BMI and body composition.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	However, it seems that all patients who entered the trial were properly accounted for and attributed at the study's conclusion.
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Yes	All participants mentioned in the methods underwent analysis.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	The authors performed adequate statistical analysis for data collected (p.1167-1168), however it is unclear whether analysis was planned a priori. Variation for the main outcomes of insulin sensitivity measured by the insulin clamp was maintained at $4 \pm 0.3\%$. Data was checked for normality and log transformed when necessary to achieve homogeneity of variance. A two-way ANOVA was performed to compare each PCOS group to its body-composition-matched control group and the α -level was adjusted to 0.025. Linear regression to determine associations between insulin sensitivity and other variables was used.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported appropriately.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

There were statistically significant interactions between obesity and PCOS in fasting glucose levels and basal hepatic glucose production (P <0.05). Insulin-stimulated glucose utilization was significantly decreased in both PCOS groups whether expressed per kilogram total weight (P <0.001) or per kilogram fat free mass (P <0.001). The metabolic clearance rate of insulin did not differ in the four groups.

Author's Conclusions.

PCOS women have significant insulin resistance that is independent of obesity, changes in body composition, and impairment of glucose tolerance. PCOS and obesity have a synergistic deleterious effect on glucose tolerance. Hyperinsulinemia in PCO is not the result of decreased insulin clearance. PCOS is associated with a unique disorder of insulin action.

Our Comments/Summary.

The overall risk of bias is moderate. There may have been misclassification of participants in the PCOS groups based on data collected for PCOS diagnosis via NIH criteria. It is difficult to generalise results as recruitment strategy and population studied is not reported.

Study: Eriksen M, Pørneki AD, Skov V, Burns JS, Beck-Nielsen H, et al. (2010) Insulin Resistance Is Not Conserved in Myotubes Established from Women with PCOS. PLoS ONE 5(12): e14469.

Description of study: Case control study.		
Patient/population	Overweight PC	OS women (mean \pm SEM); age 31.6 \pm 1.2, BMI
	33.2 ± 0.8 kg/m	2
	Caucasian popu	lation
Ν	PCOS $n = 14$	
	Control $n = 28$	
Setting	The Departmen	t of Endocrinology, Odense University Hospital,
	Odense, Denma	rk.
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hy	perinsulinaemic clamp
Comparison/control	Healthy Cauca participants; 33.	sian premenopausal women acted as control 8 ± 2.1 , BMI $33.7 \pm 1.7 \text{ kg/m}^2$
Outcomes	Anthropometric	: BMI
	Diagnostic crite	ria: NIH equivalent
	Metabolic: Eug	glycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp to measure
	Insulin sensitivi	ty.
Inclusion Criteria	PCOS diagnostic criteria are clearly reported and are equivalent	
	Overweight defi	ined as $BMI > 30 kg/m^2$
Euclusian Cuitania	Portiginants with disbates (fasting plasma glucosa >7.0 mma1/1)	
Exclusion Criteria	hypertension	In diabetes (lasting plasma glucose ≥ 7.0 mmol/1),
	outside referen	ce interval renal dysfunction and congestive
	heart disease we	ere excluded from the study.
Study Validity.		·
Is it clear that there	are Yes	Authors acknowledge funding sources and
no conflicts of interes	st in	declare that no competing interests exist.
the writing or fundin	g of	
this study?		
Does the study hav	re a Yes	The population, exposure/intervention,
clearly focused question	on?	comparison control groups and outcomes were
		all detailed and appropriate to answer the
		research question.
Is a case control study	the Yes	
appropriate method	to	
answer this question?		

Does the study have	Yes	
specified		
inclusion/exclusion		
	V	
If there were specified	Yes	Criteria used to diagnose PCOS were equivalent
criteria were these		The inclusion/exclusion criteria for the PCOS
appropriate?		and control group are stated.
Were the cases and	Not	Recruitment strategy or source population not
controls taken from	reported	reported.
comparable populations?	-	
Was case and control	Yes	Investigators used equivalent criteria to the NIH
status established in a		criteria to determine PCOS status and women
standard, valid and		without PCOS did not have hyperandrogenism
reliable way?		or hirsuitism.
Was case and control	Not	
status established by	reported	
assessors blind to the		
exposure?		
Were the outcomes	Yes	
measured appropriate?		
Was there sufficient	Yes	Subjects refrained from oral contraceptive use
duration of follow-up?.		for at least three months before evaluation, and
		no patient took medicine known to affect
		normonal of metabolic parameters.
Was the percentage of	Not	
each group (cases and	reported	
controls) who refused to	1	
participate in the study		
reported?		
Were the groups	Yes	Eleven obese and 8 lean women in the control
comparable with regards		group were matched to the women in the PCOS
to key prognostic		group on the basis of age, BMI and body
variables?		composition.
Was there ≤20% drop-	Yes	Two participants did not complete the study
out?		(one became pregnant and the other became ill
		in the medication intervention arm of the study).
Was the study sufficiently	Not	
powered to detect any	reported	
unierences between the groups?		
	Vac	All porticipants mantional in the med 1
were all individuals	res	All participants mentioned in the methods
menuucu in the allalysis.		under went anarysis.

If statistical analysis was y undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes Statistical significance was evaluated using Student's t-test and calculated two tailed P values. Paired analysis was performed for comparison of acute and chronic insulin exposure in the same sets of myotubes.
Is the paper free of Y selective outcome reporting?	Yes Planned outcomes were measured and reported appropriately.
Other	
What is the overall risk of I bias?	Low

PCOS participants had increased fasting levels of serum insulin, free testosterone, and plasma triglycerides compared to controls. Insulin-stimulated glucose disposal (Rd) was 50% lower in PCOS subjects than controls (*P*<0.001), and this was primarily accounted for by a 60% reduction in non-oxidative glucose metabolism (NOGM), but also a 39% decrease in glucose oxidation. Treatment of PCOS subjects with pioglitazone significantly reduced fasting serum insulin and improved insulin-stimulated Rd, glucose oxidation, and NOGM. No significant changes were measured in fasting Rd and basal glucose metabolism (Rd, glucose oxidation and NOGM) between PCOS subjects and controls or during pioglitazone treatment (data not shown).

Author's Conclusions.

These results suggest that the mechanisms governing insulin resistance in skeletal muscle of PCOS patients in vivo are not primary, but rather adaptive.

Our Comments/Summary.

The overall risk of bias is low. Sound methodology used to answer research question.

Study: Eriksen M.B, Minet A.D, Glintborg D, and Gaster M (2011). Intact Primary Mitochondrial Function in Myotubes Established from Women with PCOS, The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism E1298–E1302.

Description of study: Case control study.			
Patient/population	Overweight PCOS women (mean \pm SEM); age 33.8 \pm 1.2, BMI 34.5 \pm 1.4 kg/m² Caucasian population		
Ν	PCOS $n = 8$ Control $n = 8$	PCOS $n = 8$ Control $n = 8$	
Setting	Not reported.		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hy	perinsulinaemic clamp	
Comparison/control	Healthy Cauca participants; 32.	isian premenopausal women acted as control 2 ± 3.4 , BMI $35.1 \pm 2.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$	
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Diagnostic criteria: NIH equivalent (reported in previous publication) Metabolic: Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp to measure insulin sensitivity.		
Inclusion Criteria	Elevated fasting insulin levels (>50 pmol/liter) in PCOS group Overweight defined as BMI \ge 30 kg/m ²		
Exclusion Criteria	Participants with diabetes (fasting plasma glucose \geq 7.0 mmol/l), hypertension, elevated liver enzymes, s-prolactin or s-TSH outside reference interval, renal dysfunction, and congestive heart disease were excluded from the study.		
Study Validity.			
Is it clear that there an conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Yes the this	Authors acknowledge funding sources and declare that no competing interests exist.	
Does the study hav clearly focused questio	ve a Yes n?	The population, exposure/intervention, comparison control group and outcomes were described and appropriate to answer the research question.	
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	to Yes		
Does the study specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have Partial	Criteria could be more detailed and specific. Criteria used to establish PCOS not reported but instead the reader is directed to another paper.	
If there were spec inclusion/exclusion criteria, were t appropriate?	ified Partial these	Criteria used to diagnose PCOS were equivalent to NIH criteria.	

Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations? Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and	Not reported Yes	Recruitment strategy or source population not reported. Participants were randomly chosen from a previous cohort. It is unclear what technique was used to randomly choose participants and how selection bias was avoided. Investigators used equivalent criteria to the NIH criteria to determine PCOS status.
reliable way? Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	Participants were randomly chosen from a previous cohort. It is unclear whether researchers knew diagnosis (PCOS or control) or participant characterises before samples were randomly chosen for the experiment.
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?.	Yes	Subjects refrained from oral contraceptive use for at least three months before evaluation, and no patient took medicine known to affect hormonal or metabolic parameters.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Healthy Caucasian premenopausal women matched to PCOS subjects for BMI and age were studied as controls.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Yes	All participants mentioned in the methods underwent analysis.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Statistical significance was evaluated using Student's t test and calculated two-tailed P values.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Partial	Planned outcomes were measured and reported appropriately.
Other		

What is the overall risk of	High
bias?	

Mitochondrial mass and measurable mitochondrial ATP synthesis, with and without ATP use, were not different between PCOS subjects and control subjects. PCOS subjects were insulin resistant and had significantly higher levels of testosterone, triglycerides, and insulin compared with controls subjects. Insulin-stimulated glucose disposal in PCOS patients was 54% lower than controls,

Author's Conclusions.

We found no evidence for a primary impaired mitochondrial function or content in myotubes established from PCOS subjects, and our results suggest that reduced expression of oxidative genes in PCOS subjects is an adaptive trait.

Our Comments/Summary.

The overall risk of bias is high. It is unclear how participants were selected for this experiment, which could bias results.

Quality appraisal of included studies

Study: Kowalska I, Adamska A, Maleckit MT, Karczewska-Kupczewska M, Nikolajuk A, Szopat M, Gorska M, Straczkowski M. Impact of the FTO gene variation on fat oxifdation and its potential influence on body weight in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, Clinical Endocrinology. 2012; 77: 120-125.

Description of study: Case control study. National Health and Medical research Council Level of Evidence III-3.

Patient/population	Women with PCOS; Age 25 ± 6 y, BMI 27.9 ± 7.2		
N	$\begin{array}{l} PCOS \ n = 65 \\ Control \ n = 28 \end{array}$		
Setting	Not reported		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic hyp	perinsulinaemic clamp.	
Comparison/control	Control women matched for age and BMI with PCOS group; Age 27 ± 6 y, BMI 28 ± 6.8		
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity		
Inclusion Criteria	Not reported and previous publication not specifically referenced for inclusion criteria.		
Exclusion Criteria	Unclear. Not reported and previous publication not specifically reference for exclusion criteria.		
Study Validity			
Is it clear that there an conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Yes the this	Funding sources are reported and aren't deemed to provide a conflict. Authors also provide a statement noting that they have nothing to declare.	
Does the study hav clearly focused question	ve a Yes		

Is a case control study the appropriate method to	Yes	
answer this question?		
Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Partial	PCOS diagnosis is clearly explained. However, other inclusion or exclusion criteria are not reported and no specific reference to inclusion/exclusion criteria is made.
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Partial	The criteria reported were appropriate.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	Participants in the control group were mainly recruited from medical staff and students. Recruitment methods for the PCOS group are not provided.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	The Rotterdam criteria was used to discriminate between cases and controls.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcomes were measured appropriately.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Not reported	
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who were excluded or who did not complete the study was not reported.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	The control group and PCOS groups did not differ in age or BMI.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	The control group and PCOS groups did not differ in age or BMI.
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was sufficiently powered to detect differences between groups. A power calculation or statement is not provided when analysing baseline data for key outcomes.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Statistical analysis is reported on page 122 and seems appropriate.

Is the paper	free of	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
selective	outcome		
reporting?			
Other			
What is the overa bias?	all risk of	Moderate	

Mean M-value of lean PCOS women ($45.73 \pm 18.67 \text{ micromol/kg/min}$) was significantly lower compared to control participants ($58.06 \pm 22.34 \text{ micromol/kg.min}$). Both groups had comparable anthropometric measures and lipids.

Author's Conclusions.

The FTO gene variation might influence the baseline lipid oxidation in PCOS patients. This might potentially be one of the mechanisms explaining the impact of the FTO gene on body weight in PCOS.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias for this study.

It is unclear of the inclusion/exclusion criteria used in the study. It is not noted where women with PCOS were recruited. Small sample size.

Study: Kowalska I, Straczkowski M, Nikolajuk A, Adamska A, Karczewska-Kupczewska M, Otziomek E, Wolczynski S, Gorska M,. Serum visfatin in relation to insulin resistance and markers of hyperandrogenism in lean and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. 2007; 22(7):1824-1829

Description of study: Case control study. National Health and Medical research Council Level of Evidence III-3.

Patient/population	PCOS diagnosis according to Rotterdam Criteria.		
Ν	Lean Control $n = 25$		
	Lean PCOS $n = 23$		
	Overweight Control $n = 20$		
	Overweight PCOS $n = 47$		
	$(BMI < 25 \text{ kg/m}^2 \text{ used to define lean and BMI} > 25 \text{ kg/m}^2 \text{ used to}$		
	define overweight/obese)		
Setting	Participants with PCOS and obese control participants were		
	recruited from Outpatient Endocrinology and Gynaecology Clinics.		
	Lean control participants were mainly medical students and staff.		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic Hyperinsulinaemic clamp.		
Comparison/control	Control women matched for age and BMI with PCOS group.		
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI		
	Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity, euglycaemic-Hyperinsulinaemic		
	clamp		
Inclusion Criteria	Controls: Normal menstruating		
	Non-smokers, not taking any anti-inflammatory medication or		
	medication know to affect carbohydrate and lipid metabolism		
	(within 3 months before the study).		

Exclusion Criteria	Morbidly obese disease, hyperter	$(BMI \ge 40 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, diabetes, cardiovascular sion, infections or other serious medical problems.
Study Validity		. 1
Is it clear that there ar conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Not the reported this	It is unclear whether a conflict of interest exists as a clear statement is not included in the publication. However, funding sources are reported and aren't deemed to provide a conflict
Does the study hav clearly focused questio	re a Yes n?	Information regarding participants, interventions, comparison group and outcomes are reported.
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	the Yes to	
Does the study l specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have Partial	
If there were spec inclusion/exclusion criteria, were t appropriate?	ified Partial hese	
Were the cases controls taken f comparable populatior	and Partial rom 1s?	Women with PCOS and participants who were overweight/obese were recruited through Outpatient Endocrinology and Gynaecology Clinics. Bias may exist with this recruitment strategy as women seeking treatment may have more severe symptoms of PCOS and obesity.
Was case and cor status established in standard, valid reliable way?	ntrol Yes n a and	Inclusion and exclusion criteria ensured that cases and controls were allocated to appropriate groups.
Was case and cor status established assessors blind to exposure?	htrol Not by reported the	
Were the outco measured appropriate	emes Yes ?	Outcomes were measured appropriately and important to answer study aims. Serum LH (sensitivity 0.07 mIU/ml; intraassay CV 4.7%, interassay CV 6.3%), FSH (sensitivity 0.3 mIU/ml; intrassay CV 2.8%, interassay CV 4.6%), testosterone (sensitivity 0.35 nmol/l; intraassay CV 7.8%, interassay CV 10.1%) were measured by chemiluminescence method (ACS Chirone 180) and serum sex hormone-binding globulin was measured by immunoradiometric assay (ZenTech, Angleur, Belgium) with sensitivity below 0.3 nmol/l and intraassay and interassay CV 2.9%.

Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Participants were not taking any anti- inflammatory drugs within 3 months prior to the study or medication known to affect carbohydrate or lipid metabolism.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	No	The number of women who were excluded from the study or who did not complete the study was not reported. The obese PCOS group had nearly double the amount of participants compared to the other three groups.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Groups were comparable in regards to age.
Was there ≤20% drop-out	Not reported	Drop-out rates were not reported.
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was sufficiently powered to detect differences between groups. A power calculation or statement is not provided.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Statistical analysis has been reported (p. 1826) and appropriately details tests performed. The variables that did not have normal distribution (<i>M</i> value, visfatin, fasting and postload insulin, TG, FFA, SHBG, free androgen index) were log- transformed prior to analyses. Differences between groups were evaluated using factorial analysis of variance, with PCOS status and obesity as categorical variables, followed by the post-hoc Fischer's protected least-significant difference test. The relationships between serum visfatin and other variables were assessed using the Pearson product–moment correlation analysis and multiple regression analysis.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

The PCOS group had lower insulin sensitivity (P=0.00049) in comparison to the control group. The decrease in insulin sensitivity was present in both the lean (P=0.019) and obese (P=0.0077) PCOS subjects, In the whole group, serum visfatin was negatively correlated with insulin sensitivity (r=-0.27, P=0.004). This relationship was also observed in the subgroup of lean (r=-0.30, P=0.038), but not obese women. Additionally, in lean women, visfatin was associated with serum testosterone (r=0.47, P=0.002) and free androgen index (r=0.48, P=0.002), independently of other potential confounding factors.

Author's Conclusions.

Data indicates that visfatin is associated with insulin resistance and markers of hyperandrogenism in lean PCOS patients

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias for this study.

Recruitment of participants bias towards more severe PCOS and obesity symptoms.

Quality appraisal of included studies

Study: Lasco A, Cucinotta D, Gigante A, Denuzzo G, Pedulla M, Trifiletti A, Frisina N. No changes of peripheral insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome after long-term reduction of endogenous androgens with leuprolide, European Journal of Endocrinology. 1995; 133: 718-722

Description of study: Case Control.			
Patient/population	Women dia $(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$	gnosed with PCOS based on the Rotterdam criteria;); age 28 ± 1.9 , BMI $36.4 \pm 2.2 \text{ kg/m}^2$	
N	PCOS $n = 10$ Obese women with hirsutism but no PCOS $n = 6$ (not used in meta- analysis)		
	Lean control	women $n = 6$	
Setting	Not reported	l.	
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemi	c hyperinsulaemic clamp	
Comparison/control	Lean control	women (mean \pm SD); age 24 \pm 2, BMI 21 \pm 0.8 kg/m ²	
Outcomes	Anthropome Metabolism insulin sensi	tric: BMI Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp to measure tivity (M index).	
Inclusion Criteria	Normal gluc	ose tolerance,	
Exclusion Criteria	Endocrine d tumours or p Medications the study.	isorders (e.g., Cushing's syndrome, androgen secreting prolactinomas. affecting glucose tolerance taken three months prior to	
Study Validity.			
Is it clear that there a conflicts of interest i writing or funding o study?	re no Not n the report f this	ed	
Does the study ha clearly focused question	ve a Yes	Funding sources, affiliations and other conflicts of interests have not been reported.	

Is a case control study the appropriate method to answer this question? Does the study have	Yes	The study has a clear research question. A lean control group was used as a comparison to the overweight/obese PCOS group. Any differences between groups may have been as a result of obesity. An overweight control group may be more appropriate. The tests used to measure desired outcomes are appropriate.
specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?		
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Yes	A definition of PCOS diagnosis is stated. Clear inclusion/exclusion criteria are noted.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Recruitment strategies were not reported in the study.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	The PCOS diagnostic criteria use was able to discriminate between women with PCOS and controls.
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcomes measured were appropriate to answer research questions.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	N/A	Medications likely to affect glucose tolerance were ceased 3 months prior to the commencement of the study.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of participants who were excluded from the study or who did not complete the study has not been reported.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partial	The PCOS group and control group were of simular age $(28 \pm 1.9 \text{ vs } 24 \pm 2 \text{ respectively})$. However, the PCOS group was overweight/obese (BMI = 36.4 ± 2.2) compared to the control group (BMI 21 ± 0.8).
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	However, it seems that all participants mentioned in the methods were included in the analysis.

If statistical analysis was No undertaken, was this appropriate?	 Comparisons between groups were performed by Student's paired and unpaired tests (p. 791). Statistics should have allowed for assessment of confounding effects of BMI on outcome measure of insulin sensitivity.
Is the paper free of Yes selective outcome reporting?	
Other	
What is the overall risk of Moderate bias?	2

Plasma LH, andostenedione, testosterone and fasting plasma insulin were higher in PCOS women compared to controls. M index has higher in controls when compared to women with PCOS.

Results were also reported for comparisons to obese women with hirsutism and following treatment with leuprolide. However, these results are not required for the systematic review and meta-analysis.

Author's Conclusions.

An acute increase in plasma insulin, as observed during an insulin clamp, does not affect androgen secretion and suppression of androgens concentrations do not modify insulin resistance.

Our Comments/Summary.

Small sample size. Recruitment strategy not reported. Statistics used did not account for confounding factors; differences in insulin sensitivity between PCOS and control groups could be exaggerated as obesity exacerbates insulin resistance alone.

Study: Li W and Li Q, Dysregulation of glucose metabolism even in Chinese PCOS women with normal glucose tolerance, Endocrine Journal. 2012; 59(9): 765-770.

Description of study: Cross-sectional study		
Patient/population	Women with PCOS Ethnicity: Chinese Women with PCOS were divided into Overweight/obese and lean groups, where overweight/obese was defined as BMI greater ≥ 24 kg/m ² .	
N	PCOS $n = 111$ (lean $n = 78$ and overweight/obese $n = 33$) Control $n = 92$	
Setting	Department of Endocrinology or the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of the First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University	
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp	
Comparison/control	Healthy women, all within a healthy weight range <24 kg/m ²	
Outcomes	Anthropometric measures: BMI Metabolic measures: Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp.	
Inclusion Criteria	PCOS diagnose (FPG)<6.1mmo	ed using the NIH criteria. Fasting plasma glucose l/L and postprandial plasma glucose
--	--	--
	(PPG)<7.8mmo	1/L.
	Healthy control women had normal menstrual cycles and no signs	
	All subjects were Han	
	No history of di	abetes in first degree relatives
Exclusion Criteria	Congenital adu	renal hyperplasia androgen secreting tumours
	Cushing's syndi	rome, and hyperprolactinemia.
	Use of hormona	al medication within the last one month and the use
	of medication a	ffecting insulin sensitivity in the last three months
	before the study	began.
Study Validity.		
Is it clear that there a	re no Yes	The authors have reported that they have nothing
conflicts of interest in	n the	to disclose or declare and acknowledge funding
study?	uns	sources (p. 709)
Does the study have clearly focused question	ve a Yes n?	Aims are clearly stated and justified.
Is a case control stud appropriate method answer this question?	y the Yes	
Does the study specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have Yes	The study reports detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria (p.766.)
If there were special inclusion/exclusion cri were these appropriate	cified Yes teria, e?	All other inclusion/exclusion criteria are appropriate.
Were the cases controls taken comparable population	and Unclear from ns?	It is clearly stated that the women with PCOS were recruited after visiting Department of Endocrinology or the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of the First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. However, it is unclear whether the healthy control participants were recruited using the same strategy. Recruiting participants seeking treatment for endocrinological, obstetric or gynaecological conditions may results in unintentionally recruiting women with more sever forms of PCOS.
Was case and co status established i standard, valid and re way?	ntrol Yes in a liable	

Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	The method of selection of PCOS women was determined through the use of the NIH criteria.
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Measurements seem to be standard, valid and reliable (p. 766). The authors report the intra-assay and inter-assay coefficients for testosterone (11.3 and 13.8% respectively).
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	N/A	One month may not be sufficient enough to wash out oral contraceptive medication and their effects on metabolism and insulin.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Age matched women were selected for the control group.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Partial	82% women with PCOS (91 out of 111 participants) and 36% of healthy control women (22 out of 92) completed the euglycaemic- hyperinsulinaemic clamp (p. 766). All other tests were completed.
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was powered to detect differences between groups. The authors have not provided power calculations.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Yes	The number of individuals who did not complete the insulin clamp was noted in the study.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Data was log transformed before analysis when it was not normally distributed (p. 767). Comparisons between more than two groups were assessed by a one-way ANOVA. Linear regression analysis was used to evaluate the relationships between outcomes.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

Compared with lean controls, lean PCOS women had lower M value (7.46±1.84 *vs*. 10.09±2.54 mg/ kg/min, P < 0.05), higher HOMA- β index (6.40±0.59 *vs*. 6.05±0.96, P < 0.05) but similar HOMA- β index (P > 0.05). Overweight/obese PCOS women had both further lower levels of M value (7.46±1.84 *vs*. 10.09±2.54 *vs*. 12.40±1.68 mg/kg/min, P < 0.05) and HOMA- β index (49.46±12.16 *vs*. 60.74±10.77 *vs*. 63.34±9.98, P < 0.05).

Author's Conclusions

Insulin resistance and dysregulation of glucose metabolism were common in Chinese PCOS women with normal glucose tolerance. BMI $\geq 25.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$ indicated impaired β cell function of PCOS women with normal glucose tolerance.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a medium risk of bias due to recruitment. Not all women completed insulin clamps.

Study: Mannerås-Holm L, Leonhardt H, Kullberg J, Jennische E, Odén A, Holm G, Hellström H, Lönn L, Olivecrona G, Stener-Victorin E, Malin Lönn, Adipose Tissue Has Aberrant Morphology and Function in PCOS: Enlarged Adipocytes and Low Serum Adiponectin, But Not Circulating Sex Steroids, Are Strongly Associated with Insulin Resistance, Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2011; 96(2): E304-E311.

Description of study: (Case Control.
Patient/population	Women with PCOS diagnosed by the Rotterdam criteria; (mean \pm SD) age 28.5 \pm 3.6, BMI 27.29 \pm 7.18 kg/m ²
N	PCOS $n = 74$ (data provided for $n = 31$ as participants were matched for age and BMI with women in the control group). Controls $n = 31$
Setting	The study was conducted at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg.
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic hyperinsulainaemic clamp.
Comparison/control	The control participants were matched pairwise to 31 women with PCOS by age (± 5 years) and BMI (± 2 kg/m ²). The majority of the pairs were matched continuously during enrolment. Six pairs were matched after inclusion of all participants to meet the matching criteria.
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolism: Insulin sensitivity measured by euglycaemic- hyperinsulinaemic clamp.
Inclusion Criteria	Inclusion criteria for women with PCOS were polycystic ovary morphology (12 or more 2- to 9-mm follicles or >10 ml in volume, in at least one ovary) and clinical signs of hyperandrogenism (hirsutism, acne) and/or oligo/amenorrhea. Hirsutism was defined as a Ferriman Gallwey score \geq 8. Acne was determined by an affirmative answer to the question <i>Do you have excessive acne?</i> Oligomenorrhea was defined as an intermenstrual interval >35 days and <8 menstrual bleedings in the past year. Amenorrhea was defined as absent menstrual bleeding or none in the past 90 days.

Exclusion Criteria	Exclu	usion criter	ia for controls were evidence of polycystic ovary		
(cycle Exclu		(cycles >35 days)			
		Exclusion criteria for all women were age <18 or >37 years			
	pharr	nacological	treatment within 12 weeks (including hormonal		
	contr	acentives	naturopathic preparations and homeopathic		
	subst	ances) hrea	ast feeding within 24 weeks cardiovascular disease		
	diabe	tes mellitu	s or other endocrine disorders (e.g. congenital		
	adren	al hyperpl	asia Cushing's syndrome or androgen-secreting		
	tumo	urs)	usia, cushing s synaronic, or unarogen secreting		
Study Validity.	tuillo	u15).			
Is it clear that there a	re no	Yes			
conflicts of interest in	n the				
writing or funding of	f this				
study?					
Does the study ha	ve a	Ves	Authors report that they have no conflict of		
clearly focused question	n n	105	interests and acknowledge funding sources (n		
clearly rocused questio	11.		E310)		
Is a case control stud	y the	Yes	The research question is clearly stated and		
appropriate method	to		focused.		
answer this question?					
Does the study	have	Yes	Inclusion and exclusion criteria are clearly		
specified			defined (p. E305).		
inclusion/exclusion					
criteria?					
If there were spe	cified	Yes			
inclusion/exclusion cri	teria.	105			
were these appropriate	e?				
Ware the cases and cou	ntrole	Vec	Participants were recruited from the community		
takan from compa	rahla	103	through advertisements and frequent visits to		
nonulations?	abic		various places. Participants were also matched for		
populations.			age and BMI.		
Was case and control of	statue	Ves	The authors have relevant criteria for detecting		
established in a ston	dard	103	PCOS and ensuring the comparison group are		
valid and roliable way	uaiu,)		healthy women with no signs or symptoms of		
vanu anu i chabie way	•		PCOS		
			1003.		
			Potential participants were asked to describe their		
			medical history and underwent a gynecological		
			examination and two-dimensional transvaginal		
			ultrasonography to investigate overige		
			morphology Women allocated to the control		
			group did not have any signs and symptoms of		
			PCOS.		
Was case and control of	statue	Not			
established by ass	score	reported			
blind to the ovnosure?	29012	reporteu			
onnu to the exposure:					

Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcome measurements were important to answer the research question and where standard, reliable and valid (p.E305-E306).
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Washout period for medications were adequate to ensure endpoint measurements were not affected.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	31 controls were matched pairwise to 31 women with PCOS. Matching was performed based on BMI and age.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Partial	The matching of groups based on age and BMI resulted in a nonnegative correlation between the value of the women with PCOS, on any variable, and the corresponding value of her control. Thus, the difference between women with PCOS and controls could be analyzed with a nonpaired instead of a paired test. A nonpaired test provides higher statistical power if the matching variables are of small importance (resulting in a low correlation between PCOS women and controls) and if the number of individuals missing her match is large enough. However, analysis of confidence intervals for the two options revealed that the paired test was more powerful in almost all cases. Thus, for pairwise comparisons between the BMI- and age- matched cases and controls, paired <i>t</i> tests were used (p. E306). However, sample size calculation and power calculations were not reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	No	 Only pairwise matched participants were included in characteristics analysis, therefore 43 women with PCOS were not included in this analysis. However, all women with PCOS were included in analysis investigating determinants of insulin sensitivity in this population. The authors report missing data for all outcomes measured. 32 of 74 women with PCOS (including four in matched pairs) and one control did not undergo clamp evaluations due to logistical reasons.

If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Authors report in detail the analysis conducted and justifications for statistics chosen.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All outcomes were measured and reported. Any missing data from control and PCOS groups was also noted.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Low	

Comparison of 31 pairs revealed lower insulin sensitivity, hyperandrogenemia, and higher free 17 β -estradiol in PCOS. Abdominal adipose tissue volumes/distribution did not differ in the groups, but PCOS women had higher waist-to-hip ratio, enlarged adipocytes and reduced adiponectin. In regression analysis, adipocyte size, adiponectin, and waist circumference were the factors most strongly associated with insulin sensitivity in PCOS (R² = 0.681, P <0.001).

Author's Conclusions.

In PCOS, adipose tissue has aberrant morphology/function. Increased waist-to-hip ratio indicates abdominal/visceral fat accumulation, but this is not supported by MRI. Enlarged adipocytes and reduced serum adiponectin, together with a large waistline, rather than androgen excess, may be central factors in the pathogenesis/maintenance of insulin resistance in PCOS.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a low risk of bias in this study. Authors have used sound techniques to measure outcomes variables and have noted missing data points. A detailed explanation regarding recruitment, inclusion/exclusion criteria and statistical analysis was provided.

Study: Micic D, Sumarac-Dumanovic M, Kendereski A, Cvijovic G, Zoric S, Pejkovic D, Micic J, Milic N, Dieguez C Cananueva F.F.,Total Ghrelin levels during acute insulin infusion in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome, Journal of Endocrinological Investigation. 2007; 30 (10): 820-827.

Description of study: (Case Control
Patient/population	Overweight (>25 kg/m ²) and lean (<25 kg/m2) women with PCOS, diagnosed based on the Rotterdam criteria.
N	Lean PCOS n=8 Lean Controls n=8 Overweight and obese PCOS n=8 Overweight and obese controls n=8
Setting	Not reported.
Intervention/exposure	N/A
Comparison/control	Overweight (>25 kg/m ²) and lean (<25 kg/m2) healthy women acted as controls.
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolism: Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp.
Inclusion Criteria	Control participants had regular menstrual cycles and showed no signs and symptoms of hyperandrogenism.

Exclusion Criteria	Thyroid, renal, gastrointestinal and congenital a Taking medicati	liver, or cardiovascular dysfunctions, previous surgery and type 2 diabetes, Cushing's syndrome adrenal hyperplasia. ion 3 months prior to the study.
Study Validity.		
Is it clear that there ar conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Not the reported this	Authors acknowledge support received (p. 826) but do not disclose any conflicts of interest.
Does the study hav clearly focused questio	ve a Yes	Research questions and rational are clearly stated.
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	y the Yes to	
Does the study specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have Yes	Inclusion/exclusion criteria are stated for both the PCOS and control group (p. 821).
If there were spec inclusion/exclusion criteria, were t appropriate?	ified Yes these	Eligibility criteria used to specify women with PCOS and controls were appropriate.
Were the cases controls taken f comparable population	and Not from reported ns?	
Was case and con status established in standard, valid reliable way?	ntrol Yes n a and	Women with PCOS were identified through the use of the Rotterdam criteria. Healthy control women did not present with any of the symptoms relating to PCOS – hyperandrogenism and irregular cycles.
Was case and con status established assessors blind to exposure?	ntrol Not by reported the	
Were the outco measured appropriate	end of the second secon	Outcomes measured were appropriate.
Was there suffic duration of follow-up?	cient Yes	All participants were without medication for at least 3 months before the study. Participants were not on calorie restriction diets or undertaking regular exercise.
Was the percentage each group (cases controls) who refused participate in the s reported?	e of Not and reported d to tudy	

Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Groups were similar in regards to key characteristic criteria.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size and power calculations were not reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	The number of participants who were excluded from the study, refused to participant, or did not complete the study was not reported.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Data was assessed for normality by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Relationships between variables were assessed by Pearsons' and Spearman's correlations tests. ANOVA was used to assess differences in means.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other	During the outcomes instead of the method	e data extraction process it was noted that some were reported as means and standard deviation means and standard error of means as indicated in Is section.
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

Fasting ghrelin was significantly lower in non-obese PCOS than in controls (64.74+/-25.69 vs 108.36+/-52.60; p<0.05) as well as in overweight and obese PCOS in comparison with controls (38.71+/-14.18 vs 98.77+/-40.49; p<0.05). Insulin infusion significantly suppressed ghrelin in all subgroups of investigated women. Analysis of variance for repeatable measures confirmed that there was no significant difference in pattern of response between PCOS and controls.

Author's Conclusions.

Women with PCOS had lower fasting ghrelin and decreased insulin sensitivity independently of their BMI, compared to the controls. In addition, there were no differences between fasting ghrelin levels among non-obese, overweight, and obese women with PCOS. During euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp, ghrelin decreased in all studied groups to a similar extent, implying that, compared to chronic hyperinsulinemia, acute hyperinsulinemia reduces ghrelin levels independently of the degree of insulin resistance.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias. We believe an error was made when data for the insulin clamp was reported – Mean and SEM are noted in the methods however, it seems that SD's were reported instead for M index, which is a key outcome.

Study	Morat	M Stattle	or D Dodioux E Coillord D C Weeber C
Study:	Wirth	nor D Giust	i V. Toppy I. Prolong F.P. Insulin Modulation of
	V II II Luteir	nei D. Olusi	one Secretion in Normal Female Volunteers and
	Luten	Polycystic	Overy Syndrome Patients Neuroendocrinology
	2009:	89: 131-139	ovary Syndrome Tatients, redroendoermology.
Description of study:	,		
Description of study.	Wor	non with I	PCOS (PMI <30 kg/m^2) diagnosed using the
r allent/population	Rott	erdam criter	rcos (BMI < 30 kg/III) diagnosed using the ia: (mean + SEM) are 24.4 ± 1.86 BMI 23.04 +
	1.92	Noticidalit citicita, (incali \pm 5EW) age 24.4 \pm 1.00, DWI 25.04 \pm 1.92.	
N	Lea	n women wit	th PCOS $n - 5$
1	Lear	n healthy Co	ntrol women $n = 5$
Setting	Out	natient gyna	ecological endocrinology clinic of the Lausanne
Setting	Univ	versity Hosp	ital.
Intervention/exposur	e Eug	lycaemic hy	perinsulanaemic clamp
Comparison/control	Lear	n healthy cor	ntrol women; age 21.2 ± 0.86 , BMI 21.28 ± 0.43 .
Outcomes	Antl	nropomertric	:: BMI
	Met	abolic: Insul	in sensitivity
Inclusion Criteria	Wor	Women diagnosed with PCOS based on the Rotterdam criteria.	
Exclusion Criteria	Con	trol women	; irregular menstrual cycles, personal or family
	histo	ory of end	ocrine pathology or taking oral contraceptive,
	horn	nonal or non	-hormonal medication.
Study Validity.			
Is it clear that there	are no	Yes	The authors acknowledge funding support from
conflicts of interest	in the		the Swiss National Science Foundation. No
writing or funding	of this		conflicts of interest were declared.
study?		**	
Does the study has	ave a	Yes	A clear research question was reported and the
clearly locused quest			comparisons between groups were appropriate
Is a case control stu	dy the	Vac	comparisons between groups were appropriate.
annronriate metho	d to	105	
answer this question			
Does the study	have	Yes	Inclusion/exclusion criteria have been reported
specified			and are able to discriminate between PCOS and
inclusion/exclusion			controls.
criteria?			
If there were sp	ecified	Partial	Inclusion/exclusion criteria have been reported,
inclusion/exclusion			however it is unclear whether women in the
criteria, were	these		PCOS group were excluded if they were taking
appropriate?			medication that affected outcome measures (e.g.,
			metabolism). It is also unclear if women in the
			control group were recruited with a BMI <30 k_{α}/m^2
			ку/ш .

Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations? Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Partial Yes	Women with PCOS were recruited from a gynaecological endocrinological outpatient clinic. This may unintentionally result in recruiting women with more severe symptoms of PCOS, which may confound results and be unrepresentative of the whole population. It is unclear how the control group was recruited. The Rotterdam criteria were used to discriminate between PCOS and control women.
status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcomes measured were appropriate to answer the research question.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Not reported	It is stated that participants were not taking medication that could affect key outcomes. However, it is not reported if participants stopped taking medication in order to participate in the study and if they underwent a washout period.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who were excluded from or who refused to participate in the study was not reported.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Participants had comparable characteristic criteria.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Adequate sample size calculations and power analysis for key outcomes were not calculated.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Yes	All individuals reported in the study were included in statistical analysis.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	All data was log transformed prior to statistical analysis using Student's t tests.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting? Other	Yes	All outcomes measured have been reported.
C MIVI		

What is the overall risk of	Moderate	
bias?		

Baseline LH secretion in PCOS subjects was significantly different from controls: they had higher LH levels, higher LH/FSH ratios as well as a faster LH pulse frequency than normal women. Insulin administration did not affect the pattern of LH secretion of PCOS patients, whereas it significantly increased the LH pulse frequency while decreasing the LH interpulse intervals in the controls.

Author's Conclusions.

These data confirm that an abnormal pattern of LH secretion characteristic of PCOS can be observed in lean patients, and appears independent of peripheral insulin levels. Furthermore, our results in lean controls provide the first direct evidence that peripheral insulin can modulate the activity of hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons in the human.

Our Comments/Summary. Difficult to make conclusions without caution due to the limited sample size. Women with PCOS were recruited from an outpatient clinic seeking treatment for endocrinological or gynaecological concerns. This may indicate selection bias as more severe symptoms of PCOS may be represented in this population.

Study: Laure C. Morin-Papunen, Ilkka Vauhkonen, Riitta M. Koivunen, Aimo Ruokonen and Juha S. Tapanainen, Insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, and metabolic and hormonal parameters in healthy women and women with polycystic ovarian syndrome Human Reproduction. 2000; 15(6): 1266-1274.

Description of study:	
Patient/population	Women with PCOS diagnosed by criteria equivalent to the Rotterdam criteria where divided into groups based on BMI status (obesity defined as BMI >27 kg/m ²). Obese PCOS; (Mean \pm SE), age 30.1 \pm 0.9 years, BMI 34.5 \pm 1.03 kg/m ² . Lean PCOS; age 28.9 \pm 1.2 years, BMI 22.9 \pm 0.3 kg/m ²
N	Lean Control n= 17 Lean PCOS n= 15 Overweight Control n= 17 Overweight PCOS n= 28
Setting	Women with PCOS participated in the study following referral to the Reproductive Endocrinology Unit, University Hospital of Oulu.
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp
Comparison/control	Lean control women; age 37.1 ± 0.8 years, BMI 22.7 ± 0.5 kg/m ² Obese control women; age 35.1 ± 1.2 years, BMI 31.8 ± 1.15 kg/m ²
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolic: insulin sensitivity
Inclusion Criteria	Control women with normal menstrual cyclicity (27–34 days) and normal ovaries as observed in transvaginal ultrasonography. PCOS women were included in the study if they met criteria equivalent to the Rotterdam criteria.

Exclusion Criteria	Diabetics, s	mokers, alcohol users and those using sex hormones or	
	other medication known to affect lipoprotein metabolism during the		
	2 months preceding the study were excluded. Late onset adrenal		
	hyperplasia	in PCOS subjects was excluded on the basis of a normal	
	serum 17-hv	/droxyprogesterone concentration (17-OHP <9 nmol/l).	
Study Validity.			
Is it clean that there as	Domtiol	Conflicts of interest have not been reported	
is it clear that there all conflicts of interest in	re no Partial	bowever funding sources have been	
writing or funding of	this	acknowledged	
study?	uns	acknowledged.	
Deeg the study has		A clean recease question with appropriate	
Does the study have	r^2 a res	A clear research question with appropriate	
clearly locused questio	11.	been used in this study	
T	41	been used in this study.	
Is a case control study	y the Yes		
appropriate method	10		
answer uns question:			
	h V		
Does the study	nave res	inclusion/exclusion criteria are clearly stated and	
specified		are able to discriminate between PCOS women and controls (p. 1266 1267)	
inclusion/exclusion		and controls (p. 1200-1207).	
	• 60 1 37		
If there were spec	cified Yes	Inclusion/exclusion criteria are appropriate.	
inclusion/exclusion			
criteria, were	these		
appropriate:			
Ware the second	and Dartial	Control warmen ware contacted through an	
were the cases	and Partial	control women were contacted through an	
comparable population	110111 xc2	advertisement in a local newspaper and rectured	
comparable population	15 :	after a phone conversation.	
		Women with PCOS were recruited following	
		referral to the Reproductive Endocrinology Unit.	
		University Hospital of Oulu, Women seeking	
		treatment for reproductive and endocrinological	
		concerns may have the more sever phenotype of	
		PCOS.	
		Some of the participants had participated in other	
		studies on glucose metabolism, and their data were	
		analysed retrospectively.	
Was case and co	ntrol Yes	The inclusion/exclusion criteria were able to	
status established i	n a	distinguish between PCOS and control women.	
standard, valid	and		
reliable way?			
Was case and co	ntrol Not		
status established	by report	ed	
assessors blind to	the		
exposure?			

Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcomes measured were appropriate to answer the research question. Intra and inter-assay coefficients of variation were 1.3 and 1.5% for SHBG respectively, 4.9 and 6.5% for LH, 3.8 and 4.3% for FSH and 5.6% for testosterone (p. 1268).
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Not reported	It is noted that participants did not use any medication. However, whether participants were previously taking mediation that affects endpoint measures is unclear.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who refused to participate in the study not reported.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Key baseline characteristics were comparable between groups.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	Dropout rates are not reported.
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size and power calculations for important outcome variables have not been reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	The number of missing data points or any participants not included in the analysis has not been reported. However, the table of results indicates that all participants reported in the study were included in analysis.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Authors report that student's two-tailed t-test was used for comparison of normally distributed variables, with or without log transformation. The Mann–Whitney U-test was used for variables with a persisting skewed distribution after log transformation. A linear regression method was used to identify the influence of age on variables in the control and PCOS groups. If the level of significance was <0.05, covariance analysis was carried out to evaluate the impact of this variable on the results (p. 1268).
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All planned and measured outcomes have been reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

The women with PCOS had a higher mean WHR than the controls. A trend towards hyperinsulinaemia and impairment of insulin sensitivity was observed in lean women with PCOS, but only in obese PCOS participants were these changes significant. Early phase insulin secretion but not the early phase C-peptide secretion was increased in women with PCOS compared to controls, suggesting that peripheral hyperinsulinaemia in PCOS women was mainly due to the observed lowered hepatic insulin extraction and insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. Moreover, the presence of a family history of type 2 diabetes did not affect early phase insulin or C-peptide secretion in the PCOS group.

Author's Conclusions.

Authors conclude that a marked impairment of insulin sensitivity in obese women with PCOS was observed. There was also a tendency towards decreased insulin sensitivity in lean women with PCOS subjects, but only in obese women did these changes become statistically significant, suggesting that obesity, and particularly abdominal obesity, is an important contributor to the development of insulin resistance in PCOS. Whether the hyperinsulinaemia of these patients is secondary to a primary impairment of insulin action, to primarily increased abdominal obesity, or to an initial defect in β -cell function, could not be solved by this study and needs further investigation.

Our Comments/Summary.

There appears to be selection bias in the PCOS group.

Study: Nikolajuk A, Kowalska I, Karczewska-Kupczewska M, Adamska A, Otziomek E, Wolczynski S, Kinalska I, Gorska M, Straczkowski M., Serum soluble glycoprotein 130 concentration is inversely related to insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, Diabetes. 2010; 59: 1026-1029.

Description of study:			
Patient/population	Lean PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 24.11 \pm 3.94 years, BMI 21.71 \pm 1.81 kg/m ² Overweight PCOS; age 25.6 \pm 5.57 years, BMI 31.46 \pm 4.34 kg/m ² Obesity defined by BMI >25 kg/m ² PCOS diagnosed using the Rotterdam criteria.		
	Lean PCOS $n = 35$ Overweight control $n = 16$ Overweight/Obese PCOS $n = 43$		
Setting	Participants with PCOS and obese control participants were recruited from Outpatient Endocrinology and Gynaecology Clinics. Lean control participants were mainly medical students and staff (reported elsewhere).		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic hy	perinsulinaemic clamp	
Comparison/control	Lean women; ag Overweight wor	ge 26.33 ± 5.56 years, BMI 22.19 ± 1.92 men; age 27.44 ± 5.27 years, BMI 30.66 ± 4.37	
Outcomes	Anthropometry: BMI Metabolism: Euglycaemic-Hyperinsuliaemic clamp.		
Inclusion Criteria	Controls were healthy with regular menstrual cycles.		
Exclusion Criteria	Morbid Obesity (BMI >40 kg/m ²). Cardiovascular disease, hypertension, infections or other serious medical problems, smoking and taking anti-inflammatory medication or medication know to affect glucose and lipid metabolism.		
Study Validity.			
Is it clear that there an conflicts of interest ir writing or funding of study?	re no Yes 1 the 1 this	Authors acknowledge funding sources and 'no potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article were reported' (p. 1029).	
Does the study hav clearly focused questio	7e a Yes n?	The research questions in clearly stated and appropriate populations and outcomes were studied.	
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	y the Yes to		

Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Partial	It is reported that 'none of the women had morbid obesity (BMI >40 kg/m ²), cardiovascular disease, hypertension, infections, or other serious medical problems; all were non-smokers, and they were not taking any anti-inflammatory drugs and drugs known to affect glucose and lipid metabolism' (p. 1027). It is unclear whether inclusion/exclusion criteria were determined <i>a priori</i> .
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Yes	Inclusion/exclusion criteria used were appropriate to answer the research question and to discriminate between women with PCOS and controls.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Partial	Women with PCOS and participants who were overweight/obese were recruited through Outpatient Endocrinology and Gynaecology Clinics. Bias may exist with this recruitment strategy as women seeking treatment may have more severe symptoms of PCOS and obesity.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Inclusion and exclusion criteria ensured that cases and controls were allocated to appropriate groups during the screening process.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	Outcomes were measured appropriately and important to answer study aims
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Partial	Participants were not taking anti-inflammatory drugs or drugs known to affect glucose and lipid metabolism. It is unclear whether participants ceased medication prior to commencing the study.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who were excluded from the study or who did not complete the study was not reported
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	The groups were comparable for age and divided based on PCOS status and BMI.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	

Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	It is unclear whether the study was sufficiently powered to detect differences between groups. Sample size and power calculations were not reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	Exclusion or dropout rates have not been reported.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Statistical analysis performed is deemed appropriate. Variables were log-transformed if they were not normally distributed. The differences between groups were estimated with factorial ANOVA, with PCOS status and obesity as categorical factors and the studied parameters as dependent variables. The relationships between variables were studied with the Pearson product- moment correlation analysis and with multiple regression analysis (p. 1826).
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Moderate	

Both obesity and PCOS were characterized by an increased sgp130 (P < 0.0001 and P = 0.0002, respectively). sIL-6R concentration was lower (P = 0.0036) in women with PCOS independently of obesity. Serum sgp130 was negatively correlated with insulin sensitivity when control and PCOS women were analysed together (r = -0.36, P < 0.0001) and in the PCOS subjects separately (r = -0.34, P = 0.002). In multiple regression analysis, this correlation was significant after adjustment for BMI, waist, percent of body fat, postload glucose and insulin, triglycerides, and high-sensitive C-reactive protein.

Author's Conclusions.

Serum sgp130 is inversely and independently associated with insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS. An increased serum sgp130 in obesity and PCOS suggests an inhibition of intracellular gp130 signaling in insulin-resistant conditions.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a medium risk of bias due to recruitment method. It is unclear whether inclusion/exclusion criteria a priori decision.

Study: Oh JY, Lee JA, Lee H, Oh JE, Sung YA and Chung H., Serum C-reative protein levels in normal-weight polycystic ovary syndrome, Korean J International Medicine. 2009; 24:350-355.

Description of study:Patient/populationLean women with PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 25 \pm 1 years, BMI 20.8 $\pm 0.2 \text{ kg/m}^2$ Lean defined as a BMI <23 kg/m²</td>PCOS diagnosed by the NIH criteria.

Ν	Lean PCOS $n = 39$ Healthy Controls $n = 24$			
Setting	Not r	Not reported.		
Intervention/exposure	Eugl	Euglycaemic hyperinsuliaemic clamp		
Comparison/control	Lean	women; ag	ge 26 ± 1 years, BMI 19.9 ± 0.3	
Outcomes	Anth Meta hype	Anthropometry: BMI Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity measured by euglycaemic- hyperinsulinaemic clamp.		
Inclusion Criteria	Lean accor Wom	women, Barding to the nen diagnos	MI <23 kg/m ²). The degree of obesity was classified Asia-Pacific perspective. ed with PCOS using the NIH criteria.	
Exclusion Criteria	Cont Spec hype	rol women ific disore rplasia, hyp	with a family history of diabetes or PCOS. ders such as adult-onset congenital adrenal perprolactinemia, and androgen-secreting neoplasia.	
Study Validity.				
Is it clear that there a conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no n the f this	Not reported	A funding source for the study has been reported (p. 354), however, no conflict of interest statement is provided.	
Does the study ha clearly focused questio	ve a on?	Yes	The study has a clear research question and has included appropriate participants and outcome measures.	
Is a case control stud appropriate method answer this question?	y the to	Yes		
Does the study specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have	Partial	The study details criteria relating to BMI and PCOS diagnosis, however it is unclear if they were an <i>a priori</i> decision.	
If there were spe inclusion/exclusion cri were these appropriate	cified teria, e?	Partial	Inclusion/exclusion criteria detailed in the study were appropriate to answer key research questions. However, authors have not reported whether participants ceased medication effecting important outcomes measures.	
Were the cases controls taken comparable population	and from ns?	Not reported	The method of recruitment is not reported. It is unclear if participants were selected from comparable populations.	
Was case and control s established in a stan valid and reliable way	status dard, ?	Yes	The NIH criteria were used to establish women with PCOS.	
Was case and control s established by asse blind to the exposure?	status essors	Not reported		
Were the outc measured appropriate	comes ?	Yes	Outcomes measured were appropriate.	

Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Not reported	It is not known if participants were taking medication that may affect key endpoint measures.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of women who declined to participate in the study has not been reported.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partial	Groups were comparable in age but the PCOS group has a higher BMI compared to the control group.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size and power calculations have not been provided.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	Missing data points or excluded participants were not reported. However, it seems likely that all recruited participants were included in statistical analysis.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	Data showing a skewed distribution were logarithmically transformed prior to statistical analysis. Data are expressed as the mean± standard deviation, unless otherwise stated. An unpaired <i>t</i> - test was used for comparison of continuous variables between PCOS and control groups. A multivariate general linear model was applied for comparisons between two groups after adjusting for specific variables. Linear correlations were examined using Pearson's correlation. A multiple regression analysis was performed to determine which variables predict serum hsCRP levels (p. 351-352).
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Partial	It is reported in the methods section that LH and FSH were analysed, however these outcomes are not reported in the results section either in text or tabulated.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	High	

Serum hsCRP concentrations were higher in women with PCOS than in healthy controls. However, this difference was no longer significant after adjusting for body mass index (BMI). hsCRP levels were correlated with waist circumference (r=0.46, p<0.01), BMI (r=0.46, p<0.01), visceral fat area (r=0.45, p<0.01), and systolic (r=0.42, p<0.05) and diastolic blood pressure (r=0.39, p<0.05). hsCRP also tended to be negatively associated with insulinmediated glucose uptake (IMGU) (r=-0.31, p=0.07). A multiple regression analysis revealed that BMI (β =0.29, p<0.05), systolic blood pressure (β =0.39, p<0.01), and IMGU (β =-0.31, p<0.05) predicted serum hsCRP levels in women with PCOS.

Author's Conclusions.

PCOS by itself does not seem to be associated with increased hsCRP levels, whereas known CVD risk factors affect serum hsCRP levels in PCOS.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a high risk of bias. Recruitment strategy is not described and selective outcome reporting exists.

Study: <u>Ovesen</u> P, <u>Moller</u> J, <u>Ingerslev</u> H J, <u>Jørgensen</u> J O, <u>Mengel</u> A, <u>Schmitz</u> O, <u>Alberti</u> KG and <u>Moller</u> N, Normal basal and insulin-stimulated fuel metabolism in lean women with the polycystic ovary syndrome, Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 1993; 77: 1636-1640.

Description of study:				
Patient/population	Lean women w kg/m ² PCOS d criteria.	ith PCOS; age, 27.1 ± 2.0 years, BMI 22.2 ± 0.78 liagnosed by criteria equivalent to the Rotterdam		
Ν	PCOS $n = 7$ Control $n = 7$	PCOS $n = 7$ Control $n = 7$		
Setting	Not reported.			
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hy	perinsulinaemic clamp		
Comparison/control	Lean healthy wo	omen; age 25.7 ± 1.4 years; BMI 21.3 ± 0.69 kg/m ²		
Outcomes	Anthropometric Metabolic: In clamp	: BMI sulin sensitivity euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic		
Inclusion Criteria	Control participlevels.	pants with regular menses and normal androgen		
Exclusion Criteria	Taking hormona	al medications at least 6 weeks prior to the study.		
Study Validity.				
Is it clear that there a conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Not n the reported f this	It is unclear whether there are any conflicts of interest as they are not reported.		
Does the study ha clearly focused questio	ve a Yes	The research question has been reported and the population and outcomes studied are appropriate to answer the research question.		

Is a case control study the	Yes	
appropriate method to		
answer this question?	5 1 1	
Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Partial	The study details inclusion/exclusion criteria but it is unclear whether they were defined <i>a priori</i> .
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Partial	Participants were not taking hormonal medication for at least 6 weeks prior to the study. However, 6 weeks may not be sufficient time to eliminate the effects of medication on key outcomes measures including insulin sensitivity.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	Recruitment methods were not reported; therefore conclusions regarding population sampled cannot be established.
		It is reported in the acknowledgements that some participants were enrolled in the study based on referral from doctors. These women may have a more severe form of PCOS as they are seeking treatment.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Criteria equivalent to the Rotterdam criteria were used to diagnosed women with PCOS. These criteria are sufficient to distinguish between women with PCOS and controls.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	The outcomes measured are appropriate to answer the research question.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	No	Participants ceased medication that may affect key endpoints 6 weeks before study commencement. This may not be sufficient time for the body to return to normal homeostatic conditions.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	No	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	The groups were comparable for age, BMI and free fat mass.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	

Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size and power calculations were not provided. These calculations would be beneficial due to the small sample size.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	An unpaired t-test was used to compare group means (p. 1637).
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All planned outcomes have been measured and reported.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	High	

In the basal state, comparable metabolic indices were recorded: serum insulin, 35.9 ± 7.7 (PCOS) vs. 37.3 ± 2.87 pmol/L (controls); plasma C-peptide, 364.1 ± 66.2 vs. 397.2 ± 66.2 pmol/L; plasma glucose, 4.95 ± 0.09 vs. 4.77 ± 0.09 mmol/L; forearm arterio-venous difference in glucose, 0.17 ± 0.04 vs. 0.15 ± 0.07 mmol/L; isotopically determined endogenous glucose production, 1.9 ± 0.1 vs. 2.0 ± 0.1 mg/kg.min; and serum nonesterified fatty acids, $545 \pm /-40$ vs. 617 ± 54 mumol/L (all P > 0.05). During the clamp endogenous glucose production was similar (-0.9 ± 0.1 vs. -0.5 ± 0.2 mg/kg.min; amount of exogenous glucose necessary to maintain euglycemia, 4.0 ± 0.4 vs. 3.8 ± 0.5 mg/kg.min.

Author's Conclusions.

By showing normal basal and insulin-stimulated substrate metabolism in lean hyperandrogenemic PCOS patients, these data suggest that insulin resistance may be an epiphenomenon, rather than a primary feature of PCOS.

Our Comments/Summary

There is a high risk of bias due to small sample size, insufficient washout period for medications and recruitment strategy not reported.

Study: Park KH, Kim JY, Ahn CW, Song YD, Lim SK, Lee HC, Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and insulin resistance, International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2001; 74: 261-267.		
Description of study:		
Patient/population	Women with PCOS; (mean \pm SEM) age 25.0 \pm 4.1 years, BMI 26.0 \pm 3.1 kg/m ² PCOS diagnosed by the NIH criteria.	
N	PCOS $n = 9$ Obese Type 2 Diabetes $n = 6$ (not used in meta-analysis). Control $n = 5$	
Setting	Clinic of the Severance Hospital.	
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp	

Comparison/control	Control group; age 31.0 ± 5.1 years, BMI 25.6 ± 2.40 kg/m ²				
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Nonfertility: Testosterone, LH, FSH, SHGB Metabolic: insulin sensitivity measured by euglycaemic- hyperinsulinaemic clamp				
Inclusion Criteria	PCOS, without g oral glucose to	glucose intolerance or diabetes confirmed by the 75- plerance test (OGTT)			
Exclusion Criteria	Control: Diabeti	ic			
Study Validity.					
Is it clear that there are no Not reported writing or funding of this study?		It is unclear whether a conflict of interest is present. Funding sources and affiliations are not reported.			
Does the study have clearly focused question	ve a Yes n?	The research question is clearly stated and appropriate participants and outcome measures have been included.			
Is a case control stud appropriate method answer this question?	y the Yes to				
Does the study have Partial specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?		The study reports inclusion/exclusion criteria rating to PCOS diagnosis, however criteria are not specific in other areas; for example the age and BMI range is not reported and whether participants were taking mediation that affects insulin sensitivity during the study.			
If there were specinclusion/exclusion cri were these appropriate	cified Partial teria, e?	The inclusion/exclusion criteria were appropriate to discriminate between control and PCOS groups, however reporting of criteria needed to be more specific and detailed.			
Were the cases controls taken comparable population	and Not from reported ns?	Recruitment strategies are not reported.			
Was case and co status established i standard, valid and rel way?	ntrol Partial n a liable	The NIH criteria were used to discriminate between women with PCOS and controls. An oral glucose tolerance test or fasting glucose sample was used to assess glucose intolerance/diabetes. The oral glucose tolerance test was only used in the PCOS group.			
Was case and co status established assessors blind to exposure?	ntrol Not by reported the				

Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	The outcomes measured were appropriate to answer the research questions. The insulin clamp is the gold standard method for assessing insulin sensitivity. The coefficient of variation (CV) of blood glucose during the last 60 min was less than 3% in all cases.
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Not reported	
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partially	The insulin sensitivity of the body fat matched controls, obese type 2 diabetes, and the PCOS group were compared (p. 262). The PCOS group was significantly older than the other groups.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size or power analysis calculations have not been provided. The small sample size may bias results.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	It is unclear if there were any missing data points or if participants did not complete the study.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	No	A t-test or X^2 test was used to compare variables between the three groups.
abbr obvince.		An ANOVA or ANCOVA (age) may have been more appropriate to compare three groups as it will minimise type 1 errors. Covarying for age would also account for the significant different in age between groups.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All outcomes that were mentioned in the methods were analysed and reported in the results.
Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	High	

Results are reported on page 263-265. Women with PCOS showed significantly elevated insulin responses during OGTT, but their blood glucose levels were comparable with the controls. The subjects with PCOS had more insulin resistance than the other groups. There was no difference among the groups in terms of clinical characteristics and metabolic profiles, except age, LH, testosterone, and SHBG.

Author's Conclusions.

Authors conclude that PCOS women have significant insulin resistance which is independent of adiposity.

Our Comments/Summary.

Moderate to high. Small sample size, t test instead of ANOVA or ANCOVA. Insufficient information about recruitment and specific inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Study: Park KH, Choi Y, Lee HJ, Oh JY, Hong YS, Sung YA., Phenotypic characteristics according to insulin sensitivity in non-obese Korean women with polycystic ovary syndrome, Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2007; 77s: s233-s237.

Description of study:						
Patient/population	Lean women with PCOS; age 24.7 ± 3.9 y, BMI 20.4 ± 1.5 kg/m ² PCOS diagnosed using the NIH criteria. Lean defines as a BMI <23 kg/m ² , the Asia-Pacific perspective.					
N	Lean PCOS n = Lean Control n =	73 - 34				
Setting	Division of Endo Woman's Univer	ocrinology, Department of Internal Medicine, Ewha rsity College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea				
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic hyp	perinsulinaemic clamp				
Comparison/control	Normal control w Age 25.9 ± 3.3 y	women with regular menstrual cycles. ; BMI 20.9 \pm 3.2 kg/m ²				
Outcomes	Anthropometric: Metabolic: Ins clamp	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp				
Inclusion Criteria	Women with PCOS meeting the NIH criteria for diagnosis of PCOS. BMI $<23 \text{ kg/m}^2$					
Exclusion Criteria	Diabetes. Controls: Family history of diabetes or PCOS.					
Study Validity.						
Is it clear that there no conflicts of interes the writing or fundin this study?	ear that there are flicts of interest in ting or funding of dy?Not reportedStatements detailing any funding source conflicts of interests have not been reported					
Does the study hav clearly focused questic	re a Yes on?	The research questions is focused and justified. The appropriate populations and outcomes have been investigated.				
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	the Yes to					
Does the study l specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have Yes	Specific inclusion/exclusion criteria have been detailed (p. S234). However, it is unclear whether they were established prior to recruitment.				

If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate? Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations? Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Partial Not reported Yes	The eligibility criteria used were appropriate for the population. However, information regarding the recruitment age of participants and medication taken is not provided. It is unclear of the recruitment method for women with PCOS and controls. Recruitment of participants from hospitals instead of the general population may bias results. Women with PCOS were diagnosed using the NIH criteria. Furthermore, women in the control group did not meet the NIH criteria nor did they have a family history of PCOS or diabetes.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Not reported	It is not reported if participants ceased medication affecting important outcomes before beginning the study. A sufficient period of time would be required to 'washout' the effects of medication.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	There is a large difference between the numbers of women in each group. It is not known if this is due to difficulty in recruiting or participants refusal to participate.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Groups were comparable in regards to key characteristics including age and BMI.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size and power calculations were not reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Not reported	Results are presented with p-values, however the methods do not detail what statistical analysis was performed. It is also not reported if data is reported as means \pm SD or means \pm SEM
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	All planned outcomes were measured and reported.

Other		
What is the overall risk of bias?	Not enough information	

The fasting plasma glucose (p < 0.01) and post-glucose load plasma insulin (p < 0.01) of women with PCOS were higher than those of controls. Glucose disposal rate (*M*-value) was lower in women with PCOS compared to controls (p < 0.05). Insulin resistant (IR) and insulin sensitive (IS) PCOS were divided by the *M*-value of 25-percentile (5.5 mg/kg min) in controls. Between IR and IS groups, DHEAS (p < 0.01), post-glucose load plasma insulin (p < 0.05) showed differences after the adjustment for BMI.

Author's Conclusions.

Our non-obese women with PCOS showed significant insulin resistance compared to their age and BMI comparable control subjects and their insulin resistance may contribute to hyperandrogenism especially via adrenal androgen overproduction.

Our Comments/Summary.

It is difficult to determine risk of bias as not enough information has been provided on methodological quality to be able to determine risk of bias. The population sampled and recruitment strategy was not reported and therefore it is difficult to make generalisations. Statistical analysis was performed but not reported and authors do not report funding sources or conflicts of interest.

Study: Patel K, Coffler MS, Dahan MH, Yoo RY, Lawson MA, Malcom PJ, RJ Chang,. Increased Luteinizing Hormone Secretion in Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Is Unaltered by Prolonged Insulin Infusion, Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2003; 88(11): 5456-5461.

Description of study:	
Patient/population	Women with PCOS; (mean \pm SEM) age 28.6 \pm 0.6 y, BMI 35.3 \pm 0.8 kg/m ² . PCOS diagnosed using the Rotterdam criteria.
Ν	$\begin{array}{l} PCOS \ n = 11 \\ Control \ n = 9 \end{array}$
Setting	General Clinical Research Center at the University of California, San Diego.
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp
Comparison/control	Women with regular menstrual cycles were recruited into the control group; Age 26.3 ± 0.8 y, BMI 27.4 ± 0.7 kg/m ² .
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Nonfertility: Testosterone, LH, FSH. Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity by euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp
Inclusion Criteria	Control women had regular menstrual cycles. Women were diagnosed with PCOS based on criteria equivalent to the Rotterdam criteria.
Exclusion Criteria	Receiving hormonal medication for 3 months before the study.

Study Validity.		
Is it clear that there are no conflicts of interest in the writing or funding of this study?	Not reported	The study was funded by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development/NIH through cooperative agreement (U54 HD 12303- 20) as part of the Specialized Cooperative Centers Program in Reproduction Research and in part by NIH Grant MO1 RR00827. Any conflicts of interests are not reported.
Does the study have a clearly focused question?	Yes	The research question is clearly stated and appropriate participants and outcomes have been included.
Is a case control study the appropriate method to answer this question?	Yes	
Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Partial	The study details specific criteria for the inclusion of women with PCOS (Rotterdam criteria).
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Partial	Criteria were appropriate but more detail is required, for example age or BMI restrictions.
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	The method of recruitment has not been reported. It is unclear where women with PCOS were recruited from clinics or hospitals seeking treatment for endocrinological complaints, referred to the study by their doctor or the general population.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Women in the PCOS group were diagnosed with the syndrome using the Rotterdam Criteria. The control women had regular menstrual cycles and androgen levels within the normal range.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Hormonal medications that may affect important outcomes were ceased three months prior to the study. This period of time is likely to be sufficient to 'washout' the affects of the medication.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	The number of participants who refused to participate is not reported. Groups were nearly equal in sample size.

Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partial	In PCOS women, the mean (±se) age was 28.6 ± 0.6 y and not significantly greater than that of the normal control group, 26.3 ± 0.8 y. The mean BMI was significantly greater in PCOS subjects compared with that of normal women (35.3 ± 0.8 vs. 27.4 ± 0.7 , $P < 0.02$), whereas the difference in mean waist-to-hip ratio (0.88 ± 0.03 vs. 0.80 ± 0.06) failed to achieve statistical significance. Body mass may affect insulin sensitivity.
was there ≤20% drop-out?	reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size or power calculations have not been reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	All participants that participated in the study had their results analysed, however it is unclear if any participants did not complete the study or if data points were missed.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Partial	 Statistical analysis is reported on page 5457. A log transformation was applied when appropriate. To determine interaction between group and dose as well as main effects, two-group repeated measures ANOVA and analysis of covariance were used. <i>Post hoc</i> testing was done with a Bonferroni correction. Comparisons of mean baseline values between PCOS and normal women were performed using independent Student's <i>t</i> tests (SPSS 11.0 software, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Correlations among variables were analysed using the Pearson correlation coefficient method. It may have been more appropriate to conduct a statistical test to determine if insulin sensitivity was still significantly different between groups when BMI was taken into account. BMI may have a confounding affect on insulin sensitivity and therefore women with PCOS may have had lower insulin sensitivity at baseline as a result of obesity.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.

Other		
Risk of Bias	Moderate	

In the PCOS group, mean steady-state plasma insulin levels, $235 \pm 25.5 \,\mu$ U/ml, resulting from the hyperinsulinemic clamp were significantly (P = 0.02) higher than those achieved in normal women, $173 \pm 19.3 \,\mu$ U/ml, despite equivalent infusion rates and similar serum glucose concentrations (Fig. 1). Steady-state serum glucose levels were maintained between 85 and 90 mg/dl in both groups. The mean glucose disposal rate in PCOS subjects was significantly less (P < 0.02) than that found in normal women and indicative of insulin resistance.

Author's Conclusions.

These findings demonstrated that in PCOS women, LH secretion and gonadotropin responses to GnRH were not influenced by insulin administration. Insulin infusion had little effect on steroid hormone production with the possible exception of androstenedione. These results suggest that inappropriate LH secretion in PCOS is not a direct consequence of insulin resistance and compensatory hyperinsulinemia.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias. Some of the criteria have been fulfilled and the criteria that have not been reported (recruitment of participants, dropout rates, sample size or power calculations) may affect the conclusions of the study.

Study	y: Stepto	NK, (Cassar S, Joh	nam AE	, Hutchison	SK, H	Harrison C	L, Golds	tein RF, Te	ede
HJ,.	Women	with	polycystic	ovary	syndrome	have	intrinsic	insulin	resistance	on
eugly	caemic-h	yperin	sulinaemic c	lamp, H	uman Repro	oductio	on. 2013; 2	8(3): 777	7-784.	

Description of study: Cross-sectional				
Patient/population	Lean women with PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 27 \pm 4 y, BMI 23 \pm 2 kg/m ² .			
	Overweight women with PCOS; age 30 ± 6 y, BMI 36 ± 7 kg/m ²			
	PCOS diagnosed using the Rotterdam criteria.			
Ν	Lean PCOS $n = 20$			
	Overweight PCOS $n = 20$			
	Lean control $n = 19$			
	Overweight control $n = 14$			
Setting	Not reported.			
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp			
Comparison/control	Authors refer to previous publication			
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI			
	Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity by euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic			
	clamp			
Inclusion Criteria	Authors refer to previous publication			
Exclusion Criteria	Authors refer to previous publication			
Study Validity.				

Is it clear that there are no	Yes	The authors report that there are no conflicts of
conflicts of interest in the		interests (p.778) and funding sources (p. 783).
writing or funding of this		
study?		
Does the study have a	Yes	
clearly focused question?		
Is a case control study the	Yes	
appropriate method to		
answer this question?		
Does the study have	Partial	Authors refer to previous publication
specified		
inclusion/exclusion		
criteria?		
If there were specified	Yes	Authors refer to previous publication for
inclusion/exclusion		inclusion/exclusion criteria however, criteria are
criteria, were these		appropriate.
appropriate?		
Were the cases and	Yes	Cases and controls were both recruited through
controls taken from		community advertisements.
comparable populations?		
Was case and control	Yes	The Rotterdam criteria was applied to discriminate
status established in a		between cases and controls.
standard, valid and		
reliable way?		
Was case and control	Not	
status established by	reported	
assessors blind to the		
exposure?		
Were the outcomes	Yes	
measured appropriate?		
Was there sufficient	Yes	Medications affecting end-point measures were
duration of follow-up?		ceased three months prior to participation.
Was the percentage of each	Not	
group (cases and controls)	reported	
who refused to participate		
in the study reported?		
Were the groups	Partial	The overweight PCOS group was older than the
comparable with regards		three other groups.
to key prognostic		BMI was not different between the lean PCOS and
variables?		control groups or between the overweight PCOS
		and control groups.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not	
	reported	
Was the study sufficiently	Not	Sample size or power calculations have not been
powered to detect any	reported	reported.
differences between the		
groups?		

Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Yes	
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	The confounding effect of age and BMI on insulin sensitivity was accounted for.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
Risk of Bias	Moderate	

PCOS women were more insulin resistant than BMI-matched controls (main effect for BMI and PCOS; P <0.001). Insulin resistance was present in 75% of lean PCOS, 62% of overweight controls and 95% of overweight PCOS. Lean controls (mean \pm SD; GIR 339 \pm 76 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²) were less insulin resistant than lean PCOS (270 \pm 66 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²), overweight controls (264 \pm 66 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²) and overweight PCOS (175 \pm 96 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²). The negative relationship between BMI and insulin resistance reflected by GIR was more marked in PCOS (P < 0.0001) than controls.

Author's Conclusions.

Insulin resistance is exacerbated by increased BMI, supporting intrinsic insulin resistance in PCOS. BMI impact on insulin resistance is greater in PCOS, than in controls, irrespective of visceral fat, prioritizing lifestyle intervention and the need for effective therapeutic interventions to address intrinsic insulin resistance and prevent diabetes in this high-risk population.

Our Comments/Summary.

This study has a moderate risk of bias. Detail regarding inclusion and exclusion is missing and authors refer to previous publications.

Study: Svendsen PF, Nilas L, Norgaard K, Jensen JB, Madsbad S., Obesity, body composition and metabolic disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome. 2008; 23(9): 2113-2121.

Description of study:				
Patient/population	Lean women with PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 28 \pm 4.7 y, BMI 23 \pm 1.5 kg/m ² Overweight women with PCOS; age 29 \pm 3.9 y, BMI 33 \pm 4.0 kg/m ² PCOS diagnosed using the Rotterdam criteria.			
N	Lean PCOS $n = 17$ Overweight PCOS $n = 18$ Lean control $n = 9$ Overweight control $n = 16$			
Setting	Not	Not reported		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp			
Comparison/control	Lean women with normal menstrual cycles and androgen levels; age 30 ± 4.1 y, BMI 22 ± 1.4 kg/m ² . Overweight women with normal menstrual cycles and androgen levels; age 31 ± 5.4 y, BMI 33 ± 4.0 kg/m ² .			
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity by euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp			
Inclusion Criteria	Control women had regular menstrual cycles and normal androgen levels. Women were diagnosed with PCOS based on the Rotterdam criteria.			
Exclusion Criteria	Women with known chronic diseases. Women who had used oral contraceptives or other drugs known to alter glucose and insulin metabolism within the last 3 months.			
Study Validity.				
Is it clear that there a conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no n the f this	Partial	Funding sources are detailed (p.2120), however any conflicts of interests are not reported.	
Does the study ha clearly focused questio	ve a n?	Yes	The research question is clearly stated and appropriate participants and outcomes have been included.	
Is a case control stud appropriate method answer this question?	y the to	Yes		
Does the study specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	have	Partial	The study details specific criteria for the inclusion of women with PCOS (Rotterdam criteria).	
If there were spe inclusion/exclusion cri were these appropriate	cified teria, e?	Yes		

Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Yes	Cases and controls were both recruited through advertisements in the local newspaper.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Women in the PCOS group were diagnosed with the syndrome using the Rotterdam Criteria. The control women had regular menstrual cycles and androgen levels within the normal range.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Hormonal medications that may affect important outcomes were ceased 3 months prior to the study. This period of time is likely to be sufficient to 'washout' the effects of the medication.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Groups were age and weight-matched.
Was there ≤20% drop-out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size or power calculations have not been reported.
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	All participants that participated in the study had their results analysed, however it is unclear if any participants did not complete the study or if data points were missed.

If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Partial	Results are presented as mean \pm SD or SEM. A two-way ANOVA was performed to determine the effects of PCOS and obesity and a possible interaction between PCOS and obesity on insulin sensitivity index (ISI) and other variables. For comparison of subgroups, the Bonferroni method was used for adjusting P-values. A simple linear regression analysis was performed to investigate the role of androgens on body fat distribution (trunk/peripheral fat) and on insulin sensitivity (GDR, ISI and HOMA) and action (AIRg). Data on VLDL, HOMA-IR and DI did not follow a Gaussian distribution and were therefore log-transformed, and they were thereby approximated by the normal distribution. Levels of significance were set at 0.05%.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
Risk of Bias	Low	

When adjusted for obesity, PCOS was associated with higher 2-h glucose levels (P < 0.05), higher trunk/periphery fat ratio (P <0.001), lower ISI (P < 0.001), lower insulin-stimulated glucose oxidation (GOX 2) (P <0.05) and lower non-oxidative glucose metabolism (P < 0.05), but a normal acute insulin response to glucose (AIRg) compared with control women. Lean women with PCOS had lower ISI (P <0.001), GOX-2 (P < 0.05) and higher trunk/periphery fat ratio (P < 0.05) than lean control women. In obese women with PCOS, ISI was reduced with 25% compared with obese control women, whereas trunk/peripheral fat ratio did not differ. AIRg was increased in obese groups compared with lean groups (P <0.05), but was, in all groups, appropriate for the ambient action of insulin.

Author's Conclusions.

PCOS is associated with a low ISI, which in lean women with PCOS may partly be explained by higher trunk/peripheral fat ratio. AIRg was amplified by obesity, but was, in all groups, appropriate for prevailing insulin sensitivity, suggesting a normal β -cell adaptation.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a low risk of bias. The study presents with sound methodology.

Study: Tosi F1, Dorizzi R, Castello R, Maffeis C, Spiazzi G, Zoppini G, Muggeo M, Moghetti P., Body fat and insulin resistance independently predict increased serum C-reactive protein in hyperandrogenic women with polycystic ovary syndrome. 2009; 161: 737-745

Description of study:			
Patient/population	Women with PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 22.4 \pm 4.1 y, BMI 24 \pm 4		
	kg/m ²		
	PCOS diagnosed by both the Rotterdam and NIH criteria.		
N	PCOS n = 50		
<u>а</u> , ".	Control $n = 35$		
Setting	Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism of Verona Hospital,		
Intervention/ovnesure	nary – a tertiary care academic medical center.		
Comparison/control	DML metched healthy memory as 25.4 + 4.6 - DML 22.4 + 5.2		
Comparison/control	BMI-matched healthy women; age 25.4 ± 4.6 y, BMI 23.4 ± 5.2 kg/m ² .		
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI		
	Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity by euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp		
Inclusion Criteria	Healthy nonhirsute women, without polycystic ovaries and with		
	Wor	nen diagnos	sed with PCOS based on the Rotterdam and NIH
	crite	eria.	
Exclusion Criteria	Androgen-secreting tumors, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, thyroid dysfunction, hyperprolactinemia, Cushing's syndrome, and diabetes mellitus were ruled out in all subjects		
	Wor	nen taking	metformin, oral contraceptives, or any other
	medications (including statins or acetylsalicylic acid) potentially		
Study Validity.	111100		
Is it clear that there a	e no	Yes	Authors report no conflict of interests and funding
conflicts of interest in	the	105	sources are detailed (p.744).
writing or funding of	this		
study?			
Does the study hav clearly focused questio	ve a n?	Yes	The research question is clearly stated and appropriate participants and outcomes have been included.
Is a case control study appropriate method answer this question?	y the to	Yes	
Does the study	have	Yes	
specified			
criteria?			
If there were spec	ified	Yes	
inclusion/exclusion	hore		
appropriate?	mese		
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	No	Women with PCOS were recruited by referrals to the Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism of Verona Hospital for hirsutism and/or hyperandrogenic oligoamenorrhea were included in the study. The control group included women referred to the outpatient clinic of the same medical center for simple obesity. It is unclear how lean control volunteers were recruited.	
---	-----------------	---	
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Women in the PCOS group were diagnosed with the syndrome using the Rotterdam and NIH Criteria. The control women had regular menstrual cycles and androgen levels within the normal range.	
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported		
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes		
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Hormonal medications that may affect important outcomes were ceased 6 months prior to the study. This period of time is likely to be sufficient to 'washout' the effects of the medication.	
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Not reported		
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partial	Groups were weight-matched, however the control group was slightly older than the PCOS group.	
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported		
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size or power calculations have not been reported.	
Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	All participants that participated in the study had their results analysed, however it is unclear if any participants did not complete the study or if data points were missed.	

If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Yes	ANOVA, followed by the Scheffé test for multiple comparisons, was used to compare groups of hyperandrogenic women and controls. Analysis of covariance was carried out to compare between groups CRP values and insulin sensitivity adjusted for age and BMI. Univariate and multiple regression analyses were used to correlate CRP levels with relevant hormonal and metabolic variables. In multiple regression analyses, age, fat mass, insulin sensitivity, and serum androgens (either free or total testosterone) or the PCOS status were included as independent variables. Additional independent variables were also included in some analyses, as indicated. Serum hs-CRP and other skewed variables were log-transformed before analysis to ensure normality of data and then back-transformed to their natural units for presentation in tables and figures.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
Risk of Bias	Moderate	

Results.

Hs-CRP concentrations were higher in PCOS women $(3.43\pm2.01 \text{ mg/l})$ than in HA subjects and healthy women $(2.43\pm1.04, P<0.005; \text{ and } 2.75\pm0.86 \text{ mg/l}, P<0.05$ respectively versus PCOS). In multiple regression analyses, increased serum hs-CRP was independently predicted by higher body fat and lower insulin sensitivity. However, in lean women, serumfree testosterone was an additional, negative, predictive variable. Insulin-mediated glucose uptake in the glucose clamp was significantly lower in both groups of hyperandrogenic women (PCOS 10.3±2.8, HA 11.8±3.0mg/kg fat-free mass×min) than in controls $(13.9\pm2.8 \text{ mg/kg fat-free mass×min}, P<0.01 \text{ versus PCOS}, P<0.05 \text{ versus HA}).$

Author's Conclusions.

PCOS is accompanied by a low-grade chronic inflammation. Body fat appears the main determining factor of this finding, which is only partly explained by insulin resistance. At least in lean women, androgen excess per se seems to play an additional, possibly protective, role in this association.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias. The recruitment process could have biased results by recruiting women seeing treatments and therefore more severe symptoms of PCOS.

Study: Vrbĺková J, Cibula D, Dvořáková K, Stanická S, Šindelka G, Hill M, Fanta M, Vondra K, and Škrha J., Insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. 2004; 89(6): 2942-2945.

Description of study:				
Patient/population	Lean women with PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 24.2 \pm 4.6 y, BMI 21.5 \pm 1.8kg/m ² Obese women with PCOS; age 26.2 \pm 4.8 y, BMI 29.6 \pm 3.7 kg/m ² PCOS diagnosed by NIH criteria.			
N	Lean PCOS $n = 53$ Overweight PCOS $n = 30$ Control $n = 15$			
Setting	Institute of End University in Pra	locrinology and the Faculty Hospital of Charles ague, Prague, Czech Republic.		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-hy	perinsulinaemic clamp		
Comparison/control	BMI-matched h kg/m^2 .	ealthy women; age 28.1 \pm 6.6 y, BMI 21.5 \pm 2.0		
Outcomes	Anthropometric: Metabolic: Insu clamp	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity by euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp		
Inclusion Criteria	Women with PCOS were in good health condition, without any other serious disorders. In one patient, cytologically benign nodular goiter was present; she was on thyroid-suppressive medication with TSH, 0.04 mIU/liter; free T_4 , 19 pmol/liter (normal range, 12–22 pmol/liter), and T_3 , 1.83 nmol/liter (normal range, 1.30–3.10 nmol/liter). None of the patients had taken oral contraceptives or any other steroid or glucose-metabolism-affecting medication during the preceding 3 months			
Exclusion Criteria	Women with epilepsy or migraine. In all patients, 17-OH-progesterone was determined in the early follicular phase of their cycle, and if levels were between 5 and 10 nmol/liter, an ACTH test was undergone to exclude late-onset congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Hyperprolactinemia (prolactin levels), hypercortisolism (plasma cortisol, and, if necessary, urinary cortisol excretion per 24 h or short dexamethasone suppression test with 1 mg of dexamethasone at 2200–2300 h), and thyroid dysfunction (TSH, free T ₄ , antithyroglobulin, and anti-thyroid- peroxidase antibodies) were excluded.			
Study Validity.	*			
Is it clear that there an conflicts of interest in writing or funding of study?	re no Partial the this	Funding sources are detailed (p.2944), however authors have not provided a conflict of interest statement.		
the study have a Yes The research question is clearly stated appropriate participants and outcomes have b included.				

Is a case control study the appropriate method to answer this question?	Yes	
Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Yes	
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Yes	
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	No	Women in the control group were recruited from the healthcare personnel of the hospital and their acquaintances.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Women in the PCOS group were diagnosed with the syndrome using the NIH Criteria. The control women had regular menstrual cycles and androgen levels within the normal range.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Hormonal medications that may affect important outcomes were ceased 3 months prior to the study. This period of time is likely to be sufficient to 'washout' the effects of the medication.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	No	
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Partial	Groups were weight-matched, however the control group was slightly older than the PCOS group.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size or power calculations have not been reported.

Were all individuals No included in the analysis?		Authors detail the number of participants that did not complete a study variable. 5 control women did not have LH data and 1-3 obese PCOS women did not have some hormonal measures.			
If statistical analysis was Yes undertaken, was this appropriate?		Kruskal-Wallis robust ANOVA was used for evaluation of the differences between controls, lean PCOS patients, and obese PCOS patients. The individual differences between the subgroups were evaluated by Kruskal-Wallis robust multiple- comparison z-value test. NCSS 2001 (Number Cruncher Statistical Systems, Kaysville, UT) was used for the calculations			
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported. However, there exists a discrepancy in the reporting of age and BMI of the control group. These variables are reported in two different palaces (subjects and methods section and the results section) and are not consistant.			
Other					
Risk of Bias	Moderate				

Results.

Basal blood glucose was significantly higher in lean and obese PCOS than in controls (P < 0.02). Basal insulin was significantly higher in obese and lean PCOS women than in controls (P < 0.000001). M was significantly lower in obese than in lean PCOS and controls (P < 0.02), and the same was observed for ISI (P < 0.0008). On the other hand, lean PCOS did not differ in M or ISI from controls. MCRI was significantly lower in obese than in lean PCOS (P < 0.03) and showed no difference between lean PCOS and controls.

Author's Conclusions.

Lean PCOS women are not more insulin resistant than healthy controls. Insulin hypersecretion, on the other hand, is present even in lean PCOS women.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias. The recruitment process could have biased results. There is also discrepancies in the reporting of data.

Study: Yang S, Li Q, M.D, Song Y, Tian B, Cheng Q, Qing H, Zhong L, Xia W., Serum complement C3 has a stronger association with insulin resistance than high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, Fertility and Sterility. 2011; 95(5): 1749-1753.

Description of study:				
Patient/population	Lean women with PCOS; (mean \pm SD) age 25.39 \pm 4.27 y, BMI 20.54 \pm 1.80 kg/m ² . Overweight/Obese women with PCOS; age 25.89 \pm 4.50 y, BMI 27.80 \pm 3.39 kg/m ² . PCOS diagnosed using the Rotterdam criteria. BMI defined as lean <24 kg/m ² and overweight/obese \geq 24 kg/m ²			
N	Lean PCOS $n = 37$ Overweight PCOS $n = 64$ Lean Control $n = 108$ Overweight Control $n = 8$			
Setting	Clinical Resea	rrch Center, China.		
Intervention/exposure	Euglycaemic-	hyperinsulinaemic clamp		
Comparison/control	Healthy age-matched women were recruited as controls. Lean controls; age 25.94 ± 2.73 y, BMI 20.57 ± 1.63 kg/m ² . Overweight/obese controls; age 25.75 ± 1.67 y, BMI 26.20 ± 1.57 kg/m ² .			
Outcomes	Anthropometric: BMI Metabolic: Insulin sensitivity by euglycaemic- hyperinsulinaemic clamp			
Inclusion Criteria	Control women had regular menstrual cycles and no clinical/biochemical hyperandrogenism. Women were diagnosed with PCOS based on criteria equivalent to the Rotterdam criteria.			
Exclusion Criteria	Use of hormonal medication within a month or medication that affect insulin sensitivity within 3 months of study commencement.			
Study Validity.				
Is it clear that there no conflicts of interest the writing or funding this study?	are Yes t in g of	Both conflicts of interests and funding sources have been reported (p. 1749).		
Does the study have clearly focused questio	e a Yes on?	The research question is clearly stated and appropriate participants and outcomes have been included.		
Is a case control stu the appropriate meth to answer this question	udy Yes nod 1?			

Does the study have specified inclusion/exclusion criteria?	Yes	
If there were specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, were these appropriate?	Yes	
Were the cases and controls taken from comparable populations?	Not reported	Women with PCOS were recruited from patients attending the Department of Endocrinology and the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of the First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. It is unclear how the control group were recruited.
Was case and control status established in a standard, valid and reliable way?	Yes	Women in the PCOS group were diagnosed with the syndrome using the Rotterdam Criteria. The control women had regular menstrual cycles and androgen levels within the normal range.
Was case and control status established by assessors blind to the exposure?	Not reported	
Were the outcomes measured appropriate?	Yes	
Was there sufficient duration of follow-up?	Yes	Hormonal medications that may affect important outcomes were ceased 3 months prior to the study. This period of time is likely to be sufficient to 'washout' the effects of the medication.
Was the percentage of each group (cases and controls) who refused to participate in the study reported?	Partial	It is noted that researchers failed to recruit and overweight or obese participants with PCOS to undergo an insulin clamp.
Were the groups comparable with regards to key prognostic variables?	Yes	Groups had similar age and BMI.
Was there ≤20% drop- out?	Not reported	
Was the study sufficiently powered to detect any differences between the groups?	Not reported	Sample size or power calculations have not been reported.

Were all individuals included in the analysis?	Not reported	All participants that participated in the study had their results analysed, however it is unclear if any participants did not complete the study or if data points were missed.
If statistical analysis was undertaken, was this appropriate?	Partial	 Statistical analysis is reported on page 1750. A log transformation was applied when data was not normally distributed. An ANOVA was used when analysis more than two groups; for post hoc analysis, Games-Howell tests were conducted in cases of heterogeneity of variance and SKN tests were used in cases of homogeneity of variance. Independent sample t-tests were used for comparisons between two groups. Correlations among variables were analysed using the Pearson correlation coefficient method.
		Multiple-linear regression.
Is the paper free of selective outcome reporting?	Yes	Planned outcomes were measured and reported.
Other		
Risk of Bias	Moderate	

Results.

Compared with controls, women with PCOS had a lower M value and higher C3 (1.37 \pm 0. 34 vs. 1.10 \pm 0.22 g/L) and hs-CRP levels (1.46 \pm 2.29 vs. 0.49 \pm 0.88 mg/L). In women with PCOS, C3 and hs-CRP negatively correlated with M value (r = -0.61 and r = -0.47, respectively). By regression analysis, C3 was found to have a greater impact on the M value (standardized coefficient $\beta = -0.24$) than did hs-CRP (standardized coefficient $\beta = -0.13$). After adjusting for body mass index (BMI), women with PCOS in the upper quartile were 4.30 times more likely to exhibit IR compared with those in the lower quartiles, whereas hs-CRP was not a statistically significant predictor of IR in women with PCOS.

Author's Conclusions.

Compared with hs-CRP, serum C3 might be a stronger inflammatory marker of IR in women with PCOS.

Our Comments/Summary.

There is a moderate risk of bias. It is unclear how the controls groups were recruited making generalization about results limited. No women in the overweight PCOS group underwent an insulin clamp.



Supplementary Figure 1 Scatter plot of the t-statistic associated with each study-estimate value contributing to the study-estimate random effect versus the log of the standard error of the effect.

Chapter 3 Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome have Intrinsic Insulin Resistance on Euglycaemic-Hyperinsulaemic Clamp.

Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in Thesis by Publication

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.



Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-

hyperinsulaemic clamp.

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

Name	Contribution %	Nature of Contribution
Samantha Cassar	70	Collected, analysed and interpreted data, wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Nigel K. Stepto	10	Involved with conception and design, analysis and interpretation of data, wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Anju E. Joham	2.5	Collected the data, undertook the critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication
Samantha K. Hutchison	2.5	Collected the data, undertook the critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication
Cheryce L. Harrison	2.5	Collected the data, undertook the critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

Dehesse E. Caldstein	2.5	Collected the data, undertook the critical		
Rebecca F. Goldstelli	2.3	revision for important intellectual content and		
		approved the final version for publication.		
		Involved with conception, design, analysis,		
Helena J. Teede	10	interpretation of data undertook the critical		
		revision for important intellectual content and		
		approved the final version for publication.		

DECLARATION BY CO-AUTHORS

The undersigned certify that:

- 1. They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
 - 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;
 - 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
 - 4. Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies,
 b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
 - 5. The original data is stored at the following location(s):

Location(s): Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University

and will be held for at least five years from the date indicated below.

	Dete
	 Date
Samantha Cassar	27/11/2014
Nigel Stepto	27/11/2014
Anju E. Joham	27/11/2014
Samantha K. Hutchison	27/11/2014
Cheryce L. Harrison	27/11/2014
Rebecca F. Goldstein	27/11/2014
Helena J. Teede	27/11/2014
<u> </u>	

3.0 Introduction

IR is implicated in the aetiology of PCOS and plays a central role in a range of conditions and clinical sequale including, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity, dislipidemia and ovarian dysfunction, which all relate to PCOS and are areas of public health concern. The aetiology of IR in PCOS is poorly understood contributing to the controversy over diagnostic criteria and optimal treatment strategies. This research informed the systematic review and meta-analysis conducted in Chapter 2, as no other studies provided prevalence rates of IR across different PCOS phenotypes.

3.1 Insulin Resistance in PCOS

The definition of IR is ambiguous and is often described as an impaired biological response to exogenous or endogenous insulin that results in disturbed metabolic and mitogenic (gene transcription, DNA synthesis) processes that cause tissues to become less sensitive to insulin resulting in hyperinsulinaemia to maintain euglycaemic levels (Anonymous, 1998, Muniyappa et al., 2008). Since the late 1980's many studies have reported some degree of IR in women with PCOS using various assessment techniques (Ciampelli et al., 1997, Ciaraldi et al., 2009, Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 1998, Dunaif et al., 1997, Ciaraldi et al., 1994, Morin-Papunen et al., 2000b). In early ground breaking studies, insulin sensitivity measured by an euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp was reported to be ~35% lower in women with PCOS compared to age and body composition comparable healthy controls (Dunaif et al., 1989, Dunaif et al., 1992). IR is documented to be present in 44% to 70% of women with PCOS when less sensitive surrogate markers are used (Ciampelli et al., 2005, de Paula Martins et al., 2007, Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012, Fulghesu et al., 2006). There is general consensus that overweight and especially obese women

with PCOS are highly likely to be insulin resistant and therefore should undergo OGTT screening regularly to detect an impaired response to insulin (Teede et al., 2011). When combined with PCOS, obesity has a synergistic and enhanced negative effect on the clinical features and IR in women with PCOS (Dunaif et al., 1989). Highlighting that obesity is an extrinsic factor that contributes to IR in PCOS.

The concept of intrinsic IR remains controversial, with some studies failing to demonstrate IR in lean women with PCOS (Carmina and Lobo, 1999, Mortensen et al., 2009, Azziz, 2004) using the highly sensitive insulin clamp technique. Others contest IR is mainly extrinsic and related to obesity. Intrinsic IR has been supported by recent mechanistic PCOS studies reporting evidence of insulin signalling abnormalities that are both unique to PCOS and BMI separately (Corbould et al., 2005, Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou, 2006). Heterogeneity in results may be related to differences in the diagnostic criteria for PCOS, with most studies to date using the NIH diagnostic criteria so the prevalence of IR in new phenotypes defined by the non-NIH criteria (Rotterdam criteria) is less clear (Moran et al., 2009).

Therefore, the aim of this chapter was to comprehensively examine the intrinsic and extrinsic IR in PCOS. To do this we investigated both the prevalence of IR and the impact of obesity in healthy women and women with PCOS and divided them into four groups: lean healthy controls, lean PCOS (intrinsic IR), obese controls (extrinsic IR) and obese PCOS (intrinsic + extrinsic IR) and used gold standard euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamps to assess IR and furthermore assess the prevalence of IR based on diagnostic criteria.

3.2 My Role

Chapter 3 consists of a large cross sectional study investigating IR in women with and without PCOS. I collected the data, independently biochemically analysed insulin concentrations using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent (ELISA) assay, statistically analysed and interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript. As a result of my contribution I am co-first author on this manuscript, which was published in Human Reproduction (Impact Factor 4.59, Q1 Journal).

Human Reproduction, Vol.0, No.0 pp. 1-8, 2013

doi:10.1093/humrep/des463

human reproduction **ORIGINAL ARTICLE Reproductive endocrinology**

Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemichyperinsulaemic clamp

Nigel K. Stepto^{1,2,3,†}, Samantha Cassar^{1,†}, Anju E. Joham³, Samantha K. Hutchison³, Cheryce L. Harrison³, Rebecca F. Goldstein ³, and Helena J. Teede^{3,4,*}

^ISchool of Sport and Exercise Science, Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia ²Institute of Sport Exercise and Active Living, Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia ³Women's Public Health Research, School of Public Health and Preventative Medicine, Monash University, Australia MMC, 242 Clayton Road, Clayton, Vic. 3168, Australia ⁴Diabetes and Vascular Medicine Unit, Southern Health, Clayton, Australia

*Correspondence address. Women's Public Health Research, School of Public Health and Preventative Medicine, Monash University, Clayton, Australia MMC, 242 Clayton Rd, Clayton, Vic., Australia 3168. Tel: +61-3-95-94-75-45; Fax: +61-3-95-94-75-50; E-mail: helena.teede@monash.edu

Submitted on September 24, 2012; resubmitted on December 12, 2012; accepted on December 18, 2012

STUDY QUESTION: What is the prevalence of insulin resistance (IR) and the contributions of intrinsic and extrinsic IR in women diagnosed with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) according to the Rotterdam criteria?

SUMMARY ANSWER: We report novel clamp data in Rotterdam diagnosed PCOS women, using World Health Organization criteria for IR showing that women with PCOS have a high prevalence of IR, strengthening the evidence for an aetiological role of IR in both National Institutes of Health (NIH) and Rotterdam diagnosed PCOS in lean and overweight women.

WHAT IS KNOWN ALREADY: PCOS is a complex endocrine condition with a significant increased risk of gestational diabetes and type 2 diabetes.

STUDY DESIGN, SIZE, DURATION: Using a cross-sectional study design, 20 overweight and 20 lean PCOS (Rotterdam criteria), 14 overweight and 19 lean body mass index (BMI)-matched control non-PCOS women underwent clinical measures of IR after a 3-month withdrawal of insulin sensitizers and the oral contraceptive pill.

MATERIALS, SETTING, METHODS: In an academic clinic setting, glucose infusion rate (GIR) on euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp was investigated as a marker of insulin sensitivity.

MAIN RESULTS AND THE ROLE OF CHANCE: PCOS women were more IR than BMI-matched controls (main effect for BMI and PCOS; P < 0.001). IR was present in 75% of lean PCOS, 62% of overweight controls and 95% of overweight PCOS. Lean controls (mean \pm SD; GIR 339 \pm 76 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²) were less IR than lean PCOS (270 \pm 66 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²), overweight controls (264 \pm 66 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²) and overweight PCOS (175 \pm 96 mg min⁻¹ m⁻²). The negative relationship between BMI and IR reflected by GIR was more marked in PCOS (y = 445.1 - 7.7x, $R^2 = 0.42$ (P < 0.0001) than controls (y = 435.5 - 4.6x, $R^2 = 0.04$ (P < 0.01)).

LIMITATIONS, REASONS FOR CAUTION: The study did not use glucose tracer techniques to completely characterize the IR, as well as the lack of matching for body composition and age.

WIDER IMPLICATIONS OF THE FINDINGS: IR is exacerbated by increased BMI, supporting intrinsic IR in PCOS. BMI impact on IR is greater in PCOS, than in controls, irrespective of visceral fat, prioritizing lifestyle intervention and the need for effective therapeutic interventions to address intrinsic IR and prevent diabetes in this high-risk population.

STUDY FUNDING/COMPETING INTEREST(S): This investigator-initiated trial was supported by grants from the National Health & Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Grant number 606553 (H.J.T., N.K.S. and S.K.H.) as well as Monash University and The Jean Hailes

[†] Authors contributed equally to this work.

[©] The Author 2013. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology. All rights reserved. For Permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oup.com

Foundation. H.J.T. is an NHMRC Research Fellow. N.K.S. is supported through the Australian Government's Collaborative Research Networks (CRN) programme. A.E.J. is a Jean Hailes and NHMRC scholarship holder. The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest associated with this manuscript.

CLINICAL TRIAL REGISTRATION: ISRCTN84763265.

Key words: prevalence of insulin resistance / BMI / visceral fat / hyperandrogenism

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) affects 12-21% of reproductive-aged women (March et al., 2010; Boyle et al., 2012) and has major reproductive (leading cause of anovulatory infertility) (Teede et al., 2011), psychological (anxiety and depression) (Deeks et al., 2010) and metabolic (increased type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular risk factors) (Moran et al., 2010) impacts, representing a substantial health burden (Fig. 1). On meta-analysis the risk of type 2 diabetes in PCOS is increased to 4.43-fold (OR, 95% CI 4.06-4.82; Moran et al., 2010, 2011) even after correcting for body mass index (BMI). Despite PCOS prevalence and health implications, the aetiology and ideal therapies for PCOS remain unclear. Insulin resistance (IR) is a central characteristic in the majority of affected women (Teede et al., 2007), driving both hyperandrogenism and clinical features. Underlying mechanisms of IR remain ill-defined (Teede et al., 2011), contributing to controversy over diagnostic criteria, and a lack of optimal therapies. Therapeutic strategies in PCOS



Figure I. Schema of the aetiology, clinical features and health burden of PCOS (reproduced from Teede *et al.*, 2011 with permission).

include medical therapy (metformin) (Meyer *et al.*, 2005), exercise (Hutchison *et al.*, 2011; Harrison *et al.*, 2012) and diet-induced weight loss, which all reduce, yet do not reverse IR and fail to optimally treat PCOS. In this context, greater insight into the aetiology of IR in PCOS is needed.

Since the sentinel publication by Dunaif et al. (1989) noting increased IR in PCOS, reported prevalence of IR in PCOS has varied widely, attributable to the arbitrary and inconsistent definition of IR, the variable and often inaccurate methodologies, the heterogeneity of PCOS and the evolving diagnostic criteria. The Rotterdam criteria include women with milder reproductive and metabolic features of PCOS and while theoretically IR may be less prevalent in women diagnosed via Rotterdam criteria, the prevalence of IR on clamps studies has not been reported (Moran and Teede, 2009).

While not useful in the clinical setting, euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamps remain the gold standard for research-based assessment of IR. Based on non-clamp data, prevalence of IR has been reported to range from 50 to 70% in women with PCOS (Carmina et al., 1992; Legro et al., 1998). Traditionally, this IR was attributed to obesity in PCOS (Rachon and Teede, 2010), yet it has been hypothesized that intrinsic or unique PCOS-related IR is present and is compounded by separate extrinsic or BMI-related IR (Dunaif et al., 1989; Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou 2006; Teede et al., 2007). The concept of intrinsic IR remains controversial in the setting of conflicting literature, with inadequate sample size and application of inaccurate methods to test IR (Dunaif et al., 1989; Mancini et al., 2009; Rabøl et al., 2011). Intrinsic IR has been supported by recent mechanistic PCOS studies including evidence of insulin signalling abnormalities with both unique PCOS- and common BMI-related abnormalities (Corbould et al., 2005, 2006; Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou, 2006). Prior work by our group suggests that intrinsic IR in PCOS may in part be related to selectively increased visceral fat deposition in overweight women with National Institutes of Health (NIH)diagnosed PCOS. To progress understanding on aetiology of PCOS, IR in PCOS needs to be examined in larger studies, using gold standard clamp methods, comprehensive analysis of visceral fat and needs to include women diagnosed by Rotterdam criteria and women across the BMI range.

In this context, we hypothesize that the majority of women with PCOS diagnosed via Rotterdam criteria will be IR and that PCOS involves both intrinsic PCOS-specific IR seen in lean women, compounded by extrinsic BMI-related IR in overweight women. We aimed to comprehensively examine both IR prevalence and impact of BMI across four groups: lean non-PCOS controls, lean PCOS (intrinsic IR), obese non-PCOS controls (extrinsic IR) and obese PCOS women (intrinsic + extrinsic IR), using gold standard insulin clamps.

Materials and Methods

Participants

Seventy-three premenopausal women with and without PCOS were recruited through community advertisements. The women were categorized according to PCOS status and matched for BMI. Categorization into BMI groups was based on the threshold BMI of 27 kg m⁻², as an *a priori* decision, as this is the inflexion point in the relationship between BMI and IR (Garca-Estevez et al., 2004) and as previously published by our group (Hutchison et al., 2011, 2012; Harrison et al., 2012). Diagnosis of PCOS was undertaken by expert endocrinologists (S.K.H., A.E.I. and H.I.T.) based on Rotterdam criteria with two of (i) irregular menstrual cycles (<21 or >35 days), (ii) clinical (hirsutism, acne) or biochemical (elevation of at least one circulating ovarian androgen) hyperandrogenism and (iii) PCO on ultrasound (Group, 2004). As this work expands on a previous smaller overweight PCOS study, the exclusion criteria and screening for other causes of hyperandrogenism have been previously described (Hutchison et al., 2011). The Southern Health Research Advisory and Ethics Committee approved the study and participants gave written informed consent. The clinical trial registration number is ISRCTN84763265.

Study design

At screening (3 months prior to testing), standard diet and lifestyle advice were delivered (Heart Foundation recommendations (www. heartfoundation.org.au)) and medications affecting end-points including insulin sensitizers, anti-androgens and hormonal contraceptives were ceased. Data were collected in the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle where feasible.

Clinical and biochemical measurements

Participants anthropometric assessments including body weight, height, waist and hip circumference and computed axial tomography (CT) scans for visceral fat assessments were conducted as previously reported (Hutchison *et al.*, 2011).

Insulin sensitivity was assessed by the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique as previously reported (Hutchison *et al.*, 2011). Briefly, the clamp was performed 72 h after a standardized high-carbohydrate diet prior to an overnight fast. Venous fasting blood samples were collected, analysed and stored as appropriate after arterialization. Insulin (Actrapid; Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark) was infused at 40 mU m⁻² min⁻¹ for 120 min generating an elevated, stable insulin concentration from 10 to 120 min, with plasma glucose maintained at ~5 mmol/l, using variable infusion. Glucose was assessed every 5 min and the glucose infusion rate (GIR) was calculated during last 30 min of the insulin-stimulated period and expressed as glucose (mg) per body surface area (m²) per min.

Stored blood samples were batch analysed for serum fasting glucose, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein(HDL) cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin and testosterone and glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) as previously reported (Meyer *et al.*, 2005). LDL and the homeostatic model IR assessment (HOMA) were calculated as previously described (Meyer *et al.*, 2005).

Statistics

All data are presented as mean \pm SD. Results are presented for 73 participants. Two-tailed statistical analysis was performed using SPSS for Windows 20.0 software (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) with statistical significance was accepted when $P \leq 0.05$. Data were assessed for normality and log transformed where appropriate and analysed using univariate

analysis of variance (ANOVA) (PCOS status \times body weight status) using age as a covariate. Correlations of BMI and GIR with the lipid profile parameters, and GIR with free androgen index (FAI) were determined using the Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient (*r*). Hierarchical linear regression was used to investigate the influence of visceral fat on GIR and to account for the significant age contributions to the accumulated visceral fat in all women. Split linear regressions were used to demonstrate the *a priori* distinction of lean and obese groups based on a BMI threshold of 27 kg m⁻² for the exacerbation of IR in the whole group.

Results

We confirmed the *a priori* BMI categorization into lean and overweight/obese women, based on a BMI cut-off of 27 kg m⁻², demonstrating a stronger impact of BMI on GIR equal to or above a BMI of 27 kg m⁻² across all groups (Fig. 2A). Specifically, all women with a BMI <27 kg m⁻² demonstrated that for every I BMI unit increase, GIR was 2.6 units lower ($R^2 = 0.005$ (P = 0.7)) compared with the 7.0 units lower for every BMI unit increase in women with a BMI \geq 27 kg m⁻² ($R^2 = 0.212$ (P = 0.007); Fig. 2A).

We analysed 34 overweight women (n = 20 PCOS and n = 14 controls with a BMI ≥ 27 kg m⁻²) and 39 lean women (n = 20 PCOS and n = 19 controls with a BMI < 27 kg m⁻²) with characteristics reported in Table I. The lean women with and without PCOS, and overweight women with PCOS were well matched for age (~ 28 years). Overweight control women were older than other groups (P < 0.001). Using age as a covariate, we noted that age did not influence outcome variables measured (P > 0.05) except visceral fat (P < 0.001).

Women were primarily Caucasian (68%), but the cohort also included women with a European (14%), Asian/Indian (12%) and a mixed race (6%) background. BMI, body weight, waist and hip circumference, fasting glucose, HOMA, HbA1c, triglycerides, HDL, LDL, LDL:HDL ratio, abdominal subcutaneous and visceral fat were significantly different between the combined groups of lean and obese women (main effect of BMI, P < 0.05; Table I) and were not clearly related to PCOS status. Overall, BMI and GIR correlated with triglycerides (r = 0.39 (P = 0.001) and r = -0.39 (P = 0.001)), HDL (r = -0.61 (P < 0.001) and r = 0.56 (P < 0.001)) and the LDL/HDL ratio (r = 0.53(P < 0.001) and r = -0.55 (P < 0.001)), respectively.

Testosterone was different between lean and overweight women with PCOS (main effect of PCOS, P = 0.001 and P = 0.04 respectively; Table I), and fasting insulin was different for lean and overweight women with and without PCOS (main effect PCOS, P = 0.04; main effect BMI, P < 0.001; Table I). Both BMI and PCOS were related to FAI (Table I, PCOS and BMI, P < 0.001, PCOS × BMI P < 0.05). IR was correlated to androgen status (FAI) where r = -0.44 (P < 0.001) and r = -0.52 (P < 0.001) for all women and women with PCOS, respectively.

IR is a continuous measure and is defined arbitrarily. We defined IR on clamp-derived GIR levels as less than the 25th centile of lean matched controls (non-PCOS specific World Health Organization (WHO) criteria) (Grundy et *al.*, 2004). IR as determined by GIR normalized to body surface area showed that overall PCOS women were more IR than BMI-matched controls, even after correction for age (main effect for PCOS and BMI P < 0.001; Fig. 2B).

Specifically, lean controls $(339 \pm 76 \text{ mg min}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2})$ were less IR than lean PCOS $(269 \pm 66 \text{ mg min}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2})$, overweight controls $(264 \pm 66 \text{ mg min}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2})$ and overweight PCOS $(175 \pm 96 \text{ mg min}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2})$, respectively (Fig. 2C). There was no significant difference in IR between lean PCOS women and overweight controls.



Also, overweight women with PCOS were significantly more IR than all groups including overweight controls (Fig. 2C). IR was present in 75% of lean PCOS, 62% of overweight controls and 95% of overweight PCOS (Fig. 3A). The increased IR in PCOS is highlighted by the frequency distribution curve for GIR which is shifted to the left in PCOS (Fig. 3B).

Lean PCOS phenotypes in this community-recruited study included 5/19 with NIH PCOS and 14/19 with Rotterdam PCOS only who did not meet NIH criteria. In the overweight women, 17/20 had NIH PCOS and 3/20 had Rotterdam criteria alone. All participants diagnosed with PCOS according to the Rotterdam criteria in both the lean and overweight groups had irregular menstrual cycles and PCO on ultrasound, with none having hyperandrogenism clinically or biochemically. Overall 53% of PCOS women met NIH criteria. IR was present in 70% of lean Rotterdam, non-NIH PCOS and 80% of lean NIH PCOS with both of these lean subgroups demonstrating lower GIR's of 279 \pm 74 and 248 \pm 41 mg min⁻¹ m⁻² compared with lean controls $(339 \pm 76 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ min}^{-1})$, respectively (P < 0.05). Once corrected for BMI, we noted insulin sensitivity for all women was different between controls $(301 \pm 89 \text{ mg min}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2})$ and both NIH (195 \pm 91 mg min⁻¹ m⁻², P < 0.005) and Rotterdam only (PCOS + irregular cycles) PCOS phenotypes (260 \pm 89 mg min⁻¹ m⁻², P < 0.04).

There was a negative relationship between BMI and IR (GIR; Fig. 2B), which is more marked in women with PCOS (PCOS $R^2 = 0.42$ (P < 0.0001) versus controls $R^2 = 0.04$ (P < 0.01)), with every I unit increase in BMI associated with 7.7 unit lower GIR versus the 4.6 units in control women (Fig. 2B). Visceral fat, a known major contributor to IR and assessed here via visceral fat area on CT, was negatively related to GIR, whereby after accounting for the unequal variance and age, visceral fat accounted for 39, 31 and 39% of the GIR variance overall (adjusted $r^2 = 0.390$; P < 0.001), in controls (adjusted $r^2 = 0.392$; P < 0.001) women, respectively.

Discussion

Here using gold standard clamp techniques, we confirm that PCOS women, irrespective of BMI, are more IR (Dunaif *et al.*, 1989, Ovalle and Azziz, 2002) and report novel data that the prevalence of IR in PCOS based on the WHO definition (<25th centile of GIR in healthy lean controls) is 75% in lean PCOS, 62% in overweight controls and 95% in overweight PCOS in a largely Caucasian population. Overall, we show significantly higher IR in lean PCOS women versus lean controls, supporting the hypothesis that a unique 'intrinsic-related

Figure 2. The relationship between BMI and IR as determined by the GIR in the last 30 min of the 120 min hyperinsulinaemic–euglycaemic clamp. (**A**) Scatterplot of GIR versus BMI where women are separated by BMI at the threshold of 27 kg m⁻² and associated regressions lines. (**B**) Scatterplot of GIR versus BMI where women are separated by PCOS status, with associated regression lines. (**C**) Mean GIR \pm SD data for lean control (*n* = 19), lean PCOS (*n* = 20), overweight/obese (ow) control (*n* = 14) and ow PCOS (*n* = 20) women. Groups defined by the ends of the horizontal bars were significantly different from each other (univariate ANOVA).

Clinical feature	Lean controls (n = 19)	Lean PCOS (n = 20)	Overweight controls (n = 14)	Overweight PCOS (n = 20)	P value main effect of PCOS	P value main effect of BMI
General characteristics						
Age (years)	28 <u>+</u> 6	27 <u>+</u> 4	35 <u>+</u> 4	30 ± 6	0.028	< 0.001
Height (cm) ^a	165 ± 7	166 ± 7	164 ± 4	164 ± 5	0.627	0.221
Body weight (kg) ^a	59 <u>+</u> 7	63 <u>+</u> 8	94 <u>+</u> 16	95 <u>+</u> 18	0.316	< 0.001
BMI $(kg m^{-2})^a$	22 <u>+</u> 2	23 ± 2	35 <u>+</u> 6	36 <u>+</u> 7	0.349	< 0.001
Waist (cm) ^a	71 ± 5	74 <u>+</u> 7	102 ± 14	101 ± 11	0.157	< 0.001
Hip (cm) ^a	85 <u>+</u> 7	88 ± 9	119 <u>+</u> 15	120 ± 14	0.329	< 0.001
WHR ^a	0.83 ± 0.04	0.85 ± 0.04	0.85 ± 0.10	0.85 ± 0.06	0.591	0.538
Insulin sensitivity						
Fasting glucose (mmol I ⁻¹) ^a	4.6 ± 0.3	4.5 ± 0.3	4.9 <u>+</u> 0.4	4.8 <u>+</u> 0.6	0.788	0.015
Fasting insulin (pmol l ⁻¹) ^{a,b}	24 <u>+</u> 9	26 ± 10	120 ± 60	172 ± 83	0.043	<0.001
HOMA ^{a,b}	0.8 ± 0.3	0.8 ± 0.3	4.4 ± 2.6	6.3 ± 3.2	0.143	0.044
HbAIc (%) ^a	4.7 ± 1.2	5.0 ± 0.1	5.4 ± 0.3	5.4 ± 0.4	0.439	0.002
Body composition						
CT abdominal visceral fat (cm ²) ^d	32 ± 20	35 ± 10	122 <u>+</u> 35	118 ± 59		
Log CT abdominal visceral fat ^a	1.45 ± 0.20	1.53 ± 0.15	2.07 ± 0.13	2.01 ± 0.25	0.257	<0.001
CT abdominal subcutaneous fat (cm ²) ^a	183 ± 69	234 <u>+</u> 71	550 <u>+</u> 169	535 <u>+</u> 175	0.635	<0.001
Hormonal status						
Testosterone (nmol I ⁻¹) ^a	1.7 <u>+</u> 0.5	2.1 ± 0.8	1.5 ± 0.8	2.6 ± 0.8	0.001	0.060
SHBG (nmol I ⁻¹) ^a	79 <u>+</u> 19	69 <u>+</u> 34	46 <u>+</u> 29	32 ± 11	0.070	< 0.001
FAI ^{a,c}	2.3 ± 1.0	3.5 ± 1.8	4.4 <u>+</u> 3.5	9.2 <u>+</u> 4.5	< 0.001	< 0.001
Lipid profile						
Cholesterol (mmol I ⁻¹) ^a	4.7 ± 0.6	4.9 ± 0.7	4.8 ± 0.9	4.9 ± 1.1	0.382	0.915
Triglycerides (mmol I ⁻¹) ^a	0.8 ± 0.6	0.8 ± 0.7	1.1 ± 0.3	I.4 ± 0.9	0.350	0.015
HDL $(mmol I^{-1})^a$	1.7 ± 0.4	I.7 ± 0.4	I.3 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.3	0.596	0.001
LDL $(mmol I^{-1})^{a}$	2.6 ± 0.5	2.9 <u>+</u> 0.6	3.1 <u>+</u> 0.7	3.2 ± 0.9	0.299	0.075
LDL:HDL ratio ^a	1.7 ± 0.6	1.7 ± 0.5	2.5 ± 0.7	3.1 <u>+</u> 1.4	0.086	<0.001

Table I. Clinical characteristics of lean (BMI <27 kg m⁻²) and overweight (BMI >27 kg m⁻²) women with and without PCOS.

Data are mean \pm SD.

BMI, body mass index; CT, computed axial tomography; FAI, free androgen index (([testosterone]/[SHBG]) × 100); HbA1c, glycosylated haemoglobin; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HOMA, homeostatic model assessment of IR; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; SHBG, steroid hormone binding globulin; WHR, waist-to-hip ratio.

^aData analysis used age as covariate due to the significant difference between groups.

^bStatistical analysis reported for the log-transformed data due to unequal variance.

^cPCOS × BMI interaction P < 0.05.

^dUnequal variance of data was log transformed for statistical analysis.

IR exists in women with PCOS'. We also confirm that extrinsic BMI-related IR occurs in both control and PCOS women and demonstrate that BMI has a more potent extrinsic IR impact than is seen in controls. On phenotypic subgroup analysis, we also demonstrated that 14/19 lean Rotterdam diagnosed PCOS women who had the PCO and irregular cycle phenotype without hyperandrogenism, and did

not meet NIH diagnostic criteria, still greater IR on insulin clamps than did lean controls. Finally, we report that unlike IR, lipid abnormalities appear to be primarily related to BMI and are not significantly related to PCOS status *per* se.

IR is defined as an impaired biological response to exogenous or endogenous insulin, reflecting disturbed metabolic and mitogenic



Figure 3. IR prevalence demonstrated by (**A**) box and whisker plots showing the median (central line), range (whiskers), 25th to 75th centiles (box) and individual outliers (dots) of the GIRs for lean control (n = 19), lean PCOS (n = 20), overweight/obese (ow) control (n = 14) and ow PCOS (n = 20) women with thresholds for IR in lean and ow PCOS women (WHO defined as below the 25th centiles of the lean control group) and (**B**) the shift in frequency to lower GIR in women with PCOS independent of BMI.

processes (Consensus Development Conference on Insulin Resistance (1998)). IR is a continuous variable measured with a range of different methodologies and defined based on controversial cut-off values. Studies on IR in PCOS rarely use gold standard clamp techniques and do not conventionally include a control group to define IR based on cut-offs in healthy controls, in a given population (Grundy et al., 2004). Given the important role that IR plays in PCOS and the high risk of type 2 diabetes, we have studied the prevalence of IR in lean and overweight PCOS women recruited from the community, using gold standard clamp methods and defined IR using WHO criteria as a GIR below the lowest quartile for the appropriate control population (Grundy et al., 2004). We also used an age-appropriate lean healthy group of women as the control group. In this context we present novel data demonstrating that overall 85% of women with PCOS were IR, with 75% of lean and 95% of obese women having WHO-defined IR. Overall our data show a

higher prevalence of IR in PCOS compared with other studies using clamps (Dunaif et al., 1989; Ovalle and Azziz, 2002; Rabøl et al., 2011), the insulin tolerance test (68-76%; Carmina et al., 1992) or frequently sample intravenous glucose tolerance test (53%; Legro et al., 1998) or indeed the ethnicity independent consensus of 50-70% prevalence (Ovalle and Azziz, 2002). These discrepancies in reported IR prevalence in PCOS across the BMI range cannot only be attributed methodological differences but also the lack of a consistent definition of IR and the variable use of control populations. Given the current data, in the context of previous literature, we conclude that IR is present in the large majority of women with PCOS independent of BMI. Understanding of the high prevalence of IR in this condition arguably reduces the heterogeneity of hormonal abnormalities that contribute to metabolic and reproductive consequences of PCOS and highlights the need for greater research into the mechanistic underpinnings of IR to progress the understanding of PCOS aetiology.

Conflicting results on the prevalence of IR in PCOS also stem from the evolution of the diagnosis of PCOS, from NIH to the Rotterdam criteria. Clamp data on IR in Rotterdam-diagnosed PCOS women compared with controls across the BMI range have not been published to date. Rotterdam criteria remain controversial, with the additional diagnostic criteria of PCO on ultrasound resulting in more women diagnosed with PCOS and in the inclusion of women with milder reproductive and metabolic PCOS features compared with those diagnosed by NIH criteria (Moran et al., 2011). However, we have previously demonstrated that Rotterdam, non-NIH PCOS cases still have metabolic abnormalities compared with controls (Moran and Teede, 2009). Here we advance knowledge in this area further by demonstrating for the first time that 70% of lean women diagnosed with PCOS on Rotterdam criteria, most of whom do not meet NIH criteria and who represent a milder reproductive PCOS phenotype, are still IR compared with BMI-matched controls and have a more severe metabolic phenotype than controls. Indeed subgroup analysis of the PCO and irregular cycle phenotype without hyperandrogenism (non-NIH PCOS), corrected for BMI, still had higher IR lean controls in the current study. Consistent with this finding, prior studies using less accurate measures of IR have shown that metabolic and endocrine differences including increased IR are present in women with irregular cycles and PCO (Welt et al., 2006), regardless of the androgen status, although these features may be milder compared with women with hyperandrogenic phenotypes (Dewailly et al., 2006). Another study using HOMA scores did not demonstrate a difference in IR between control and PCOS based on irregular cycles and PCO on ultrasound (Barber et al., 2007); however, insulin clamps used in the current study are a more accurate reflection of IR than HOMA scores. It appears that the more controversial Rotterdam phenotype of PCO and irregular cycles does have elevated IR when measured using accurate methods. As controversy over PCOS diagnostic criteria persists, this finding in lean women is important and suggests that even reproductively milder subgroups with PCOS do have IR and metabolic abnormalities independent of obesity. Clinical implications of this include the need to screen for metabolic complications in both NIH and Rotterdam-diagnosed women, across the BMI range (Teede et al., 2011); however, when to start and how often to screen using which tests still require further research including a better understanding of the natural history of PCOS including the different phenotypes of the condition.

PCOS-associated (intrinsic) IR has been proposed as a contributor to PCOS aetiology for over two decades, where significant IR was noted to occur independent of BMI (Dunaif et al., 1989). Others have suggested that there is a significant IR in lean PCOS women compared with lean controls (Li and Li, 2012). However, intrinsic IR in PCOS has been contentious with a lack of consistent results, potentially related to limited quality of the data including variable use of inaccurate methods to assess and define IR in PCOS (Mancini et al., 2009). The current study, using gold standard methodology and an internationally accepted definition of IR, demonstrates significantly higher IR in lean PCOS women versus lean controls, supporting the hypothesis that a unique 'intrinsic IR' exists in women with PCOS. In this setting, greater understanding of the underlying mechanisms and genetic basis for intrinsic PCOS-related IR is needed. Limited mechanistic IR research in PCOS suggests aberrant peripheral insulin signalling through insulin receptor substrate I in PCOS, compared with controls (Corbould et al., 2005, 2006; Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou, 2006). Other proposed mechanisms of intrinsic IR may include reduced mitochondrial biogenesis (Skov et al., 2007) and/or function (Rabøl et al., 2011), but the results thus to date are not supportive of this hypothesis (Hutchison et al., 2012). Further investigation into potential mechanisms is warranted to progress understanding of PCOS aetiology and to identify potential future therapeutic targets in this common condition. Indeed, current literature suggests that metformin, an insulin sensitizer, may be more effective in nonobese women with PCOS (Misso et al., 2013), suggesting that therapies may selectively target intrinsic and extrinsic IR differentially. Likewise, the impact of lifestyle intervention may primarily target extrinsic BMI-related IR in PCOS, with further research needed to clarify mechanisms of therapeutic action in PCOS.

Obesity is well known to increase extrinsic IR in the general population, with the impact of BMI on IR being more marked once BMI increases beyond 27 kg m^{-2} (Garca-Estevez et al., 2004). As we confirm here, obesity exacerbates IR in PCOS (Teede et al., 2007) with overweight women with PCOS having higher IR (Dunaif et al., 1989; Mancini et al., 2009; Hutchison et al., 2011). Our current data also highlight the novel finding that there is an increased impact of BMI on IR, in women with PCOS, compared with in BMI-matched controls. As visceral fat has been implicated in the aetiology of IR in in PCOS (Lord et al., 2006; Hutchison et al., 2011), we investigated if visceral fat accounted for the differences in IR between PCOS and controls. Our data demonstrated that visceral fat makes similar contributions to IR in PCOS as it does in control women, indicating that visceral fat is more likely a contributor to extrinsic IR and also showing that visceral fat is not the only driver of differences in IR between PCOS and controls. The impact of BMI and visceral fat on the interaction between extrinsic and intrinsic IR in PCOS is not yet well understood and warrants further research. Overall, increased BMI and increased visceral fat in PCOS reflect a significant health concern and the current data strengthen the argument for aggressive lifestyle intervention to prevent weight gain and induce weight loss to minimize associated extrinsic IR (Teede et al., 2011). Notably, the similar degree of IR in lean PCOS and overweight control women is consistent with the high risk of diabetes in PCOS, independent of BMI and reinforces the need for screening for glucose intolerance even in lean PCOS women (Meyer et al., 2005; Moran et al., 2010; Teede et al., 2011). In contrast, we did not observe a significant relationship

between lipids and PCOS status, with lipids primarily related to BMI status, again highlighting the need for aggressive weight management.

The strengths of the current study include a community-recruited cohort of PCOS women, the extension of PCOS diagnostic criteria to include those with Rotterdam-diagnosed PCOS, the use of the hyperinsulinaemic–euglycaemic clamp methodology with pre-clamp dietary control and the inclusion of healthy controls who were matched for BMI and were not taking any medication. Limitations include not using glucose tracer techniques to completely characterize the IR, and the lack of matching for body composition and age. Also there were proportionately more women diagnosed by Rotterdam, but not NIH criteria, in the lean compared with in the overweight PCOS group.

We report for the first time the prevalence of IR on clamp studies in women with Rotterdam-diagnosed PCOS, where 75% of lean and 95% of overweight women with PCOS are IR, based on WHO criteria, using age-appropriate lean healthy control women. We show that the overwhelming majority of women with PCOS are IR including those who are lean and those who meet Rotterdam criteria but not NIH diagnostic criteria for PCOS, specifically those with the PCO and irregular cycle, non-hyperandrogenic PCOS phenotype. Additionally, we confirm that IR is higher in women with PCOS in the presence of an inherent, intrinsic IR that is further worsened with increasing BMI and demonstrate a more potent extrinsic IR impact of BMI in PCOS compared with controls. Given the clinical implications of IR including a high risk of type 2 diabetes, future research is needed into mechanisms of intrinsic and extrinsic IR in PCOS and into novel targeted therapies. Potentially, lifestyle change may best manage extrinsic IR (Hutchison et al., 2011; Harrison et al., 2012) and pharmacological interventions, such as metformin, may best target intrinsic PCOSrelated IR: however, more research is needed.

Acknowledgements

Pathology was completed at Southern Cross Pathology. We would like to acknowledge Melanie Gibson-Helm, Nicole Ng and Associate Professor Benedict Canny for technical assistance with the study, and Sanjeeva Ranasinha who assisted with statistical analysis.

Authors' roles

N.K.S. and H.J.T. were involved with conception and design, analysis and interpretation of data. N.K.S. and S.C. analysed and interpreted data and wrote the manuscript. S.C., A.E.J., S.K.H., C.L.H. and R.F.G. researched the data. All authors undertook the critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

Funding

This investigator-initiated trial was supported by grants from the National Health & Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Grant number 606553 (H.J.T., N.K.S. and S.K.H.) as well as Monash University and The Jean Hailes Foundation. H.J.T. is an NHMRC Research Fellow. N.K.S. is supported through the Australian Government's Collaborative Research Networks (CRN) programme. A.E.J. is a Jean Hailes and NHMRC scholarship holder.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References

- American Diabetes Association. Consensus Development Conference on Insulin Resistance. 5–6 November 1997. *Diabetes Care* 1998; **21**:310–314.
- Barber TM, Wass JAH, McCarthy MI, Franks S. Metabolic characteristics of women with polycystic ovaries and oligo-amenorrhoea but normal androgen levels: implications for the management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol* 2007;**66**:513–517.
- Boyle JA, Cunningham J, O'Dea K, Dunbar T, Norman RJ. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a sample of Indigenous women in Darwin, Australia. *Med J Aust* 2012;**196**:62–66.
- Carmina E, Koyama T, Chang L, Stanczyk FZ, Lobo RA. Does ethnicity influence the prevalence of adrenal hyperandrogenism and insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1992; **167**:1807–1812.
- Corbould A, Kim Y-B, Youngren JF, Pender C, Kahn BB, Lee A, Dunaif A. Insulin resistance in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS involves intrinsic and acquired defects in insulin signaling. *Am J Physiol – Endocrinol Metab* 2005;**288**:E1047–1054.
- Corbould A, Zhao H, Mirzoeva S, Aird F, Dunaif A. Enhanced mitogenic signaling in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 2006;**55**:751–759.
- Deeks AA, Gibson-Helm ME, Teede HJ. Anxiety and depression in polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive investigation. *Fertil Steril* 2010;**93**:2421–2423.
- Dewailly D, Catteau-Jonard S, Reyss A-C, Leroy M, Pigny P. Oligoanovulation with polycystic ovaries but not overt hyperandrogenism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;**91**:3922–3927.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Papavassiliou AG. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Mol Med* 2006; **12**:324–332.
- Dunaif A, Segal KR, Futterweit W, Dobrjansky A. Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 1989;**38**:1165–1174.
- Garca-Estevez DA, Araujo-Vilar D, Saavedra-Gonzalez A, Fiestras-Janeiro G, Cabezas-Cerrato J. Analysis of the relationship between body mass index, insulin resistance, and beta-cell function: a cross-sectional study using the minimal model. *Metabolism* 2004; **53**:1462–1466.
- Group REACW. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 2004;**81**:19–25.
- Grundy SM, Brewer HB Jr, Cleeman JI, Smith SC Jr, Lenfant C, American Heart A, National Heart L, Blood I. Definition of metabolic syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. *Circulation* 2004; **109**:433–438.
- Harrison CL, Stepto NK, Hutchison SK, Teede HJ. The impact of intensified exercise training on insulin resistance and fitness in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol* 2012;**76**:351–357.
- Hutchison SK, Stepto NK, Harrison CL, Moran LJ, Strauss BJ, Teede HJ. Effects of exercise on insulin resistance and body composition in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:E48–E56.

- Hutchison SK, Teede HJ, Rachon D, Harrison CL, Strauss BJ, Stepto NK. Effect of exercise training on insulin sensitivity, mitochondria and computed tomography muscle attenuation in overweight women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetologia* 2012;**55**: 1424–1434.
- Legro RS, Finegood D, Dunaif A. A fasting glucose to insulin ratio is a useful measure of insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1998;**83**:2694–2698.
- Li W, Li Q. Dysregulation of glucose metabolism even in Chinese PCOS women with normal glucose tolerance. *Endocrine J* 2012;**59**:765–770.
- Lord J, Thomas R, Fox B, Acharya U, Wilkin T. The central issue? Visceral fat mass is a good marker of insulin resistance and metabolic disturbance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 2006; **113**:1203–1209.
- Mancini F, Cianciosi A, Marchesini Reggiani G, Facchinetti F, Battaglia C, de Aloysio D. Endothelial function and its relationship to leptin, homocysteine, and insulin resistance in lean and overweight eumenorrheic women and PCOS patients: a pilot study. *Fertil Steril* 2009;**91**:2537–2544.
- March WA, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Phillips DIW, Norman RJ, Davies MJ. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Hum Reprod* 2010; **25**:544–551.
- Meyer C, McGrath BP, Teede HJ. Overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome have evidence of subclinical cardiovascular disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2005;**90**:5711–5716.
- Misso M, Costello MF, Garrubba M, Wong JL, Hart R, Rombauts L, Melder A, Norman RJ, Teede H. Metformin versus clomiphene citrate for infertility in non-obese women with PCOS: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2013;**19**:2–11.
- Moran L, Teede H. Metabolic features of the reproductive phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* 2009;**15**:477–488.
- Moran LM, Misso M, Wild RA, Norman RJ. Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2010;**16**:347–363.
- Moran LJ, Strauss BJ, Teede HJ. Diabetes risk score in the diagnostic categories of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 2011;**95**:1742–1748.
- Ovalle F, Azziz R. Insulin resistance, polycystic ovary syndrome, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Fertil Steril* 2002;**77**:1095–1105.
- Rabøl R, Svendsen PF, Skovbro M, Boushel R, Schjerling P, Nilas L, Madsbad S, Dela F. Skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2011;**165**:631–637.
- Rachon D, Teede H. Ovarian function and obesity—interrelationship, impact on women''s reproductive lifespan and treatment options. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 2010;**316**:172–179.
- Skov V, Glintborg D, Knudsen S, Jensen T, Kruse TA, Tan Q, Brusgaard K, Beck- Nielsen H, Hojlund K. Reduced expression of nuclear-encoded genes involved in mitochondrial oxidative metabolism in skeletal muscle of insulin-resistant women with polycystic ovary syndrome (Clinical report). *Diabetes* 2007;**56**:2349–2355. (2347)
- Teede HJ, Hutchison SK, Zoungas S. The management of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 2007;**18**:273– 279.
- Teede HJ, Misso ML, Deeks AA, Moran LJ, Stuckey BGA, Wong JLA, Norman RJ, Costello MF, Guideline Development Groups. Assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: summary of an evidence-based guideline. *Med J Aust* 2011;**195**:S65–S112.
- Welt CK, Gudmundsson JA, Arason G, Adams J, Palsdottir H, Gudlaugsdottir G, Ingadottir G, Crowley WF. Characterizing discrete subsets of polycystic ovary syndrome as defined by the Rotterdam criteria: the impact of weight on phenotype and metabolic features. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2006;**91**:4842–4848.

Chapter 4a Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity.

Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in

Thesis by Publication

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.



Paper Title:

Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity.

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

Name	Contribution %	Nature of Contribution
Samantha Cassar	70	Involved in the conception, collected data, performed laboratory analysis, statistically analysed and interpreted data, wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Helena J. Teede	10	Involved with conception and design, analysis and interpretation of data, wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Cheryce L. Harrison	3	Collected data, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication
Anju E. Joham	3	Collected the data, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

Lisa J. Moran	4	Collected the data, assisted with statistical analysis, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Nigel K. Stepto	10	Involved with conception and design, analysis and interpretation of data, undertook the critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

DECLARATION BY CO-AUTHORS

The undersigned certify that:

- 1. They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
 - 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;
 - 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
 - 4. Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies,
 b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
 - 5. The original data is stored at the following location(s):

Location(s): Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of

Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University

and will be held for at least five years from the date indicated below.

		Date
Samantha Cassar		27/11/2014
Helena J. Teede		27/11/2014
Cheryce L. Harrison		27/11/2014
Anju E. Joham		27/11/2014
Lisa J. Moran		27/11/2014
Nigel K. Stepto		27/11/2014

4.0 Introduction

In Chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis, it was demonstrated that when assessed with the gold standard euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic technique, IR is an intrinsic feature of PCOS. IR is known to play a key role in the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders such as CVD and T2DM (DeFronzo and Abdul-Ghani, 2011, Knowler et al., 2002). Early detection and treatment of IR through lifestyle or pharmacological interventions can delay the onset and reduce the severity of the associated cardio-metabolic conditions. As IR is a prominent feature of PCOS (Group, 2012) and hyperinsulinaemia is directly linked to a number of the clinical features present in PCOS including hyperandrogenism and reproductive dysfunction (Fauser et al., 2012), treatment of IR is important in reducing the severity of the metabolic and reproductive complications in PCOS. Therefore effective early detection of IR in women with PCOS is clinically important.

The AES and the ESHRE/ASRM position statements recommend patients with PCOS be screened for IGT and diabetes by OGTT. However ESHRE/ASRM conceded that there is no utility for measuring insulin in most cases of women with PCOS (Fauser et al., 2012). This highlights the complexity of measuring IR.

The assessment of IR can be performed by numerous direct and indirect methods, each having their own advantages and limitations. Although the euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp is considered to be the gold standard technique to quantitatively assess IR its complexity makes it impractical to be performed in a clinical setting. Simple surrogate measures to determine IR based on fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations have been developed. HOMA correlates well with the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp in a general population but tends to become inaccurate in insulin resistant populations especially when basal insulin levels are within the normal, high-normal, or slightly elevated ranges (Ciampelli et al., 2005, Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2004). Furthermore, these surrogate measures are reported to be not sensitive enough to detected IR in women with PCOS (Ciampelli et al., 2005, Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2004). Therefore, clinicians would benefit from a simple, feasible, reliable and accurate way to detect and monitor IR including in PCOS.

4.1 Potential Markers of Insulin Resistance

It has been observed that various metabolic hormones, cytokines and adipokines, such as ghrelin, resistin, visfatin, glucagon-like peptide- 1 (GLP-1), leptin, PAI-1, glucosedependant insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and C-Peptide, are associated with IR (Gnacinska et al., 2009). These hormones play pivotal roles in appetite and body weight regulation, glucose homeostasis, insulin sensitivity, lipid metabolism and CVD risk. As such, they are potentially relevant to the elevated cardio-metabolic risk present in PCOS (Chaput and Tremblay, 2006, de Luca and Olefsky, 2008, Shoelson et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2008). Importantly, they may also provide novel biomarkers of IR that can be measured from a single blood sample. Therefore, measurement of these markers may provide a quick and simple way to identify women who have IR and follow up with further diagnosis and early treatment. They may also differentiate women with PCOS who are at risk of metabolic disease.

The association of these potential biomarkers with IR and metabolic features in both lean and overweight women are not fully understood. Traditionally, these biomarkers have been measured in isolation using single assays. IR has a complex pathophysiology which is not fully understood in PCOS. Therefore an integrated approach (multiplex based assays) to investigate adipokines, gut hormones and other metabolic biomarkers relating to IR may provide a better option to predict the presence of IR than isolated measurements. In 2008, the Bio-Plex human diabetes multiplex immunoassay was developed to allow simultaneous quantification of 10 proteins involved in glucose metabolism with relevance for diabetes including C-peptide, ghrelin, GIP, GLP-1, glucagon, insulin, PAI-1, resistin and visfatin.

4.2 Bio-Plex Immunoassay

The Bio-Plex human diabetes multiplex immunoassay procedure is similar to a sandwich enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent assay (ELISA). Magnetic beads on a 96 well plate are utilised to analyse multiple biomarkers in 3 to 4 hours using approximately 12.5 µl of serum or plasma samples per well. The magnetic beads are conjugated with specific antibodies targeting the biomarker of interest in the sample. Following incubation of a biotynilated detection antibody, the final detection reaction is completed with the addition of a streptavidin-phycoerythrin conjugate. Detection of phycoerythrin fluorescence is then performed using the Bio-Plex microplate reader system (Biorad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). The beads and phycoerythrin are excited with separate specific wavelengths of light and detected with a photomultiplier tube. The intensity of the fluorescence detected is proportional to the concentration of the specific biomarkers in each sample (Bio-Plex Assay Reader). The analyte concentration is calculated against an internal standard curve, using software provided by the manufacturer (Bio-Plex Manager Software). Reproducibility (intra and inter coefficient of variation 3-6% and 2-6%), reliability and high

sensitivity are the best features of this assay (Amato et al., 2014, Costantini et al., 2012).

Although IR is present in up to 85% women with PCOS (Stepto et al., 2013), it is not currently part of the diagnostic criteria and it is not routinely measured in clinical practice. There is current agreement that IR should not yet be measured in the clinical setting given methodological limitations. Therefore clinicians will benefit from other measures that could reliably predict IR in PCOS and metabolic biomarkers offers a potential solution.

4.3 Summary

The aim of this chapter was to determine whether metabolic biomarkers involved in the pathophysiology of IR can be used to predict insulin sensitivity measured with the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. We also aimed to compare levels of metabolic biomarkers between lean and overweight women with and without PCOS to explore associations between these biomarkers and PCOS phenotype, IR and adiposity.

4.4 My Role

My role in this chapter was to collect and statistically analyse and interpret the data. I set up the Bio-Plex human diabetes multiplex immunoassay in our laboratory, optimised the technique over a two month period and performed the biochemical analysis. I also primarily wrote and submitted the manuscript for publication, which was accepted by Clinical Endocrinology (Impact Factor 3.35, Q1 Journal).

Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Characteristics and predictive capacity

Samantha Cassar*'†, Helena J. Teede†'‡, Cheryce L. Harrison†, Anju E. Joham†'‡, Lisa J. Moran†'§ and Nigel K. Stepto*'†

*Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living, Victoria University, [†]Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, [‡]Diabetes and Vascular Medicine Unit, Monash Health Melbourne, Vic. and [§]The Robinson Research Institute, Discipline of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Summary

Objective Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common endocrine disorder associated with metabolic complications. Metabolic biomarkers with roles in obesity, glycaemic control and lipid metabolism are potentially relevant in PCOS. The aim was to investigate metabolic biomarkers in lean and overweight women with and without PCOS and to determine whether any biomarker was able to predict insulin resistance in PCOS.

Design Cross-sectional study.

Patients Eighty-four women (22 overweight and 22 lean women with PCOS, 18 overweight and 22 lean women without PCOS) were recruited from the community and categorized based on PCOS and BMI status.

Measurements Primary outcomes were metabolic biomarkers [ghrelin, resistin, visfatin, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), leptin, plasminogen activator inhibitor -1 (PAI-1), glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and C-Peptide] measured using the Bio-Plex Pro Diabetes assay and insulin sensitivity as assessed by glucose infusion rate on euglycaemic–hyperinsulinaemic clamp. **Results** The biomarkers C-peptide, leptin, ghrelin and visfatin were different between overweight and lean women, irrespective of PCOS status. The concentration of circulating biomarkers did not differ between women with PCOS diagnosed by the Rotter-dam criteria or National Institute of Health criteria. PAI-1 was the only biomarker that significantly predicted insulin resistance in both control women (P = 0.04) and women with PCOS (P = 0.01).

Conclusions Biomarkers associated with metabolic diseases appear more strongly associated with obesity rather than PCOS status. PAI-1 may also be a novel independent biomarker and predictor of insulin resistance in women with and without PCOS. (Received 27 June 2014; returned for revision 19 July 2014; finally revised 17 September 2014; accepted 22 September 2014)

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine disorder affecting up to 18% of reproductive aged women, depending on the diagnostic criteria used and population studied.¹ Typical clinical features of the syndrome include hyperandrogenism, oligomenorrhoea, anovulation and polycystic ovaries. These features have major reproductive, psychological and metabolic consequences, representing a considerable health and economic burden across the lifespan.^{2,3}

Women with PCOS have intrinsic insulin resistance (IR) and compensatory hyperinsulinaemia that is independent of, but exacerbated by obesity.⁴ Insulin resistance can predispose women with PCOS to diabetes, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors including dyslipidaemia, hypertension and impaired glucose tolerance^{2,5-8} and is thought to drive hyperandrogenism in PCOS, underpinning the metabolic and reproductive features of the condition.9 Altered insulin sensitivity in PCOS can be attributed to insulin receptor and/or postbinding defect in the insulin signalling pathways.^{10,11} IR, reflected by hyperinsulinaemia, can lead to elevated circulating levels of free fatty acids (FFA), triglycerides and LDL cholesterol and decreased levels of HDL cholesterol. The release of FFA activates release of various inflammatory cytokines, which may play a role in IR and cause a disruption in glucose homeostasis by mediating the insulin signaling pathways in muscle, adipocytes and liver.¹² Cytokines have the ability to disrupt insulin signaling pathways either directly by inhibiting serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate (IRS) or indirectly through inflammatory pathways including the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and I-kappa B kinase β (IKK β)/NF κ B pathways.^{13,14} Obesity, diabetes and metabolic syndrome are associated with chronic inflammation;¹⁵ however, the presence of inflammation and its association with IR in PCOS is still contentious.

Correspondence: Nigel K. Stepto, College of Sport and Exercise Science, Footscray Park Campus, Victoria University, PO BOX 14428, Melbourne, 8001 Vic., Australia. Tel.: (03) 9919 5416; Fax: (03) 9919 4891; E-mail: nigel.stepto@vu.edu.au

Given that PCOS is a condition with a range of metabolic complications related to IR, it is important to measure various circulating markers that may be associated with IR¹⁶ and inflammation and that play pivotal roles in appetite and body weight regulation, glucose homeostasis, lipid metabolism and CVD risk.¹⁷ These biomarkers include leptin, due to its ability to promote insulin sensitivity and resistin, which can impair insulin sensitivity.^{18–20} These measures may also be novel biomarkers reflecting IR, which is otherwise difficult to accurately measure in clinical practice, and may help to identify women with PCOS who are at risk of metabolic disease. However, these biomarkers have mainly been measured in isolation, which limits the understanding of the relative interaction and detailed pathways contributing to metabolic dysfunction in this condition.

The aim of this study was to identify differences in plasma biomarker levels between lean and overweight women with and without PCOS and evaluate the usefulness of these biomarkers to predict IR in this cohort of women. We also compare the predictive capacity of these biomarkers with that of clinical indices of IR, waist circumference and SHBG. We hypothesized that women with PCOS will display an adverse biomarker profile independent of obesity and that novel biomarkers will be independent predictors of IR.

Methods

Participants

Lean (BMI <25 kg/m²) and overweight/obese (BMI >27 kg/m²), premenopausal women aged 20–40 years with and without PCOS were recruited through community advertisements. This study is an extension of detailed mechanistic studies examining insulin resistance in women with PCOS compared to healthy controls.^{4,21} with additional overweight participants with and without PCOS (n = 23) from a separate study to expand the sample size.²² To achieve this sample size, eligible participants according to the above inclusion criteria were selected at random. Only the first 23 samples that met the eligibility criteria and that were appropriately collected and stored were used in this analysis. This work expands on a previous smaller study²² in overweight women only, adding lean women with and without PCOS and end-points measured. In total, 84 premenopausal women with and without PCOS were investigated.

Participants were categorized into four groups: lean control, lean PCOS, overweight control and overweight PCOS. Women were diagnosed as having PCOS by expert endocrinologists (AEJ, RFG, SKH and HJT) based on the Rotterdam criteria, two of the three features of clinical or biochemical hyperandrogenism, [Ferriman-Gallwey score >8, total T > 2.7 nmol/l, or free androgen index (FAI) >4.5], polycystic ovaries (PCO) on ultrasound and irregular menstrual cycles (cycle length outside 21–35 days or <8 cycles per year) with the exclusion of other aetiologies (congenital adrenal hyperplasia, androgen-secreting tumours, Cushing's syndrome, hyperprolactinemia, thyroid dysfunction and adrenal disorders).⁶ Women with PCOS were also divided into groups based on *a priori* phenotypes and BMI. Control women had no history of diagnosed PCOS and did not present with any features of PCOS.

Exclusion criteria included pregnancy, smoking, diabetes, uncontrolled hypertension, lipid-lowering, hormonal (e.g. oral contraceptive pill) or insulin-sensitizing medication unless willing to cease medications for 3 months before study commencement. This study received Institutional Review Board approval (Standing Committee on Ethics in Research Involving Humans for Monash University and Human Research Ethics Committee of Southern Health), and all participants gave written informed consent prior to participation.

Study design

At screening, participants were assessed to determine whether they met diagnostic and inclusion criteria and medications affecting end-points were ceased.¹² After a 3-month washout, data were collected in the mid-follicular phase of the menstrual cycle where feasible.

Clinical and biochemical measurements

Participant's anthropometric assessments of BMI and percentage body fat were measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) [GE Lunar Prodigy (GE Lunar Corp., Madison, WI, USA) using operating system version 9] as previously reported.^{4,21,22}

Insulin sensitivity was assessed in a subgroup of 61 participants by the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp technique as previously reported.⁴ Briefly, the clamp was performed 72 h after a standardized high-carbohydrate diet following an overnight fast. Venous fasting blood samples were collected, analysed and stored as appropriate. Insulin (Actrapid; Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark) was infused at 40 mU/m² per minute for 120 min generating an elevated, stable insulin concentration from 10–120 min, with plasma glucose maintained at approximately 5 mmol/l, using variable infusion. Glucose was assessed every 5 min (YSI 2300 STAT PLUS; YSI Life Sciences, Yellow Springs, OH, USA), and the glucose infusion rate (GIR) was calculated during last 30 min of the insulin-stimulated period and expressed as glucose (mg), per body surface area (m²) per minute.

Blood was collected in a fasting state in various anticoagulant and serum clot activator blood tubes. Serum tubes were allowed to clot at room temperature for 30 min prior to being centrifuged. Tubes were centrifuged at 3000 revolutions per minute for 15 min at 4 °C. The plasma or serum was then transferred to a clean polypropylene tube and frozen at -80 °C for future analysis. Stored plasma and serum samples were batch analysed as appropriate for fasting glucose, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL), triglycerides, insulin and testosterone as previously reported.⁶

For the quantification of biomarkers, serum samples were thawed and again centrifuged. Each sample was analysed in

duplicate for ghrelin, resistin, visfatin, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), leptin, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and C-Peptide and was performed using the Bio-Plex Pro Diabetes assay (CAT#171-A7001M; Biorad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Statistics

All data are presented as mean \pm SD or means and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Results are presented for 84 participants for all variables except DEXA (81 participants) and insulin clamp (61 participants; 28 control and 33 women with PCOS) results. The Shapiro-Wilk statistic was chosen to assess normality and some metabolic biomarkers were log-transformed to overcome issues of heteroscedascity. Statistical analysis was performed on the log-transformed data; and back transformed data has been reported for ease of interpretation. Comparisons between groups were performed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and a one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA; age or age and BMI), with post hoc multiple comparisons performed using LSD correction. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was constructed to examine whether a biomarker could be used as a diagnostic test to predict IR in women with PCOS and suggest cut-off values. Sensitivity (y-axis) against 1-specificity (x-axis) was plotted and the area under the curve (AUC) was computed. The AUC quantifies the diagnostic value of the test; the greater the AUC, the better the performance of the test. An AUC value of 0.5 or less means the test result is no better than chance, a value of 1.0 means the predictive value of the biomarker is perfect. The accuracy of each metabolic biomarker is assessed in terms of the probability that the test correctly classifies a noninsulin resistant subject as negative (specificity) and the probability that the metabolic biomarker correctly classifies an insulin resistant subject as positive (sensitivity)²³. For ROC curve analysis, IR was defined based on insulin clamp derived GIR levels as less than the 25th percentile of lean matched controls (non-PCOSspecific World Health Organization criteria²⁴), as previously published by our group.¹¹ Statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS for Windows 20.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

Calculation of prospective sample size for C-peptide and leptin were conducted *a priori* using data reported by Morin Papunen *et al.*²⁵ Based on these results a total sample size of n = 68was required to observe differences in C-peptide at 95% power (P < 0.05) and n = 44 was required to observe differences in leptin at 95% power (P < 0.05). At the time of participant recruitment, it was difficult to calculate the exact sample size needed for this study as limited previous literature has assessed the end-point measures of the other biomarkers in lean and overweight women with and without PCOS. Previous work²⁶ has investigated lean and overweight controls in comparison to lean and overweight PCOS women divided based on phenotype for PAI-1. Based on these results using overweight and lean controls and lean Rotterdam and overweight NIH groups, a total sample size of n = 56 was required to observe differences in PAI-1 at 80% power (P < 0.05). On *post hoc* power analysis, we were powered ($\alpha = 0.05$) to detect observed differences in C-peptide (95%), leptin (72%), visfatin (50%), resistin (40%), GIP (35%), ghrelin (34%), PAI-1 (24%) and GLP-1 (5%) between four groups.

Results

Baseline characteristics

The characteristics and biomarkers of lean and overweight PCOS and control participants are shown in Table 1. From the women who underwent an insulin clamp, 64% of lean PCOS women, 56% of overweight control women and 91% of overweight PCOS women were classified as insulin resistant. The overweight control group were older (P < 0.001) than the lean control, lean PCOS and overweight control groups. By definition the overweight control and PCOS groups had a higher BMI (P < 0.001). The overweight groups had higher levels of C-peptide and leptin and lower levels of ghrelin compared to lean groups, after correcting for age (Table 2). Visfatin was elevated in the overweight control group compared to the lean control and lean PCOS group (P < 0.05).

Diagnostic criteria

Participants were divided into subgroups based on PCOS diagnostic criteria with the NIH PCOS group being heavier (BMI; $33 \pm 9 \text{ kg/m}^2$) compared to the Rotterdam PCOS group $(25 \pm 4 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, P < 0.001) and controls $(26 \pm 5 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, P < 0.001). On assessment of reproductive and metabolic differences between the groups and with adjustment for age and BMI; testosterone, FAI, and LDL:HDL ratio were higher and SHBG levels were lower in the NIH group compared to the Rotterdam and control groups (P < 0.05). Furthermore, insulin sensitivity was lower in the NIH (195 \pm 80 mg/min/m²) and Rotterdam $(269 \pm 86 \text{ mg/min/m}^2)$ groups compared to controls $(312 \pm 89 \text{ mg/min/m}^2; P < 0.05)$. There were no differences in the concentration of biomarkers between the three groups (Table 3).

Receiver operating characteristic curves

A ROC curve analysis was performed to assess the ability of each biomarker to distinguish between women with and without IR based on euglycaemic–hyperinsulinemic clamp in all women (n = 61) and in PCOS and control women separately (Table 4). In all participants, the ROC curve indicated that leptin, ghrelin and PAI1 were able to predict IR with cut-off points at 1.9 ng/ml (sensitivity 69% and specificity 71%), 0.21 ng/ml (sensitivity 66% and specificity 65%) and 10.03 ng/ml (sensitivity 77% and specificity 54%) respectively (Fig. 1a). ROC curve analysis indicated that leptin, ghrelin and PAI1 were able to predict IR in the control group (Fig. 1b) with cut-off levels of 2.67 ng/ml (sensitivity 83% and specificity 88%), and 13.6 ng/ml (sensitivity 83% and

Clinical features	Lean control n = 22	Lean PCOS n = 22	Overweight control n = 18	Overweight PCOS n = 22	<i>P</i> -value unadjusted	<i>P</i> -Value Age adjusted	Control $n = 40$	Rotterdam criteria n = 23	NIH criteria n = 21	<i>P</i> -value	<i>P</i> -value Age/BMI adjusted
General characteristics	38 + 6 ^c	24 + 76	35 + ς ^{a,b,d}	20 + 7 ^c	~0.001		بو + 12	אר א ג	4 4 7	0.08	
BMI (kg/m ²)	$22 \pm 2^{c,d}$	$23 \pm 2^{c,d}$	$31 \pm 3^{a,b,d}$	$25 \pm 7^{a,b,c}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	21 ± 0 26 ± 5^{g}	25 ± 4^8	20 ± 4 $33 \pm 9^{e,f}$	<0.001*	
Waist Circumference (cm)	$72 \pm 7^{c,d}$	$74 \pm 7^{c,d}$	$95 \pm 9^{a,b,d}$	$100\pm16^{ m a,b,d}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	83 ± 14	78 ± 8	97 ± 20	<0.001*	0.746
Total fat mass (%)	$27\pm6^{c,d}$	$31 \pm 7^{\rm c,d}$	$45\pm6^{a,b}$	$46\pm6^{\mathrm{a,b}}$	$<0.001^{*}$	<0.001*	36 ± 11	34 ± 9	44 ± 10	0.01^{*}	0.86
Insulin Sensitivity											
Fasting Glucose (mmol/l)	4.6 ± 0.3	4.6 ± 0.4	4.9 ± 0.4	4.8 ± 0.6	0.09	0.31	4.7 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.4	4.7 ± 0.6	0.56	0.63
Fasting Insulin (pmol/l ¹)	$5.2 \pm 3.6^{ m c,d}$	$4.0 \pm 1.8^{ m c,d}$	$17.8 \pm 9.3^{\rm a,b,d}$	$25.3 \pm 13.5^{a,b,c}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	10.9 ± 9.2	9.9 ± 14.5	19.9 ± 12.4	0.01^{*}	0.93
GIR (mg/min/m ²)	$339 \pm 76^{\mathrm{b,c,d}}$	$276 \pm 67^{a,d}$	$258 \pm 93^{ m a,d}$	$167\pm88^{ m a,b,c}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	$312 \pm 89^{\mathrm{f,g}}$	$269 \pm 86^{\mathrm{e,g}}$	$195 \pm 80^{ m e,f}$	0.001^{*}	0.05*
Androgen Profile											
Testosterone (nmol/l)	$1.7 \pm 0.5^{ m d}$	$2\cdot 1 \pm 0\cdot 8^{ m d}$	$1{\cdot}4~\pm~0{\cdot}7^{ m d}$	$2\cdot 5 \pm 1\cdot 0^{a,b,c}$	<0.001*	0.001	1.6 ± 0.6^{g}	$1{\cdot}9\pm0{\cdot}8^{g}$	$2.7 \pm 0.9^{ m e,f}$	<0.001*	0.001*
SHBG (nmol/l)	$78 \pm 19^{ m c,d}$	$71 \pm 34^{ m c,d}$	$41 \pm 16^{ m a,b}$	$35\pm11^{ m a,b}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	61 ± 26	67 ± 35	38 ± 16	0.001^{*}	0.40
FAI	$2.3 \pm 1.0^{ m c,d}$	$3.4 \pm 1.8^{ m d}$	$4.0 \pm 2.9^{ m a,d}$	$8.0 \pm 4.1^{a,b,c}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	3.1 ± 2.2^8	3.5 ± 2.4^8	$8.2 \pm 3.9^{ m e,f}$	<0.001*	0.002*
Lipid Profile											
Cholesterol	4.7 ± 0.6	4.9 ± 0.7	4.7 ± 0.8	4.9 ± 0.9	0.74	0.75	4.7 ± 0.7	4.8 ± 0.7	5.0 ± 0.9	0.47	0.26
Triglycerides	0.8 ± 0.6	0.8 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.6	0.04^{*}	0.26	1.0 ± 0.6	0.8 ± 0.3	$1{\cdot}1\pm0{\cdot}6$	0.20	0.62
LDL:HDL Ratio	$1.1 \pm 0.01^{ m b,c,d}$	$1.7 \pm 0.5^{\mathrm{a,c,d}}$	$2\cdot4\pm0\cdot6^{\mathrm{a,b}}$	$2.5 \pm 0.8^{a,b}$	<0.001*	<0.001*	1.7 ± 0.8^{g}	$1\cdot 8 \pm 0\cdot 5$	2.5 ± 0.8^{e}	<0.001*	0.03^{*}
BMI, body mass index; FAI, fa	sting androgen inde	ex; GIR, glucose in	nfusion rate; LDL,	low-density lipoprc	otein; HDL, hig	h-density lip	oprotein; SHBG	, sex hormone h	inding globulin		
	с С	, ,				•			S		

Table 1. Anthropometric, metabolic and hormonal characteristics of the PCOS affected women according BMI matching or diagnostic criteria (NIH or Rotterdam) grouping

5, ζ. zo. 5, 2 Ļ with over measing an energy and over measing structures. FILM, now "Indicates a significant difference (P < 0.05) across all groups as assessed by the ANCOVA.

^bIndicates a significant difference from lean PCOS (P < 0.05). ^cIndicates a significant difference from overweight control (P < 0.05).

^dIndicates a significant difference from overweight PCOS (P < 0.05).

^eIndicates a significant difference from the control group (P < 0.05).

findicates a significant difference from the Rotterdam criteria group (P < 0.05). ⁸Indicates a significant difference from the NIH group (P < 0.05).
Table 2. Biomarker concentrations in lean and overweight PCOS and non-PCOS participants

Biomarkers	Lean control $n = 22$	Lean PCOS $n = 22$	Overweight control $n = 18$	Overweight PCOS $n = 22$	P-value unadjusted	<i>P</i> -value Age adjusted
PAI-1# (ng/ml)	10.5 (7.7–14.2)	8.98 (6.4–12.5)	10.5 (7.4–14.9)	7.62 (5.7–10.3)	0.41	0.44
Resistin# (ng/ml)	$1.0 \pm (0.78 - 1.28)$	0.97 (0.75–1.25)	1.19 (0.84–1.69)	1.43 (0.99–1.52)	0.32	0.26
C-Peptide (ng/ml)	$0.16 \pm 0.07^{c,d}$	$0.15 \pm 0.05^{c,d}$	$0.25 \pm 0.15^{a,b}$	$0.32 \pm 0.22^{a,b}$	<0.001*	<0.001*
Ghrelin (ng/ml)	$0.25 \pm 0.05^{c,d}$	$0.25 \pm 0.07^{c,d}$	$0.16 \pm 0.07^{a,b}$	$0.17 \pm 0.08^{a,b}$	<0.001*	<0.001*
GIP (ng/ml)	0.03 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.02	0.53	0.22
GLP1 (ng/ml)	0.06 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.01	0.79	0.475
Leptin#(ng/ml)	$1.2 \pm (0.88 - 1.6)^{c,d}$	$1.3 \pm (0.93 - 1.8)^{c,d}$	$6.1 (4.4 - 8.6)^{a,b}$	7·1 (5·4–9·5) ^{a,b}	<0.001*	<0.001*
Visfatin (ng/ml)	$0.75 \pm 0.15^{\circ}$	$0.70 \pm 0.16^{\circ}$	$0.83 \pm 0.33^{a,b}$	0.81 ± 0.32	0.07	0.33

GIP, glucose dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide; GLP-1 glucagon-like peptide-1; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1.

Data reported as mean \pm SD, except for log-transformed variables which are reported as back transformed mean with 95% CI.

#Indicates the variable has been log-transformed.

*Indicates a significant difference (P < 0.05) across all groups.

^aIndicates a significant difference from lean control (P < 0.05).

^bIndicates a significant difference from lean PCOS (P < 0.05).

^cIndicates a significant difference from overweight control (P < 0.05).

^dIndicates a significant difference from overweight PCOS (P < 0.05).

specificity 63%) respectively, however this was only true for PAI-1 in PCOS with a cut-off level of 10.03 ng/ml (sensitivity 70% and specificity 89%; Fig. 1c). Waist circumference was able to predict IR in all groups and SHBG was able to predict IR in PCOS (Table 4).

Discussion

The present study expands on prior research by examining metabolic biomarkers in lean and overweight women with and without PCOS and exploring their ability to predict IR. With regards to novel metabolic biomarkers, C-peptide, ghrelin and leptin were different between overweight and lean groups suggesting the role of adiposity in metabolic dysfunction. Biomarker concentrations were not different between women diagnosed with PCOS using the Rotterdam or NIH criteria. While a number of biomarkers were related to IR in controls (leptin, ghrelin,

Table 3.	Biomarker	concentration	based	on	PCOS	diagnostic	criteria
----------	-----------	---------------	-------	----	------	------------	----------

PAI-1), we report that PAI-1 was the only biomarker that was related to IR in women with PCOS.

Consistent with prior literature, women with PCOS in the current study were more insulin resistant compared to the control group.²⁷ Other conditions associated with IR, including obesity and diabetes, have adverse biomarker profiles with impaired GIP and GLP activity and elevated PAI-1, visfatin, leptin and resistin.²⁸ As PCOS is a unique insulin resistant condition with intrinsic IR independent of obesity, markers for CVD and diabetes may be more prevalent. However, contrary to our hypothesis, we report here that C-peptide, leptin, ghrelin and visfatin differed between the lean and overweight groups irrespective of PCOS status, but did not differ by PCOS status. It is difficult to explain the lack of difference in these biomarkers between the control and PCOS groups. The underlying cause of intrinsic IR in PCOS is unknown. In the current study, many of the biomarkers predict IR in all subjects and are abnormal in

	Control	Rotterdam criteria	NIH criteria	<i>P</i> -value	P-value age/
Biomarkers	n = 40	n = 23	n = 21	unadjusted	BMI adjusted
PAI-1# (ng/ml)	10.5 (6.7–12.7)	7.6 (5.6–10.4)	9.2 (6.7–12.7)	0.22	0.53
Resistin# (ng/ml)	1.08 (0.89–1.3)	0.97 (0.76–1.24)	1.25 (1.01–1.55)	0.35	0.18
C-Peptide(ng/ml)	0.20 ± 0.13	0.16 ± 0.07	0.33 ± 0.23	0.001*	0.17
Ghrelin (ng/ml)	0.21 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07	$0{\cdot}20\pm0{\cdot}10$	0.66	0.43
GIP (ng/ml)	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	$0{\cdot}04~\pm~0{\cdot}02$	0.23	0.85
GLP1 (ng/ml)	0.06 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.97	0.86
Leptin#(ng/ml)	2.55 (1.82-3.58)	1.57 (1.09–2.24)	6.33 (4.21-9.50)	<0.001*	0.18
Visfatin (ng/ml)	0.78 ± 0.3	0.72 ± 0.2	0.86 ± 0.3	0.23	0.49

GIP, glucose-dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide; GLP-1 glucagon-like peptide-1; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1.

Data reported as mean ± SD, except for log-transformed variables which are reported as back transformed mean with 95% CI.

#Indicates the variable has been log-transformed.

*Indicates a significant difference (P < 0.05) across all groups.

Table 4. Receiver operator characteristic curve analysis

	All Participants		Control		PCOS	
Predicting variable	Area under ROC curve Mean (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -value	Area under ROC curve Mean (95% CI)	P-value	Area under ROC curve Mean (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -value
Waist Circumference	0.740 (0.612–0.869)	0.001*	0.773 (0.515–1.000)	0.041*	0.734 (0.554–0.913)	0.044*
SHBG	0.744 (0.614-0.873)	0.001*	0.652 (0.448-0.855)	0.263	0.877 (0.759-0.996)	0.001*
C-peptide	0.615 (0.463-0.767)	0.146	0.447 (0.101-0.794)	0.703	0.617 (0.382-0.851)	0.322
Ghrelin	0.728 (0.593-0.863)	0.004*	0.868 (0.714-1.000)	0.008*	0.667(0.446 - 0.887)	0.157
GIP	0.524 (0.368-0.680)	0.762	0.373 (0.093-0.653)	0.356	0.511 (0.279-0.743)	0.925
GLP1	0.396 (0.242-0.551)	0.191	0.781 (0.583-0.979)	0.042*	0.458 (0.246-0.671)	0.724
Leptin	0.735 (0.596-0.874)	0.003*	0.816 (0.551-1.000)	0.022*	0.717 (0.522-0.911)	0.066
PAI-1	0.665 (0.519-0.811)	0.038*	0.781 (0.586-0.976)	0.042*	0.806 (0.647-0.964)	0.010*
Resistin	0.500 (0.344-0.656)	1.000	0.430 (0.185-0.675)	0.611	0.600 (0.372-0.828)	0.396
Visfatin	0.416 (0.259–0.572)	0.287	0.320 (0.097–0.543)	0.192	0.511 (0.294–0.728)	0.925

GIP, glucose dependant insulinotrophic polypeptide; GLP-1 glucagon like peptide-1; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1. *Indicates significance (P < 0.05).

overweight groups. As many of the biomarkers do not predict IR in PCOS, it is possible that inflammatory cytokines play a more significant role in IR associated with high BMI rather than PCOS. However, we acknowledge that a type 2 statistical error may be an alternative explanation as to why metabolic markers were not abnormal in PCOS.

Insulin resistance can be defined as an impaired physiological response to exogenous and endogenous insulin, reflecting disturbed metabolic and mitogenic processes.²⁹ The euglycaemic– hyperinsulinaemic clamp is the gold standard technique for assessing insulin sensitivity yet is invasive, time consuming and not practical in a clinical setting. Thus, given the high prevalence of IR in women with PCOS, the use of surrogate markers to determine IR has become important. The majority of,^{26,30,31} but not all^{22,32} literature report elevated levels of PAI-1 in lean and overweight women with PCOS. Elevated PAI-1 concentration is also a risk factor for diabetes and CVD and is present prior to the development of clinical features of these conditions.¹⁶ It was expected that PAI-1 levels would be elevated in PCOS with strong associations with obesity, IR and menstrual disturbances, all common features of PCOS.^{26,30,31}

Although we did not find any statistical differences in PAI-1 levels between groups, we identified PAI-1 as the only biomarker related to IR in both PCOS and controls. Furthermore, PAI-1 was able to predict IR with relatively high accuracy (\geq 70%). Waist circumference and SHBG were similar in their ability to predict IR, except in the control groups where PAI-1 outperformed SHBG. It has been suggested that markers of dyslipidemia (triglycerides and HDL cholesterol) may be prerequisites to high plasma PAI-1 concentrations and maybe therefore impact PAI-1's ability to predict IR.³³ PAI-1 regulates fibrinolysis and is produced in adipose tissue and endothelial cells.³² PAI-1 may play a role in endothelial dysfunction and indirectly in IR through reduction of insulin-mediated skeletal muscle glucose uptake by decreasing the blood flow, and as a consequence glucose extraction and glucose/insulin delivery, in insulin sensitive tissues like skeletal muscles.³⁴ It therefore may become important in reflecting IR in women with PCOS.

Ghrelin concentrations were reduced whereas leptin concentrations were markedly elevated in the overweight group vs the lean group. Furthermore, ghrelin and leptin were able to predict IR in the control group only. Leptin and ghrelin have been associated with obesity and insulin resistant conditions and play important roles in appetite and body weight regulation.^{35,36} Elevated levels of ghrelin stimulate appetite whereas elevated levels of leptin suppress appetite, increase energy expenditure, and promote fatty acid oxidation.³⁷ Lower levels of ghrelin in obesity may be a compensatory adaptation to reduce food intake and aid in weight regulation³⁸ or leptin may be elevated in obesity due to leptin resistance.³⁹ Ghrelin and leptin also have a role in glucose and fat metabolism, inflammation, vasodilation and ovarian function. Therefore it is feasible that chronically altered ghrelin and leptin in overweight women may contribute to metabolic and reproductive dysfunction in women with and without PCOS.^{40,41} Studies have reported administration of high doses of insulin reduces ghrelin secretion and vice-versa, highlighting an interplay between the two hormones.⁴² Leptin levels have been reported to strongly correlate with IR independently of obesity.⁴² Importantly, although leptin and ghrelin appear to be good markers of IR in the general population, they do not predict the presence of intrinsic IR in PCOS and are substandard to SHBG and waist circumference in predicting IR in this population.

We highlight the importance of further research into IR and clinically applicable potential markers that reflect IR. However, the study does have some limitations. Firstly it has a small sample size, did not divide participants based on phenotypes rather diagnostic criteria and had incomplete euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp data. Secondly, this study was a cross-sectional study rather than a longitudinal study, therefore caution needs to be taken when interpreting the results. Long-term prospective studies are required to confirm if these biomarkers are able to predict the future development of IR. The strengths of this study



Fig. 1 ROCcurve representing metabolic biomarker ability to identify IR in all (a), control (b) and PCOS (c) participants.

include a cohort of women that were recruited through the community, the inclusion of both lean and overweight women and the use of the two different diagnostic criteria. Here, insulin clamps were performed on lean and overweight women with and without PCOS to provide an evaluation of IR, which is uncommon in the PCOS biomarker literature. Furthermore, this is one of the first studies to take a universal approach investigating biomarkers that play a role in glucose, insulin and lipid metabolism and CVD risk factors, together with IR on clamp studies. Overall this is a tightly defined study population, which provides the opportunity to assess the effects of both obesity and of PCOS status on the relevant biomarkers of diabetes and CVD.

Conclusion

In the current study, we found that biomarkers associated with metabolic diseases appear more strongly associated with adiposity rather than PCOS status, across the four well defined groups of lean and overweight women with and without PCOS. PCOS is a common condition underpinned by IR and hyperandrogenism, strongly associated with obesity and has a high prevalence of metabolic abnormalities. We note here that PAI-1, leptin and ghrelin levels may emerge as relatively accurate predictors of IR in the general population, but PAI-1 is potentially a biomarker specific to PCOS. However, waist circumference and SHBG were equally able to identify IR, especially in PCOS. This study has important implications not only in identifying novel biomarkers that predict IR in women with and without PCOS, but also in improving the understanding of the metabolic dysfunction and pathways affected by PCOS. Clinicians would benefit from simple and reliable markers to identify IR and metabolic risk in PCOS and more research to identify and evaluate such biomarkers is needed. Future research could assess the longitudinal association of these biomarkers with PCOS phenotypes and in other population groups, including healthy men and women and those with diabetes, to determine if these biomarkers have clinical utility in detecting and predicting IR.

Acknowledgements

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. This study was supported by grants from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), grant number 606553 (H.J.T., N.K.S.), Diabetes Australia Research Trust and Monash University. H.J.T is an NHMRC Research Fellow. N.K.S is supported through the Australian Government's Collaborative Research Networks program. A.E.J is an NHMRC scholarship holder. L.J.M is supported by a South Australian Cardiovascular Research Development Program (SACVRDP) Fellowship (AC11S374); a program collaboratively funded by the National Heart Foundation of Australia, the South Australian Department of Health and the South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute. The funding bodies played no role in the design, methods, data management or analysis or in the decision to publish. The corresponding author has full access to the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication. Pathology was completed at Southern Health Pathology laboratories. We would like to thank Professor Boyd Strauss for his time, knowledge and expertise in analysing and interpreting the body composition data. We would also like to thank Melanie Gibson Helm, Nicole Ng, Dr Samantha Hutchison and Dr Rebecca Goldstein (RFG) for their assistance with data collection, Bansi Sanghvi for technical assistance with biomarker analysis and Sanjeeva Ranasinha and Lauren Banting for statistics analysis support.

References

- 1 March, W.A., Moore, V.M., Willson, K.J. *et al.* (2010) The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Human Reproduction*, **25**, 544–551.
- 2 Moran, L.J., Misso, M.L., Wild, R.A. *et al.* (2010) Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in poly-

cystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human Reproduction Update*, **16**, 347–363.

- 3 Teede, H., Deeks, A. & Moran, L. (2010) Polycystic ovary syndrome: a complex condition with psychological, reproductive and metabolic manifestations that impacts on health across the lifespan. *BMC Medicine* **8**, 41. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-8-41.
- 4 Stepto, N.K., Cassar, S., Joham, A.E. *et al.* (2013) Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp. *Human Reproduction*, **28**, 777–784.
- 5 Hudecova, M., Jan, H., Christian, B. *et al.* (2012) Long-term reproductive and metabolic consequences of PCOS. *Current Diabetes Reviews* **8**, 444–451.
- 6 Meyer, C., McGrath, B.P. & Teede, H.J. (2005) Overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome have evidence of subclinical cardiovascular disease. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, **90**, 5711–5716.
- 7 Moran, L.J., Strauss, B.J. & Teede, H.J. (2011) Diabetes risk score in the diagnostic categories of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and Sterility*, **95**, 1742–1748.
- 8 Teede, H.J., Misso, M.L., Deeks, A.A. *et al.* (2011) Assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: summary of an evidence-based guideline. *Medical Journal of Australia*, **195**, S69– S111.
- 9 Teede, H.J., Hutchison, S.K. & Zoungas, S. (2007) The management of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends* in Endocrinology and Metabolism, 18, 273–279.
- 10 Dunaif, A. (1997) Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome: mechanism and implications for pathogenesis. *Endocrine Reviews*, **18**, 774–800.
- Dunaif, A., Wu, X., Lee, A. *et al.* (2001) Defects in insulin receptor signaling in vivo in the polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 281, E392–E399.
- 12 Syed Ikmal, S.I., Zaman Huri, H., Vethakkan, S.R. *et al.* (2013) Potential biomarkers of insulin resistance and atherosclerosis in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with coronary artery disease. *International Journal of Endocrinology* **2013**, 698567.
- 13 Wellen, K.E. & Hotamisligil, G.S. (2005) Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **115**, 1111–1119.
- 14 Tilg, H. & Moschen, A.R. (2008) Inflammatory mechanisms in the regulation of insulin resistance. *Molecular Medicine*, 14, 222– 231.
- 15 Wildman, R.P., Kaplan, R., Manson, J.E. *et al.* (2011) Body size phenotypes and inflammation in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *Obseity (Silver Spring)*, **19**, 1482–1491.
- 16 Gnacinska, M., Malgorzewicz, S., Stojek, M. *et al.* (2009) Role of adipokines in complications related to obesity. A review. *Advances in Medical Sciences*, 54, 150–157.
- 17 Chaput, J.-P. & Tremblay, A. (2006) Current and novel approaches to the drug therapy of obesity. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, **62**, 793–803.
- 18 de Luca, C. & Olefsky, J.M. (2008) Inflammation and insulin resistance. FEBS Letters, 582, 97–105.
- 19 Shoelson, S.E., Herrero, L. & Naaz, A. (2007) Obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *Gastroenterology*, **132**, 2169–2180.
- 20 Wang, P., Mariman, E., Renes, J. *et al.* (2008) The secretory function of adipocytes in the physiology of white adipose tissue. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, **216**, 3–13.

- 21 Hutchison, S.K., Stepto, N.K., Harrison, C.L. *et al.* (2011) Effects of exercise on insulin resistance and body composition in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, **96**, E48–E56.
- 22 Moran, L.J., Cameron, J.D., Strauss, B.J. *et al.* (2011) Vascular function in the diagnostic categories of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human Reproduction*, **26**, 2192–2199.
- 23 Zou, K.H., O'Malley, A.J. & Mauri, L. (2007) Receiver-operating characteristic analysis for evaluating diagnostic tests and predictive models. *Circulation*, 115, 654–657.
- 24 Grundy, S.M., Brewer, H.B. Jr, Cleeman, J.I. *et al.* (2004) Definition of metabolic syndrome: Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. *Circulation*, **109**, 433–438.
- 25 Morin-Papunen, L.C., Vauhkonen, I., Koivunen, R.M. *et al.* (2000) Insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, and metabolic and hormonal parameters in healthy women and women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Human Reproduction*, **15**, 1266–1274.
- 26 Koiou, E., Tziomalos, K., Dinas, K. *et al.* (2012) Plasma plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 levels in the different phenotypes of the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocrine Journal*, 59, 21–29.
- 27 Dunaif, A., Segal, K.R., Futterweit, W. *et al.* (1989) Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, **38**, 1165–1174.
- 28 Antuna-Puente, B., Feve, B., Fellahi, S. *et al.* (2008) Adipokines: the missing link between insulin resistance and obesity. *Diabetes* & *Metabolism*, **34**, 2–11.
- 29 Diamanti-Kandarakis, E. & Papavassiliou, A.G. (2006) Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 12, 324–332.
- 30 Moran, L.J., Hutchison, S.K., Meyer, C. *et al.* (2009) A comprehensive assessment of endothelial function in overweight women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clinical Science*, 116, 761–770.
- 31 Tarkun, I., Canturk, Z., Arslan, B.C. *et al.* (2004) The plasminogen activator system in young and lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocrine Journal*, **51**, 467–472.

- 32 Atiomo, W.U., Fox, R., Condon, J.E. *et al.* (2000) Raised plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) is not an independent risk factor in the polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Clinical Endocrinology*, **52**, 487–492.
- 33 Alessi, M.C. & Juhan-Vague, I. (2006) PAI-1 and the metabolic syndrome: links, causes, and consequences. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26, 2200–2207.
- 34 Paradisi, G., Steinberg, H.O., Hempfling, A. *et al.* (2001) Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with endothelial dysfunction. *Circulation*, **103**, 1410–1415.
- 35 Margetic, S., Gazzola, C., Pegg, G.G. *et al.* (2002) Leptin: a review of its peripheral actions and interactions. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, **26**, 1407–1433.
- 36 Wren, A.M., Seal, L.J., Cohen, M.A. et al. (2001) Ghrelin enhances appetite and increases food intake in humans. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 86, 5992–5995.
- 37 Chen, X., Jia, X., Qiao, J. *et al.* (2013) Adipokines in reproductive function: a link between obesity and polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, **50**, R21–R37.
- 38 Repaci, A., Gambineri, A., Pagotto, U. *et al.* (2011) Ghrelin and reproductive disorders. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 340, 70–79.
- 39 Mantzoros, C.S., Dunaif, A. & Flier, J.S. (1997) Leptin concentrations in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 82, 1687–1691.
- 40 Murata, M., Okimura, Y., Iida, K. *et al.* (2002) Ghrelin modulates the downstream molecules of insulin signaling in hepatoma cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **277**, 5667–5674.
- 41 Li, W.G., Gavrila, D., Liu, X.B. *et al.* (2004) Ghrelin inhibits proinflammatory responses and nuclear factor-kappa B activation in human endothelial cells. *Circulation*, **109**, 2221–2226.
- 42 Houjeghani, S., Gargari, B.P. & Farzadi, L. (2012) Serum leptin and ghrelin levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: correlation with anthropometric, metabolic, and endocrine parameters. *International Journal of Fertility & Sterility*, **6**, 117–126.

Chapter 4b Response to 'Insulin Sensitivity and Leptin in Women with PCOS.'

Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in

Date

27/11/2014

Thesis by Publication

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.

Signature:

Declaration by:

Samantha Cassar

Paper Title:

Response to 'insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS.'

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

Name	Contribution %	Nature of Contribution
Samantha Cassar	70	Wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Helena J. Teede	11	Assisted with writing the letter to the editor, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Cheryce L. Harrison	3.3	Provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication
Anju E. Joham	3.3	Provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication
Lisa J. Moran	3.3	Provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Nigel K. Stepto	9	Provided critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

DECLARATION BY CO-AUTHORS

The undersigned certify that:

- They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
- 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;
- 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
- 4. Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies,
 b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
- 5. The original data is stored at the following location(s):

Location(s): Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University

and will be held for at least five years from the date indicated below.

	Date
Samantha Cassar	27/11/2014
Helena J. Teede	27/11/2014
Cheryce L. Harrison	27/11/2014
Anju E. Joham	27/11/2014
Lisa J. Moran	27/11/2014
Nigel K. Stepto	27/11/2014

4.5 Introduction

The submission of the manuscript titled 'Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity' in Chapter 4a generated some discussion amongst the research community and as a result a letter to the editor was written by Agilli et al., titled 'Insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS' (Agilli et al., 2014). This letter to the editor expressed concern regarding the reporting of confounding factors that may have impacted on my results and therefore interpretation of data. This chapter is the response letter written to the editor that addresses the concerns expressed by the authors (Agilli et al., 2014).

4.6 My Role

I primarily wrote this manuscript, which was edited by my supervisors Professor Helena Teede and Associate Professor Nigel Stepto. Article Type: 11 Letter

Title: Response to 'insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS'

Key words: polycystic ovary syndrome, insulin resistance

Short title: Leptin and PCOS

Samantha Cassar^{1,2}, Helena J. Teede^{2,3}, Cheryce L. Harrison², Anju E. Joham^{2,3}, Lisa J. Moran^{2,4}, Nigel K. Stepto^{†1,2}

¹ Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living, Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia

² Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

³ Diabetes and Vascular Medicine Unit, Monash Health, Melbourne, Australia
 ⁴ The Robinson Research Institute, Discipline of Obstetrics and Gynaecology,

University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

[†]Corresponding author: Nigel K. Stepto

Address: College of Sport and Exercise Science, Footscray Park Campus, Victoria University, PO BOX 14428, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 8001.

Phone: (03) 9919 5416

Fax: (03) 9919 4891

This article has been accepted for publication and undergone full peer review but has not been through the copyediting, typesetting, pagination and proofreading process, which may lead to differences between this version and the Version of Record. Please cite this article as doi: 10.1111/cen.12678.

This article is protected by copyright. All rights reserved.

Email: nigel.stepto@vu.edu.au

Conflict of interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Dear Editor,

We thank Agilli et al.¹ for their comments and the opportunity to clarify a number of points from our work entitled 'Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity.²

Agilli et al., raised concerns regarding potential confounding factors for leptin.¹ We noted in our study by Cassar et al., and made reference to other papers outlining this cohort, that participants underwent a screening process to assess eligibility.^{2, 3} The medical screening process was conducted by experienced endocrinologists and involved the assessment of the overall health and wellbeing of each participant, discussing previous and current medical conditions, medications and vitamins taken and family history. We confirm that none of the participants had liver disease, inflammatory diseases, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, or a history of Helicobacter pylori infection. None were taking glucocorticoids, antipsychotics, antihypertensive, hormonal or insulin sensitising medication, linoleic acid, zinc, vitamin E or vitamin A. On detailed review of the medical files, three participants were taking antidepressant medication, two were taking vitamin D supplements and five were taking omega-3 fatty acid supplements.

We agree with Agilli et al., that potential confounding factors should ideally be excluded, or be reported. In our cohort of otherwise healthy women, except for their PCOS, the large majority were not on any medications or supplements with limited projected impact on results. We repeated our statistical evaluation as outlined in the manuscript, omitting the three and five participants on antidepressants and omega-3 fatty acid supplements respectively, and leptin relationships remained similar.

References

1 Agilli, M., Aydin, F.N., Cayci, T. & Gulcan Kurt, Y. (2014) Insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS. *Clinical endocrinology*.

2 Cassar, S., Teede, H.J., Harrison, C.L., Joham, A.E., Moran, L.J. & Stepto, N.K. (2014) Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS: Characteristics and predictive capacity. *Clinical endocrinology*.

3 Hutchison, S.K., Stepto, N.K., Harrison, C.L., Moran, L.J., Strauss, B.J. & Teede, H.J. (2011) Effects of Exercise on Insulin Resistance and Body Composition in Overweight and Obese Women with and without Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **96**, E48-E56.

This article is protected by copyright. All rights reserved.

Chapter 5 Mitochondrial Dysfunction as a Potential Mechanism Underlying Intrinsic Insulin Resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

5.0 Introduction

The mechanisms underlying intrinsic IR in PCOS are largely unknown. Skeletal muscle play a major role in glucose uptake and whole-body energy homeostasis (DeFronzo et al., 1985). A reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake into muscle is often observed in metabolic conditions such as IR, obesity, and T2DM and this reduction has been attributed to a decrease in skeletal muscle mitochondrial content, size and function (Joseph et al., 2012)

5.1 Role of mitochondria in insulin resistance

The predominant function of mitochondria is ATP generation by OXPHOS (Brand and Nicholls, 2011). Other functions include fatty acid oxidation, mediating oxidative stress and generating cellular signalling molecules (Goodpaster, 2013). Metabolic homeostasis is tightly controlled by the mitochondria through the oxidisation of both carbohydrates and lipids and by transitioning between these substrates in response to insulin, substrate concentrations and the contractile status (rest versus contraction) of the muscle (Kelley et al., 1993, Jeukendrup, 2002). Abnormality in any of these processes can be termed mitochondrial dysfunction (Brand and Nicholls, 2011). IR is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction including, decreased mitochondrial number, abnormal morphology, lower levels of mitochondrial oxidative enzymes, accumulation of intracellular lipid content, and reduced adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis (Kim et al., 2000, Petersen et al., 2004, Ritov et al., 2005). Intracellular lipid accumulation causes reduced mitochondrial oxidative capacity in skeletal muscle of T2DM patients and their offspring (Befroy et al., 2007, Mogensen et al., 2007) and acute lipid infusion or chronic elevation of plasma free fatty acids (FFA) causes hepatic insulin resistance (Brehm et al., 2006). Patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver

disease (NAFLD) also exhibit mitochondrial abnormalities including lesions, depletion of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), decreased activity of respiratory complexes (Perez-Carreras et al., 2003, Pessayre and Fromenty, 2005) and impaired mitochondrial β -oxidation, which contribute to liver injury (Befroy et al., 2007, Fromenty and Pessayre, 1995). Furthermore, excessive adipose tissue as seen in obesity increases lipolysis, and the release of FFA further contribute to mitochondrial dysfunction. Thus, mitochondrial dysfunction is associated with IR not only in skeletal muscle, but also in the liver and adipose tissue (Kim et al., 2008, Samuel et al., 2004, Steinberg et al., 1996). Whether the development of metabolic conditions or their progression is a result of mitochondrial dysfunction or whether mitochondrial dysfunction is a consequence of the disease is currently under debate.

5.2 Mitochondrial dysfunction and intrinsic insulin resistance in PCOS

Conflicting data exists on whether IR is caused by mitochondrial dysfunction in PCOS. A reduction is skeletal muscle OXPHOS gene expression has been reported in obese insulin resistant women with PCOS compared to age and BMI-matched healthy controls (Skov et al., 2007). This decrease was also accompanied by reduced levels of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator α (PGC-1 α) leading authors to conclude that PGC-1 α mediated the reduction in OXPHOS gene expression, which may predispose women with PCOS to T2DM (Skov et al., 2007). Moreover, thiazolidinedione (pioglitazone) treatment has the ability to improve insulin sensitivity, in part, by upregulating the genes involved in mitochondrial OXPHOS

(Skov et al., 2007). Mitochondrial complex I respiration is also reduced in leukocytes obtained from lean women with PCOS compared with age and BMI-matched healthy control women (Victor et al., 2009). However, caution needs to be taken when interpreting these results as leukocyte mitochondrial function may be different to mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle (Brand and Nicholls, 2011).

In contrast, others have not reported mitochondrial dysfunction in PCOS. Obese women with PCOS had no difference in gene expression or protein abundance of OXPHOS enzymes compared to BMI matched controls (Hutchison et al., 2011). There were also similarities in mitochondrial function, content and mass in isolated mitochondria obtained from myotubes of obese women with PCOS (Eriksen et al., 2011). The authors concluded that any dysfunction was secondary to IR rather than a primary cause. In a recent study investigating mitochondrial function in lean and obese women with and without PCOS (Rabol et al., 2011), mitochondrial function, investigated using high resolution respirometry, and content were similar in both groups. A limitation of the majority of studies investigating mitochondrial function in PCOS is the lack of account for fitness (Rabol et al., 2011). Fitness levels have been shown to effect mitochondrial function (Frisard and Ravussin, 2006, Ritz and Berrut, 2005).

5.3 Techniques to measure Mitochondrial Function

Various techniques have been employed to assess mitochondrial function and for the purposes of this chapter, mitochondrial function will be defined as the ability of the mitochondria to consume oxygen (Brand and Nicholls, 2011). High resolution respiration is one technique that has the ability to measure mitochondrial oxidative capacity in small amounts of isolated mitochondria or permeabilized muscle fibers

(Lanza and Nair, 2009) in a twin chamber instrument manufactured by Oroboros Instruments (Innsbruk, Austria). This method allows detailed analysis of different states of the Kreb cycle and ETC by the addition of various substrates and inhibitors. An advantage of this approach is the ability to assess multiple levels of the ETC in the same tissue sample (Brand and Nicholls, 2011).

5.4 Summary

In summary, the role of mitochondrial function in IR is still under debate and few studies have investigated the contribution of mitochondrial dysfunction to intrinsic IR in PCOS. Therefore Chapter 5 will aim to improve our knowledge in this area.

5.5 My Role

My role in this chapter was to conduct fitness testing and prepare the resting muscle biopsy for analysis. Following the euglycameic-hyperinulinaemic clamp, I transported the muscle biopsy sample from Monash University to Victoria University and immediately performed mitochondrial respiration. I was also responsible for ordering all the consumables and optimizing the respiration technique in our laboratory. I independently optimised and completed western blot analysis and cytochrome C analysis in the laboratory. I wrote the manuscript and constructed all the tables and figures. This manuscript is unpublished work.

Mitochondrial dysfunction as a potential mechanism underlying intrinsic insulin

resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most common endocrine and metabolic disorder of premenopausal reproductive aged women and is associated with numerous clinical sequelae including metabolic (obesity, T2DM, impaired glucose tolerance), reproductive (infertility, irregular menstrual cycles), psychological (depression and anxiety) and social health implications across the lifespan (Azziz et al., 2006, Teede et al., 2010). The aetiology of PCOS is unknown, complex and multifactorial. A combination of intrinsic (genetic) and environmental factors play a role in the development of the syndrome (Dunaif et al., 1989, Norman et al., 2007, Stepto et al., 2013). Lean and obese women with PCOS are less insulin sensitive than body weight matched controls, indicating that insulin resistance is intrinsic to the condition (Dunaif et al., 1989, Stepto et al., 2013). Furthermore, obesity exacerbates the degree of insulin resistance in both healthy and PCOS women, worsening the clinical characteristics of hyperandrogenism in the condition (Teede et al., 2010).

Mitochondrial dysfunction has been linked to the development of skeletal muscle IR in certain conditions (Peterson 2006). The mitochondria play an important role in energy homeostasis by metabolising nutrients in order to produce energy, in the form of ATP. An imbalance between energy intake and expenditure can lead to mitochondrial dysfunction and chronic diseases (Kim 2008). Mitochondrial dysfunction describes a reduction in mitochondrial content and/or reduced mitochondrial respiratory capacity. It may inhibit insulin sensitivity through lower fatty acid oxidation, accumulation of intracellular lipid species, incomplete β oxidation, and elevated generation of reactive oxygen species (Kim et al., 2000, Petersen et al., 2004, Ritov et al., 2005). Therefore underlying mitochondrial dysfunction may contribute to the pathophysiology of many chronic diseases with underlying IR including diabetes (Mogensen et al., 2007).

At present there are few studies that have investigated the contribution of skeletal muscle mitochondria to insulin resistance in PCOS. A reduction in OXPHOS gene expression has been reported in obese insulin resistant women with PCOS compared to age and BMI-matched healthy controls (Skov et al., 2007). Furthermore, in a recent study investigating mitochondrial function in lean and obese women with and without PCOS, mitochondrial function (investigated by high resolution respiration [HRR]) and content were similar between all groups (Rabol et al., 2011).

A limitation of the majority of studies investigating mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS is the lack of attention given to lean women with the syndrome and a disregard for potential confounding factors including level of fitness. Fitness levels have been shown to affect mitochondrial function and should be answered and reported (Ritz and Berrut, 2005).

Since IR is intrinsic to PCOS we wanted to investigate whether intrinsic IR was accompanied by skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction in lean women with PCOS. We did this by using HRR, citrate synthase assay and immunoblotting of skeletal muscle from lean women with and without PCOS in conjunction with assessment of insulin sensitivity using the gold standard euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. The advantage of studying this cohort of women is that they have less confounding factors that may contribute to IR (e.g. obesity). Furthermore, using HHR allows us to measure each of the protein complexes of the electron transport chain in isolation to determine specific dysfunctions in the mitochondria.

Methods

Participants

Twenty-eight healthy weight (BMI > 25) premenopausal women with (n=13) and without (n=15) PCOS were recruited. PCOS was diagnosed by endocrinologists based on Rotterdam criteria with two of (i) irregular menstrual cycles, (ii) clinical (hirsutism, acne) or biochemical (elevation of at least one circulating ovarian androgen) hyperandrogenism and (iii) PCO on ultrasound (Group, 2004). As this work expands on previous studies, the exclusion criteria and screening for other causes of hyperandrogenism have been previously described (Stepto et al., 2013, Hutchison et al., 2011). The Southern Health Research Advisory and Ethics Committee approved the study and participants gave written informed consent. The clinical trial registration number is ISRCTN84763265.

Study design

At screening (3 months prior to testing), standard diet and lifestyle advice were delivered (Heart Foundation recommendations (www.heartfoundation.org.au)) and medications affecting end-points including insulin sensitizers, anti-androgens and hormonal contraceptives were ceased. Data were collected in the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle where feasible.

Clinical and biochemical measurements

Fasting venous blood samples were collected and analysed for glucose, insulin, testosterone and sex hormone binding globulan (SHBG). Plasma insulin was measured using a commercial human insulin-specific RIA kit (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO). Testosterone (reference range 0-2.7 nmol/L) was measured on Beckman Coulter Unicel DXI 800 analyser (Beckman Coulter Diagnostics Australia, Gladesville, Australia) using an automated competitive binding immunoenzymatic assay. Serum SHBG (reference range 18-136 nmol/L) was measured by automated enzyme immunoassay on a Diagnostic Products Corporation Immulite analyser (Diagnostic Products Corp., Los Angeles, CA).

Euglycaemic-Hyperinsulinaemic Clamp

Insulin sensitivity was assessed by the euglycaemic–hyperinsulinaemic clamp technique as previously reported (Hutchison et al., 2011). Briefly, the clamp was performed 72 h after a standardized high-carbohydrate diet prior to an overnight fast. Venous fasting blood samples were collected, analysed and stored as appropriate after arterialization. Insulin (Actrapid; Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark) was infused at 40 mU/min/m² for 120 minutes generating an elevated, stable insulin concentration from 10 to 120 minutes, with plasma glucose maintained at 5 mmol/L, using variable infusion. Glucose was assessed every 5 minutes and the glucose infusion rate (GIR) was calculated during the last 30 minutes of the insulin-stimulated period and expressed as glucose (mg) per body surface area (m²) per min. HOMA was calculated as previously described (Meyer et al., 2005b).

High-Resolution Respirometry

Mitochondrial function was investigated by using mitochondrial respiration. Muscle biopsies were taken under local anaesthesia from the vastas lateralis muscle using the Bergstrom needle technique. Muscle biopsies were taken at baseline before the insulin clamp commenced. A small portion of the biopsy was placed in ice cold relaxing BIOPS (Pesta and Gnaiger, 2012); The solution contains 10 mM Ca-EGTA buffer, 0.1 µM free calcium, 20 mM imidazole, 20 mM taurine, 50 mM K-MES, 0.5 mM DTT, 6.56 mM MgCl2, 5,77 mM ATP, 15 mM phosphocreatine and has a pH 7.1 medium, where the muscle is able to survive for up to 12 hours before integrity is compromised (unpublished data). All muscle was analysed within 3 hours of being taken. The muscle was mechanically separated under a microscope while kept in icecold BIOPS media using fine forceps. Following separation, the muscle was permeabilised with saponin (50µg/ml in BIOPS) for 30 minutes. Following permeabilisation, the muscle was rinsed for 20 minutes in MiRO5 (g 0.5 mM EGTA, 3 mM MgCl2.6H2O, 60 mM K-lactobionate, 20 mM Taurine, 10 mM KH2P04, 20 mM HEPES, 110 mM Sucrose, 1 g/l BSA, at pH 7.1) to ensure saponin is removed (Rabol, 2011). Each muscle was weighed following the removal of liquid by blotting on paper.

Mitochondrial Respiration Protocol

Duplicate muscle samples (2-3.5 mg) were placed in Oxygraph HHR (Oroboros, Innsbruck, Austria) chambers containing MIRO5 and catalase (Pesta and Gnaiger, 2012). All analysis was conducted following hyper-oxygenation (approximately 500 nmol O_2/mL) in respiration chambers and the oxygen level in the chambers was maintained between 200 and 500 mM O_2 . Substrates and inhibitors were added consecutively. Complex I leak state (CI leak) was assessed following the addition of

pyruvate (5mmol/L), malate (2 mmol/L), glutamate (10 mmol/l). Oxidative phosphoralation (OXPHOS) with electron flux through CI was assessed by titrating ADP (0.25, 0.75, 2.5, and 5 mM). The integrity of the mitochondrial membrane was then assessed by the addition of cytochrome C (10 mmol/L). If respiration increased more than 20%, it was deemed that the mitochondrial membrane had been permealised or damaged and therefore the results were not included in analysis. Complex I and Complex II coupled respiration was assessed by adding succinate (10 mmol/L). We examined uncoupled respiration by addition of protonophore carbonylcyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy)-phenylhydrazone (FCCP) (1 mmol/L) in a stepwise titration. Tissue wet weight was used as the denominator for oxygen flux rates. Finally, sodium azide was added to the chambers and allowed to stabilise before residual oxygen consumption (ROX) was measured. All respiration measurements were completed in duplicate and an average of the two were taken.

Mitochondrial Content

Citrate synthase activity has been established as a reliable marker for mitochondrial density (Wang et al., 1999). Skeletal muscle frozen at -80°C was used for analysis. Samples were thawed and mechanically homogenized on ice for 30 s and freeze-thawed a further 3 times. To each well of a 96-well microtitier plate, 10 μ L of sample was loaded along with 190 μ L of working solution (final concentrations in mM: 72.5 tris buffer, 0.1 DTNB, 0.45 acetyl co-A, 0.25% Triton X-100) followed by 10 μ L of oxaloacetic acid (0.5 mM) before the reaction was read at 412 nm in a spectrophotometer (x-Mark, Bio-Rad laboratories, Inc., Hercules, California, USA). CS activity values are reported normalised to protein concentration determined via Bradford assay.

Immunoblotting

Approximately 60 mg of frozen muscle samples was homogenized in ice-cold buffer containing 20 mM of Tris, pH 7.8 (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA), 137 mM of NaCl, 2.7 mM of KCl (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), 1 mM of MgCl₂, 5 mM of Na₄O₇P₂, 10 mM of NaF, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol (Ajax Finechem, Taren Point, Australia), 0.5 mM of Na₄VO₃, 1 µgmL⁻¹ of leupeptin, 1 µgmL⁻¹ of aprotinin, 200 mM of Phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride, 1 mM of DL-Dithiothreitol, and 1 mM of benzamidine. Samples were homogenized (1:37.5 dilution (w/v)) for 2 x 20 s, using a tissue homogenizer (TH220; Omni International, Kennesaw, GA). Homogenates were then rotated for 60 minutes at 4°C and centrifuged at 15,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C, and protein concentration of the resulting supernatant was determined using a DC Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad). Aliquots of the muscle lysate were mixed with Laemmli sample buffer and optimal protein loading was determined (Figure 1). From the optimisation results, 10 µg of total protein per sample was separated by 7.5% Criterion TGX Precast Midi Gels (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc., USA) for 1 hour at constant rate of 200 volts in a standard vertical electrophoresis unit (SE 600 Chroma; Hoefer, Inc., Holliston, MA). After electrophoresis, proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membranes (PVDF; Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.) for 7 min using the Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer system (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.) and a low molecular weight protocol was selected. Membranes were blocked in TBST buffer (10 mM of Tris, 100 mM of NaCl, 0.02% Tween 20) containing 7.5% non-fat milk, for 1 hour at room temperature. After being washed 3 x 10 min in TBST, membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies for complexes I-V of the mitochondrial electron transport system (MitoProfile® total

OXPHOS human antibody cocktail, Abcam, Sapphire Biosciences, Waterloo, NSW, Australia, ab110411). The primary antibody was diluted 1:1,000 in TBS containing 0.1 % NaN₃ and 0.1 % albumin bovine serum. Following incubation with the primary antibody, membranes were incubated with an anti-mouse (PerkinElmer. NEF822001EA) horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody, for 1 hour at room temperature (1:10,000 in TBST with 5% non-fat milk). Immunoreactivity was detected using a chemiluminescence reagent (Clarity Western Star C ECL substrate, Biorad) and quantified by densitometric scanning (VersaDocTM MP4000, Bio-Rad). Only linear adjustments to the whole images were performed (Quantity One, Bio-Rad), with no modifications to gamma settings. Loading control was performed using a modified version of the Coomassie stain protocol (Welinder and Ekblad, 2011). Briefly, after removing the HRP substrate, membranes were incubated with a Coomassie stain solution (0.1 % Brilliant Blue R-250 in 1:1 methanol/distilled water) for 2 minutes, followed by 5 minutes of de-staining (1:5:4 acetic acid/ethanol/distilled water). After washing, the membranes were analysed as described above.



Figure 1 OXPHOS antibody linearity gel to determine optimal amount of protein to load. The amount of protein loaded in each well from left to right are; $4\mu g$, $8\mu g$, $20\mu g$, $40\mu g$, $60\mu g$ and $80\mu g$.

Maximal Aerobic Capacity (VO_{2max})

Prior to testing, the participant's height and weight were recorded. Maximal aerobic capacity was measured telemetrically using a portable gas analyser (Cosmed K4B2, Italy), which was warmed up for at least 20 minutes before use. Following the warm up period, the pneumotach was calibrated with ten samples from a 3L calibration syringe and the gas analysers were calibrated using medically certified reference gases of known concentrations for oxygen (16%) and carbon dioxide (4%). Each participant was fitted with an appropriately sized anatomical silicone face mask to sample expired air, a sensor unit to test ventilation, oxygen, and carbon dioxide concentrations in the expired air, and a battery pack before exercise. A modified Bruce Protocol graded exercise test (Bruce et al., 1973) was performed on a treadmill (Biodex RTM 500, model no. 945-295, New York, USA). Termination of the test

occurred if the participant; a) reached volitional exhaustion and asked to stop, b) reached a plateau in VO₂ with increases in work load, c) was unable to maintain the required running speed on the treadmill, d) reached age-predicted maximum heart rate (220–age) determine through the use of a Polar heart rate monitor. VO_{2max} was defined as the highest oxygen uptake during a 1-min sampling period.

Statistical Analysis

All values are expressed as means and SD. An independent sample t-test was used to compare groups for all analysis. All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 22). Significance is reported where P < 0.05

Results

Baseline Characteristics

The baseline characteristics of participants are presented in Table 1. The control and PCOS groups were similar in age (P=0.6) and BMI (P=0.2). Fasting plasma glucose (P=0.5), fasting plasma insulin (P=0.2) and SHGB (p=0.5) were not different between control and PCOS groups. The glucose infusion rate (GIR), as measured by the insulin clamp, was significantly lower in the PCOS group compared to the control group ($279 \pm 76 \text{ vs } 337 \pm 65 \text{ mg/min/m}^2$; P=0.02), indicating some degree of insulin resistance. Testosterone was elevated in the PCOS compared to control group ($2.3 \pm 0.8 \text{ vs } 1.7 \pm 0.5 \text{ nmol/l}^{-1}$, P=0.04). Fitness levels tended to be higher in the control group, but this did not reach significance (P=0.07).

Characteristics	Control	PCOS
Age (years)	26.4 ± 5.3	27.3 ± 5.0
BMI (kg/m ²)	21.9 ± 2.2	23.0 ± 2.2
Fasting Glucose (mmol/L)	4.5 ± 0.3	4.4 ± 0.3
Fasting Insulin (pmol/L)	3.7 ±1.1	4.4 ±1.7
GIR* (mg/min/m ²)	337 ± 65	270 ± 76
Testosterone* (nmol/L)	1.7 ± 0.5	2.3 ± 0.8
SHBG (nmol/L)	78.8 ± 22.0	71.4 ± 33.8
FAI*	2.5 ± 1.1	3.6 ± 1.8
VO _{2max} (ml/kg/min)	39.4 ± 5.6	34.5 ± 7.0

 Table 1 – Participant characteristics

Results are reported as mean \pm SD.

* indicates significant difference (P < 0.05).

GIR, glucose infusion rate; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; FAI, free androgen index.

Mitochondrial Efficiency

Mitochondrial respiration for Complex I leak state (P=0.4), Complex 1 OXPHOS (P=0.2), Complex I + II OXPHOS (P=0.3) and ETC maximal uncoupled respiration (P=0.1) did not differ between control and PCOS groups (Figure 2). Furthermore, ADP-stimulated basal respiration between the two groups did not differ (Figure 3). There were also no significant differences in the abundance of OXPHOS proteins in Complex I through to Complex V between groups (Figure 4a and 4b). Citrate synthase, a marker of mitochondrial density, was also not different between groups (P=0.8; Figure 5).



Figure 2 Mitochondrial respiration as measured by high resolution respirometry in lean women with and without PCOS



Figure 3 Mitochondrial respiration changes as a result of the addition of ADP.



Figure 4 Mitochondrial protein expression in women with and without PCOS (A). Representative blot of mitochondrial protein expression for Complexes I-V (B).



Figure 5 Citrate synthase activity as an indication of mitochondrial abundance in women with and without PCOS

Discussion

Mitochondrial dysfunction has recently been implicated in the aetiology of IR and T2DM. However, it is not yet elucidated whether intrinsic mitochondrial defects cause intrinsic IR in PCOS. Therefore, the present study examined the mechanistic role of mitochondria in intrinsic IR in PCOS. We report no evidence of skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction as measured by HRR, mitochondrial protein abundance and mitochondrial content in lean insulin resistant women with PCOS, compared to a healthy control group with similar age, BMI and cardiorespiratory fitness.

Using the gold standard technique for measuring insulin sensitivity, the euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp, we report that lean women with PCOS show significantly lower insulin sensitivity supporting the hypothesis that IR is intrinsic to the condition (Dunaif et al., 1989, Stepto et al., 2013). IR can be defined as an impaired biological response to insulin as a result of metabolic and mitogenic dysfunctions (Rotterdam, 2004). Skeletal muscle accounts for the majority of insulin-mediated glucose uptake, therefore defects in skeletal muscle are likely to contribute to insulin resistance in PCOS (DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009)

Mitochondria have been implicated in the pathophysiology of metabolic diseases (Goodpaster, 2013) and the proposed mechanisms by which mitochondrial dysfunction induces IR include a decrease in mitochondrial density and size, which results in a reduction in oxidative capacity, a reduction in the expression of mitochondrial proteins encoded by both the mitochondrial genome and nucleus, alterations in gene expression related to fatty acid oxidation, accumulation of lipid metabolites and incomplete beta oxidation (Ritz and Berrut, 2005, Skov et al., 2007). We investigated mitochondrial dysfunction using techniques to assess mitochondrial content, enzyme abundance and respiration in women with PCOS to determine if mitochondrial processes are associated with intrinsic IR.

High-resolution respirometry was used to measure mitochondrial oxidative capacity in skeletal muscle of insulin resistant lean women with PCOS. To date, only one study has used this technique in PCOS and reported no evidence of dysfunctional mitochondria respiration in lean women with PCOS (Rabol et al., 2011). In this study, lean women with PCOS did not differ in insulin sensitivity from lean controls. We therefore extend prior knowledge in this area by investigating mitochondrial oxidative capacity in insulin resistant lean women with PCOS. We report Complex I, Complex I and II and uncoupled respiration to be similar in lean insulin resistant women with PCOS compared to lean healthy controls.

Decreased mitochondrial function as a result of reduced mitochondrial content is present in first degree relatives of type 2 diabetics, indicating its potential role in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and T2DM (Kelley et al., 2002, Morino et al., 2005). In line with these findings, the abundance of mitochondrial proteins is also reported to be lower in obese insulin resistant and obese type 2 diabetics compared to insulin sensitive controls (Larsen et al., 2011). In the present study we assessed mitochondrial content with the surrogate marker of CS activity (Porter and Wall, 2012). However, we did not detect any differences in citrate synthase activity, or protein abundance of mitochondrial electron transport proteins in lean women with PCOS. These findings are in agreement with a previous study, which found no differences in mitochondrial protein content or mitochondrial content in obese women with PCOS (Hutchison et al., 2012).

Interestingly, Complex II respiration, uncoupled respiration (Rabol et al., 2009) and OXPHOS gene expression (Skov et al., 2007) were reduced in the skeletal muscle of obese women with PCOS. Also, insulin sensitizing treatment improves insulin sensitivity, in part due to upregulating the OXPHOS genes (Skov et al., 2008). Notably, obesity promotes lipid accumulation in skeletal muscle which is linked to reduced insulin-stimulated glucose disposal (Kim et al., 2008). Furthermore, adipocytes release adipokines including leptin, resistin and PAI-1, which have a regulatory role in metabolism (Kershaw and Flier, 2004). Therefore, the functional capacity of the mitochondria may be reduced as a result of the lipid oversupply that is

present in obesity (Muoio and Koves, 2007). It is therefore possible that any mitochondrial dysfunction in PCOS is secondary to the development of obesity. As insulin resistance in PCOS is exacerbated by weight gain, obesity-related mitochondrial dysfunction may promote further deterioration of IR in PCOS.

We report no differences in mitochondrial respiration, protein abundance in complexes I to V or mitochondrial content in lean women with PCOS and lower insulin sensitivity. Therefore, mitochondrial dysfunction does not appear to be responsible for the intrinsic IR in PCOS and may be secondary to insulin resistance and/or obesity. The complexity of IR is unlikely to be explained by a single mechanism, but rather various factors (e.g., obesity, insulin signalling defects, genetics, environmental conditions etc.,) acting synergistically. Furthermore, the mechanisms involved in IR in diabetic and obese individuals are likely to differ from those that contribute to IR in lean individuals with PCOS. Further and more comprehensive assessments of mitochondrial function are needed to elucidate the role mitochondrial play in insulin resistant conditions.

This study had a number of limitations. Firstly, we had a small sample size and data from high resolution respirometry can be variable (Rabol, 2011). Therefore, small but important differences between PCOS and control groups may have been missed. Another limitation of the study is the use of different parts of the muscle samples for respiration (fresh muscle) and the citrate synthase assay (frozen sub-muscle). The muscle from respiration analysis should have been used to quantify citrate synthase.. These latter limitations should be considered as it cannot be assumed that an equal distribution of mitochondria throughout the entire muscle sample. Although, we had a small sample size and different muscle samples were used to measure mitochondrial respiration and content, mitochondrial function was comprehensively measured by three different techniques and findings were consistent between techniques. Strengths of the study include; comparisons were made between groups of similar age and BMI. Importantly, skeletal muscle mitochondrial function was accompanied by the physical fitness/VO₂max of each participant.

In conclusion, the results of this study show that skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiratory capacity, as measured by high-resolution respirometry, is not decreased in lean insulin resistant women with PCOS. Furthermore, we report no differences in mitochondrial protein abundance in complexes I to V or in mitochondrial density as assessed by citrate synthase activity. Therefore, mitochondrial dysfunction does not appear to be the cause of intrinsic IR but mitochondrial function may be a key target tissue in the prevention of progression of PCOS into more severe phenotypes by actively targeting muscle to promote mitochondrial function. Further work is required to understand the molecular mechanisms underlying the causes of intrinsic IR in women with PCOS and whether muscle mitochondria respond to exercise training in the same way that women without PCOS respond to exercise.

Chapter 6 Polycystic ovary syndrome and Anti-Müllerian hormone: Role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotropins.
Declaration of Co-Authorship and Co-Contribution: Paper Incorporated in

Thesis by Publication

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.



Paper Title:

Polycystic ovary syndrome and Anti-Müllerian hormone: Role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotropins.

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

Name	Contribution %	Nature of Contribution
Samantha Cassar	70	Involved in the conception, collected data, performed laboratory analysis, statistically analysed and interpreted data, wrote the manuscript, constructed all graphs and tables, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Helena J. Teede	8	Involved with conception and design, interpreted data, wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.
Lisa J. Moran	5	Collected data, assisted with statistical analysis, interpreted data, wrote the manuscript, undertook critical revision for important intellectual content and approved the final version for publication.

Aniu F. Joham	2	Collected data, undertook critical revision for				
inju E. Jonani	2	important intellectual content and approved				
		the final version for publication				
Charwoo I. Harrison	2	Collected the data, undertook critical revision				
Cheryce L. Harrison	Z	for important intellectual content and				
		approved the final version for publication				
		Performed and analysed body composition				
Boyd J. Strauss	5	measurements, undertook critical revision fo				
		important intellectual content and approved				
		the final version for publication.				
		Involved with conception and design, analysis				
Nigel K. Stepto	0	and interpretation of data, undertook the				
	8	critical revision for important intellectual				
		content and approved the final version for				
		publication.				

DECLARATION BY CO-AUTHORS

The undersigned certify that:

- 1. They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
 - 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;
 - 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
 - Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies, b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
 - 5. The original data is stored at the following location(s):

Location(s): Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University

and	l will	be	held	for	at l	least	five	years	from	the dat	te ir	ndicated	belov	w.

		L	Date
Samantha Cassar			27/11/2014
Helena J. Teede			27/11/2014
Lisa J. Moran	-		27/11/2014
Anju E. Joham	-		27/11/2014
Cheryce L. Harrison			27/11/2014
Boyd J. Strauss	-		27/11/2014
Nigel K. Stepto			27/11/2014

6.0 Introduction

PCOS is typically characterised by IR, which is independent of but exacerbated by obesity, and hyperandrogenism. Anovulation and PCOM in PCOS can be attributed to an increased rate of early follicular growth and/or follicular arrest (Jonard and Dewailly, 2004). Anti-Mullerian hormone AMH is a glycoprotein that belongs to the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) superfamily of glycoproteins that play a role in inhibiting the initial recruitment of follicles and promoting follicular arrest (Cate et al., 1986, Durlinger et al., 2002, Durlinger et al., 2001, La Marca and Volpe, 2006). In women, AMH is produced by the granulosa cells during the development of the primary follicle and continues until the follicles reach approximately 8 mm in diameter (Weenen et al., 2004). Consequently, there is a strong correlation between AMH and antral follicle count (de Vet et al., 2002, Fanchin et al., 2003, Laven et al., 2004, van Disseldorp et al., 2010). Antral follicles are currently a key feature in PCOS diagnosis based on the Rotterdam ultrasound criteria (Jonard et al., 2003). However there are problems with cost, accuracy and accessibility of ultrasound, which reflect ovarian structure only and better functional markers of ovarian dysfunction are needed.

6.1 AMH in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Women with PCOS have a 2-6-fold increase in the number of primary growing follicles and higher AMH levels compared to healthy controls (Norman et al., 2007). AMH levels appear reflective of the severity of PCOS; AMH levels being higher in anovulatory and hyperandrogenic women with 'classical' PCOS, compared with both ovulatory women with PCO and hyperandrogenemia and anovulatory women with PCO but normal androgen levels (the newer phenotypes diagnosed under the Rotterdam criteria) (Piouka et al., 2009).

6.2 AMH and Hyperandrogenism

Androgens have been proposed as a mechanism for PCOM and elevated AMH levels in PCOS. Using animal models, the female fetus of Rhesus monkeys display characteristic morphology of a PCO when exposed to high concentrations of testosterone in utero (Abbott et al., 2005). Furthermore, the administration of androgens through injections to rodents produced a polycystic morphology in a normal ovary (Beloosesky et al., 2004). Androgens are reported to accelerate the progression of early follicular development as well as improve granulosa cell sensitivity to FSH, an important step in dominant follicle selection (Hillier and Tetsuka, 1997, Pigny et al., 2003). However, in PCOS the follicles arrest in development and this may be due to the increase in atrial follicle production caused by androgens and as a consequence, increased production of AMH, which inhibits FSH action (Pigny et al., 2006, Pigny et al., 2003). AMH concentrations in women with PCOS are independently correlated with testosterone and the number of small antral follicles (Pigny et al., 2003, Piouka et al., 2009, Laven et al., 2004).

6.3 AMH and Insulin Resistance

In PCOS, despite the systemic IR and compensatory hyperinsulinaemia, insulin sensitivity in the ovaries tends to be preserved or increased (Baillargeon and Nestler, 2006, Poretsky, 2006). However, current literature is contradictory with respect to providing a clear association between AMH and IR. A positive correlation has been reported between the number of ovarian antral follicles and ovarian volume with hyperinsulinemia in PCOS and in women with T2DM (Carmina et al., 2005b, Pache

et al., 1993, Codner et al., 2006). Similarly a correlation has been reported between AMH levels and HOMA in women with PCOS (Chen et al., 2008a, La Marca et al., 2004). However, some studies have not reported any associations between PCOM, AMH concentrations and insulin sensitivity (Legro et al., 2005, Loucks et al., 2000). It is proposed that hyperinsulinemia may contribute to AMH production by enhancing androgen production in theca cells, stimulate the development of antral follicles, increase the sensitivity of granulosa cells to FSH, and thus increase the number of follicles and ovarian volume (Franks et al., 1999, Fulghesu et al., 1997). The role of IR in AMH production and ovarian dysfunction remains an area of contention and is hampered by a lack of research using gold standard measures of IR.

6.4 AMH and Obesity

Serum AMH levels are negatively correlated with BMI in PCOS, however there are limited studies evaluating the impact of obesity on AMH in PCOS, with few studies focusing on lean women (Caglar et al., 2013). AMH levels are traditionally lower in overweight and obese women with PCOS compared to lean women with and without PCOS (Piouka et al., 2009).

6.5 AMH and Gonadotropins

Gonadotropins are responsible for the later stages of follicular growth when a dominant follicle is selected. In PCOS, this process is disrupted and it may be as a result of FSH inhibition. FSH concentrations in PCOS are usually in the low to normal range and the administration of FSH restores follicular growth (Pasquali et al., 2011). Furthermore, FSH has been shown, in rat tissue, to down regulate the expression of AMH in granulosa cells (Baarends et al., 1995).

LH also plays a role in follicular development. A positive association between AMH and LH concentration has been reported in PCOS (Panidis et al., 2005). Cells from normal ovaries have little response to LH, but gonadotropin stimulated AMH production is approximately four times greater in cells obtained from PCO, suggesting that AMH concentrations are positively influenced by LH levels in women with PCOS and LH could also contribute to follicular arrest (Piouka et al., 2009). A strong independent positive relationship between LH and AMH production has been reported. However AMH levels do not seem to be correlated with FSH levels in women with PCOS (Piouka et al., 2009). Furthermore, higher AMH levels are reported in lean women, who have been shown to have higher LH levels compared with obese and overweight women (Piouka et al., 2009).

6.6 Summary

This chapter aims to improve knowledge in the area of PCOS by investigating the potential use of AMH as a diagnostic marker for PCOS. Given the lack of research of AMH in lean women with PCOS, the role of obesity, gonadotropins, insulin resistance and androgens in AHM production is also investigated.

6.7 My Role

I collected data, ordered all consumables and independently conducted laboratory optimisation and analysis in the form of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the quantification of AMH. I also statistically analysed and interpreted the data and wrote and submitted the manuscript to Clinical Endocrinology (Impact Factor 3.35, Q1 Journal) for publication.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Polycystic ovary syndrome and anti-Müllerian hormone: role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotrophins

Samantha Cassar*'†'‡, Helena J. Teede‡'§, Lisa J. Moran‡'¶, Anju E. Joham‡, Cheryce L. Harrison‡, Boyd J. Strauss** and Nigel K. Stepto*'†'‡

*College of Sport and Exercise Science, Victoria University, †Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living, Victoria University, ‡Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, \$Diabetes and Vascular Medicine Unit, Monash Health, Melbourne, Vic., ¶The Robinson Research Institute, Discipline of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA and **School of Clinical Sciences, Monash University, Melbourne, Vic., Australia

Summary

Objective Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a complex endocrine disorder associated with insulin resistance, hyperandrogenism, obesity, altered gonadotrophin release and anovulatory infertility. Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) has been proposed as a marker of ovarian function and fertility. Across a cohort of lean and overweight women with and without PCOS, we investigated the association of AMH with insulin resistance and body composition using gold standard measures. A secondary aim was to examine whether AMH was useful to determine PCOS status.

Design Cross-sectional study.

Patients A total of 22 lean and 21 overweight women with PCOS and 19 lean and 16 overweight non-PCOS healthy controls were recruited. PCOS was diagnosed based on the Rotter-dam criteria.

Measurements Euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp for assessing insulin resistance, dual energy X-ray absorptiometry and computed tomography for assessing adiposity, and blood sampling for the assessment of androgens, gonadotrophins and AMH.

Results Anti-Müllerian hormone levels were increased in women with PCOS (P < 0.001) regardless of adiposity, with this increase associated with testosterone (P < 0.001) rather than insulin resistance (P = 0.79), adiposity (P = 0.98) or gonadotrophins. In assessing the ability of AMH to predict PCOS, a value of 30 pmol/l or higher indicated 79% of women with PCOS were correctly identified as having the condition.

Conclusion Anti-Müllerian hormone appears primarily related to androgen status suggesting a direct and predominant role of androgens in the pathophysiology of reproductive dysfunction in PCOS. As AMH reflects PCOS status, it may also be useful in PCOS diagnosis.

(Received 6 March 2014; returned for revision 16 May 2014; finally revised 11 June 2014; accepted 10 July 2014)

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine disorder affecting 6–21% of reproductive aged women, depending on population studied and diagnostic criteria applied.^{1–3} The syndrome has reproductive, metabolic and psychological features and is the most common cause of anovulatory infertility.⁴ Furthermore, women with PCOS are commonly insulin-resistant (up to 75% of lean and 95% of overweight women with PCOS) and are 2–4 times more likely to be obese and develop type 2 diabetes.^{5,6} This highlights PCOS as a common condition with significant health challenges.

Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) is produced predominantly in the ovarian granulosa cells of pre-antral and antral follicles.⁷ It has been proposed as a marker of ovarian dysfunction by disrupting folliculogenesis through diminishing follicular sensitivity to follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and inhibiting follicle recruitment and growth.⁷ A growing body of literature reports increased AMH concentrations in PCOS,^{8–11} which may be related to increased number of pre-antral and antral follicles or an increased production of AMH by these follicles.¹²

The mechanisms resulting in increased AMH in PCOS are poorly understood and have been attributed to obesity, insulin resistance (IR), hyperandrogenism, gonadotrophins and their complex interactions.^{8,11} IR, both inherent in and exacerbated by obesity in PCOS, augments luteinising hormone (LH) and ovarian androgen production.¹¹ Hyperandrogenism accelerates pre-antral and antral follicular growth in the ovary, and increased LH results in premature luteinization causing follicular arrest¹³ driving increased AMH levels. It is also postulated that

Correspondence: Helena J. Teede, Monash Centre for Health Research and Implementation, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Locked Bag 29, 3168 Clayton, Vic., Australia. Tel.: (613) 9594 7545; Fax: (613) 9594 7550; E-mail: helena.teede@monash.edu

obesity has an additional inhibitory effect on gonadotrophin release due to an increase in aromatization of androgens in adipose tissue resulting in the suppression of LH and the consequent inhibition of the dominant follicle.¹⁴ There is little consensus among researchers as to the primary mechanisms associated with altered AMH in PCOS.¹¹ There is also limited research examining the contribution of these potential regulatory features, particularly using gold standard techniques such as the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp or computed tomography (CT). Furthermore, there is limited research examining AMH levels in lean women with PCOS, with the current research predominantly focusing on overweight or obese women with the condition.^{8,15,16}

AMH levels may be related to the severity of PCOS,¹¹ with higher concentrations seen in women with features including polycystic ovaries (PCO), anovulation, hyperandrogenism and IR. The diagnosis of PCOS is also challenged by the lack of updated polycystic ovary morphology criteria, with up to 80% of young women having PCO on ultrasound using modern technology.^{3,17} AMH has therefore been proposed as a potential alternative diagnostic marker for PCOS, especially in circumstances when an internal transvaginal ultrasound is inappropriate.¹⁰ However, prior research focusing on whether AMH can be used as a diagnostic feature for PCOS has predominantly recruited PCOS and healthy women seeking treatment for infertility, which may bias the results towards a higher AMH cut-off value for PCOS diagnosis.¹⁸ There is limited research assessing the utility of AMH as a diagnostic feature for PCOS in community-recruited cohorts.

Across a community-based cohort of lean and overweight women with and without PCOS, this study aimed to comprehensively assess the relationships between AMH, IR, androgens, obesity and gonadotrophins. We also aimed to assess the ability of AMH to predict PCOS status.

Materials and methods

Participants

This cross-sectional study was conducted from July 2008 to February 2012 and is a substudy of a detailed mechanistic study in women with PCOS compared to controls^{6,8,19} with samples available for measurement of AMH and IR. We studied 78 premenopausal women with and without PCOS who were recruited through community advertisements. The women were categorized according to PCOS status and body mass index (BMI), based on the threshold BMI of 27 kg/m², as an *a priori* decision, given that this is the inflexion point in the relationship between BMI and IR.²⁰ We have previously reported increased IR at this BMI cut-off in PCOS.⁶ Diagnosis of PCOS was based on Rotterdam criteria with two of (1) irregular menstrual cycles (<21 or >35 days), (2) clinical (hirsutism, acne) or biochemical (increase in at least one circulating ovarian androgen) hyperandrogenism and (3) PCO on ultrasound and exclusion of related disorders.²¹ Where participants had both criteria 1 and 2, they did not undergo an ultrasound, as they had met

diagnostic criteria. All PCOS participants were assessed to determine whether they also meet the National Institute of Health (NIH) diagnostic criteria, defined as irregular menstrual cycles and clinical or biochemical hyperandrogenism given AMH concentrations are reported to be associated with the severity of the syndrome.¹¹ The exclusion criteria have been previously described.¹⁹ Control women had regular menses and no hyperandrogenism. The Southern Health Research Advisory and Ethics Committee approved the study, and participants gave written informed consent.

Clinical and biochemical measurements

At screening (3 months prior to testing), medications affecting end-points including insulin sensitisers, anti-androgens and hormonal contraceptives were ceased. As previously published, we measured end-points during the follicular phase in controls and where possible in PCOS. In those with irregular cycles, this was not always possible; however, AMH does not vary considerably across the menstrual cycle.²² End-point measurements including weight, BMI, total and android fat mass (dual energy X-ray absorptiometry [DXA]), visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adiposity (single slice CT), fasting glucose, insulin, lipids, SHBG, homoeostatic model of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), insulin sensitivity by glucose infusion rate (GIR) calculated during the last 30 min of the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp and AMH were assessed as previously reported.^{8,19} Briefly, visceral abdominal adiposity (VA) and subcutaneous abdominal adiposity (SA) were measured by a single slice CT axial image (General Electric Lightspeed CT; GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA) of the abdomen acquired at L4-L5 intervertebral disk space level without angulation, using a lateral pilot for location.¹⁹ Images were saved in DICOM format and analysed using Slice-O-Matic version 4.3 software (TomoVision, Magog, Canada) where visceral fat was defined as the innermost aspect of the abdominal and oblique muscle walls and the posterior aspect of the vertebral body, as previously published.¹⁹ Total fat mass and android fat mass were measured using a GE Lunar Prodigy DXA scan and analysed with System 11 software. The android region was defined as the area between the ribs and the pelvis (iliac crest). HOMA-IR was calculated as fasting serum insulin (mIU/l) × fasting plasma glucose (mmol/l)/22.5]. Plasma insulin was measured using a commercial human insulin-specific RIA kit (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO, USA). Serum SHBG (reference range 18-136 nmol/l) was measured by automated enzyme immunoassay on a Diagnostic Products Corporation Immulite analyzer (Diagnostic Products Corp., Los Angeles, CA, USA). Testosterone (reference range 0-2.7 nmol/l) was measured on Beckman Coulter Unicel DXI 800 analyzer (Beckman Coulter Diagnostics Australia, Gladesville, Australia) using an automated competitive binding immunoenzymatic assay. Free androgen index (FAI) was calculated as testosterone/ SHBG \times 100 (reference range 0.65–10.90). AMH was analysed using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (A16507, Immunotech, Beckman and Coulter Company) in a single batch from

frozen serum samples with an intra- and interassay variability 8.9% and 6.9%, respectively.

Statistical analysis

Results are presented as mean \pm SD with 95% confidence intervals (CI) where appropriate. Normality was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk statistic. Statistical analysis was performed on the log-transformed data; however, raw data has been reported for ease of interpretation. Differences between the four groups (lean control, lean PCOS, overweight control and overweight PCOS) were determined using one-way ANCOVA (adjusting for age) with LSD post-hoc corrections. Relationships between variables were assessed using two-tailed Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient (r). Multiple linear regression (enter model with simultaneous entry of preselected predictor variables) was performed to assess relationships between the dependant variable of AMH and independent variables of age, abdominal VA:SA ratio, insulin sensitivity (GIR), testosterone, SHBG, LH and FSH for all participants combined. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was generated to evaluate sensitivity and specificity of AMH as a diagnostic test for PCOS. An area under the curve (AUC) of ≤0.5 indicates the test result is no better than chance. All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS for Windows 20.0 software (SPSS Inc, version 20.0 software, Chicago, IL, USA) with statistical significance accepted when P < 0.05.

Results

Clinical and biochemical characteristics

In this community-recruited study, all women with PCOS met the Rotterdam diagnostic criteria, with demographic characteristics presented in Table 1. Phenotypes varied across lean and overweight women with PCOS; 23% (5/22) of lean women and 86% (18/21) of overweight women met the narrower NIH criteria based on hyperandrogenism and irregular menstrual cycles, and 77% (17/22) of lean women and 14% (3/21) of overweight women met only Rotterdam but not NIH criteria (irregular menstrual cycles and PCO alone).

Overall analysis. Investigation of the overall cohort showed no differences in BMI, total fat mass, android fat mass, abdominal VA:SA ratio, fasting insulin and glucose, HOMA-IR, SHBG and gonadotrophins between PCOS and control women. Women with PCOS were slightly younger ($28 \pm 5 \ vs \ 31 \pm 6 \ years; P = 0.04$) and had lower GIR ($232 \pm 78 \ vs \ 295 \pm 78 \ mg/min/m; P = 0.001$) and higher testosterone ($2.3 \pm 0.7 \ vs \ 1.7 \pm 0.7 \ mol/$ l; P = 0.001) and FAI ($6.1 \pm 3.3 \ vs \ 3.6 \pm 3.2; P = 0.003$).

BMI subgroup analysis. Overweight control women were older $(35.5 \pm 4.2 \text{ years})$ than the lean control $(25.7 \pm 6.1 \text{ years}, P < 0.001)$, lean PCOS $(25.7 \pm 4.3 \text{ years}, P < 0.001)$ and overweight PCOS $(29.3 \pm 5.9 \text{ years}, P = 0.004)$ groups.

Characteristics	Lean Control $(n = 19)$	Lean PCOS $(n = 22)$	Overweight Control (<i>n</i> = 16)	Overweight PCOS $(n = 21)$	P Value	P Value Adjusted
Age (years)	27 ± 68	27 ± 48	$35 \pm 4^{+},^{\pm},^{\P}$	29 ± 58	<0.001	_
BMI (kg/m^2)	21.9 ± 4.6	23.0 ± 4.7 §,¶	$34.3 \pm 5.1 \ddagger, \ddagger$	$34.2 \pm 4.6^{+},^{\pm}$	<0.001	<0.001
WHR	0.84 ± 0.06	0.85 ± 0.06	0.85 ± 0.07	0.85 ± 0.06	0.613	0.819
Total fat mass (%)	27.0 ± 6.3	30.6 ± 6.0 §,¶	$48.2 \pm 7.1^{+,\pm}$	$47.7 \pm 6.3^{+},^{\pm}$	<0.001	<0.001
Android fat mass: weight ratio*	0.18 ± 0.08	0.22 ± 0.08	$0.42 \pm 0.09^{+,\pm}$	$0.44 \pm 0.08^{+,\pm}$	<0.001	<0.001
Abdominal VA:SA* ratio	0.20 ± 0.1	0.18 ± 0.1	0.23 ± 0.1	0.22 ± 0.1	0.505	0.408
Insulin sensitivity						
Fasting Glucose (mmol/l)	4.6 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.4	4.8 ± 0.5	$4.9 \pm 0.4^{+,\pm}$	0.013	0.082
Fasting Insulin (pmol/l)	$4.0 \pm 8.98,$	4.3 ± 8.98	$17.9 \pm 9.7^{+},^{\pm},^{\parallel}$	$28.7 \pm 8.7^{+,\pm,\$}$	<0.001	<0.001
HOMA-IR	0.9 ± 2.1	0.9 ± 2.1	$3.8 \pm 2.3^{+},^{\pm},^{\parallel}$	$6.3 \pm 2.0^{+},^{\pm},^{\pm}$	<0.001	<0.001
GIR (mg/min/m)	337 ± 82	$275 \pm 82^{+,1}$	$253 \pm 89^{+,}$	$175 \pm 81^{+},^{\pm},^{\pm}$	<0.001	<0.001
Hormonal profile	*****					
Testosterone (nmol/l)	1.6 ± 0.7 ¶	2.0 ± 0.7 ¶	1.7 ± 0.8 ¶	2.7 ± 0.7 ^{+,±,§}	<0.001	<0.001
SHBG (nmol/l)	79.2 ± 25.18	$71.5 \pm 25.28.$	$42.3 \pm 27.7^{+,\pm}$	$31.7 \pm 24.6^{+,\pm}$	<0.001	<0.001
FAI	2.1 + 3.18	3.2 + 3.3¶	$4.8 \pm 3.6^{+}.^{-}$	$9.7 \pm 3.2^{\pm}, \pm, 8$	<0.001	<0.001
LH (IU/l)	9.0 ± 9.1	8.3 ± 9.1	9.5 ± 10.0	9.3 ± 8.9	0.992	0.982
FSH (IU/I)	7.0 ± 2.6	6.7 ± 2.7	7.8 ± 3.0	6.4 ± 2.6	0.417	0.552
AMH*	$29.8 \pm 30.5 \ddagger, \P$	$64.7 \pm 29.8^{+},^{+}$	17.8 ± 33.7 ‡,¶	$54.4 \pm 30.2^{+},^{+}$	<0.001	<0.001

Table 1. Anthropometric, hormonal and metabolic features of lean and overweight women with and without PCOS

Values are means \pm SD and adjusted for age. *Denotes log-transformed variable. Significant difference P < 0.05 compared with; †Lean control, ‡Lean PCOS, §Overweight Control and ¶Overweight PCOS group.

BMI, body mass index; WHR, waist to hip ratio; VA, visceral adiposity; SA, subcutaneous adiposity; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model of assessment of insulin resistance, GIR, glucose infusion rate; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; FAI, free androgen index; AMH, anti-Mullerian hormone.

Regardless of PCOS status, BMI and total and android fat mass were lower and SHBG higher in lean women compared with overweight women (P < 0.001 for all variables). As previously reported⁶, the overweight PCOS group was the most IR based on GIR, compared with the overweight control (P = 0.05) and lean PCOS (P = 0.001) group. There was no difference in IR between the lean PCOS and overweight control groups (P = 0.65).

The overweight PCOS group had higher testosterone levels compared with the lean PCOS (P < 0.01), lean control (P < 0.001) and overweight control (P < 0.001) groups. FAI was higher in the overweight PCOS group compared with the other three groups (P < 0.001). There were no differences in LH (P = 0.992) and FSH (P = 0.417) or LH/FSH ratio (P = 0.232) between groups.

AMH concentrations

The NIH PCOS phenotype tended to have lower levels of AMH compared with the non-NIH PCOS phenotype (NIH PCOS $52.05 \pm 27.3 \text{ pmol/l}$ *vs* non-NIH PCOS $69.5 \pm 41.6 \text{ pmol/l}$, P = 0.06). Significant differences in AMH concentrations were evident between the overall cohort of PCOS ($60.1 \pm 35.6 \text{ pmol/l}$) *vs* control women ($24.1 \pm 21.8 \text{ pmol/l}$, P < 0.001), accounting for age and BMI. AMH concentrations were higher in both the lean ($65.5 \pm 37.5 \text{ pmol/l}$) and overweight ($54.6 \pm 33.1 \text{ pmol/l}$) PCOS group, compared with the lean ($30.6 \pm 26.0 \text{ pmol/l}$) and overweight ($15.4 \pm 9.6 \text{ pmol/l}$) control groups (Fig. 1; P < 0.001). When these comparisons were made between groups with a BMI of 25 kg/m² to define overweight, these differences in AMH concentrations between groups persisted (data not shown).

AMH relationships

PCOS status (r = 0.51, P < 0.001), age (r = -0.24, P = 0.04) and testosterone (r = 0.43, P < 0.001) had a moderate to strong



Fig. 1 Concentration of AMH is lean and overweight women with and without PCOS demonstrated by a box and whisker plot illustrating the median (central line), range (whiskers) and 25 and 75th percentiles (box). Abbreviations: OW, overweight. Significant difference P < 0.05 compared with the ^alean control, ^blean PCOS, ^coverweight control, ^doverweight PCOS group.

correlation with AMH. AMH levels did not correlate with BMI (P = 0.3), abdominal VA:SA (P = 0.1), GIR (P = 0.9), SHBG (P = 0.6), FSH (P = 0.6) or LH (P = 0.3) (Table 2).

Linear regression analysis

Multiple linear regression analysis was conducted for women with and without PCOS combined, assessing the contribution of age, abdominal VA:SA, insulin sensitivity (GIR), hyperandrogenism and gonadotrophins to AMH. The model predicted 13% (adjusted $r^2 = 0.13$) of the variation in AMH (P = 0.03), and testosterone was the only independent correlate of AMH ($\beta = 0.465$; P = 0.001) (Table 3).

 Table 2. Correlations of AMH concentration with clinical and biochemical variables

	Correlation	D Value
	coefficient	<i>F</i> value
PCOS	0.513	<0.001
Age	-0.241	0.04
BMI	-0.115	0.32
Abdominal VA:SA	-0.180	0.13
GIR	-0.012	0.92
Testosterone	0.426	<0.001
SHBG	0.058	0.62
FAI	0.156	0.18
FSH	0.056	0.63
LH	0.114	0.33

P < 0.05 is significant. PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; BMI, body mass index; GIR, glucose infusion rate; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; FAI, free androgen index; FSH, follicle stimulating hormone; LH, luteinising hormone; VA, visceral adiposity; SA, subcutaneous adiposity.

Table 3. Regression analysis to establish independent determinants of AMH concentrations

Independent variable	β Standardized coefficients	P Value	95% Confidence intervals
Age	-0.038	0.78	-1.80 to 1.33
Abdominal VA:SA	-0.003	0.98	-51.5 to 50.5
GIR	-0.035	0.79	-0.10 to 0.08
FSH	0.199	0.22	-1.69 to 7.21
LH	-0.059	0.71	-1.51 to 1.04
Testosterone	0.465	0.001	8.65 to 31.4
SHBG	0.159	0.23	-0.12 to 0.48

Multiple linear regression with simultaneous entry of preselected predictor variables was performed with AMH as the dependent variable and age, abdominal VA: SA ratio, GIR, FSH, LH, testosterone and SHBG as independent variables. P < 0.05 is significant. GIR, glucose infusion rate; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; FSH, follicle stimulating hormone; LH, luteinising hormone; VA, visceral adiposity; SA, subcutaneous adiposity. The ROC curve assessing the ability of AMH to distinguish between women with and without PCOS (Fig. 2) indicated an AUC of 0.829 (95% CI 0.736–0.923, P < 0.001), and a threshold value of 30 pmol/l or higher for identifying PCOS. At this cut-off point, 79% (specificity) of women with PCOS and 82% (sensitivity) of women without PCOS will be correctly identified if AMH was used as the sole diagnostic criteria for PCOS.

Discussion

In a community-recruited population not presenting with infertility, including lean and overweight women, we report that women with PCOS have increased circulating AMH compared with non-PCOS women, regardless of IR and adiposity. Exploring the relationships between AMH, IR, androgens, adiposity and gonadotrophins in women with both NIH and non-NIH PCOS and controls, we report that testosterone was the only significant independent predictor of AMH across all groups. We found that AMH was not related to IR measured on clamp studies, gondotrophin levels and body composition on CT and DXA.

AMH may have a role in PCOS diagnosis and in assessing severity. While improvement in AMH assay quality and an international standard is warranted,^{23,24} currently, cut-off values for AMH in the diagnosis of PCOS vary widely.²³ In the current study, AMH results were compared across lean and overweight women with and without PCOS. Our results suggest a threshold AMH level of 30 pmol/l in discriminating between women with and without PCOS, which is similar to an AMH cut-off reported in a recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 33.6 pmol/l.¹⁸ We note this meta-analysis predominantly included participants recruited from fertility clinics, with more severe reproductive features. This study extends previous literature to confirm this threshold in a community-based population, not presenting with fertility challenges. Once assay issues are resolved, it is anticipated that AMH levels will be integrated into PCOS



Fig. 2 ROC curve obtained from analysis of the AMH results. The sensitivity (true positive rate, *y*-axis) is plotted against the false positive rate or specificity (1-sensitivity, x = axis).

© 2014 John Wiley & Sons Ltd Clinical Endocrinology (2014), **81**, 899–906 community-based assessment to reflect the severity of the condition and to complement PCOS diagnosis.²³

The severity of PCO morphology on ultrasound is a key correlate of increased AMH in PCOS.²³ We acknowledge the lack of data on PCO status in our study, as it was only performed if required for diagnosis, and we do not have complete quality ultrasound data from a single operator to compare between AMH and PCO. However, consistent with prior literature, here, AMH was reasonably sensitive and specific for PCOS diagnosis.¹⁸

We report no association between AMH and IR assessed by the euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp. The relationship between AMH concentration and IR remains controversial, with some researchers reporting positive association,^{25,26} while others reporting no association^{10,11} when using indirect measures of IR. Furthermore, we extend prior research²⁷ to include milder phenotypes only diagnosed using Rotterdam (but not NIH) criteria. The majority of other studies have focused on overweight women, and to our knowledge, this is one of only two studies to assess the relationship between clamp-based IR and AMH in lean and overweight women with and without PCOS.²⁷ We report the novel finding that based on the gold standard measurement of IR, there is no direct relationship between AMH and IR. IR drives ovarian androgen production²⁸, and our findings suggest that associations between AMH and IR in PCOS may reflect indirect regulation through androgens.

We confirm previous studies reporting an association between androgens^{10,11,15,16} and report testosterone as the only significant independent predictor of AMH overall in women with PCOS; FAI was not independently related to AMH, potentially as it includes both testosterone and an IR related factor (SHBG). Androgen assays in women are also challenging, and as we transition to more accurate methods, greater insights may be gained into the relationship between androgens, AMH and ovarian function in PCOS. Yet, previous studies show a positive correlation between follicular number and testosterone^{12,29} potentially related to activation of androgen-binding receptors in pre-antral follicles inhibiting follicular growth and maturation, 29,30 increasing AMH production. Consistently, androgen administration in female to male transsexuals or female rhesus monkeys induces PCO-like morphology independent of gonadotrophin effects.^{31,32} Exposure to testosterone, either intrauterine or during adulthood, could potentially increase antral follicle number,^{32,33} increasing AMH production. Conversely, testosterone may play a mechanistic role in inhibiting AMH production in granulosa cells, as³⁴ in vitro studies have shown lower AMH production with increases in testosterone in women with PCO.³⁴ However, AMH concentrations were not altered when testosterone levels are at normal physiologic levels. Furthermore, 6-month administration of low-dose dexamethasone and metformin failed to influence AMH levels, even with a decline in testosterone levels.35 This highlights the complex relationship between hyperandrogenism and ovarian function.

Regarding a potential role for AMH in PCOS diagnosis, our data is consistent with previous studies reporting a two to threefold higher AMH in PCOS compared with controls with similar BMI.^{10,26} This is consistent with increased immature pre-antral and antral ovarian follicles and increased rate of follicular AMH production in PCOS.9,11 The relationship between AMH and BMI remains contentious, with few studies including lean women with PCOS. Obesity is proposed to have an inhibitory effect on gonadotrophin release through suppression of LH, reducing consequent dominant follicle development and selection¹⁴ leading to altered AMH through an accumulation of pre-antral and antral follicles. Our finding of no differences in AMH between lean and overweight women both in the PCOS group and in the control group and no relationship between AMH and adiposity (android or abdominal VA:SA ratio) is consistent with some^{10,26} but not all prior literature.¹¹ We extend these previous studies to provide a comprehensive assessment of anthropometry using the gold standard CT. Our CT data suggests that increased AMH in PCOS is a function of PCOS status and not related to differences in body composition.

Prior research has proposed a primary role of gonadotrophins in regulating AMH in PCOS, with LH independently predicting AMH levels more so than hyperandrogenism.¹¹ This is in contrast to our current findings where a relationship between AMH and LH was not confirmed. However, there is a proposed role of insulin or androgens in regulating gonadotrophins. Hyperinsulinaemia causes an increase in LH receptor expression and premature release of the follicle, which combine to cause follicular arrest and subfertility or infertility.¹³ The role of androgens in altered gonadotrophin regulation is supported by prenatally androgenised animal studies where female offspring have LH hypersecretion, potentially due to altered programming of the hypothalamus and increased sensitivity of the pituitary to gonadotrophin releasing hormones.³⁶ As increased androgens can increase AMH through augmenting follicular growth, high AMH may also negatively feedback on either FSH or oestradiol with consequent effects on FSH production.³⁶ However, based on our current data, we suggest that prior associations between AMH and gonadotrophins may reflect an indirect regulatory role, with hyperandrogenism playing a primary direct role. Further research is needed to explore these relationships.

The limitations of this study include the lack of complete data on PCO morphology acknowledging that severity of PCO morphology on ultrasound is correlated with increase AMH in PCOS.^{23,27} However, this did not impact on the primary aim of the study. Here, a BMI of 27 kg/m² was used to classify overweight and obesity, rather than the World Health Organisation criteria as we have previously published that 27 kg/m² is the inflection point in the relationship between IR and BMI in PCOS.^{6,20} However, AMH and androgen results between groups did not differ regardless of whether the BMI cut-off of 25 kg/m² or 27 kg/m² was applied. Immunoassays were used for the measurement of steroid sex hormones in this study, which may not be as sensitive as mass spectrometry to detect androgen levels in women. The strengths of this study include the use of gold standard methodology such as insulin sensitivity assessed by hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic clamps and visceral and subcutaneous adiposity by CT. Sample size within each group was small; however, with gold standard end-points, we were adequately powered

to explore the relative contribution of intrinsic factors (hyperandrogenism, gonadotrophins and IR) or environmental factors (visceral obesity) to ovarian status, as measured by AMH levels.

We report that AMH levels were increased in communityrecruited lean and overweight women diagnosed with PCOS based on the Rotterdam criteria, compared with controls. Increased AMH was related to hyperandrogenism rather than to IR, obesity or gonadotrophins. This highlights the direct interaction with androgens and potential indirect role of IR in the pathophysiology of reproductive dysfunction in PCOS. Here, we suggest that AMH reflects PCOS severity and confirms previous reports of the potential utility of AMH as a diagnostic tool for PCOS. An international standard for AMH assays is still needed, as are further studies to determine the optimal cut-offs and define the role that AMH will play in assisting PCOS diagnosis.

Acknowledgements

Pathology was completed at Southern Health Pathology laboratories. We would like to thank Dr Christopher Shaw for his editorial assistance and Melanie Gibson-Helm, Nicole Ng, Dr Samantha Hutchison and Dr Rebecca Goldstein for their assistance with data collection and Dr Lauren Banting for statistical analysis support. This investigator-initiated trial was supported by grants from the National Health & Medical Research Council (NHMRC), grant number 606553 (H.J.T., N.K.S. & S.K.H.), as well as Monash University. H.J.T is an NHMRC Research Fellow. N.K.S is supported through the Australian Government's Collaborative Research Networks (CRN) program. A.E.J. is an NHMRC scholarship holder. L.J.M is supported by a South Australian Cardiovascular Research Development Program Fellowship (AC11S374); a program collaboratively funded by the National Heart Foundation of Australia, the South Australian Department of Health and the South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute. The funding bodies played no role in the design, methods, data management or analysis or in the decision to publish.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest associated with this manuscript.

References

- 1 Boyle, J.A., Cunningham, J., O'Dea, K. *et al.* (2012) Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a sample of Indigenous women in Darwin, Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia*, **196**, 62–66.
- 2 March, W.A., Moore, V.M., Willson, K.J. *et al.* (2010) The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Human Reproduction*, **25**, 544–551.
- 3 Teede, H.J., Misso, M.L., Deeks, A.A. *et al.* (2011) Assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: summary of an evidence-based guideline. *Medical Journal of Australia*, **195**, S69– S111.

- 4 Loumaye, E., Engrand, P., Shoham, Z. *et al.* (2003) Clinical evidence for an LH 'ceiling' effect induced by administration of recombinant human LH during the late follicular phase of stimulated cycles in World Health Organization type I and type II anovulation. *Human Reproduction*, **18**, 314–322.
- 5 Moran, L.J., Misso, M.L., Wild, R.A. *et al.* (2010) Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human Reproduction Update*, **16**, 347–363.
- 6 Stepto, N.K., Cassar, S., Joham, A.E. *et al.* (2013) Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp. *Human Reproduction*, **28**, 777–784.
- 7 Visser, J.A., de Jong, F.H., Laven, J.S. *et al.* (2006) Anti-Mullerian hormone: a new marker for ovarian function. *Reproduction*, **131**, 1–9.
- 8 Moran, L.J., Harrison, C.L., Hutchison, S.K. *et al.* (2011) Exercise decreases anti-mullerian hormone in anovulatory overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a pilot study. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, **43**, 977–979.
- 9 Pellatt, L., Hanna, L., Brincat, M. et al. (2007) Granulosa cell production of anti-Mullerian hormone is increased in polycystic ovaries. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 92, 240–245.
- 10 Pigny, P., Merlen, E., Robert, Y. *et al.* (2003) Elevated serum level of anti-mullerian hormone in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to the ovarian follicle excess and to the follicular arrest. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, **88**, 5957–5962.
- 11 Piouka, A., Farmakiotis, D., Katsikis, I. *et al.* (2009) Anti-Mullerian hormone levels reflect severity of PCOS but are negatively influenced by obesity: relationship with increased luteinizing hormone levels. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology Metabolism*, **296**, E238–E243.
- 12 Jonard, S. & Dewailly, D. (2004) The follicular excess in polycystic ovaries, due to intra-ovarian hyperandrogenism, may be the main culprit for the follicular arrest. *Human Reproduction Update*, **10**, 107–117.
- 13 Diamanti-Kandarakis, E. (2008) Polycystic ovarian syndrome: pathophysiology, molecular aspects and clinical implications. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, **10**, e3.
- 14 Grossman, M.P., Nakajima, S.T., Fallat, M.E. *et al.* (2008) Mullerian-inhibiting substance inhibits cytochrome P450 aromatase activity in human granulosa lutein cell culture. *Fertility and Sterility*, **89**, 1364–1370.
- 15 Nybacka, A., Carlstrom, K., Fabri, F. *et al.* (2013) Serum antimullerian hormone in response to dietary management and/or physical exercise in overweight/obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *Fertility and Sterility*, **100**, 1096–1102.
- 16 Romualdi, D., De Cicco, S., Tagliaferri, V. *et al.* (2011) The metabolic status modulates the effect of metformin on the antimullerian hormone-androgens-insulin interplay in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, **96**, E821–E824.
- 17 Leonhardt, H., Gull, B., Stener-Victorin, E. *et al.* (2014) Ovarian volume and antral follicle count assessed by MRI and transvaginal ultrasonography: a methodological study. *Acta Radiologica*, 55, 248–256.
- 18 Iliodromiti, S., Kelsey, T.W., Anderson, R.A. *et al.* (2013) Can anti-Mullerian hormone predict the diagnosis of polycystic ovary

syndrome? A systematic review and meta-analysis of extracted data. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, **98**, 3332–3340.

- 19 Hutchison, S.K., Stepto, N.K., Harrison, C.L. et al. (2011) Effects of exercise on insulin resistance and body composition in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 96, E48–E56.
- 20 Garcia-Estevez, D.A., Araujo-Vilar, D., Saavedra-Gonzalez, A. *et al.* (2004) Analysis of the relationship between body mass index, insulin resistance, and beta-cell function: a cross-sectional study using the minimal model. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental*, **53**, 1462–1466.
- 21 ESHRE/ASRM. (2003) Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Human Reproduction*, **19**, 41–47.
- 22 Rustamov, O., Smith, A., Roberts, S.A. *et al.* (2014) The measurement of anti-mullerian hormone: a critical appraisal. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, **99**, 723–732.
- 23 Dewailly, D., Gronier, H., Poncelet, E. *et al.* (2011) Diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): revisiting the threshold values of follicle count on ultrasound and of the serum AMH level for the definition of polycystic ovaries. *Human Reproduction*, **26**, 3123–3129.
- 24 Kumar, A., Kalra, B., Patel, A. *et al.* (2010) Development of a second generation anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) ELISA. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, **362**, 51–59.
- 25 La Marca, A., Orvieto, R., Giulini, S. *et al.* (2004) Mullerianinhibiting substance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship with hormonal and metabolic characteristics. *Fertility and Sterility*, **82**, 970–972.
- 26 Skalba, P., Cygal, A., Madej, P. *et al.* (2011) Is the plasma anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) level associated with body weight and metabolic, and hormonal disturbances in women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome? *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology*, **158**, 254–259.
- 27 Leonhardt, H., Hellstrom, M., Gull, B. *et al.* (2014) Ovarian morphology assessed by magnetic resonance imaging in women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome and associations with antimullerian hormone, free testosterone, and glucose disposal rate. *Fertility and Sterility*, **101**, 1747–1756.e1-3.
- 28 Teede, H.J. & Stuckey, B.G. (2007) Polycystic ovary syndrome and abnormal glucose tolerance. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, **187**, 324–325.
- 29 Pehlivanov, B.K. & Orbetzova, M.M. (2011) Anti-Mullerian hormone in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Folia Medica*, 53, 5–10.
- 30 De Leo, V., Lanzetta, D., D'Antona, D. *et al.* (1998) Hormonal effects of flutamide in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, **83**, 99–102.
- 31 Pache, T.D., Chadha, S., Gooren, L.J. *et al.* (1991) Ovarian morphology in long-term androgen-treated female to male transsexuals. A human model for the study of polycystic ovarian syndrome? *Histopathology*, **19**, 445–452.
- 32 Vendola, K.A., Zhou, J., Adesanya, O.O. *et al.* (1998) Androgens stimulate early stages of follicular growth in the primate ovary. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **101**, 2622– 2629.

- **906** *S. Cassar* et al.
- 33 Steckler, T., Wang, J., Bartol, F.F. *et al.* (2005) Fetal programming: prenatal testosterone treatment causes intrauterine growth retardation, reduces ovarian reserve and increases ovarian follicular recruitment. *Endocrinology*, **146**, 3185–3193.
- 34 Crisosto, N., Sir-Petermann, T., Greiner, M. *et al.* (2009) Testosterone-induced downregulation of anti-Müllerian hormone expression in granulosa cells from small bovine follicles. *Endocrine*, **36**, 339–345.
- 35 Carlsen, S.M., Vanky, E. & Fleming, R. (2009) Anti-Mullerian hormone concentrations in androgen-suppressed women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human Reproduction*, **24**, 1732–1738.
- 36 Sarma, H.N., Manikkam, M., Herkimer, C. *et al.* (2005) Fetal programming: excess prenatal testosterone reduces postnatal luteinizing hormone, but not follicle-stimulating hormone responsiveness, to estradiol negative feedback in the female. *Endocrinology*, **146**, 4281–4291.

Chapter 7 Discussion and Conclusion

7.0 Discussion and Conclusions

Relevant discussion of the work presented in the body of this thesis has been presented in each of the manuscript chapters. I will conclude with a synopsis of the original contribution my work has made to the knowledge and understanding of PCOS in the areas of aetiology and assessment of IR. I have included integrative discussion, future directions, limitations and overall conclusions.

This thesis comprised a series of related studies aimed at enhancing understanding of IR in PCOS including the relationship between intrinsic and extrinsic factors. I was able to provide comprehensive insights into IR, which is intrinsic to PCOS and exacerbated by obesity, with minimal impact of age or PCOS phenotype (Chapter 2). I have made contributions in original research using a systematic review and meta-analysis approach. In this work the insulin resistant PCOS women provided a useful human model of IR without T2DM, allowing examination of IR independent of hyperglycemia.

Given the prominent role of IR in PCOS, the systematic review and meta-analysis (described in detail in Chapter 2) also addressed the question of the relationship between IR, SHBG and key reproductive markers (testosterone, LH and FSH). IR is strongly inversely related to SHBG, while androgens have a linear relationship with IR in PCOS. The interesting finding of the relationship between androgens and insulin sensitivity is contradictory to conventional thinking in PCOS. But it does present an intriguing paradigm and as noted in the Chapter 2, larger studies using more sensitive measures of testosterone are needed to further investigate this relationship. Furthermore, commercially available androgen immunoassays in women have proven to be inaccurate, imprecise and have poorly based reference ranges (Handelsman and Wartofsky, 2013) and there is a need for more sensitive techniques such as mass spectrometry to be used in large studies.

In an extension to the extensive meta-analysis work, my cross-sectional work allowed me to investigate intrinsic and extrinsic IR in PCOS across a range of BMI's and different phenotypes using the gold standard technique of euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp. The meta-analysis was unable to provide this information with the included papers as phenotypes were not previously identified in the literature. I report here (Chapter 3) that 75% of lean and 95% of obese women with PCOS were affected by IR, whilst 70% milder phenotypes and 80% of more severe phenotypes were affected. Both these studies extend knowledge in the area by highlighting that even lean women with a milder phenotype of PCOS have some degree of IR and would benefit from metabolic profile monitoring and encouragement to maintain a healthy body weight to prevent PCOS complications.

The assessment of IR based on the current gold standard methods used in research is not convenient in a clinical setting and clinicians would benefit from easier and reliable measures of IR. I pursued novel potential measures of IR, ghrelin, resistin, visfatin, GLP-1, leptin, PAI-1, GIP and C-Peptide, and used the PCOS model to investigate my theory. Although other conditions associated with IR, including obesity and diabetes, have adverse biomarker profiles, with impaired GIP and GLP activity and elevated PAI-1, visfatin, leptin and resistin (Antuna-Puente et al., 2008), the majority these studies have measured the biomarkers in isolation. This limits the understanding of the relative interaction and detailed pathways contributing to metabolic dysfunction in PCOS. In my biomarker study (Chapter 4), C-peptide, ghrelin and leptin were different between overweight and lean women regardless of PCOS status, suggesting that these potential predictors of IR are associated primarily with adiposity rather than IR, given that the lean PCOS women were insulin resistant. Furthermore, I was able to demonstrate that while a number of biomarkers were related to IR in controls (leptin, ghrelin), PAI-1 was the only biomarker that was related to IR in women with PCOS. This paper offers clinically important novel data and comprehensively addresses the area of biomarkers and IR in women with PCOS. Specific strengths of the study are the use of a single assay and serum sample to measure all biomarkers, which has not been previously reported in PCOS and the inclusion of both lean and overweight women with and without PCOS who had IR measured through euglycaemic hyperinsulimic clamps. The other important and novel factor here is the study population who are insulin resistant yet have normal fasting glucose levels. Other measures of IR are urgently needed for both clinical and research purposes. Also greater insight is needed into the role of adipose tissue as endocrine organ with potential roles in IR in PCOS.

With regards to potential mechanisms of intrinsic IR in PCOS (Chapter 5), I investigated the role of mitochondrial function and expression, measured by various techniques including western blots and respiration, as mitochondrial dysfunction has been proposed as a contributor to IR in other conditions. I report that there was no significant differences in mitochondrial function or expression between well-matched

lean women with and without PCOS, despite clear differences in IR. In this setting it appears the intrinsic IR observed in women with PCOS cannot be explained by mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscle. Overall, this study contributes to the evolving literature on the role of mitochondrial function in IR with the advantage of the insulin resistant lean PCOS cohort studied providing a useful human model of IR without T2DM. This enabled me to examine the impact of IR independent of either obesity or hyperglycemia. I was able to conclude that mitochondrial dysfunction was not associated with intrinsic IR in PCOS. In the case of IR aetiology in PCOS, multiple mechanisms are likely involved and our group is currently further exploring this issue by investigating insulin signalling pathways in skeletal muscle. Together, these aetiological studies are an important reminder that despite positive associations between factors in cross-sectional studies, complex relationships often exist and interventional studies need to be performed to further explore whether a true causal relationship exists or whether these factors are merely markers of IR.

PCOS is a metabolic and reproductive syndrome, yet links between reproduction, IR, androgen excess and metabolic features remain unclear. In Chapter 6 I report that AMH, a marker of reproductive status in PCOS, is related to androgen excess and not IR. I also add to the literature suggesting that AMH provides a potentially useful reproductive diagnostic marker in PCOS.

7.1 Limitations

Whilst my studies have made important contributions to the literature, it must be acknowledged that the results presented are from cross sectional studies, rather than longitudinal studies, therefore caution needs to be taken when interpreting the results. Large, adequately powered, long-term prospective studies are required to track the link between biomarkers, sex steroids, SHBG, adiposity and gonadotropins and IR. Furthermore, androgen immunoassays were used to measure testosterone in all of my cross sectional studies. Recently, a leading clinical endocrinology journal (Handelsman and Wartofsky, 2013) has recommended mass spectrometry sex steroid assays. At the time of this PhD mass spectrometry was expensive and unavailable for clinical research use in our laboratories. Moving forward we would benefit from establishment of reliable androgen assays for women and defined normal ranges with national implementation across pathology services.

7.2 Key Future Research Goals

Although the findings of thesis have improved our knowledge in the area, it has also raised more questions and areas where future research should focus. These include:

- A clearer understanding of the origins, aetiology and pathology of PCOS, including the use of epigenetics
- Causes and implications of IR, including longitudinal studies, with clarity of natural history across the phenotypes
- Insights into mechanisms and role of adipose tissue and bone as endocrine organs having a direct effect on IR
- Effective IR treatment including structured exercise interventions and programs that are community orientated given that women with PCOS are likely to be sedentary (Moran et al., 2013a) and insulin sensitisers that are safe and effective (Misso and Teede, 2014)
- Future investigation into the relationship between insulin and hepatic SHBG production to clarify mechanisms through which SHBG is linked to metabolic

disturbances providing physiologic constructs for other disorders of IR including GDM and NAFLD. Also, the use for SHBG as a screening tool.

• Future investigation into the relationship between testosterone and IR using the best available techniques to measure both variables in longitudinal studies.

7.3 Overall Conclusion

Given the remarkably high prevalence (up to 1 in 5 women) of PCOS and the key central role of IR in the aetiology and metabolic consequences of PCOS, our knowledge around IR in PCOS is surprisingly limited. The findings presented in this thesis have made a significant contribution to the understanding of IR in PCOS, where there is a strong and ongoing need for accurate assessment and understanding of the mechanisms of IR in order to alleviate the increasing clinical and economic burden of PCOS.

References

- ABBOTT, D. H., DUMESIC, D. A., EISNER, J. R., COLMAN, R. J. & KEMNITZ, J. W. 1998. Insights into the Development of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) from Studies of Prenatally Androgenized Female Rhesus Monkeys. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 9, 62-67.
- ABBOTT, D. K., BARNETT, C. M., BRUNS, D. A. & DUMESIC, D. A. 2005. Androgen excess fetal programming of female reproduction: a developmental aetiology for polycystic ovary syndrome? *Human Reproduction Update*, 11, 357-374.
- ABUABARA, K., FREEMAN, E. E. & DELLAVALLE, R. 2012. The role of systematic reviews and meta-analysis in dermatology. *J Invest Dermatol*, 132, e2.
- AGILLI, M., AYDIN, F. N., CAYCI, T. & GULCAN KURT, Y. 2014. Insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*.
- AIHW 2010. Women and heart disease: cardiovascular profile of women in Australia. *In:* WELFARE, C. A. I. O. H. A. (ed.).
- ALBERTI, K. G., ZIMMET, P. & SHAW, J. 2007. International Diabetes Federation: a consensus on Type 2 diabetes prevention. *Diabet Med*, 24, 451-63.
- ALVAREZ-BLASCO, F., BOTELLA-CARRETERO, J. I., SAN MILLAN, J. L. & ESCOBAR-MORREALE, H. F. 2006. Prevalence and characteristics of the polycystic ovary syndrome in overweight and obese women. *Arch Intern Med*, 166, 2081-6.
- AMATO, M. C., PIZZOLANTI, G., TORREGROSSA, V., MISIANO, G., MILANO, S. & GIORDANO, C. 2014. Visceral adiposity index (VAI) is predictive of an altered adipokine profile in patients with type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One*, 9, e91969.
- ANDERSON, H., FOGEL, N., GREBE, S. K., SINGH, R. J., TAYLOR, R. L. & DUNAIF, A. 2010. Infants of women with polycystic ovary syndrome have lower cord blood androstenedione and estradiol levels. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95, 2180-6.
- ANONYMOUS 1998. Consensus Development Conference on Insulin Resistance. 5-6 November 1997. American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*, 21, 310-4.
- ANTUNA-PUENTE, B., FEVE, B., FELLAHI, S. & BASTARD, J. P. 2008. Adipokines: The missing link between insulin resistance and obesity. *Diabetes* & *Metabolism*, 34, 2-11.
- ARODA, V., CIARALDI, T. P., CHANG, S. A., DAHAN, M. H., CHANG, R. J. & HENRY, R. R. 2008. Circulating and cellular adiponectin in polycystic ovary

syndrome: relationship to glucose tolerance and insulin action. *Fertil Steril*, 89, 1200-8.

- ARODA, V. R., CIARALDI, T. P., BURKE, P., MUDALIAR, S., CLOPTON, P., PHILLIPS, S., CHANG, R. J. & HENRY, R. R. 2009. Metabolic and hormonal changes induced by pioglitazone in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 94, 469-76.
- ARROYO, A., LAUGHLIN, G. A., MORALES, A. J. & YEN, S. S. 1997. Inappropriate gonadotropin secretion in polycystic ovary syndrome: influence of adiposity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 82, 3728-33.
- ASUNCION, M., CALVO, R. M., SAN MILLAN, J. L., SANCHO, J., AVILA, S. & ESCOBAR-MORREALE, H. F. 2000. A prospective study of the prevalence of the polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected Caucasian women from Spain. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 85, 2434-8.
- AZZIZ, R. 2004. PCOS: a diagnostic challenge. Reprod Biomed Online, 8, 644-8.
- AZZIZ, R., CARMINA, E., DEWAILLY, D., DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., ESCOBAR-MORREALE, H. F., FUTTERWEIT, W., JANSSEN, O. E., LEGRO, R. S., NORMAN, R. J., TAYLOR, A. E., WITCHEL, S. F. & ANDROGEN EXCESS, S. 2006. Positions statement: criteria for defining polycystic ovary syndrome as a predominantly hyperandrogenic syndrome: an Androgen Excess Society guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 4237-45.
- AZZIZ, R., CARMINA, E., DEWAILLY, D., DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., ESCOBAR-MORREALE, H. F., FUTTERWEIT, W., JANSSEN, O. E., LEGRO, R. S., NORMAN, R. J., TAYLOR, A. E., WITCHEL, S. F., TASK FORCE ON THE PHENOTYPE OF THE POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME OF THE ANDROGEN, E. & SOCIETY, P. 2009. The Androgen Excess and PCOS Society criteria for the polycystic ovary syndrome: the complete task force report. *Fertil Steril*, 91, 456-88.
- AZZIZ, R., EHRMANN, D., LEGRO, R. S., WHITCOMB, R. W., HANLEY, R., FERESHETIAN, A. G., O'KEEFE, M., GHAZZI, M. N. & GROUP, P. C. T. S. 2001. Troglitazone improves ovulation and hirsutism in the polycystic ovary syndrome: a multicenter, double blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 86, 1626-32.
- AZZIZ, R., MARIN, C., HOQ, L., BADAMGARAV, E. & SONG, P. 2005. Health care-related economic burden of the polycystic ovary syndrome during the reproductive life span. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90, 4650-8.
- BAARENDS, W. M., UILENBROEK, J. T., KRAMER, P., HOOGERBRUGGE, J.
 W., VAN LEEUWEN, E. C., THEMMEN, A. P. & GROOTEGOED, J. A.
 1995. Anti-mullerian hormone and anti-mullerian hormone type II receptor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in rat ovaries during postnatal

development, the estrous cycle, and gonadotropin-induced follicle growth. *Endocrinology*, 136, 4951-62.

- BAILLARGEON, J. P. & CARPENTIER, A. 2007. Role of insulin in the hyperandrogenemia of lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal insulin sensitivity. *Fertil Steril*, 88, 886-93.
- BAILLARGEON, J. P. & NESTLER, J. E. 2006. Commentary: polycystic ovary syndrome: a syndrome of ovarian hypersensitivity to insulin? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 22-4.
- BANTING, L. K., GIBSON-HELM, M., POLMAN, R., TEEDE, H. J. & STEPTO, N. K. 2014. Physical activity and mental health in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *BMC Womens Health*, 14, 51.
- BANU, I. M., WAHAB, M. A., DEBNATH, B. C., BEGUM, D. & ARSLAN, M. I. 2013. Characteristics of Insulin and Androgen Status in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Bangladesh Journal of Medical Biochemistry*, 3, 11-15.
- BARBER, T. M., WASS, J. A., MCCARTHY, M. I. & FRANKS, S. 2007. Metabolic characteristics of women with polycystic ovaries and oligo-amenorrhoea but normal androgen levels: implications for the management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 66, 513-7.
- BARBIERI, R. L., MAKRIS, A., RANDALL, R. W., DANIELS, G., KISTNER, R.
 W. & RYAN, K. J. 1986. Insulin stimulates androgen accumulation in incubations of ovarian stroma obtained from women with hyperandrogenism. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 62, 904-10.
- BARNARD, L., FERRIDAY, D., GUENTHER, N., STRAUSS, B., BALEN, A. H. & DYE, L. 2007. Quality of life and psychological well being in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 22, 2279-86.
- BARRY, J. A., KUCZMIERCZYK, A. R. & HARDIMAN, P. J. 2011. Anxiety and depression in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Hum Reprod*, 26, 2442-51.
- BARTH, J. H., YASMIN, E. & BALEN, A. H. 2007. The diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome: the criteria are insufficiently robust for clinical research. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 67, 811-5.
- BEFROY, D. E., PETERSEN, K. F., DUFOUR, S., MASON, G. F., DE GRAAF, R. A., ROTHMAN, D. L. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2007. Impaired mitochondrial substrate oxidation in muscle of insulin-resistant offspring of type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes*, 56, 1376-81.
- BELOOSESKY, R., GOLD, R., ALMOG, B., SASSON, R., DANTES, A., LAND-BRACHA, A., HIRSH, L., ITSKOVITZ-ELDOR, J., LESSING, J. B., HOMBURG, R. & AMSTERDAM, A. 2004. Induction of polycystic ovary by testosterone in immature female rats: Modulation of apoptosis and attenuation of glucose/insulin ratio. *Int J Mol Med*, 14, 207-15.

- BENSON, S., HAHN, S., TAN, S., MANN, K., JANSSEN, O. E., SCHEDLOWSKI, M. & ELSENBRUCH, S. 2009. Prevalence and implications of anxiety in polycystic ovary syndrome: results of an internet-based survey in Germany. *Hum Reprod*, 24, 1446-51.
- BERGMAN, R. N. 2007. Orchestration of glucose homeostasis: from a small acorn to the California oak. *Diabetes*, 56, 1489-501.
- BERGMAN, R. N., FINEGOOD, D. T. & ADER, M. 1985. Assessment of insulin sensitivity in vivo. *Endocr Rev*, 6, 45-86.
- BERGMAN, R. N., PRAGER, R., VOLUND, A. & OLEFSKY, J. M. 1987. Equivalence of the insulin sensitivity index in man derived by the minimal model method and the euglycemic glucose clamp. *J Clin Invest*, 79, 790-800.
- BIRCH, R. A., PADMANABHAN, V., FOSTER, D. L., UNSWORTH, W. P. & ROBINSON, J. E. 2003. Prenatal programming of reproductive neuroendocrine function: fetal androgen exposure produces progressive disruption of reproductive cycles in sheep. *Endocrinology*, 144, 1426-34.
- BOOMSMA, C. M., EIJKEMANS, M. J., HUGHES, E. G., VISSER, G. H., FAUSER, B. C. & MACKLON, N. S. 2006. A meta-analysis of pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human Reproduction Update*, 12, 673-83.
- BOYLE, J. A., CUNNINGHAM, J., O'DEA, K., DUNBAR, T. & NORMAN, R. J. 2012. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a sample of Indigenous women in Darwin, Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 196, 62-66.
- BRAND, J. S., WAREHAM, N. J., DOWSETT, M., FOLKERD, E., VAN DER SCHOUW, Y. T., LUBEN, R. N. & KHAW, K. T. 2011. Associations of endogenous testosterone and SHBG with glycated haemoglobin in middle-aged and older men. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 74, 572-8.
- BRAND, M. D. & NICHOLLS, D. G. 2011. Assessing mitochondrial dysfunction in cells. *Biochem J*, 435, 297-312.
- BREHM, A., KRSSAK, M., SCHMID, A. I., NOWOTNY, P., WALDHAUSL, W. & RODEN, M. 2006. Increased lipid availability impairs insulin-stimulated ATP synthesis in human skeletal muscle. *Diabetes*, 55, 136-40.
- BRETTENTHALER, N., DE GEYTER, C., HUBER, P. R. & KELLER, U. 2004. Effect of the insulin sensitizer pioglitazone on insulin resistance, hyperandrogenism, and ovulatory dysfunction in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 89, 3835-40.
- BROEKMANS, F. J., KNAUFF, E. A., VALKENBURG, O., LAVEN, J. S., EIJKEMANS, M. J. & FAUSER, B. C. 2006. PCOS according to the Rotterdam consensus criteria: Change in prevalence among WHO-II anovulation and association with metabolic factors. *BJOG*, 113, 1210-7.

- BRUCE, R. A., KUSUMI, F. & HOSMER, D. 1973. Maximal oxygen intake and nomographic assessment of functional aerobic impairment in cardiovascular disease. *Am Heart J*, 85, 546-62.
- BUCHANAN, T. A., WATANABE, R. M. & XIANG, A. H. 2010. Limitations in surrogate measures of insulin resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95, 4874-6.
- BULLON, P., NEWMAN, H. N. & BATTINO, M. 2014. Obesity, diabetes mellitus, atherosclerosis and chronic periodontitis: a shared pathology via oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction? *Periodontol 2000*, 64, 139-53.
- CAGLAR, G. S., KAHYAOGLU, I., PABUCCU, R., DEMIRTAS, S. & SEKER, R. 2013. Anti-Mullerian hormone and insulin resistance in classic phenotype lean PCOS. *Arch Gynecol Obstet*, 288, 905-10.
- CAREY, D. G., JENKINS, A. B., CAMPBELL, L. V., FREUND, J. & CHISHOLM, D. J. 1996. Abdominal fat and insulin resistance in normal and overweight women: Direct measurements reveal a strong relationship in subjects at both low and high risk of NIDDM. *Diabetes*, 45, 633-8.
- CARMINA, E., CHU, M. C., LONGO, R. A., RINI, G. B. & LOBO, R. A. 2005a. Phenotypic variation in hyperandrogenic women influences the findings of abnormal metabolic and cardiovascular risk parameters. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 90, 2545-9.
- CARMINA, E. & LOBO, R. A. 1999. Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): arguably the most common endocrinopathy is associated with significant morbidity in women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 84, 1897-9.
- CARMINA, E. & LOBO, R. A. 2004. Use of fasting blood to assess the prevalence of insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 82, 661-5.
- CARMINA, E., ORIO, F., PALOMBA, S., LONGO, R. A., LOMBARDI, G. & LOBO, R. A. 2005b. Ovarian size and blood flow in women with polycystic ovary syndrome and their correlations with endocrine parameters. *Fertil Steril*, 84, 413-9.
- CARMINA, E., STANCZYK, F. Z., MORRIS, R. S., LEE, P. D., SAVJANI, G. & LOBO, R. A. 1995. Altered regulation of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Soc Gynecol Investig*, 2, 743-7.
- CATE, R. L., MATTALIANO, R. J., HESSION, C., TIZARD, R., FARBER, N. M., CHEUNG, A., NINFA, E. G., FREY, A. Z., GASH, D. J., CHOW, E. P. & ET AL. 1986. Isolation of the bovine and human genes for Mullerian inhibiting substance and expression of the human gene in animal cells. *Cell*, 45, 685-98.
- CHAE, S. J., KIM, J. J., CHOI, Y. M., HWANG, K. R., JEE, B. C., KU, S. Y., SUH, C. S., KIM, S. H., KIM, J. G. & MOON, S. Y. 2008. Clinical and biochemical characteristics of polycystic ovary syndrome in Korean women. *Hum Reprod*, 23, 1924-31.

- CHAPUT, J.-P. & TREMBLAY, A. 2006. Current and novel approaches to the drug therapy of obesity. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 62, 793-803.
- CHEN, M. J., YANG, W. S., CHEN, C. L., WU, M. Y., YANG, Y. S. & HO, H. N. 2008a. The relationship between anti-Mullerian hormone, androgen and insulin resistance on the number of antral follicles in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human Reproduction*, 23, 952-7.
- CHEN, M. J., YANG, W. S., YANG, J. H., HSIAO, C. K., YANG, Y. S. & HO, H. N. 2006. Low sex hormone-binding globulin is associated with low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and metabolic syndrome in women with PCOS. *Hum Reprod*, 21, 2266-71.
- CHEN, X., YANG, D., MO, Y., LI, L., CHEN, Y. & HUANG, Y. 2008b. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected women from southern China. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 139, 59-64.
- CHEN, Z. J., ZHAO, H., HE, L., SHI, Y., QIN, Y., SHI, Y., LI, Z., YOU, L., ZHAO, J., LIU, J., LIANG, X., ZHAO, X., ZHAO, J., SUN, Y., ZHANG, B., JIANG, H., ZHAO, D., BIAN, Y., GAO, X., GENG, L., LI, Y., ZHU, D., SUN, X., XU, J. E., HAO, C., REN, C. E., ZHANG, Y., CHEN, S., ZHANG, W., YANG, A., YAN, J., LI, Y., MA, J. & ZHAO, Y. 2011. Genome-wide association study identifies susceptibility loci for polycystic ovary syndrome on chromosome 2p16.3, 2p21 and 9q33.3. Nat Genet, 43, 55-9.
- CHITTENDEN, B. G., FULLERTON, G., MAHESHWARI, A. & BHATTACHARYA, S. 2009. Polycystic ovary syndrome and the risk of gynaecological cancer: a systematic review. *Reprod Biomed Online*, 19, 398-405.
- CHO, K. W., ZHOU, Y. J., SHENG, L. A. & RUI, L. Y. 2011. Lipocalin-13 Regulates Glucose Metabolism by both Insulin-Dependent and Insulin-Independent Mechanisms. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 31, 450-457.
- CIAMPELLI, M., FULGHESU, A. M., CUCINELLI, F., PAVONE, V., CARUSO, A., MANCUSO, S. & LANZONE, A. 1997. Heterogeneity in beta cell activity, hepatic insulin clearance and peripheral insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 12, 1897-901.
- CIAMPELLI, M. & LANZONE, A. 1998. Insulin and polycystic ovary syndrome: a new look at an old subject. *Gynecological endocrinology : the official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Endocrinology*, 12, 277-92.
- CIAMPELLI, M., LEONI, F., CUCINELLI, F., MANCUSO, S., PANUNZI, S., DE GAETANO, A. & LANZONE, A. 2005. Assessment of insulin sensitivity from measurements in the fasting state and during an oral glucose tolerance test in polycystic ovary syndrome and menopausal patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90, 1398-406.

- CIAMPELLI, M., LEONI, F., LATTANZI, F., GUIDO, M., APA, R. & LANZONE, A. 2002. A pilot study of the long-term effects of acipimox in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 17, 647-53.
- CIARALDI, T. P., ARODA, V., MUDALIAR, S., CHANG, R. J. & HENRY, R. R. 2009. Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with tissue-specific differences in insulin resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 94, 157-63.
- CIBULA, D., SINDELKA, G., HILL, M., FANTA, M., SKRHA, J. & ZIVNY, J. 2002a. Insulin sensitivity in non-obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome during treatment with oral contraceptives containing low-androgenic progestin. *Hum Reprod*, 17, 76-82.
- CIBULA, D., SKRHA, J., HILL, M., FANTA, M., HAAKOVA, L., VRBIKOVA, J. & ZIVNY, J. 2002b. Prediction of insulin sensitivity in nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 5821-5.
- CLARK, A. M., THORNLEY, B., TOMLINSON, L., GALLETLEY, C. & NORMAN, R. J. 1998. Weight loss in obese infertile women results in improvement in reproductive outcome for all forms of fertility treatment. *Hum Reprod*, 13, 1502-5.
- CNOP, M., LANDCHILD, M. J., VIDAL, J., HAVEL, P. J., KNOWLES, N. G., CARR, D. R., WANG, F., HULL, R. L., BOYKO, E. J., RETZLAFF, B. M., WALDEN, C. E., KNOPP, R. H. & KAHN, S. E. 2002. The concurrent accumulation of intra-abdominal and subcutaneous fat explains the association between insulin resistance and plasma leptin concentrations : distinct metabolic effects of two fat compartments. *Diabetes*, 51, 1005-15.
- CODNER, E., SOTO, N., LOPEZ, P., TREJO, L., AVILA, A., EYZAGUIRRE, F. C., INIGUEZ, G. & CASSORLA, F. 2006. Diagnostic criteria for polycystic ovary syndrome and ovarian morphology in women with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 2250-6.
- COHEN, J. C. & HICKMAN, R. 1987. Insulin resistance and diminished glucose tolerance in powerlifters ingesting anabolic steroids. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 64, 960-3.
- CORBOULD, A. 2008a. Effects of androgens on insulin action in women: is androgen excess a component of female metabolic syndrome? *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 24, 520-32.
- CORBOULD, A. 2008b. Insulin resistance in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue in polycystic ovary syndrome: are the molecular mechanisms distinct from type 2 diabetes? *Panminerva medica*, 50, 279-94.
- CORBOULD, A., KIM, Y. B., YOUNGREN, J. F., PENDER, C., KAHN, B. B., LEE, A. & DUNAIF, A. 2005. Insulin resistance in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS involves intrinsic and acquired defects in insulin signaling. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 288, E1047-54.

- CORBOULD, A., ZHAO, H., MIRZOEVA, S., AIRD, F. & DUNAIF, A. 2006. Enhanced mitogenic signaling in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, 55, 751-9.
- COSTANTINI, S., CAPONE, F., GUERRIERO, E., MARFELLA, R., SORICE, A., MAIO, P., DI STASIO, M., PAOLISSO, G., CASTELLO, G. & COLONNA, G. 2012. Cytokinome Profile of Patients with Type 2 Diabetes and/or Chronic Hepatitis C Infection. *PloS one*, 7.
- DAHLGREN, E., LANDIN, K., KROTKIEWSKI, M., HOLM, G. & JANSON, P. O. 1998. Effects of two antiandrogen treatments on hirsutism and insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 13, 2706-11.
- DAVIS, S. R., KNIGHT, S., WHITE, V., CLARIDGE, C., DAVIS, B. J. & BELL, R. 2002. Preliminary indication of a high prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in indigenous Australian women. *Gynecol Endocrinol*, 16, 443-6.
- DE BOER, J. A., LAMBALK, C. B., HENDRIKS, H. H., VAN AKEN, C., VAN DER VEEN, E. A. & SCHOEMAKER, J. 2004. Growth hormone secretion is impaired but not related to insulin sensitivity in non-obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 19, 504-9.
- DE FEYTER, H. M., VAN DEN BROEK, N. M., PRAET, S. F., NICOLAY, K., VAN LOON, L. J. & PROMPERS, J. J. 2008. Early or advanced stage type 2 diabetes is not accompanied by in vivo skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 158, 643-53.
- DE LUCA, C. & OLEFSKY, J. M. 2008. Inflammation and insulin resistance. *FEBS Lett*, 582, 97-105.
- DE PAULA MARTINS, W., SANTANA, L. F., NASTRI, C. O., FERRIANI, F. A., DE SA, M. F. & DOS REIS, R. M. 2007. Agreement among insulin sensitivity indexes on the diagnosis of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome and ovulatory women. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 133, 203-7.
- DE VET, A., LAVEN, J. S., DE JONG, F. H., THEMMEN, A. P. & FAUSER, B. C. 2002. Antimullerian hormone serum levels: a putative marker for ovarian aging. *Fertil Steril*, 77, 357-62.
- DEEKS, A. A., GIBSON-HELM, M. E., PAUL, E. & TEEDE, H. J. 2011. Is having polycystic ovary syndrome a predictor of poor psychological function including anxiety and depression? *Human reproduction*, 26, 1399-1407.
- DEFRONZO, R. A. 1988. Lilly lecture 1987. The triumvirate: beta-cell, muscle, liver. A collusion responsible for NIDDM. *Diabetes*, 37, 667-87.
- DEFRONZO, R. A. 1992. Pathogenesis of type 2 (non-insulin dependent) diabetes mellitus: a balanced overview. *Diabetologia*, 35, 389-97.
- DEFRONZO, R. A. & ABDUL-GHANI, M. 2011. Type 2 diabetes can be prevented with early pharmacological intervention. *Diabetes Care*, 34 Suppl 2, S202-9.

- DEFRONZO, R. A., GUNNARSSON, R., BJORKMAN, O., OLSSON, M. & WAHREN, J. 1985. Effects of insulin on peripheral and splanchnic glucose metabolism in noninsulin-dependent (type II) diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest, 76, 149-55.
- DEFRONZO, R. A., TOBIN, J. D. & ANDRES, R. 1979. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. *Am J Physiol*, 237, E214-23.
- DEFRONZO, R. A. & TRIPATHY, D. 2009. Skeletal Muscle Insulin Resistance Is the Primary Defect in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 32, S157-S163.
- DEUGARTE, C. M., BARTOLUCCI, A. A. & AZZIZ, R. 2005. Prevalence of insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome using the homeostasis model assessment. *Fertil Steril*, 83, 1454-60.
- DEWAILLY, D., CATTEAU-JONARD, S., REYSS, A. C., LEROY, M. & PIGNY, P. 2006. Oligoanovulation with polycystic ovaries but not overt hyperandrogenism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 3922-7.
- DEWAILLY, D., LUJAN, M. E., CARMINA, E., CEDARS, M. I., LAVEN, J., NORMAN, R. J. & ESCOBAR-MORREALE, H. F. 2014. Definition and significance of polycystic ovarian morphology: a task force report from the Androgen Excess and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Society. *Hum Reprod Update*, 20, 334-52.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E. 2008. Polycystic ovarian syndrome: pathophysiology, molecular aspects and clinical implications. *Expert reviews in molecular medicine*, 10, e3.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., ARGYRAKOPOULOU, G., ECONOMOU, F., KANDARAKI, E. & KOUTSILIERIS, M. 2008. Defects in insulin signaling pathways in ovarian steroidogenesis and other tissues in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 109, 242-6.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E. & DUNAIF, A. 2012. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome revisited: an update on mechanisms and implications. *Endocr Rev*, 33, 981-1030.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., KOULI, C., ALEXANDRAKI, K. & SPINA, G. 2004. Failure of mathematical indices to accurately assess insulin resistance in lean, overweight, or obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 89, 1273-6.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., KOULI, C., TSIANATELI, T. & BERGIELE, A. 1998. Therapeutic effects of metformin on insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 138, 269-74.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., KOULI, C. R., BERGIELE, A. T., FILANDRA, F. A., TSIANATELI, T. C., SPINA, G. G., ZAPANTI, E. D. & BARTZIS, M. I. 1999. A survey of the polycystic ovary syndrome in the Greek island of

Lesbos: hormonal and metabolic profile. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 84, 4006-11.

- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E., MITRAKOU, A., HENNES, M. M., PLATANISSIOTIS, D., KAKLAS, N., SPINA, J., GEORGIADOU, E., HOFFMANN, R. G., KISSEBAH, A. H. & RAPTIS, S. 1995. Insulin sensitivity and antiandrogenic therapy in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Metabolism*, 44, 525-31.
- DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E. & PAPAVASSILIOU, A. G. 2006. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 12, 324-32.
- DIAMOND, M. P., GRAINGER, D., DIAMOND, M. C., SHERWIN, R. S. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 1998. Effects of methyltestosterone on insulin secretion and sensitivity in women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 4420-5.
- DOKRAS, A. 2013. Cardiovascular disease risk in women with PCOS. *Steroids*, 78, 773-6.
- DOUCHI, T., OKI, T., YAMASAKI, H., KUWAHATA, R., NAKAE, M. & NAGATA, Y. 2001. Relationship of androgens to muscle size and bone mineral density in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Obstet Gynecol*, 98, 445-9.
- DUCLUZEAU, P. H., COUSIN, P., MALVOISIN, E., BORNET, H., VIDAL, H., LAVILLE, M. & PUGEAT, M. 2003. Glucose-to-insulin ratio rather than sex hormone-binding globulin and adiponectin levels is the best predictor of insulin resistance in nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 88, 3626-31.
- DUDKINA, N. V., KOURIL, R., PETERS, K., BRAUN, H. P. & BOEKEMA, E. J. 2010. Structure and function of mitochondrial supercomplexes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1797, 664-70.
- DUMESIC, D. A., ABBOTT, D. H., EISNER, J. R. & GOY, R. W. 1997. Prenatal exposure of female rhesus monkeys to testosterone propionate increases serum luteinizing hormone levels in adulthood. *Fertility and sterility*, 67, 155-63.
- DUNAIF, A. 1997. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome: mechanism and implications for pathogenesis. *Endocr Rev*, 18, 774-800.
- DUNAIF, A. & GRAF, M. 1989. Insulin administration alters gonadal steroid metabolism independent of changes in gonadotropin secretion in insulin-resistant women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Invest*, 83, 23-9.
- DUNAIF, A., GREEN, G., FUTTERWEIT, W. & DOBRJANSKY, A. 1990. Suppression of hyperandrogenism does not improve peripheral or hepatic insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 70, 699-704.

- DUNAIF, A., GREEN, G., PHELPS, R. G., LEBWOHL, M., FUTTERWEIT, W. & LEWY, L. 1991. Acanthosis Nigricans, insulin action, and hyperandrogenism: clinical, histological, and biochemical findings. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 73, 590-5.
- DUNAIF, A., SCOTT, D., FINEGOOD, D., QUINTANA, B. & WHITCOMB, R. 1996. The insulin-sensitizing agent troglitazone improves metabolic and reproductive abnormalities in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 81, 3299-306.
- DUNAIF, A., SEGAL, K. R., FUTTERWEIT, W. & DOBRJANSKY, A. 1989. Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, 38, 1165-1174.
- DUNAIF, A., SEGAL, K. R., SHELLEY, D. R., GREEN, G., DOBRJANSKY, A. & LICHOLAI, T. 1992. Evidence for distinctive and intrinsic defects in insulin action in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, 41, 1257-66.
- DUNAIF, A., WU, X., LEE, A. & DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E. 2001. Defects in insulin receptor signaling in vivo in the polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 281, E392-9.
- DURLINGER, A. L., GRUIJTERS, M. J., KRAMER, P., KARELS, B., INGRAHAM, H. A., NACHTIGAL, M. W., UILENBROEK, J. T., GROOTEGOED, J. A. & THEMMEN, A. P. 2002. Anti-Mullerian hormone inhibits initiation of primordial follicle growth in the mouse ovary. *Endocrinology*, 143, 1076-84.
- DURLINGER, A. L., GRUIJTERS, M. J., KRAMER, P., KARELS, B., KUMAR, T. R., MATZUK, M. M., ROSE, U. M., DE JONG, F. H., UILENBROEK, J. T., GROOTEGOED, J. A. & THEMMEN, A. P. 2001. Anti-Mullerian hormone attenuates the effects of FSH on follicle development in the mouse ovary. *Endocrinology*, 142, 4891-9.
- EAGLESON, C. A., BELLOWS, A. B., HU, K., GINGRICH, M. B. & MARSHALL, J. C. 2003. Obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: evidence that metformin does not restore sensitivity of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulse generator to inhibition by ovarian steroids. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 5158-62.
- EHRMANN, D. A., SCHNEIDER, D. J., SOBEL, B. E., CAVAGHAN, M. K., IMPERIAL, J., ROSENFIELD, R. L. & POLONSKY, K. S. 1997. Troglitazone improves defects in insulin action, insulin secretion, ovarian steroidogenesis, and fibrinolysis in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 82, 2108-16.
- EISNER, J. R., BARNETT, M. A., DUMESIC, D. A. & ABBOTT, D. H. 2002. Ovarian hyperandrogenism in adult female rhesus monkeys exposed to prenatal androgen excess. *Fertil Steril*, 77, 167-72.

- ELBERS, J. M., ASSCHEMAN, H., SEIDELL, J. C. & GOOREN, L. J. 1999. Effects of sex steroid hormones on regional fat depots as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging in transsexuals. *Am J Physiol*, 276, E317-25.
- ELBERS, J. M., ASSCHEMAN, H., SEIDELL, J. C., MEGENS, J. A. & GOOREN, L. J. 1997. Long-term testosterone administration increases visceral fat in female to male transsexuals. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 82, 2044-7.
- ELKIND-HIRSCH, K. E., VALDES, C. T. & MALINAK, L. R. 1993. Insulin resistance improves in hyperandrogenic women treated with Lupron. *Fertil Steril*, 60, 634-41.
- ERIKSEN, M., PORNEKI, A. D., SKOV, V., BURNS, J. S., BECK-NIELSEN, H., GLINTBORG, D. & GASTER, M. 2010. Insulin resistance is not conserved in myotubes established from women with PCOS. *PLoS One,* 5, e14469.
- ERIKSEN, M. B., MINET, A. D., GLINTBORG, D. & GASTER, M. 2011. Intact primary mitochondrial function in myotubes established from women with PCOS. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 96, E1298-302.
- ESHRE/ASRM 2003. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Human Reproduction*, 19, 41-47.
- FANCHIN, R., SCHONAUER, L. M., RIGHINI, C., GUIBOURDENCHE, J., FRYDMAN, R. & TAIEB, J. 2003. Serum anti-Mullerian hormone is more strongly related to ovarian follicular status than serum inhibin B, estradiol, FSH and LH on day 3. *Hum Reprod*, 18, 323-7.
- FARAH, L., LAZENBY, A. J., BOOTS, L. R. & AZZIZ, R. 1999. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in women seeking treatment from community electrologists. Alabama Professional Electrology Association Study Group. J Reprod Med, 44, 870-4.
- FARRELL, K. & ANTONI, M. H. 2010. Insulin resistance, obesity, inflammation, and depression in polycystic ovary syndrome: biobehavioral mechanisms and interventions. *Fertil Steril*, 94, 1565-74.
- FAUSER, B. C., TARLATZIS, B. C., REBAR, R. W., LEGRO, R. S., BALEN, A. H., LOBO, R., CARMINA, E., CHANG, J., YILDIZ, B. O., LAVEN, J. S., BOIVIN, J., PETRAGLIA, F., WIJEYERATNE, C. N., NORMAN, R. J., DUNAIF, A., FRANKS, S., WILD, R. A., DUMESIC, D. & BARNHART, K. 2012. Consensus on women's health aspects of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): the Amsterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored 3rd PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. *Fertil Steril*, 97, 28-38 e25.
- FISHER-WELLMAN, K. H., WEBER, T. M., CATHEY, B. L., BROPHY, P. M., GILLIAM, L. A., KANE, C. L., MAPLES, J. M., GAVIN, T. P., HOUMARD, J. A. & NEUFER, P. D. 2014. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity and content are normal in young insulin-resistant obese humans. *Diabetes*, 63, 132-41.

- FOECKING, E. M., SZABO, M., SCHWARTZ, N. B. & LEVINE, J. E. 2005. Neuroendocrine consequences of prenatal androgen exposure in the female rat: absence of luteinizing hormone surges, suppression of progesterone receptor gene expression, and acceleration of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulse generator. *Biol Reprod*, 72, 1475-83.
- FOX, J. H., LICHOLAI, T., GREEN, G. & DUNAIF, A. 1993. Differential effects of oral glucose-mediated versus intravenous hyperinsulinemia on circulating androgen levels in women. *Fertil Steril*, 60, 994-1000.
- FRANKS, S., GILLING-SMITH, C., WATSON, H. & WILLIS, D. 1999. Insulin action in the normal and polycystic ovary. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 28, 361-78.
- FRISARD, M. & RAVUSSIN, E. 2006. Energy metabolism and oxidative stress: impact on the metabolic syndrome and the aging process. *Endocrine*, 29, 27-32.
- FROMENTY, B. & PESSAYRE, D. 1995. Inhibition of mitochondrial beta-oxidation as a mechanism of hepatotoxicity. *Pharmacol Ther*, 67, 101-54.
- FUJIMOTO, W. Y., BERGSTROM, R. W., BOYKO, E. J., CHEN, K. W., KAHN, S. E., LEONETTI, D. L., MCNEELY, M. J., NEWELL, L. L., SHOFER, J. B., TSUNEHARA, C. H. & WAHL, P. W. 2000. Preventing diabetes--applying pathophysiological and epidemiological evidence. *Br J Nutr*, 84 Suppl 2, S173-6.
- FULGHESU, A. M., ANGIONI, S., PORTOGHESE, E., MILANO, F., BATETTA, B., PAOLETTI, A. M. & MELIS, G. B. 2006. Failure of the homeostatic model assessment calculation score for detecting metabolic deterioration in young patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 86, 398-404.
- FULGHESU, A. M., VILLA, P., PAVONE, V., GUIDO, M., APA, R., CARUSO, A., LANZONE, A., ROSSODIVITA, A. & MANCUSO, S. 1997. The impact of insulin secretion on the ovarian response to exogenous gonadotropins in polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 82, 644-8.
- GAMBINERI, A., PELUSI, C., VICENNATI, V., PAGOTTO, U. & PASQUALI, R. 2002. Obesity and the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 26, 883-96.
- GARCIA-ESTEVEZ, D. A., ARAUJO-VILAR, D., SAAVEDRA-GONZALEZ, A., FIESTRAS-JANEIRO, G. & CABEZAS-CERRATO, J. 2004. Analysis of the relationship between body mass index, insulin resistance, and beta-cell function: A cross-sectional study using the minimal model. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental*, 53, 1462-1466.
- GENAZZANI, A. R., GADDUCCI, A. & GAMBACCIANI, M. 2001. Controversial issues in climacteric medicine II. Hormone replacement therapy and cancer. International Menopause Society Expert Workshop. 9-12 June 2001, Opera del Duomo, Pisa, Italy. *Climacteric*, 4, 181-93.

- GIBSON-HELM, M. E., LUCAS, I. M., BOYLE, J. A. & TEEDE, H. J. 2014. Women's experiences of polycystic ovary syndrome diagnosis. *Fam Pract*, 31, 545-9.
- GILLING-SMITH, C., WILLIS, D. S., BEARD, R. W. & FRANKS, S. 1994. Hypersecretion of androstenedione by isolated thecal cells from polycystic ovaries. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 79, 1158-65.
- GLINTBORG, D., HOJLUND, K., ANDERSEN, N. R., HANSEN, B. F., BECK-NIELSEN, H. & WOJTASZEWSKI, J. F. 2008. Impaired insulin activation and dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome is reversed by pioglitazone treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 93, 3618-26.
- GNACINSKA, M., MALGORZEWICZ, S., STOJEK, M., LYSIAK-SZYDLOWSKA, W. & SWORCZAK, K. 2009. Role of adipokines in complications related to obesity. A review. *Advances in Medical Sciences*, 54, 150-157.
- GNOTH, C., GODEHARDT, E., FRANK-HERRMANN, P., FRIOL, K., TIGGES, J. & FREUNDL, G. 2005. Definition and prevalence of subfertility and infertility. *Hum Reprod*, 20, 1144-7.
- GODSLAND, I. F., WALTON, C., FELTON, C., PROUDLER, A., PATEL, A. & WYNN, V. 1992. Insulin resistance, secretion, and metabolism in users of oral contraceptives. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 74, 64-70.
- GOODARZI, M. O., JONES, M. R., LI, X., CHUA, A. K., GARCIA, O. A., CHEN,
 Y. D., KRAUSS, R. M., ROTTER, J. I., ANKENER, W., LEGRO, R. S.,
 AZZIZ, R., STRAUSS, J. F., 3RD, DUNAIF, A. & URBANEK, M. 2012.
 Replication of association of DENND1A and THADA variants with
 polycystic ovary syndrome in European cohorts. *J Med Genet*, 49, 90-5.
- GOODPASTER, B. H. 2013. Mitochondrial deficiency is associated with insulin resistance. *Diabetes*, 62, 1032-5.
- GOVERDE, A. J., VAN KOERT, A. J., EIJKEMANS, M. J., KNAUFF, E. A., WESTERVELD, H. E., FAUSER, B. C. & BROEKMANS, F. J. 2009. Indicators for metabolic disturbances in anovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome diagnosed according to the Rotterdam consensus criteria. *Hum Reprod*, 24, 710-7.
- GROOP, L. C., BONADONNA, R. C., SIMONSON, D. C., PETRIDES, A. S., SHANK, M. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 1992. Effect of insulin on oxidative and nonoxidative pathways of free fatty acid metabolism in human obesity. *The American journal of physiology*, 263, E79-84.
- GROSSMAN, M. P., NAKAJIMA, S. T., FALLAT, M. E. & SIOW, Y. 2008. Mullerian-inhibiting substance inhibits cytochrome P450 aromatase activity in human granulosa lutein cell culture. *Fertility and sterility*, 89, 1364-70.

- GROUP, E. C. W. 2012. Health and fertility in World Health Organization group 2 anovulatory women. *Hum Reprod Update*, 18, 586-99.
- GROUP, T. R. E. A.-S. P. C. W. 2004. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Human reproduction*, 19, 41-7.
- GRUNDY, S. M., BREWER, H. B., JR., CLEEMAN, J. I., SMITH, S. C., JR. & LENFANT, C. 2004. Definition of metabolic syndrome: Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. *Circulation*, 109, 433-8.
- HAFFNER, S. M., KATZ, M. S., STERN, M. P. & DUNN, J. F. 1989. Association of decreased sex hormone binding globulin and cardiovascular risk factors. *Arteriosclerosis*, 9, 136-43.
- HANDELSMAN, D. J. & WARTOFSKY, L. 2013. Requirement for mass spectrometry sex steroid assays in the Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 98, 3971-3.
- HAOULA, Z., SALMAN, M. & ATIOMO, W. 2012. Evaluating the association between endometrial cancer and polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 27, 1327-31.
- HARRIS, C. G., M. 2010. Finding the evidence: Guide to the best available evidence to support development of clinical procedures at Monash Health, Centre for Clinical Effectiveness, Monash Health, Melbourne, Australia [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.monashhealth.org/icms_docs/4300_Evidence_clinical_procedures.pdf</u>..
- HARRISON, C. L., STEPTO, N. K., HUTCHISON, S. K. & TEEDE, H. J. 2012. The impact of intensified exercise training on insulin resistance and fitness in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 76, 351-7.
- HASEGAWA, I., MURAKAWA, H., SUZUKI, M., YAMAMOTO, Y., KURABAYASHI, T. & TANAKA, K. 1999. Effect of troglitazone on endocrine and ovulatory performance in women with insulin resistance-related polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 71, 323-7.
- HEILBRONN, L. K., GAN, S. K., TURNER, N., CAMPBELL, L. V. & CHISHOLM, D. J. 2007a. Markers of mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolism are lower in overweight and obese insulin-resistant subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 92, 1467-73.
- HEILBRONN, L. K., GREGERSEN, S., SHIRKHEDKAR, D., HU, D. & CAMPBELL, L. V. 2007b. Impaired fat oxidation after a single high-fat meal in insulin-sensitive nondiabetic individuals with a family history of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 56, 2046-53.
- HICKEY, T. E., LEGRO, R. S. & NORMAN, R. J. 2006. Epigenetic modification of the X chromosome influences susceptibility to polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 2789-91.
- HIGGINS, J. P. T. & GREEN, S. 2011. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from <u>www.cochrane-handbook.org</u>.
- HILLIER, S. G. 1994. Current concepts of the roles of follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone in folliculogenesis. *Hum Reprod*, 9, 188-91.
- HILLIER, S. G. & TETSUKA, M. 1997. Role of androgens in follicle maturation and atresia. *Baillieres Clin Obstet Gynaecol*, 11, 249-60.
- HOJLUND, K., GLINTBORG, D., ANDERSEN, N. R., BIRK, J. B., TREEBAK, J. T., FROSIG, C., BECK-NIELSEN, H. & WOJTASZEWSKI, J. F. 2008. Impaired insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of Akt and AS160 in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome is reversed by pioglitazone treatment. *Diabetes*, 57, 357-66.
- HOLLOSZY, J. O. 1967. Biochemical adaptations in muscle. Effects of exercise on mitochondrial oxygen uptake and respiratory enzyme activity in skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem*, 242, 2278-82.
- HOLTE, J. 1996. Disturbances in insulin secretion and sensitivity in women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 10, 221-47.
- HOLTE, J., BERGH, T., BERNE, C., BERGLUND, L. & LITHELL, H. 1994. Enhanced early insulin response to glucose in relation to insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal glucose tolerance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 78, 1052-8.
- HOLTE, J., BERGH, T., BERNE, C., WIDE, L. & LITHELL, H. 1995. Restored insulin sensitivity but persistently increased early insulin secretion after weight loss in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 80, 2586-93.
- HOMBURG, R., RAY, A., BHIDE, P., GUDI, A., SHAH, A., TIMMS, P. & GRAYSON, K. 2013. The relationship of serum anti-Mullerian hormone with polycystic ovarian morphology and polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective cohort study. *Hum Reprod*, 28, 1077-83.
- HOPKINS, W. G., MARSHALL, S. W., BATTERHAM, A. M. & HANIN, J. 2009. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 41, 3-13.
- HUBER-BUCHHOLZ, M. M., CAREY, D. G. & NORMAN, R. J. 1999. Restoration of reproductive potential by lifestyle modification in obese polycystic ovary syndrome: role of insulin sensitivity and luteinizing hormone. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 84, 1470-4.

- HUTCHISON, S. K., STEPTO, N. K., HARRISON, C. L., MORAN, L. J., STRAUSS, B. J. & TEEDE, H. J. 2011. Effects of exercise on insulin resistance and body composition in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 96, E48-56.
- HUTCHISON, S. K., TEEDE, H. J., RACHON, D., HARRISON, C. L., STRAUSS, B. J. & STEPTO, N. K. 2012. Effect of exercise training on insulin sensitivity, mitochondria and computed tomography muscle attenuation in overweight women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetologia*, 55, 1424-34.
- JAKUBOWICZ, D. J., IUORNO, M. J., JAKUBOWICZ, S., ROBERTS, K. A. & NESTLER, J. E. 2002. Effects of metformin on early pregnancy loss in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 524-9.
- JAYAGOPAL, V., KILPATRICK, E. S., JENNINGS, P. E., HEPBURN, D. A. & ATKIN, S. L. 2003. The biological variation of testosterone and sex hormonebinding globulin (SHBG) in polycystic ovarian syndrome: implications for SHBG as a surrogate marker of insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 88, 1528-33.
- JAYAGOPAL, V., KILPATRICK, E. S., JENNINGS, P. E., HOLDING, S., HEPBURN, D. A. & ATKIN, S. L. 2004. The biological variation of sex hormone-binding globulin in type 2 diabetes: implications for sex hormonebinding globulin as a surrogate marker of insulin resistance. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 278-80.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2002. Regulation of fat metabolism in skeletal muscle. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 967, 217-35.
- JOHAM, A. E., TEEDE, H. J., HUTCHISON, S. K., STEPTO, N. K., HARRISON, C. L., STRAUSS, B. J., PAUL, E. & WATT, M. J. 2012. Pigment epitheliumderived factor, insulin sensitivity, and adiposity in polycystic ovary syndrome: impact of exercise training. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 20, 2390-6.
- JONARD, S. & DEWAILLY, D. 2004. The follicular excess in polycystic ovaries, due to intra-ovarian hyperandrogenism, may be the main culprit for the follicular arrest. *Human reproduction update*, 10, 107-17.
- JONARD, S., ROBERT, Y., CORTET-RUDELLI, C., PIGNY, P., DECANTER, C. & DEWAILLY, D. 2003. Ultrasound examination of polycystic ovaries: is it worth counting the follicles? *Hum Reprod*, 18, 598-603.
- JOSEPH, A. M., JOANISSE, D. R., BAILLOT, R. G. & HOOD, D. A. 2012. Mitochondrial dysregulation in the pathogenesis of diabetes: potential for mitochondrial biogenesis-mediated interventions. *Exp Diabetes Res*, 2012, 642038.
- KAHN, B. B. & FLIER, J. S. 2000. Obesity and insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 106, 473-81.

- KAHN, C. R. 1985. The molecular mechanism of insulin action. Annu Rev Med, 36, 429-51.
- KAHN, S. E. 2003. The relative contributions of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction to the pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 46, 3-19.
- KAHN, S. E., HULL, R. L. & UTZSCHNEIDER, K. M. 2006. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature*, 444, 840-6.
- KALYANI, R. R., FRANCO, M., DOBS, A. S., OUYANG, P., VAIDYA, D., BERTONI, A., GAPSTUR, S. M. & GOLDEN, S. H. 2009. The association of endogenous sex hormones, adiposity, and insulin resistance with incident diabetes in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 94, 4127-35.
- KATSIKIS, I., KARKANAKI, A., MISICHRONIS, G., DELKOS, D., KANDARAKI, E. A. & PANIDIS, D. 2011. Phenotypic expression, body mass index and insulin resistance in relation to LH levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 156, 181-5.
- KATZ, A., NAMBI, S. S., MATHER, K., BARON, A. D., FOLLMANN, D. A., SULLIVAN, G. & QUON, M. J. 2000. Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index: a simple, accurate method for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans. J *Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 85, 2402-10.
- KELLEY, D. E., GOODPASTER, B., WING, R. R. & SIMONEAU, J. A. 1999. Skeletal muscle fatty acid metabolism in association with insulin resistance, obesity, and weight loss. *Am J Physiol*, 277, E1130-41.
- KELLEY, D. E., HE, J., MENSHIKOVA, E. V. & RITOV, V. B. 2002. Dysfunction of mitochondria in human skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 51, 2944-50.
- KELLEY, D. E., MOKAN, M., SIMONEAU, J. A. & MANDARINO, L. J. 1993. Interaction between glucose and free fatty acid metabolism in human skeletal muscle. *J Clin Invest*, 92, 91-8.
- KELLEY, G. A., KELLEY, K. S. & TRAN, Z. V. 2004. Retrieval of missing data for meta-analysis: a practical example. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care*, 20, 296-9.
- KERSHAW, E. E. & FLIER, J. S. 2004. Adipose Tissue as an Endocrine Organ. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89, 2548-2556.
- KETEL, I. J., SERNE, E. H., IJZERMAN, R. G., KORSEN, T. J., TWISK, J. W., HOMPES, P. G., SMULDERS, Y. M., HOMBURG, R., VORSTERMANS, L., STEHOUWER, C. D. & LAMBALK, C. B. 2011. Insulin-induced capillary recruitment is impaired in both lean and obese women with PCOS. *Hum Reprod*, 26, 3130-7.
- KETEL, I. J., STEHOUWER, C. D., SERNE, E. H., KORSEN, T. J., HOMPES, P. G., SMULDERS, Y. M., DE JONGH, R. T., HOMBURG, R. & LAMBALK,

C. B. 2008. Obese but not normal-weight women with polycystic ovary syndrome are characterized by metabolic and microvascular insulin resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 93, 3365-72.

- KEY, T. J. & PIKE, M. C. 1988. The role of oestrogens and progestagens in the epidemiology and prevention of breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol*, 24, 29-43.
- KIDDY, D. S., HAMILTON-FAIRLEY, D., SEPPALA, M., KOISTINEN, R., JAMES, V. H., REED, M. J. & FRANKS, S. 1989. Diet-induced changes in sex hormone binding globulin and free testosterone in women with normal or polycystic ovaries: correlation with serum insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 31, 757-63.
- KIM, J. A., WEI, Y. & SOWERS, J. R. 2008. Role of mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance. *Circ Res*, 102, 401-14.
- KIM, J. Y., HICKNER, R. C., CORTRIGHT, R. L., DOHM, G. L. & HOUMARD, J. A. 2000. Lipid oxidation is reduced in obese human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 279, E1039-44.
- KIRCHENGAST, S. & HUBER, J. 2001. Body composition characteristics and body fat distribution in lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Human reproduction*, 16, 1255-60.
- KITZINGER, C. & WILLMOTT, J. 2002. 'The thief of womanhood': women's experience of polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Soc Sci Med*, 54, 349-61.
- KLIPSTEIN, K. G. & GOLDBERG, J. F. 2006. Screening for bipolar disorder in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a pilot study. *J Affect Disord*, 91, 205-9.
- KNOCHENHAUER, E. S., KEY, T. J., KAHSAR-MILLER, M., WAGGONER, W., BOOTS, L. R. & AZZIZ, R. 1998. Prevalence of the polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected black and white women of the southeastern United States: a prospective study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 3078-82.
- KNOWLER, W. C., BARRETT-CONNOR, E., FOWLER, S. E., HAMMAN, R. F., LACHIN, J. M., WALKER, E. A., NATHAN, D. M. & DIABETES PREVENTION PROGRAM RESEARCH, G. 2002. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *N Engl J Med*, 346, 393-403.
- KOIVUNEN, R., POUTA, A., FRANKS, S., MARTIKAINEN, H., SOVIO, U., HARTIKAINEN, A. L., MCCARTHY, M. I., RUOKONEN, A., BLOIGU, A., JARVELIN, M. R., MORIN-PAPUNEN, L. & NORTHERN FINLAND BIRTH COHORT, S. 2008. Fecundability and spontaneous abortions in women with self-reported oligo-amenorrhea and/or hirsutism: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966 Study. *Hum Reprod*, 23, 2134-9.
- KOWALSKA, I., ADAMSKA, A., MALECKI, M. T., KARCZEWSKA-KUPCZEWSKA, M., NIKOLAJUK, A., SZOPA, M., GORSKA, M. &

STRACZKOWSKI, M. 2012. Impact of the FTO gene variation on fat oxidation and its potential influence on body weight in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 77, 120-5.

- KOWALSKA, I., STRACZKOWSKI, M., NIKOLAJUK, A., ADAMSKA, A., KARCZEWSKA-KUPCZEWSKA, M., OTZIOMEK, E., WOLCZYNSKI, S. & GORSKA, M. 2007. Serum visfatin in relation to insulin resistance and markers of hyperandrogenism in lean and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 22, 1824-9.
- KUMARAPELI, V., SENEVIRATNE RDE, A., WIJEYARATNE, C. N., YAPA, R. M. & DODAMPAHALA, S. H. 2008. A simple screening approach for assessing community prevalence and phenotype of polycystic ovary syndrome in a semi-urban population in Sri Lanka. *Am J Epidemiol*, 168, 321-8.
- LA MARCA, A., EGBE, T. O., MORGANTE, G., PAGLIA, T., CIANCI, A. & DE LEO, V. 2000. Metformin treatment reduces ovarian cytochrome P-450c17alpha response to human chorionic gonadotrophin in women with insulin resistance-related polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 15, 21-3.
- LA MARCA, A., ORVIETO, R., GIULINI, S., JASONNI, V. M., VOLPE, A. & DE LEO, V. 2004. Mullerian-inhibiting substance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship with hormonal and metabolic characteristics. *Fertility and sterility*, 82, 970-2.
- LA MARCA, A. & VOLPE, A. 2006. Anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) in female reproduction: is measurement of circulating AMH a useful tool? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 64, 603-10.
- LANZA, I. R. & NAIR, K. S. 2009. Functional assessment of isolated mitochondria in vitro. *Methods Enzymol*, 457, 349-72.
- LARSEN, S., STRIDE, N., HEY-MOGENSEN, M., HANSEN, C. N., ANDERSEN, J. L., MADSBAD, S., WORM, D., HELGE, J. W. & DELA, F. 2011. Increased mitochondrial substrate sensitivity in skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 54, 1427-36.
- LASCO, A., CUCINOTTA, D., GIGANTE, A., DENUZZO, G., PEDULLA, M., TRIFILETTI, A. & FRISINA, N. 1995. No changes of peripheral insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome after long-term reduction of endogenous androgens with leuprolide. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 133, 718-22.
- LAVEN, J. S., MULDERS, A. G., VISSER, J. A., THEMMEN, A. P., DE JONG, F. H. & FAUSER, B. C. 2004. Anti-Mullerian hormone serum concentrations in normoovulatory and anovulatory women of reproductive age. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 89, 318-23.
- LAWSON, M. A., JAIN, S., SUN, S., PATEL, K., MALCOLM, P. J. & CHANG, R. J. 2008. Evidence for insulin suppression of baseline luteinizing hormone in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome and normal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 93, 2089-96.

- LE, T. N., NESTLER, J. E., STRAUSS, J. F., 3RD & WICKHAM, E. P., 3RD 2012. Sex hormone-binding globulin and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 23, 32-40.
- LEFORT, N., GLANCY, B., BOWEN, B., WILLIS, W. T., BAILOWITZ, Z., DE FILIPPIS, E. A., BROPHY, C., MEYER, C., HOJLUND, K., YI, Z. & MANDARINO, L. J. 2010. Increased reactive oxygen species production and lower abundance of complex I subunits and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1B protein despite normal mitochondrial respiration in insulin-resistant human skeletal muscle. *Diabetes*, 59, 2444-52.
- LEGRO, R. S., ARSLANIAN, S. A., EHRMANN, D. A., HOEGER, K. M., MURAD, M. H., PASQUALI, R. & WELT, C. K. 2013. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 98, 4565-92.
- LEGRO, R. S., AZZIZ, R. & GIUDICE, L. 2006. A twenty-first century research agenda for polycystic ovary syndrome. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 20, 331-6.
- LEGRO, R. S., BENTLEY-LEWIS, R., DRISCOLL, D., WANG, S. C. & DUNAIF, A. 2002a. Insulin resistance in the sisters of women with polycystic ovary syndrome: association with hyperandrogenemia rather than menstrual irregularity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 2128-33.
- LEGRO, R. S., CHIU, P., KUNSELMAN, A. R., BENTLEY, C. M., DODSON, W. C. & DUNAIF, A. 2005. Polycystic ovaries are common in women with hyperandrogenic chronic anovulation but do not predict metabolic or reproductive phenotype. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90, 2571-9.
- LEGRO, R. S., FINEGOOD, D. & DUNAIF, A. 1998. A fasting glucose to insulin ratio is a useful measure of insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 2694-8.
- LEGRO, R. S., KUNSELMAN, A. R., DEMERS, L., WANG, S. C., BENTLEY-LEWIS, R. & DUNAIF, A. 2002b. Elevated dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels as the reproductive phenotype in the brothers of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 2134-8.
- LEGRO, R. S., KUNSELMAN, A. R., DODSON, W. C. & DUNAIF, A. 1999. Prevalence and predictors of risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective, controlled study in 254 affected women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 84, 165-9.
- LEONHARDT, H., HELLSTROM, M., GULL, B., LIND, A. K., NILSSON, L., JANSON, P. O. & STENER-VICTORIN, E. 2014. Ovarian morphology assessed by magnetic resonance imaging in women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome and associations with antimullerian hormone, free testosterone, and glucose disposal rate. *Fertility and sterility*.

- LI, W. & LI, Q. 2012. Dysregulation of glucose metabolism even in Chinese PCOS women with normal glucose tolerance. *Endocr J*, 59, 765-70.
- LI, Z. & HUANG, H. 2008. Epigenetic abnormality: a possible mechanism underlying the fetal origin of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Med Hypotheses*, 70, 638-42.
- LIANG, S. J., HSU, C. S., TZENG, C. R., CHEN, C. H. & HSU, M. I. 2011. Clinical and biochemical presentation of polycystic ovary syndrome in women between the ages of 20 and 40. *Hum Reprod*, 26, 3443-9.
- LIBERATI, A., ALTMAN, D. G., TETZLAFF, J., MULROW, C., GOTZSCHE, P. C., IOANNIDIS, J. P., CLARKE, M., DEVEREAUX, P. J., KLEIJNEN, J. & MOHER, D. 2009. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*, 339, b2700.
- LIM, S. S., DAVIES, M. J., NORMAN, R. J. & MORAN, L. J. 2012. Overweight, obesity and central obesity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human reproduction update*, 18, 618-637.
- LIM, S. S., NORMAN, R. J., DAVIES, M. J. & MORAN, L. J. 2013. The effect of obesity on polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev*, 14, 95-109.
- LINDSTEDT, G., LUNDBERG, P. A., LAPIDUS, L., LUNDGREN, H., BENGTSSON, C. & BJORNTORP, P. 1991. Low sex-hormone-binding globulin concentration as independent risk factor for development of NIDDM. 12-yr follow-up of population study of women in Gothenburg, Sweden. *Diabetes*, 40, 123-8.
- LOUCKS, T. L., TALBOTT, E. O., MCHUGH, K. P., KEELAN, M., BERGA, S. L. & GUZICK, D. S. 2000. Do polycystic-appearing ovaries affect the risk of cardiovascular disease among women with polycystic ovary syndrome? *Fertil Steril*, 74, 547-52.
- LOUMAYE, E., ENGRAND, P., SHOHAM, Z., HILLIER, S. G. & BAIRD, D. T. 2003. Clinical evidence for an LH 'ceiling' effect induced by administration of recombinant human LH during the late follicular phase of stimulated cycles in World Health Organization type I and type II anovulation. *Human reproduction*, 18, 314-22.
- MAKKI, K., FROGUEL, P. & WOLOWCZUK, I. 2013. Adipose tissue in obesityrelated inflammation and insulin resistance: cells, cytokines, and chemokines. *ISRN Inflamm*, 2013, 139239.
- MALIQUEO, M., LARA, H. E., SANCHEZ, F., ECHIBURU, B., CRISOSTO, N. & SIR-PETERMANN, T. 2013. Placental steroidogenesis in pregnant women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 166, 151-5.

- MANIKKAM, M., CRESPI, E. J., DOOP, D. D., HERKIMER, C., LEE, J. S., YU, S., BROWN, M. B., FOSTER, D. L. & PADMANABHAN, V. 2004. Fetal programming: prenatal testosterone excess leads to fetal growth retardation and postnatal catch-up growth in sheep. *Endocrinology*, 145, 790-8.
- MANNERAS-HOLM, L., LEONHARDT, H., KULLBERG, J., JENNISCHE, E., ODEN, A., HOLM, G., HELLSTROM, M., LONN, L., OLIVECRONA, G., STENER-VICTORIN, E. & LONN, M. 2011. Adipose tissue has aberrant morphology and function in PCOS: enlarged adipocytes and low serum adiponectin, but not circulating sex steroids, are strongly associated with insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 96, E304-11.
- MARCH, W. A., MOORE, V. M., WILLSON, K. J., PHILLIPS, D. I., NORMAN, R. J. & DAVIES, M. J. 2010. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Human Reproduction*, 25, 544-51.
- MASON, H. D., WILLIS, D. S., BEARD, R. W., WINSTON, R. M., MARGARA, R. & FRANKS, S. 1994. Estradiol production by granulosa cells of normal and polycystic ovaries: relationship to menstrual cycle history and concentrations of gonadotropins and sex steroids in follicular fluid. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 79, 1355-60.
- MATHER, K. J., HUNT, A. E., STEINBERG, H. O., PARADISI, G., HOOK, G., KATZ, A., QUON, M. J. & BARON, A. D. 2001. Repeatability characteristics of simple indices of insulin resistance: implications for research applications. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 86, 5457-64.
- MATTHEWS, D. R., HOSKER, J. P., RUDENSKI, A. S., NAYLOR, B. A., TREACHER, D. F. & TURNER, R. C. 1985. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*, 28, 412-9.
- MATTHEWS, D. R., LANG, D. A., BURNETT, M. A. & TURNER, R. C. 1983. Control of pulsatile insulin secretion in man. *Diabetologia*, 24, 231-7.
- MCCARTNEY, C. R., BLANK, S. K., PRENDERGAST, K. A., CHHABRA, S., EAGLESON, C. A., HELM, K. D., YOO, R., CHANG, R. J., FOSTER, C. M., CAPRIO, S. & MARSHALL, J. C. 2007. Obesity and sex steroid changes across puberty: evidence for marked hyperandrogenemia in pre- and early pubertal obese girls. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 92, 430-6.
- MCGILL, D. J., HUTCHISON, C., MCKENZIE, E., MCSHERRY, E. & MACKAY, I. R. 2007. Laser hair removal in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg*, 60, 426-31.
- MEHRABIAN, F., KHANI, B., KELISHADI, R. & KERMANI, N. 2011. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance according to the phenotypic subgroups of polycystic ovary syndrome in a representative sample of Iranian females. *J Res Med Sci*, 16, 763-9.

- MEYER, C., MCGRATH, B. P., CAMERON, J., KOTSOPOULOS, D. & TEEDE, H. J. 2005a. Vascular dysfunction and metabolic parameters in polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 90, 4630-5.
- MEYER, C., MCGRATH, B. P. & TEEDE, H. J. 2005b. Overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome have evidence of subclinical cardiovascular disease. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90, 5711-6.
- MEYER, C., MCGRATH, B. P. & TEEDE, H. J. 2007. Effects of medical therapy on insulin resistance and the cardiovascular system in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes Care*, 30, 471-8.
- MICHELMORE, K. F., BALEN, A. H., DUNGER, D. B. & VESSEY, M. P. 1999. Polycystic ovaries and associated clinical and biochemical features in young women. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 51, 779-86.
- MICIC, D., SUMARAC-DUMANOVIC, M., KENDERESKI, A., CVIJOVIC, G., ZORIC, S., PEJKOVIC, D., MICIC, J., MILIC, N., DIEGUEZ, C. & CASANUEVA, F. F. 2007. Total ghrelin levels during acute insulin infusion in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of endocrinological investigation*, 30, 820-7.
- MISSO, M. L. & TEEDE, H. J. 2014. Metformin in women with PCOS, CONS. *Endocrine*.
- MOGENSEN, M., SAHLIN, K., FERNSTROM, M., GLINTBORG, D., VIND, B. F., BECK-NIELSEN, H. & HOJLUND, K. 2007. Mitochondrial respiration is decreased in skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 56, 1592-9.
- MOGHETTI, P., CASTELLO, R., NEGRI, C., TOSI, F., PERRONE, F., CAPUTO, M., ZANOLIN, E. & MUGGEO, M. 2000. Metformin effects on clinical features, endocrine and metabolic profiles, and insulin sensitivity in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 6-month trial, followed by open, long-term clinical evaluation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 85, 139-46.
- MOGHETTI, P., TOSI, F., BONIN, C., DI SARRA, D., FIERS, T., KAUFMAN, J. M., GIAGULLI, V. A., SIGNORI, C., ZAMBOTTI, F., DALL'ALDA, M., SPIAZZI, G., ZANOLIN, M. E. & BONORA, E. 2013. Divergences in insulin resistance between the different phenotypes of the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 98, E628-37.
- MOGHETTI, P., TOSI, F., CASTELLO, R., MAGNANI, C. M., NEGRI, C., BRUN, E., FURLANI, L., CAPUTO, M. & MUGGEO, M. 1996. The insulin resistance in women with hyperandrogenism is partially reversed by antiandrogen treatment: evidence that androgens impair insulin action in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 81, 952-60.
- MOOTHA, V. K., LINDGREN, C. M., ERIKSSON, K. F., SUBRAMANIAN, A., SIHAG, S., LEHAR, J., PUIGSERVER, P., CARLSSON, E.,

RIDDERSTRALE, M., LAURILA, E., HOUSTIS, N., DALY, M. J., PATTERSON, N., MESIROV, J. P., GOLUB, T. R., TAMAYO, P., SPIEGELMAN, B., LANDER, E. S., HIRSCHHORN, J. N., ALTSHULER, D. & GROOP, L. C. 2003. PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nat Genet*, 34, 267-73.

- MORAN, C. & AZZIZ, R. 2001. The role of the adrenal cortex in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am*, 28, 63-75.
- MORAN, C., GARCIA-HERNANDEZ, E., BARAHONA, E., GONZALEZ, S. & BERMUDEZ, J. A. 2003. Relationship between insulin resistance and gonadotropin dissociation in obese and nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 80, 1466-72.
- MORAN, L. J., DEEKS, A. A., GIBSON-HELM, M. E. & TEEDE, H. J. 2012. Psychological parameters in the reproductive phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 27, 2082-8.
- MORAN, L. J., HARRISON, C. L., HUTCHISON, S. K., STEPTO, N. K., STRAUSS, B. J. & TEEDE, H. J. 2011a. Exercise decreases anti-mullerian hormone in anovulatory overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a pilot study. *Horm Metab Res*, 43, 977-9.
- MORAN, L. J., HUTCHISON, S. K., MEYER, C., ZOUNGAS, S. & TEEDE, H. J. 2009. A comprehensive assessment of endothelial function in overweight women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clinical science*, 116, 761-70.
- MORAN, L. J., MISSO, M. L., WILD, R. A. & NORMAN, R. J. 2010. Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human Reproduction Update*, 16, 347-363.
- MORAN, L. J., RANASINHA, S., ZOUNGAS, S., MCNAUGHTON, S. A., BROWN, W. J. & TEEDE, H. J. 2013a. The contribution of diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour to body mass index in women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 28, 2276-83.
- MORAN, L. J., STRAUSS, B. J. & TEEDE, H. J. 2011b. Diabetes risk score in the diagnostic categories of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and sterility*, 95, 1742-8.
- MORAN, L. J., TEEDE, H. J., NOAKES, M., CLIFTON, P. M., NORMAN, R. J. & WITTERT, G. A. 2013b. Sex hormone binding globulin, but not testosterone, is associated with the metabolic syndrome in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 36, 1004-10.
- MORET, M., STETTLER, R., RODIEUX, F., GAILLARD, R. C., WAEBER, G., WIRTHNER, D., GIUSTI, V., TAPPY, L. & PRALONG, F. P. 2009. Insulin

modulation of luteinizing hormone secretion in normal female volunteers and lean polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Neuroendocrinology*, 89, 131-9.

- MORIN-PAPUNEN, L. C., VAUHKONEN, I., KOIVUNEN, R. M., RUOKONEN, A., MARTIKAINEN, H. K. & TAPANAINEN, J. S. 2000a. Endocrine and metabolic effects of metformin versus ethinyl estradiol-cyproterone acetate in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 85, 3161-8.
- MORIN-PAPUNEN, L. C., VAUHKONEN, I., KOIVUNEN, R. M., RUOKONEN, A. & TAPANAINEN, J. S. 2000b. Insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, and metabolic and hormonal parameters in healthy women and women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Human reproduction*, 15, 1266-74.
- MORINO, K., PETERSEN, K. F., DUFOUR, S., BEFROY, D., FRATTINI, J., SHATZKES, N., NESCHEN, S., WHITE, M. F., BILZ, S., SONO, S., PYPAERT, M. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2005. Reduced mitochondrial density and increased IRS-1 serine phosphorylation in muscle of insulin-resistant offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. J Clin Invest, 115, 3587-93.
- MORINO, K., PETERSEN, K. F. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2006. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans and their potential links with mitochondrial dysfunction. *Diabetes*, 55 Suppl 2, S9-S15.
- MORTENSEN, M., EHRMANN, D. A., LITTLEJOHN, E. & ROSENFIELD, R. L. 2009. Asymptomatic volunteers with a polycystic ovary are a functionally distinct but heterogeneous population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 94, 1579-86.
- MUNIR, I., YEN, H. W., GELLER, D. H., TORBATI, D., BIERDEN, R. M., WEITSMAN, S. R., AGARWAL, S. K. & MAGOFFIN, D. A. 2004. Insulin augmentation of 17alpha-hydroxylase activity is mediated by phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase but not extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1/2 in human ovarian theca cells. *Endocrinology*, 145, 175-83.
- MUNIYAPPA, R., CHEN, H., MUZUMDAR, R. H., EINSTEIN, F. H., YAN, X., YUE, L. Q., BARZILAI, N. & QUON, M. J. 2009. Comparison between surrogate indexes of insulin sensitivity/resistance and hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp estimates in rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 297, E1023-9.
- MUNIYAPPA, R., LEE, S., CHEN, H. & QUON, M. J. 2008. Current approaches for assessing insulin sensitivity and resistance in vivo: advantages, limitations, and appropriate usage. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 294, E15-26.
- MUOIO, D. M. & KOVES, T. R. 2007. Lipid-induced metabolic dysfunction in skeletal muscle. *Novartis Found Symp*, 286, 24-38; discussion 38-46, 162-3, 196-203.
- NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH, N. 2012. Polycystic Ovray Syndrome [Online].

Available: <u>http://preventionnihgov/workshops/2012/pcos/resourcesaspx</u> 2012 [Accessed 30 April 2014].

- NELSON-DEGRAVE, V. L., WICKENHEISSER, J. K., HENDRICKS, K. L., ASANO, T., FUJISHIRO, M., LEGRO, R. S., KIMBALL, S. R., STRAUSS, J. F., 3RD & MCALLISTER, J. M. 2005. Alterations in mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase and extracellular regulated kinase signaling in theca cells contribute to excessive androgen production in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Mol Endocrinol*, 19, 379-90.
- NELSON, V. L., LEGRO, R. S., STRAUSS, J. F., 3RD & MCALLISTER, J. M. 1999. Augmented androgen production is a stable steroidogenic phenotype of propagated theca cells from polycystic ovaries. *Mol Endocrinol*, 13, 946-57.
- NESTLER, J. E., BARLASCINI, C. O., MATT, D. W., STEINGOLD, K. A., PLYMATE, S. R., CLORE, J. N. & BLACKARD, W. G. 1989. Suppression of serum insulin by diazoxide reduces serum testosterone levels in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 68, 1027-32.
- NESTLER, J. E. & JAKUBOWICZ, D. J. 1996. Decreases in ovarian cytochrome P450c17 alpha activity and serum free testosterone after reduction of insulin secretion in polycystic ovary syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 335, 617-23.
- NESTLER, J. E., JAKUBOWICZ, D. J., DE VARGAS, A. F., BRIK, C., QUINTERO, N. & MEDINA, F. 1998. Insulin stimulates testosterone biosynthesis by human thecal cells from women with polycystic ovary syndrome by activating its own receptor and using inositolglycan mediators as the signal transduction system. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 2001-5.
- NESTLER, J. E., POWERS, L. P., MATT, D. W., STEINGOLD, K. A., PLYMATE, S. R., RITTMASTER, R. S., CLORE, J. N. & BLACKARD, W. G. 1991. A direct effect of hyperinsulinemia on serum sex hormone-binding globulin levels in obese women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 72, 83-9.
- NESTLER, J. E. & STRAUSS, J. F., 3RD 1991. Insulin as an effector of human ovarian and adrenal steroid metabolism. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 20, 807-23.
- NIKOLAJUK, A., KOWALSKA, I., KARCZEWSKA-KUPCZEWSKA, M., ADAMSKA, A., OTZIOMEK, E., WOLCZYNSKI, S., KINALSKA, I., GORSKA, M. & STRACZKOWSKI, M. 2010. Serum soluble glycoprotein 130 concentration is inversely related to insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, 59, 1026-9.
- NORMAN, R. J., DEWAILLY, D., LEGRO, R. S. & HICKEY, T. E. 2007. Polycystic ovary syndrome. *Lancet*, 370, 685-97.
- NORMAN, R. J., MASTERS, L., MILNER, C. R., WANG, J. X. & DAVIES, M. J. 2001. Relative risk of conversion from normoglycaemia to impaired glucose

tolerance or non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 16, 1995-8.

- NOTELOVITZ, M. 2002. Androgen effects on bone and muscle. *Fertil Steril*, 77 Suppl 4, S34-41.
- O'REILLY, M. W., TAYLOR, A. E., CRABTREE, N. J., HUGHES, B. A., CAPPER, F., CROWLEY, R. K., STEWART, P. M., TOMLINSON, J. W. & ARLT, W. 2014. Hyperandrogenemia predicts metabolic phenotype in polycystic ovary syndrome: the utility of serum androstenedione. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99, 1027-36.
- OH, J. Y., LEE, J. A., LEE, H., OH, J. Y., SUNG, Y. A. & CHUNG, H. 2009. Serum C-reactive protein levels in normal-weight polycystic ovary syndrome. *Korean J Intern Med*, 24, 350-5.
- OVESEN, P., MOLLER, J., INGERSLEV, H. J., JORGENSEN, J. O., MENGEL, A., SCHMITZ, O., ALBERTI, K. G. & MOLLER, N. 1993. Normal basal and insulin-stimulated fuel metabolism in lean women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 77, 1636-40.
- PACHE, T. D., DE JONG, F. H., HOP, W. C. & FAUSER, B. C. 1993. Association between ovarian changes assessed by transvaginal sonography and clinical and endocrine signs of the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 59, 544-9.
- PAGE-WILSON, G., GOULART, A. C. & REXRODE, K. M. 2009. Interrelation between sex hormones and plasma sex hormone-binding globulin and hemoglobin A1c in healthy postmenopausal women. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*, 7, 249-54.
- PANIDIS, D., FARMAKIOTIS, D., ROUSSO, D., KATSIKIS, I., KOURTIS, A. & DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E. 2005. Serum luteinizing hormone levels are markedly increased and significantly correlated with Delta 4-androstenedione levels in lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 84, 538-40.
- PANIDIS, D., TZIOMALOS, K., MISICHRONIS, G., PAPADAKIS, E., BETSAS, G., KATSIKIS, I. & MACUT, D. 2012. Insulin resistance and endocrine characteristics of the different phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective study. *Hum Reprod*, 27, 541-9.
- PARADISI, G., STEINBERG, H. O., SHEPARD, M. K., HOOK, G. & BARON, A. D. 2003. Troglitazone therapy improves endothelial function to near normal levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 576-80.
- PARK, H. R., CHOI, Y., LEE, H. J., OH, J. Y., HONG, Y. S. & SUNG, Y. A. 2007. Phenotypic characteristics according to insulin sensitivity in non-obese Korean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 77 Suppl 1, S233-7.

- PARK, K. H., KIM, J. Y., AHN, C. W., SONG, Y. D., LIM, S. K. & LEE, H. C. 2001. Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) and insulin resistance. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*, 74, 261-7.
- PASQUALI, R., PATTON, L. & GAMBINERI, A. 2014. Reproductive endocrinology: Maternal and fetal insulin levels at birth in women with PCOS. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 10, 382-4.
- PASQUALI, R., STENER-VICTORIN, E., YILDIZ, B. O., DULEBA, A. J., HOEGER, K., MASON, H., HOMBURG, R., HICKEY, T., FRANKS, S., TAPANAINEN, J. S., BALEN, A., ABBOTT, D. H., DIAMANTI-KANDARAKIS, E. & LEGRO, R. S. 2011. PCOS Forum: research in polycystic ovary syndrome today and tomorrow. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 74, 424-33.
- PATARRAO, R. S., LAUTT, W. W. & MACEDO, M. P. 2014. Assessment of methods and indexes of insulin sensitivity. *Revista Portuguesa de Endocrinologia, Diabetes e Metabolismo,* 9, 65-73.
- PATEL, K., COFFLER, M. S., DAHAN, M. H., YOO, R. Y., LAWSON, M. A., MALCOM, P. J. & CHANG, R. J. 2003. Increased luteinizing hormone secretion in women with polycystic ovary syndrome is unaltered by prolonged insulin infusion. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 5456-61.
- PATTI, M. E., BUTTE, A. J., CRUNKHORN, S., CUSI, K., BERRIA, R., KASHYAP, S., MIYAZAKI, Y., KOHANE, I., COSTELLO, M., SACCONE, R., LANDAKER, E. J., GOLDFINE, A. B., MUN, E., DEFRONZO, R., FINLAYSON, J., KAHN, C. R. & MANDARINO, L. J. 2003. Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: Potential role of PGC1 and NRF1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 8466-71.
- PEPPA, M., KOLIAKI, C., NIKOLOPOULOS, P. & RAPTIS, S. A. 2010. Skeletal muscle insulin resistance in endocrine disease. *J Biomed Biotechnol*, 2010, 527850.
- PEREZ-CARRERAS, M., DEL HOYO, P., MARTIN, M. A., RUBIO, J. C., MARTIN, A., CASTELLANO, G., COLINA, F., ARENAS, J. & SOLIS-HERRUZO, J. A. 2003. Defective hepatic mitochondrial respiratory chain in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology*, 38, 999-1007.
- PESSAYRE, D. & FROMENTY, B. 2005. NASH: a mitochondrial disease. J Hepatol, 42, 928-40.
- PESTA, D. & GNAIGER, E. 2012. High-resolution respirometry: OXPHOS protocols for human cells and permeabilized fibers from small biopsies of human muscle. *Methods Mol Biol*, 810, 25-58.
- PETERSEN, K. F., DUFOUR, S., BEFROY, D., GARCIA, R. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2004. Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 664-71.

- PIGNY, P., JONARD, S., ROBERT, Y. & DEWAILLY, D. 2006. Serum anti-Mullerian hormone as a surrogate for antral follicle count for definition of the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 941-5.
- PIGNY, P., MERLEN, E., ROBERT, Y., CORTET-RUDELLI, C., DECANTER, C., JONARD, S. & DEWAILLY, D. 2003. Elevated serum level of anti-mullerian hormone in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to the ovarian follicle excess and to the follicular arrest. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 88, 5957-62.
- PIOUKA, A., FARMAKIOTIS, D., KATSIKIS, I., MACUT, D., GEROU, S. & PANIDIS, D. 2009. Anti-Mullerian hormone levels reflect severity of PCOS but are negatively influenced by obesity: relationship with increased luteinizing hormone levels. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology Metabolism*, 296, E238-43.
- POLDERMAN, K. H., GOOREN, L. J., ASSCHEMAN, H., BAKKER, A. & HEINE, R. J. 1994. Induction of insulin resistance by androgens and estrogens. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 79, 265-71.
- PORETSKY, L. 2006. Commentary: Polycystic ovary syndrome--increased or preserved ovarian sensitivity to insulin? J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 2859-60.
- PORETSKY, L., CATALDO, N. A., ROSENWAKS, Z. & GIUDICE, L. C. 1999. The insulin-related ovarian regulatory system in health and disease. *Endocr Rev*, 20, 535-82.
- PORETSKY, L., SMITH, D., SEIBEL, M., PAZIANOS, A., MOSES, A. C. & FLIER, J. S. 1984. Specific insulin binding sites in human ovary. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 59, 809-11.
- PORTER, C. & WALL, B. T. 2012. Skeletal muscle mitochondrial function: is it quality or quantity that makes the difference in insulin resistance? *J Physiol*, 590, 5935-6.
- PRELEVIC, G. M., WURZBURGER, M. I., BALINT-PERIC, L. & NESIC, J. S. 1990. Inhibitory effect of sandostatin on secretion of luteinising hormone and ovarian steroids in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Lancet*, 336, 900-3.
- RABOL, R. 2011. Mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Dan Med Bull*, 58, B4272.
- RABOL, R., SVENDSEN, P. F., SKOVBRO, M., BOUSHEL, R., HAUGAARD, S.
 B., SCHJERLING, P., SCHRAUWEN, P., HESSELINK, M. K., NILAS, L., MADSBAD, S. & DELA, F. 2009. Reduced skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration and improved glucose metabolism in nondiabetic obese women during a very low calorie dietary intervention leading to rapid weight loss. *Metabolism*, 58, 1145-52.

- RABOL, R., SVENDSEN, P. F., SKOVBRO, M., BOUSHEL, R., SCHJERLING, P., NILAS, L., MADSBAD, S. & DELA, F. 2011. Skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 165, 631-7.
- RAJKHOWA, M., BICKNELL, J., JONES, M. & CLAYTON, R. N. 1994. Insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to hyperandrogenemia. *Fertil Steril*, 61, 605-12.
- RAJKHOWA, M., BRETT, S., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., LIPINA, C., RUIZ-ALCARAZ, A. J., THOMAS, G. E., LOGIE, L., PETRIE, J. R. & SUTHERLAND, C. 2009. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with defective regulation of ERK1/2 by insulin in skeletal muscle in vivo. *Biochem J*, 418, 665-71.
- RANNEVIK, G., JEPPSSON, S., JOHNELL, O., BJERRE, B., LAURELL-BORULF, Y. & SVANBERG, L. 1995. A longitudinal study of the perimenopausal transition: altered profiles of steroid and pituitary hormones, SHBG and bone mineral density. *Maturitas*, 21, 103-13.
- RASSI, A., VERAS, A. B., DOS REIS, M., PASTORE, D. L., BRUNO, L. M., BRUNO, R. V., DE AVILA, M. A. & NARDI, A. E. 2010. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Compr Psychiatry*, 51, 599-602.
- REBAR, R., JUDD, H. L., YEN, S. S., RAKOFF, J., VANDENBERG, G. & NAFTOLIN, F. 1976. Characterization of the inappropriate gonadotropin secretion in polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Invest*, 57, 1320-9.
- RECABARREN, S. E., PADMANABHAN, V., CODNER, E., LOBOS, A., DURAN, C., VIDAL, M., FOSTER, D. L. & SIR-PETERMANN, T. 2005. Postnatal developmental consequences of altered insulin sensitivity in female sheep treated prenatally with testosterone. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 289, E801-6.
- RITOV, V. B., MENSHIKOVA, E. V., HE, J., FERRELL, R. E., GOODPASTER, B. H. & KELLEY, D. E. 2005. Deficiency of subsarcolemmal mitochondria in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 54, 8-14.
- RITZ, P. & BERRUT, G. 2005. Mitochondrial function, energy expenditure, aging and insulin resistance. *Diabetes Metab*, 31 Spec No 2, 5S67-5S73.
- RIZZO, M., BERNEIS, K., HERSBERGER, M., PEPE, I., DI FEDE, G., RINI, G. B., SPINAS, G. A. & CARMINA, E. 2009. Milder forms of atherogenic dyslipidemia in ovulatory versus anovulatory polycystic ovary syndrome phenotype. *Hum Reprod*, 24, 2286-92.
- ROLAND, A. V. & MOENTER, S. M. 2014. Reproductive neuroendocrine dysfunction in polycystic ovary syndrome: Insight from animal models. *Front Neuroendocrinol*.
- ROMUALDI, D., DE CICCO, S., TAGLIAFERRI, V., PROTO, C., LANZONE, A. & GUIDO, M. 2011. The metabolic status modulates the effect of metformin

on the antimullerian hormone-androgens-insulin interplay in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 96, E821-4.

- ROOS, N., KIELER, H., SAHLIN, L., EKMAN-ORDEBERG, G., FALCONER, H. & STEPHANSSON, O. 2011. Risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: population based cohort study. *BMJ*, 343, d6309.
- ROTTERDAM, E. A.-S. P. C. W. G. 2004. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Hum Reprod*, 19, 41-7.
- SAMUEL, V. T., LIU, Z. X., QU, X., ELDER, B. D., BILZ, S., BEFROY, D., ROMANELLI, A. J. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2004. Mechanism of hepatic insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 32345-53.
- SARMA, H. N., MANIKKAM, M., HERKIMER, C., DELL'ORCO, J., WELCH, K. B., FOSTER, D. L. & PADMANABHAN, V. 2005. Fetal programming: excess prenatal testosterone reduces postnatal luteinizing hormone, but not follicle-stimulating hormone responsiveness, to estradiol negative feedback in the female. *Endocrinology*, 146, 4281-91.
- SCHERER, P. E. 2006. Adipose tissue: from lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. *Diabetes*, 55, 1537-45.
- SCHILDKRAUT, J. M., SCHWINGL, P. J., BASTOS, E., EVANOFF, A. & HUGHES, C. 1996. Epithelial ovarian cancer risk among women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Obstet Gynecol*, 88, 554-9.
- SELPH, S. S., GINSBURG, A. D. & CHOU, R. 2014. Impact of contacting study authors to obtain additional data for systematic reviews: diagnostic accuracy studies for hepatic fibrosis. *Syst Rev*, **3**, 107.
- SHI, Y., ZHAO, H., SHI, Y., CAO, Y., YANG, D., LI, Z., ZHANG, B., LIANG, X., LI, T., CHEN, J., SHEN, J., ZHAO, J., YOU, L., GAO, X., ZHU, D., ZHAO, X., YAN, Y., QIN, Y., LI, W., YAN, J., WANG, Q., ZHAO, J., GENG, L., MA, J., ZHAO, Y., HE, G., ZHANG, A., ZOU, S., YANG, A., LIU, J., LI, W., LI, B., WAN, C., QIN, Y., SHI, J., YANG, J., JIANG, H., XU, J. E., QI, X., SUN, Y., ZHANG, Y., HAO, C., JU, X., ZHAO, D., REN, C. E., LI, X., ZHANG, W., ZHANG, Y., ZHANG, J., WU, D., ZHANG, C., HE, L. & CHEN, Z. J. 2012. Genome-wide association study identifies eight new risk loci for polycystic ovary syndrome. *Nat Genet*, 44, 1020-5.
- SHOELSON, S. E., HERRERO, L. & NAAZ, A. 2007. Obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 2169-80.
- SHORAKAE, S., BOYLE, J. & TEEDE, H. 2014. Polycystic ovary syndrome: a common hormonal condition with major metabolic sequelae that physicians should know about. *Intern Med J*, 44, 720-6.

- SHROFF, R., SYROP, C. H., DAVIS, W., VAN VOORHIS, B. J. & DOKRAS, A. 2007. Risk of metabolic complications in the new PCOS phenotypes based on the Rotterdam criteria. *Fertil Steril*, 88, 1389-95.
- SIMONEAU, J. A., VEERKAMP, J. H., TURCOTTE, L. P. & KELLEY, D. E. 1999. Markers of capacity to utilize fatty acids in human skeletal muscle: relation to insulin resistance and obesity and effects of weight loss. *FASEB J*, 13, 2051-60.
- SIR-PETERMANN, T., MALIQUEO, M., ANGEL, B., LARA, H. E., PEREZ-BRAVO, F. & RECABARREN, S. E. 2002. Maternal serum androgens in pregnant women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: possible implications in prenatal androgenization. *Hum Reprod*, 17, 2573-9.
- SKOV, V., GLINTBORG, D., KNUDSEN, S., JENSEN, T., KRUSE, T. A., TAN, Q., BRUSGAARD, K., BECK-NIELSEN, H. & HOJLUND, K. 2007. Reduced expression of nuclear-encoded genes involved in mitochondrial oxidative metabolism in skeletal muscle of insulin-resistant women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, 56, 2349-55.
- SKOV, V., GLINTBORG, D., KNUDSEN, S., TAN, Q., JENSEN, T., KRUSE, T. A., BECK-NIELSEN, H. & HOJLUND, K. 2008. Pioglitazone enhances mitochondrial biogenesis and ribosomal protein biosynthesis in skeletal muscle in polycystic ovary syndrome. *PLoS One*, 3, e2466.
- SNOWLING, N. J. & HOPKINS, W. G. 2006. Effects of different modes of exercise training on glucose control and risk factors for complications in type 2 diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes care*, 29, 2518-27.
- STEINBERG, H. O., CHAKER, H., LEAMING, R., JOHNSON, A., BRECHTEL, G. & BARON, A. D. 1996. Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction. Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance. J Clin Invest, 97, 2601-10.
- STEPTO, N. K., CASSAR, S., JOHAM, A. E., HUTCHISON, S. K., HARRISON, C. L., GOLDSTEIN, R. F. & TEEDE, H. J. 2013. Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp. *Human Reproduction*, 28, 777-784.
- STERNE, J. A. & DAVEY SMITH, G. 2001. Sifting the evidence-what's wrong with significance tests? *BMJ*, 322, 226-31.
- STROUP, D. F., BERLIN, J. A., MORTON, S. C., OLKIN, I., WILLIAMSON, G. D., RENNIE, D., MOHER, D., BECKER, B. J., SIPE, T. A. & THACKER, S. B. 2000. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA, 283, 2008-12.
- SUTTON-TYRRELL, K., WILDMAN, R. P., MATTHEWS, K. A., CHAE, C., LASLEY, B. L., BROCKWELL, S., PASTERNAK, R. C., LLOYD-JONES, D., SOWERS, M. F., TORRENS, J. I. & INVESTIGATORS, S. 2005. Sex-

hormone-binding globulin and the free androgen index are related to cardiovascular risk factors in multiethnic premenopausal and perimenopausal women enrolled in the Study of Women Across the Nation (SWAN). *Circulation*, 111, 1242-9.

- SVENDSEN, P. F., MADSBAD, S. & NILAS, L. 2010. The insulin-resistant phenotype of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 94, 1052-8.
- SVENDSEN, P. F., MADSBAD, S., NILAS, L., PAULSEN, S. K. & PEDERSEN, S. B. 2009. Expression of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 and 2 in subcutaneous adipose tissue of lean and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 33, 1249-56.
- SVENDSEN, P. F., NILAS, L., NORGAARD, K., JENSEN, J. E. & MADSBAD, S. 2008. Obesity, body composition and metabolic disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod*, 23, 2113-21.
- TAYLOR, A. E., MCCOURT, B., MARTIN, K. A., ANDERSON, E. J., ADAMS, J. M., SCHOENFELD, D. & HALL, J. E. 1997. Determinants of abnormal gonadotropin secretion in clinically defined women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 82, 2248-56.
- TEEDE, H., DEEKS, A. & MORAN, L. 2010. Polycystic ovary syndrome: a complex condition with psychological, reproductive and metabolic manifestations that impacts on health across the lifespan. *BMC Medicine*, 8.
- TEEDE, H. J., HUTCHISON, S. K. & ZOUNGAS, S. 2007. The management of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 18, 273-9.
- TEEDE, H. J., JOHAM, A. E., PAUL, E., MORAN, L. J., LOXTON, D., JOLLEY, D. & LOMBARD, C. 2013. Longitudinal weight gain in women identified with polycystic ovary syndrome: results of an observational study in young women. *Obesity*, 21, 1526-32.
- TEEDE, H. J., JOHAM, A. E., PAUL, E., MORAN, L. J., LOXTON, D., JOLLEY, D. & LOMBARD, C 2013. Longitudinal weight gain in women identified with polycystic ovary syndrome: Results of an observational study in young women. *Obesity*, 21, 1526-1532.
- TEEDE, H. J., MISSO, M. L., DEEKS, A. A., MORAN, L. J., STUCKEY, B. G., WONG, J. L., NORMAN, R. J. & COSTELLO, M. F. 2011. Assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: summary of an evidence-based guideline. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, 195, S65-112.
- TEHRANI, F. R., SIMBAR, M., TOHIDI, M., HOSSEINPANAH, F. & AZIZI, F. 2011. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample of Iranian population: Iranian PCOS prevalence study. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol*, 9, 39.
- TILG, H. & MOSCHEN, A. R. 2008. Inflammatory mechanisms in the regulation of insulin resistance. *Mol Med*, 14, 222-31.

- TOSI, F., DORIZZI, R., CASTELLO, R., MAFFEIS, C., SPIAZZI, G., ZOPPINI, G., MUGGEO, M. & MOGHETTI, P. 2009. Body fat and insulin resistance independently predict increased serum C-reactive protein in hyperandrogenic women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 161, 737-45.
- TOSI, F., NEGRI, C., PERRONE, F., DORIZZI, R., CASTELLO, R., BONORA, E. & MOGHETTI, P. 2012. Hyperinsulinemia amplifies GnRH agonist stimulated ovarian steroid secretion in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 97, 1712-9.
- TRENELL, M. I., HOLLINGSWORTH, K. G., LIM, E. L. & TAYLOR, R. 2008. Increased daily walking improves lipid oxidation without changes in mitochondrial function in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 31, 1644-9.
- VAN DISSELDORP, J., LAMBALK, C. B., KWEE, J., LOOMAN, C. W., EIJKEMANS, M. J., FAUSER, B. C. & BROEKMANS, F. J. 2010. Comparison of inter- and intra-cycle variability of anti-Mullerian hormone and antral follicle counts. *Hum Reprod*, 25, 221-7.
- VAN GURP, M., FESTJENS, N., VAN LOO, G., SAELENS, X. & VANDENABEELE, P. 2003. Mitochondrial intermembrane proteins in cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 304, 487-97.
- VAN HOOFF, M. H., VOORHORST, F. J., KAPTEIN, M. B., HIRASING, R. A., KOPPENAAL, C. & SCHOEMAKER, J. 2000. Polycystic ovaries in adolescents and the relationship with menstrual cycle patterns, luteinizing hormone, androgens, and insulin. *Fertil Steril*, 74, 49-58.
- VELAZQUEZ, E. M., MENDOZA, S., HAMER, T., SOSA, F. & GLUECK, C. J. 1994. Metformin therapy in polycystic ovary syndrome reduces hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, hyperandrogenemia, and systolic blood pressure, while facilitating normal menses and pregnancy. *Metabolism*, 43, 647-54.
- VICTOR, V. M., ROCHA, M., BANULS, C., SANCHEZ-SERRANO, M., SOLA, E., GOMEZ, M. & HERNANDEZ-MIJARES, A. 2009. Mitochondrial complex I impairment in leukocytes from polycystic ovary syndrome patients with insulin resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 94, 3505-12.
- VINK, J. M., SADRZADEH, S., LAMBALK, C. B. & BOOMSMA, D. I. 2006. Heritability of polycystic ovary syndrome in a Dutch twin-family study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 2100-4.
- VRBIKOVA, J., CIBULA, D., DVORAKOVA, K., STANICKA, S., SINDELKA, G., HILL, M., FANTA, M., VONDRA, K. & SKRHA, J. 2004. Insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 89, 2942-5.
- WALDSTREICHER, J., SANTORO, N. F., HALL, J. E., FILICORI, M. & CROWLEY, W. F., JR. 1988. Hyperfunction of the hypothalamic-pituitary

axis in women with polycystic ovarian disease: indirect evidence for partial gonadotroph desensitization. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 66, 165-72.

- WALLACE, I. R., MCKINLEY, M. C., BELL, P. M. & HUNTER, S. J. 2013. Sex hormone binding globulin and insulin resistance. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 78, 321-9.
- WALLACE, T. M., LEVY, J. C. & MATTHEWS, D. R. 2004. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 1487-95.
- WANG, H., HIATT, W. R., BARSTOW, T. J. & BRASS, E. P. 1999. Relationships between muscle mitochondrial DNA content, mitochondrial enzyme activity and oxidative capacity in man: alterations with disease. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*, 80, 22-7.
- WANG, P., MARIMAN, E., RENES, J. & KEIJER, J. 2008. The secretory function of adipocytes in the physiology of white adipose tissue. *J Cell Physiol*, 216, 3-13.
- WANG, Y., QU, J., WU, X., HOU, L., ERKKOLA, R. & WANG, Y. 2010. Different phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome by Rotterdam criteria are differently steroidogenic but similarly insulin resistant. *Fertil Steril*, 93, 1362-5.
- WAX, J. R. 2009. Risks and management of obesity in pregnancy: current controversies. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol*, 21, 117-23.
- WEENEN, C., LAVEN, J. S., VON BERGH, A. R., CRANFIELD, M., GROOME, N. P., VISSER, J. A., KRAMER, P., FAUSER, B. C. & THEMMEN, A. P. 2004. Anti-Mullerian hormone expression pattern in the human ovary: potential implications for initial and cyclic follicle recruitment. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 10, 77-83.
- WELINDER, C. & EKBLAD, L. 2011. Coomassie staining as loading control in Western blot analysis. *J Proteome Res*, 10, 1416-9.
- WELT, C. K., GUDMUNDSSON, J. A., ARASON, G., ADAMS, J., PALSDOTTIR, H., GUDLAUGSDOTTIR, G., INGADOTTIR, G. & CROWLEY, W. F. 2006. Characterizing discrete subsets of polycystic ovary syndrome as defined by the Rotterdam criteria: the impact of weight on phenotype and metabolic features. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 4842-8.
- WILD, R. A., RIZZO, M., CLIFTON, S. & CARMINA, E. 2011. Lipid levels in polycystic ovary syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril*, 95, 1073-9 e1-11.
- WU, X. Y., LI, Z. L., WU, C. Y., LIU, Y. M., LIN, H., WANG, S. H. & XIAO, W. F. 2010. Endocrine traits of polycystic ovary syndrome in prenatally androgenized female Sprague-Dawley rats. *Endocr J*, 57, 201-9.
- WULAN, S. N., WESTERTERP, K. R. & PLASQUI, G. 2010. Ethnic differences in body composition and the associated metabolic profile: a comparative study between Asians and Caucasians. *Maturitas*, 65, 315-9.

- YALAMANCHI, S. K., SAM, S., CARDENAS, M. O., HOLADAY, L. W., URBANEK, M. & DUNAIF, A. 2012. Association of fibrillin-3 and transcription factor-7-like 2 gene variants with metabolic phenotypes in PCOS. *Obesity*, 20, 1273-8.
- YANG, M. 2003. A Review of Random Effects Modelling in SAS (Release 8.2). London. London, Centre for Multilevel Modelling.
- YANG, S., LI, Q., SONG, Y., TIAN, B., CHENG, Q., QING, H., ZHONG, L. & XIA, W. 2011. Serum complement C3 has a stronger association with insulin resistance than high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*, 95, 1749-53.
- YILDIZ, B. O., BOZDAG, G., YAPICI, Z., ESINLER, I. & YARALI, H. 2012. Prevalence, phenotype and cardiometabolic risk of polycystic ovary syndrome under different diagnostic criteria. *Hum Reprod*, 27, 3067-73.
- YILDIZ, B. O., KNOCHENHAUER, E. S. & AZZIZ, R. 2008. Impact of obesity on the risk for polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 93, 162-8.
- YUCEL, A., NOYAN, V. & SAGSOZ, N. 2006. The association of serum androgens and insulin resistance with fat distribution in polycystic ovary syndrome. *European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology,* 126, 81-6.

Appendix 1 Copyright agreement for Chapter 3

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 26, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Samantha Cassar ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3516801504402
License date	Nov 26, 2014
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Human Reproduction
Licensed content title	Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp:
Licensed content author	Nigel K. Stepto, Samantha Cassar, Anju E. Joham, Samantha K. Hutchison, Cheryce L. Harrison, Rebecca F. Goldstein, Helena J. Teede
Licensed content date	01/12/2013
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	None
Title of your work	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Obesity and Insulin Resistance
Publisher of your work	n/a
Expected publication date	Dec 2014
Permissions cost	0.00 USD
Value added tax	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REPRODUCTION OF MATERIAL FROM AN OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS JOURNAL

1. Use of the material is restricted to the type of use specified in your order details.

2. This permission covers the use of the material in the English language in the following territory: world. If you have requested additional permission to translate this material, the terms and conditions of this reuse will be set out in clause 12.

3. This permission is limited to the particular use authorized in (1) above and does not allow you to sanction its use elsewhere in any other format other than specified above, nor does it apply to quotations, images, artistic works etc that have been reproduced from other sources which may be part of the material to be used.

4. No alteration, omission or addition is made to the material without our written consent. Permission must be re-cleared with Oxford University Press if/when you decide to reprint.

5. The following credit line appears wherever the material is used: author, title, journal, year, volume, issue number, pagination, by permission of Oxford University Press or the sponsoring society if the journal is a society journal. Where a journal is being published on behalf of a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

6. For the reproduction of a full article from an Oxford University Press journal for whatever purpose, the corresponding author of the material concerned should be informed of the proposed use. Contact details for the corresponding authors of all Oxford University Press journal contact can be found alongside either the abstract or full text of the article concerned, accessible from www.oxfordjournals.org Should there be a problem clearing these rights, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

7. If the credit line or acknowledgement in our publication indicates that any of the figures, images or photos was reproduced, drawn or modified from an earlier source it will be necessary for you to clear this permission with the original publisher as well. If this permission has not been obtained, please note that this material cannot be included in your publication/photocopies.

8. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Oxford University Press or by Copyright Clearance Center (CCC)) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement

and Oxford University Press reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned or transferred by you to any other person without Oxford University Press's written permission.

10. Oxford University Press reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

11. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Oxford University Press and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employs and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

12. Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.4

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

Appendix 2 Copyright agreement for Chapter 4a

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 26, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Samantha Cassar ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3516800691319
License date	Nov 26, 2014
Licensed content publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content publication	Clinical Endocrinology
Licensed content title	Biomarkers and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS Characteristics and predictive capacity
Licensed copyright line	This article is protected by copyright. All rights reserved.
Licensed content author	Samantha Cassar, Helena J. Teede, Cheryce L. Harrison, Anju E Joham, Lisa J. Moran, Nigel K. Stepto
Licensed content date	Nov 20, 2014
Start page	n/a
End page	n/a
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	Letter to Editor
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Obesity and Insulin Resistance
Expected completion date	Dec 2014
Expected size (number of pages)	150
Total	0.00 AUD
Terms and Conditions	

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking accept in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license is for a onetime use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this licence must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this licence (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade

name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto.

- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and

conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses:: Creative Commons Attribution (CC-BY) license <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC) license</u> and <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs (CC-BY-NC) License</u>. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

Copyright in any research article in a journal published as Open Access under a Creative Commons License is retained by the author(s). Authors grant Wiley a license to publish the article and identify itself as the original publisher. Authors also grant any third party the right to use the article freely as long as its integrity is maintained and its original authors, citation details and publisher are identified as follows: [Title of Article/Author/Journal Title and Volume/Issue. Copyright (c) [year] [copyright owner as specified in the Journal]. Links to the final article on Wiley's website are encouraged where applicable.

The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-commercial re-use of an open access article, as long as

the author is properly attributed.

The Creative Commons Attribution License does not affect the moral rights of authors, including without limitation the right not to have their work subjected to derogatory treatment. It also does not affect any other rights held by authors or third parties in the article, including without limitation the rights of privacy and publicity. Use of the article must not assert or imply, whether implicitly or explicitly, any connection with, endorsement or sponsorship of such use by the author, publisher or any other party associated with the article.

For any reuse or distribution, users must include the copyright notice and make clear to others that the article is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution license, linking to the relevant Creative Commons web page.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the article is made available as is and without representation or warranties of any kind whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise and including, without limitation, warranties of title, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement, absence of defects, accuracy, or the presence or absence of errors.

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC) License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by non-commercial users

For non-commercial and non-promotional purposes, individual users may access, download, copy, display and redistribute to colleagues Wiley Open Access articles, as well as adapt, translate, text- and data-mine the content subject to the following conditions:

- The authors' moral rights are not compromised. These rights include the right of "paternity" (also known as "attribution" the right for the author to be identified as such) and "integrity" (the right for the author not to have the work altered in such a way that the author's reputation or integrity may be impugned).
- Where content in the article is identified as belonging to a third party, it is the obligation of the user to ensure that any reuse complies with the copyright policies of the owner of that content.
- If article content is copied, downloaded or otherwise reused for non-commercial research and education purposes, a link to the appropriate bibliographic citation (authors, journal, article title, volume, issue, page numbers, DOI and the link to the

definitive published version on **Wiley Online Library**) should be maintained. Copyright notices and disclaimers must not be deleted.

• Any translations, for which a prior translation agreement with Wiley has not been agreed, must prominently display the statement: "This is an unofficial translation of an article that appeared in a Wiley publication. The publisher has not endorsed this translation."

Use by commercial "for-profit" organisations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Commercial purposes include:

- Copying or downloading of articles, or linking to such articles for further redistribution, sale or licensing;
- Copying, downloading or posting by a site or service that incorporates advertising with such content;
- The inclusion or incorporation of article content in other works or services (other than normal quotations with an appropriate citation) that is then available for sale or licensing, for a fee (for example, a compilation produced for marketing purposes, inclusion in a sales pack)
- Use of article content (other than normal quotations with appropriate citation) by for-profit organisations for promotional purposes
- Linking to article content in e-mails redistributed for promotional, marketing or educational purposes;
- Use for the purposes of monetary reward by means of sale, resale, licence, loan, transfer or other form of commercial exploitation such as marketing products
- Print reprints of Wiley Open Access articles can be purchased from: corporatesales@wiley.com

Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <u>http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</u>

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.9

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

Appendix 3 Copyright agreement for Chapter 4b

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 26, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Samantha Cassar ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3516800691319
License date	Nov 26, 2014
Licensed content publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content publication	Clinical Endocrinology
Licensed content title	Response to 'insulin sensitivity and leptin in women with PCOS'
Licensed copyright line	This article is protected by copyright. All rights reserved.
Licensed content author	Samantha Cassar, Helena J. Teede, Cheryce L. Harrison, Anju E Joham, Lisa J. Moran, Nigel K. Stepto
Licensed content date	Nov 20, 2014
Start page	n/a
End page	n/a
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	Letter to Editor
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Obesity and Insulin Resistance
Expected completion date	Dec 2014
Expected size (number of pages)	150
Total	0.00 AUD
Terms and Conditions	

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking 'accept' in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license is for a onetime use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this licence must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this licence (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as

provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto.

- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.

- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.
- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses:: Creative Commons Attribution (CC-BY) license <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC) license</u> and <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs (CC-BY-NC) License</u>. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

Copyright in any research article in a journal published as Open Access under a Creative Commons License is retained by the author(s). Authors grant Wiley a license to publish the article and identify itself as the original publisher. Authors also grant any third party the right to use the article freely as long as its integrity is maintained and its original authors, citation details and publisher are identified as follows: [Title of Article/Author/Journal Title and Volume/Issue. Copyright (c) [year] [copyright owner as specified in the Journal]. Links to the final article on Wiley's website are encouraged where applicable.

The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY

license permits commercial and non-commercial re-use of an open access article, as long as the author is properly attributed.

The Creative Commons Attribution License does not affect the moral rights of authors, including without limitation the right not to have their work subjected to derogatory treatment. It also does not affect any other rights held by authors or third parties in the article, including without limitation the rights of privacy and publicity. Use of the article must not assert or imply, whether implicitly or explicitly, any connection with, endorsement or sponsorship of such use by the author, publisher or any other party associated with the article.

For any reuse or distribution, users must include the copyright notice and make clear to others that the article is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution license, linking to the relevant Creative Commons web page.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the article is made available as is and without representation or warranties of any kind whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise and including, without limitation, warranties of title, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement, absence of defects, accuracy, or the presence or absence of errors.

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC) License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by non-commercial users

For non-commercial and non-promotional purposes, individual users may access, download, copy, display and redistribute to colleagues Wiley Open Access articles, as well as adapt, translate, text- and data-mine the content subject to the following conditions:

- The authors' moral rights are not compromised. These rights include the right of "paternity" (also known as "attribution" the right for the author to be identified as such) and "integrity" (the right for the author not to have the work altered in such a way that the author's reputation or integrity may be impugned).
- Where content in the article is identified as belonging to a third party, it is the obligation of the user to ensure that any reuse complies with the copyright policies of the owner of that content.
- If article content is copied, downloaded or otherwise reused for non-commercial research and education purposes, a link to the appropriate bibliographic citation
(authors, journal, article title, volume, issue, page numbers, DOI and the link to the definitive published version on **Wiley Online Library**) should be maintained. Copyright notices and disclaimers must not be deleted.

• Any translations, for which a prior translation agreement with Wiley has not been agreed, must prominently display the statement: "This is an unofficial translation of an article that appeared in a Wiley publication. The publisher has not endorsed this translation."

Use by commercial "for-profit" organisations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Commercial purposes include:

- Copying or downloading of articles, or linking to such articles for further redistribution, sale or licensing;
- Copying, downloading or posting by a site or service that incorporates advertising with such content;
- The inclusion or incorporation of article content in other works or services (other than normal quotations with an appropriate citation) that is then available for sale or licensing, for a fee (for example, a compilation produced for marketing purposes, inclusion in a sales pack)
- Use of article content (other than normal quotations with appropriate citation) by for-profit organisations for promotional purposes
- Linking to article content in e-mails redistributed for promotional, marketing or educational purposes;
- Use for the purposes of monetary reward by means of sale, resale, licence, loan, transfer or other form of commercial exploitation such as marketing products
- Print reprints of Wiley Open Access articles can be purchased from: <u>corporatesales@wiley.com</u>

Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <u>http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</u>

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.9

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

Appendix 4 Copyright agreement for Chapter 6

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 24, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Samantha Cassar ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3515691170544
License date	Nov 24, 2014
Licensed content publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content publication	Clinical Endocrinology
Licensed content title	Polycystic ovary syndrome and anti-Müllerian hormone: role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotrophins
Licensed copyright line	© 2014 John Wiley & Sons Ltd
Licensed content author	Samantha Cassar, Helena J. Teede, Lisa J. Moran, Anju E. Joham, Cheryce L. Harrison, Boyd J. Strauss, Nigel K. Stepto
Licensed content date	Sep 1, 2014
Start page	899
End page	906
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Obesity and Insulin Resistance
Expected completion date	Dec 2014
Expected size (number of pages)	150
Total	0.00 AUD
Terms and Conditions	

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking accept in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license is for a onetime use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this licence must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this licence (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade

name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto.

- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCCs Billing and Payment terms and

conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCCs Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such states conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses:: Creative Commons Attribution (CC-BY) license <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC) license</u> and <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs (CC-BY-NC) License</u>. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

Copyright in any research article in a journal published as Open Access under a Creative Commons License is retained by the author(s). Authors grant Wiley a license to publish the article and identify itself as the original publisher. Authors also grant any third party the right to use the article freely as long as its integrity is maintained and its original authors, citation details and publisher are identified as follows: [Title of Article/Author/Journal Title and Volume/Issue. Copyright (c) [year] [copyright owner as specified in the Journal]. Links to the final article on Wiley's website are encouraged where applicable.

The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-commercial re-use of an open access article, as long as

the author is properly attributed.

The Creative Commons Attribution License does not affect the moral rights of authors, including without limitation the right not to have their work subjected to derogatory treatment. It also does not affect any other rights held by authors or third parties in the article, including without limitation the rights of privacy and publicity. Use of the article must not assert or imply, whether implicitly or explicitly, any connection with, endorsement or sponsorship of such use by the author, publisher or any other party associated with the article.

For any reuse or distribution, users must include the copyright notice and make clear to others that the article is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution license, linking to the relevant Creative Commons web page.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the article is made available as is and without representation or warranties of any kind whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise and including, without limitation, warranties of title, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement, absence of defects, accuracy, or the presence or absence of errors.

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC) License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by non-commercial users

For non-commercial and non-promotional purposes, individual users may access, download, copy, display and redistribute to colleagues Wiley Open Access articles, as well as adapt, translate, text- and data-mine the content subject to the following conditions:

- The authors' moral rights are not compromised. These rights include the right of "paternity" (also known as "attribution" the right for the author to be identified as such) and "integrity" (the right for the author not to have the work altered in such a way that the author's reputation or integrity may be impugned).
- Where content in the article is identified as belonging to a third party, it is the obligation of the user to ensure that any reuse complies with the copyright policies of the owner of that content.
- If article content is copied, downloaded or otherwise reused for non-commercial research and education purposes, a link to the appropriate bibliographic citation (authors, journal, article title, volume, issue, page numbers, DOI and the link to the

definitive published version on **Wiley Online Library**) should be maintained. Copyright notices and disclaimers must not be deleted.

• Any translations, for which a prior translation agreement with Wiley has not been agreed, must prominently display the statement: "This is an unofficial translation of an article that appeared in a Wiley publication. The publisher has not endorsed this translation."

Use by commercial "for-profit" organisations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Commercial purposes include:

- Copying or downloading of articles, or linking to such articles for further redistribution, sale or licensing;
- Copying, downloading or posting by a site or service that incorporates advertising with such content;
- The inclusion or incorporation of article content in other works or services (other than normal quotations with an appropriate citation) that is then available for sale or licensing, for a fee (for example, a compilation produced for marketing purposes, inclusion in a sales pack)
- Use of article content (other than normal quotations with appropriate citation) by for-profit organisations for promotional purposes
- Linking to article content in e-mails redistributed for promotional, marketing or educational purposes;
- Use for the purposes of monetary reward by means of sale, resale, licence, loan, transfer or other form of commercial exploitation such as marketing products
- Print reprints of Wiley Open Access articles can be purchased from: corporatesales@wiley.com

FurtherdetailscanbefoundonWileyOnlineLibraryhttp://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.htmlOnlineOnline

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.9

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.